World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 307-494





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

G S WU

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 3 March 27, 2023

MINIREVIEWS

307 Surgical management of acute pancreatitis: Historical perspectives, challenges, and current management approaches

Alzerwi N

- 323 Current trends in perioperative treatment of resectable gastric cancer Yıldız İ, Özer L, Şenocak Taşçı E, Bayoglu İV, Aytac E
- 338 Vascular injury during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: An often-overlooked complication Pesce A, Fabbri N, Feo CV

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

346 Differential expression and significance of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine modification in hepatitis B virus carriers and patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer

Li YC, Hu WY, Li CH, Zhang LL, Xu XW, Li J, Luo HX

Retrospective Cohort Study

Compliance with enhanced recovery after surgery predicts long-term outcome after hepatectomy for 362 cholangiocarcinoma

Jongkatkorn C, Luvira V, Suwanprinya C, Piampatipan K, Leeratanakachorn N, Tipwaratorn T, Titapun A, Srisuk T, Theeragul S, Jarearnrat A, Thanasukarn V, Pugkhem A, Khuntikeo N, Pairojkul C, Kamsa-Ard S, Bhudhisawasdi V

374 Pain management in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation: A retrospective study

Guan Y, Tian Y, Fan YW

Retrospective Study

- 387 Risk factors and prediction model for inpatient surgical site infection after elective abdominal surgery Zhang J, Xue F, Liu SD, Liu D, Wu YH, Zhao D, Liu ZM, Ma WX, Han RL, Shan L, Duan XL
- 398 Percutaneous management in hepatic alveolar echinococcosis: A sum of single center experiences and a brief overview of the literature

Eren S, Aydın S, Kantarci M, Kızılgöz V, Levent A, Şenbil DC, Akhan O

408 Clinical features of acute esophageal mucosal lesions and reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D: A retrospective study

Ichita C, Sasaki A, Shimizu S

420 Positive correlation between latent Epstein-Barr virus infection and severity of illness in inflammatory bowel disease patients

Wei HT, Xue XW, Ling Q, Wang PY, Zhou WX



Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 3 March 27, 2023

Clinical Trials Study

430 Efficacy and outcome of extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage plus surgery vs surgery alone with advanced gastric cancer patients

Song ED, Xia HB, Zhang LX, Ma J, Luo PQ, Yang LZ, Xiang BH, Zhou BC, Chen L, Sheng H, Fang Y, Han WX, Wei ZJ, Xu AM

Randomized Controlled Trial

440 Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation versus endoscopic submucosal dissection for small rectal neuroendocrine tumors

Huang JL, Gan RY, Chen ZH, Gao RY, Li DF, Wang LS, Yao J

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

450 Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy: A systematic review

Grantham JP, Hii A, Shenfine J

META-ANALYSIS

471 Effect of music therapy on chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in gastrointestinal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Zhong FP, Zhong J, Zhong MY

CASE REPORT

480 Immunotherapy in combination with chemotherapy for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome with advanced cervical cancer: A case report

Hu XC, Gan CX, Zheng HM, Wu XP, Pan WS

488 Xanthogranulomatous inflammation requiring small bowel anastomosis revision: A case report Wang W, Korah M, Bessoff KE, Shen J, Forrester JD



Contents

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Monthly Volume 15 Number 3 March 27, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Valeriu Marin Şurlin, MD, Professor, Surgical Oncologist, Department of Surgery, University of Medicine and Pharmacy of Craiova, Craiova 200391, Dolj, Romania. vsurlin@gmail.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery (WJGS, World J Gastrointest Surg) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastrointestinal surgery with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJGS mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastrointestinal surgery and covering a wide range of topics including biliary tract surgical procedures, biliopancreatic diversion, colectomy, esophagectomy, esophagostomy, pancreas transplantation, and pancreatectomy, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJGS is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, PubMed, PubMed Central, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 impact factor (IF) for WJGS as 2.505; IF without journal self cites: 2.473; 5-year IF: 3.099; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.49; Ranking: 104 among 211 journals in surgery; Quartile category: Q2; Ranking: 81 among 93 journals in gastroenterology and hepatology; and Quartile category: Q4.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Rui-Rui Wu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1948-9366 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
November 30, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Peter Schemmer	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
March 27, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



M

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 307-322

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.307

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Surgical management of acute pancreatitis: Historical perspectives, challenges, and current management approaches

Nasser Alzerwi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Basson MD, United States; Chen H, China; Kitamura K, Japan

Received: September 21, 2022 Peer-review started: September 21, 2022 First decision: October 21, 2022 Revised: November 19, 2022

Accepted: February 14, 2023 Article in press: February 14, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Nasser Alzerwi, Department of Surgery, Majmaah University, Riyadh 11952, Saudi Arabia

Corresponding author: Nasser Alzerwi, MBBS, SBGS, ABGS, FSMC(HPB), Associate Professor, Department of Surgery, Majmaah University, P. O. Box 66, Al-Majmaah City, Riyadh Region, Riyadh 11952, Saudi Arabia. n.alzerwi@mu.edu.sa

Abstract

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is a serious condition presenting catastrophic consequences. In severe AP, the mortality rate is high, and some patients initially diagnosed with mild-to-moderate AP can progress to a life-threatening severe state. Treatment of AP has evolved over the years. Drainage was the first surgical procedure performed for AP; however, later, surgical approaches were replaced by more conservative approaches due to the availability of advanced medical care and improved understanding of the course of AP. Currently, surgery is used to manage several complications of AP, such as pseudocysts, pancreatic fistulas, and biliary tract obstruction. Patients who are unresponsive to conservative treatment or have complications are typically considered for surgical intervention. This review focuses on the surgical approaches (endoscopic, percutaneous, and open) that have been established in recent studies to treat this acute condition and summarizes the common management guidelines for AP, discussing the relevant indications, significance, and complications. It is evident that despite their reduced involvement, surgeons lead the multidisciplinary care of patients with AP; however, given the gaps in existing knowledge, more research is required to standardize surgical protocols for AP.

Key Words: Acute pancreatitis; Surgery; Endoscopic management; Open surgery; Necrosectomy

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: The surgical management of acute pancreatitis has evolved substantially during the last several decades. Conservative therapy is frequently more effective than surgery; nonetheless, surgical treatments are required in cases of non-responsive or complication-prone patients. Such cases may be treated using endoscopic, percutaneous, or open procedures, each with its own set of benefits and risks. Before settling on an acceptable surgical procedure, the AP severity, phase, and anatomical restrictions must be thoroughly reviewed for optimal clinical outcomes.

Citation: Alzerwi N. Surgical management of acute pancreatitis: Historical perspectives, challenges, and current management approaches. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 307-322 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/307.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.307

INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is a prevalent gastrointestinal disorder resulting in localized damage, systemic inflammatory response syndrome, and organ failure (OF)[1,2]. With a worldwide incidence of 340 per million people overall and case fatality rates of up to 35% in severe instances, AP causes a great deal of distress, morbidity, and financial strain on the healthcare system[3-5].

In Western countries, the prevalence of AP has been steadily rising over the last half-century[6]. Gallstones and alcohol continue to be common causes of AP, contributing to 80% of AP cases, while the remaining occurrences are related to less common causes, such as drug interactions and solid and cystic pancreatic cancers. In particular, the global transition rate from the index AP to a recurring episode is in double digits. Given these concerns and the variety of long-term repercussions, it is prudent not to regard AP as a self-limiting condition[5].

The need for surgical intervention in AP has been under scrutiny for more than a century, with arguments ranging from conservative therapeutic strategies on the one hand to surgical approaches. However, in the last three decades, the discourse has changed significantly, with conservative management gaining favor due to the availability of advanced diagnostic modalities, improved noninvasive care, improved understanding of the underlying mechanisms, and improvements in interventional procedures. However, surgery still serves a critical function in managing AP, and there are specific situations in which minimally invasive or open surgical interventions are necessary.

This review offers a concise overview of the evolution of surgical management of AP, with an emphasis on contemporary surgical techniques. Recent ground-breaking studies have allowed the development of several sets of recommendations and guidelines for the management of AP. This review also summarizes some of these recommendations, focusing on surgical interventions for AP, including indications, staging, and techniques.

AP: ETIOLOGY, CLASSIFICATION, AND DIAGNOSIS

During the mid-twentieth century, researchers realized that AP could have various root causes, each of which required a unique diagnostic and therapeutic strategy. Approximately 40% of AP cases are now attributed to gallstones, and approximately 30% are considered to have alcohol as an etiological component[7] (Figure 1A). Researchers have also identified various other etiologies for AP, including metabolic, immunological, parasitic, genetic, anatomical, and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). Notably, the prevalence of hypertriglyceridemic AP has increased in recent years [8]. Idiopathic AP is AP with no identified explanation after primary laboratory and imaging studies[9, 101

Early efforts to categorize pancreatitis focused mainly on describing its clinical and pathological aspects. Fitz distinguished between acute, hemorrhagic, and suppurative forms of pancreatitis^[11]. Ranson et al[12] demarcated AP's key clinical and biochemical features, now known as the Ranson criteria. Another significant development was the Atlanta classification proposed in 1992[13], wherein objective criteria for severe, interstitial, and necrotizing AP, infected pancreatic necrosis (IPN), and pseudocysts were framed, with a stronger focus on the systemic effect of AP. Two new AP classification systems were released in 2012: Revised Atlanta classification and determinant-based classification [14, 15]. The revised Atlanta classification system is popular at the moment. The severity of AP may be classified as mild, moderately severe (MSAP), or severe (SAP), and there are also two distinct stages (early and late). In addition, it explains how AP is diagnosed, stresses the importance of pain as a benchmark, and singles out local complications, interstitial pancreatitis, and necrotizing pancreatitis (Table 1, Figure 2).



Table 1 Acute pancreatitis diagnosis, classification, and indications for surgery

	Criteria		
Diagnosis of AP (any two)	Abdominal pain		
	Serum lipase or amylase anomalies		
	Characteristic radiological features		
Mild AP ¹	No OF		
	Absence of local or systemic complications		
Moderately severe AP ¹	Transient OF (resolves in < 48 h)		
	Local or systemic complications without persistent OF		
Severe AP ¹	Persistent OF		
Key indications for surgery	Infected necrosis		
	Complications of pancreatitis		
	Fistulas		
	Pseudocyst		
	Recurrent AP		
	Abdominal compartment syndrome		
	Systemic inflammatory response syndrome		
	Acute necrotizing cholecystitis or intestinal ischemia		
	Acute bleeding due to a failed endovascular approach		

¹Revised Atlanta Classification.

AP: Acute pancreatitis; OF: Organ failure.

The diagnosis of AP is based on the presence of characteristic abdominal pain, biochemical confirmation of pancreatitis, and radiographic proof (at least two out of the Diagnostic Triad and in that order)[2,16]. The early and late phases of AP last about two weeks and several weeks, respectively. Temporary local or systemic problems define MSAP or a transient OF, whereas SAP is defined by a lingering OF. Organized fluid collections within four weeks were denoted as acute peri/pancreatic fluid collections and pseudocysts after four weeks. The term "acute necrotic collections" (ANC) is used to describe necrosis-complicated collections that occur within four weeks, whereas "wall necrosis" (WON) is used to describe collections that occur later than four weeks (Figure 2)[14].

PATHOBIOLOGY OF PANCREATITIS

Various physical and genetic variables predispose individuals to AP[17]. Many studies have been conducted on acute pancreatic inflammation in the last century, but our understanding of its numerous pathophysiological implications remains limited[18]. Based on current research, collapse of the pancreatic acinar cell membrane and intracellular digesting enzymes that cause pancreatic damage are suspected to be significant contributors to AP[19]. In particular, in the early course of pancreatitis, enteropeptidase leads to premature activation of trypsinogen to trypsin in acinar cells (Figure 3). This activation sets off a chain reaction of digestive protease activation, which ultimately digests the acinar cells and causes pancreatitis. Although trypsinogen activation inside the acinar cells has a role in the first stages of acinar damage, the development of local and systemic inflammation in pancreatitis can occur independently. Indeed, in the early stages of pancreatitis, trypsin-mediated cell death causes pancreatic injury; however, multiple parallel mechanisms, including activation of inflammatory cascades, excess calcium (Ca²⁺)-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress, autophagy, and mitochondrial dysfunction in acinar cells, are now recognized as important in driving the profound systemic inflammatory response and extensive pancreatic injury in AP[18]. Notably, nuclear factor-kappaB activation occurs early, independent of trypsinogen activation, and leads to the release of inflammatory mediators and recruitment of inflammatory cells, causing acinar cell death at later stages of pancreatitis and driving the systemic inflammatory response observed in pancreatitis[20].

Zaishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Etiologies and evolution of surgical management of acute pancreatitis. A: Key acute pancreatitis etiologies; B: Evolution of surgical management.

HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVES ON THE PANCREAS AND EVOLUTION OF PANCREATIC SURGERY

One of the first allusions to the presence of the pancreas can be found in Babylonian Talmud and ancient Greek anatomists^[21-23] (Figure 1B). Ruphos of Ephesus named the organ the "pancreas" after seeing that it lacked cartilage and bone in human cadavers (pan: All, kreas: Flesh). Galenus recognized the pancreas as a gland and named it kalikreas, a 'beautiful flesh'. It was not until the 17^{th} century that scientists Johann Georg Wirsung and Giovanni Domenico Santorini discovered primary and secondary pancreatic ducts, respectively^[24]. Abraham Vater (1684-1751) described the tubercle or diverticulum, later called the 'ampulla of Vater'^[25]. Pannala *et al*^[21] suggested that the pancreas plays a vital role in digestion. Subsequent researchers such as Willy Kuhne (trypsin identification), Alexander Marcet (lipase identification), Willy Kuhne (trypsin identification), Alexander Marcet (lipase discovery), and Ivan Pavlov (nerves of the pancreas) contributed greatly to the understanding of pancreatic physiology.

The Dutch anatomist Nicholaes Tulp is accredited with the first publication on the clinical description of AP in 1652. In 1889, Reginald Fitz of Boston offered the first comprehensive analysis of AP in a landmark study. In 1886, Nicholas Senn provided a detailed report of his surgical trials on pancreatic disorders, describing the excision and drainage of retention cysts[26]. In the late nineteenth century, exploratory laparotomy became popular for diagnosing AP and drainage of pancreatic abscesses, and necrotic tissue debridement was performed in some cases. However, despite growing knowledge of pancreatitis, the distinction between chronic pancreatitis and AP was recognized only in the mid-20th century. Surgeons such as Mickulicz, Mayo Robson, and Moynihan were encouraged to employ laparotomy to treat the complications of severe AP as anesthetics developed in the early twentieth century. In the first few decades of the twentieth century, various procedures were performed, such as drainage, resection, and cholecystostomy, but the operative mortality rate remained close to 60% [21].

Later, as the understanding of pancreatic physiology improved and diagnostic modalities advanced, conservative management of patients gained preference. If there is no secondary infection, surgical treatment is not required. With the identification of WON or organized pancreatic necrosis and the advent of advanced antibiotics to curb systemic toxicity and OF, the treatment of pancreatic necrosis has



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.307 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Local complications in acute pancreatitis. ANC: Acute necrotic collections; PFC: Peripancreatic fluid collections; WON: Walled-off necrosis.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.307 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis. Early activation of trypsinogen to trypsin in acinar cells triggers a cascade of pathogenic events, resulting in acute pancreatitis. AP: Acute pancreatitis; NF-kB: Nuclear factor kB.

evolved further, and delayed necrosectomy is commonly performed for sterile pancreatic necrosis[27, 28]. Minimally invasive laparoscopic, endoscopic, and percutaneous techniques have been established in recent decades to treat pancreatic necrosis; however, surgery remains an essential treatment for people with severe pathology. Endoscopic ultrasound (US)-guided therapy for pancreatic necrosis and other AP sequelae is also increasingly gaining popularity[10,27,29,30].

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

Summary of major guidelines

For the treatment of AP, the guidelines of the International Association of Pancreatology (IAP)/ American Pancreatic Association (2013)[31], the World Society of Emergency Surgery (2019)[4], and the American Gastroenterological Association (AGA) published in 2018[32] and 2020[33] are particularly notable. The recommendations of these guidelines for diagnosing and treating AP coincide significantly. The next section briefly summarizes the rationale for surgical interventions and the methods laid forth in the pivotal guidelines.

IAP guidelines: Due to the self-limiting nature and minimal mortality risk, the IAP guidelines explicitly indicate that mild AP is not a justification for surgery. Surgery and drainage are primarily necessary for the clinical indications of sepsis, and early surgery (14 d from the start) should be avoided, especially if patients respond well to conservative therapy. Timing is particularly critical, as cardiac and respiratory failures are common in the early phases of the disease. Furthermore, delaying surgery to a time that provides an improved delineation of the necrotic zone will allow optimal surgical circumstances.

The best surgical approach is removing necrotic tissues while minimizing the risk of subsequent infections, bleeding, necrosis, and inflammation. Most retroperitoneal (RP) debris and exudates are removed postoperatively. Because the pancreas is the main organ responsible for numerous endocrine and exocrine activities, pancreatectomy, whether entire or partial, may cause endocrine inefficiency. Organ preservation techniques such as debridement or necrosectomy are also favored. Although there is no consensus on the ideal strategy for necrosectomy, postoperative mortality has been reported to be less than 15% in various combinations of open necrosectomy with planned relaparotomy. In addition to the open approach, less invasive procedures for necrosectomy are being developed. However, the IAP advises that such treatments should be used in a subset of patients with confined or well-defined necrosis.

Gallstone-associated AP (GSAP) has its own set of management problems, as well as additional cooccurring comorbidities. GSAP requires early management, irrespective of the appearance of obstructive jaundice or severe cholangitis. Because there is no explicit agreement on this topic, the IAP did not recommend the use of endoscopic sphincterotomy (ES) and ERCP for severe GSAP. However, these are needed in the presence of obstructive jaundice or severe cholangitis. In patients with severe GSAP, open cholecystectomy with supraduodenal bile duct exploration and T-tube insertion is often considered an unsatisfactory emergency surgery. If a patient has undergone ES for acute gallstoneassociated pancreatitis, the gallbladder should be removed because of the possible risk of gallbladder complications.

Cholecystectomy and clearance of the major bile ducts (when clinical, biochemical, and radiological indicators of persistent biliary obstruction are present) can be performed to prevent the recurrence of biliary pancreatitis. In cases of mild AP associated with gallstones, it should be performed immediately after the patient recovers from the attack. However, in acute GSAP, cholecystectomy should be performed after the inflammatory process has stopped and the patient has recovered clinically to make treatment easier and safer. ES can be used in patients who cannot undergo cholecystectomy; however, the possibility of intervention-induced infections should not be ignored.

Japanese guidelines: The Japanese guidelines^[34] for the management of AP were first published in 2006 and have since been amended in 2012 and 2015, respectively. To avoid GSAP recurrence, cholecystectomy is indicated when such an operation is feasible. Because abdominal compartment syndrome (ACS) increases the mortality risk in such situations, sequential IAP monitoring is suggested in patients with abnormal fluid infusion and respiratory or kidney problems.

When an IAP of 12 mmHg persists or recurs, conservative therapy is recommended to maintain it at 15 mmHg. Surgical decompression can be explored when the IAP is greater than 20 mmHg, conservative therapy is ineffective, and OF is a significant concern. Conservative treatment for necrotizing pancreatitis should be attempted first. Suspected or confirmed infections and worsening state are the best justifications for intervention.

IPN is considered when clinical symptoms worsen, along with blood test results that support infection. Four weeks after onset, therapeutic intervention should be initiated when the necrosis is adequately walled off or during the WON phase. Drainage (percutaneous or endoscopic) should be explored, and if no improvement is observed, necrosectomy is a viable approach to treat IPN.

AGA (2018), American College of Gastroenterology (2013), and AGA (2020) guidelines: The 2018 AGA [32] guidelines focused on the initial management of AP. The AGA recommends that AP management during the first 48-72 h after admission should focus on outcome-specific fluid resuscitation. Hydroxyethyl starch fluids are discouraged, and prophylactic antibiotics are not recommended for SAP and necrotizing pancreatitis. AGA advocates early oral feeding and enteral nutrition rather than parenteral nutrition.

Immediate ERCP may be conducted in patients with cholangitis; however, this is not indicated in the context of acute biliary pancreatitis. Cholecystectomy is recommended for patients with acute biliary



pancreatitis, ideally before discharge from the hospital. AGA also recommends same-admission cholecystectomy and short alcohol intercession for biliary and alcohol-induced pancreatitis. AGA does not recommend the regular use of preventive antibiotics in SAP or routine ERCP in patients with AP in the absence of cholangitis.

The 2013 ACG guidelines also indicate that cholecystectomy should be performed before discharge in patients with mild AP with gallstones to avoid recurrent AP[35]. However, cholecystectomy must be postponed in necrotizing biliary AP until active inflammation and fluid collection are managed or stabilized. Asymptomatic pseudocysts and necrosis did not require intervention. In cases of infected necrosis, if the patient's condition is stable, drainage interventions should be postponed for at least four weeks. This period allows the contents to liquefy and forms a fibrous wall surrounding the necrosis. Minimally invasive necrosectomy is preferable to open necrosectomy in symptomatic individuals with infected necrosis. ERCP must be performed within 24 h after admission in patients with AP complicated by acute cholangitis, and pancreatic duct stents and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug suppositories should be used in high-risk patients to limit the risk of post-ERCP pancreatitis. Asymptomatic pancreatic and/or extrapancreatic necrosis and/or pseudocysts, regardless of their size, location, or extension, do not require intervention. In infected necrosis, if the condition of the patient is stable, surgical drainage must be postponed for at least four weeks.

The 2020 AGA guidelines focus on pancreatic necrosis[33] and align with the IAP and World Society of Emergency Surgery (WSES) guidelines on most accounts. AGA recognized the importance of surgery and recommended that in cases where clinical experience may be inadequate, patients with substantial pancreatic necrosis should be transferred to a suitable tertiary care hospital. According to the AGA 2020, direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN) is an option in cases of extensive necrosis and can also be used in cases of limited necrosis if the patient does not respond well to endoscopic transmural drainage. For debridement of acute necrotizing pancreatitis, minimally invasive surgical approaches should be used instead of open necrosectomy due to the lower risk of morbidity. Multiple debridement techniques should be explored, including videoscopic RP, laparoscopic transgastric, and open transgastric techniques. Distal pancreatectomy can be performed in patients with the detachment of the left pancreatic remnant after acute necrotizing necrosis of the middle body. A step-up approach involving percutaneous drainage or endoscopic transmural drainage followed by DEN and surgical debridement is practical. However, the optimal intervention may differ depending on the accessible clinical expertise.

WSES guidelines: The WSES[4] guidelines aim to provide evidence-based worldwide consensus statements on the treatment of SAP. These guidelines resulted from a special meeting of specialists at the World Congress of Emergency Surgery. According to the IAP guidelines, the WSES does not recommend regular ERCP for GSAP, although it has been suggested for cases of GSAP + cholangitis and GSAP + bile duct obstruction. Infected necrotizing pancreatitis should be treated by percutaneous endoscopic drainage (ED). Surgical approaches may be performed when conservative treatments such as percutaneous or endoscopic approaches do not improve the patient's condition. Surgical intervention is indicated for ACS, hemorrhage, and intestinal ischemia. Regarding surgery, the WSES recommends deferring the operation until four weeks after the initial stage due to better differentiation of necrosis from other vital tissues.

In terms of surgical technique, drainage is the first-line therapy; however, currently, there is not enough information to indicate the best surgical procedure (open or laparoscopic). In the presence of WON and a severed pancreatic duct, a single-stage surgical transgastric necrosectomy may be considered. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LCC) is recommended during index hospitalization in patients with moderate GSAP. The risk of recurrent pancreatitis is reduced when sphincterotomy and ERCP are performed during the index hospitalization, although same-admission cholecystectomy is still recommended due to the increased risk of additional biliary problems. Cholecystectomy should be avoided in acute GSAP until fluid collection is clear or stable and acute inflammation subsides.

Surgical decompression and an open abdomen (OA) can be considered for intra-abdominal hypertension/ACS if conservative and noninvasive treatments fail. Negative pressure peritoneal treatment is indicated for the OA because of its shorter duration, fewer dressing changes, and lower reexploration rates.

SUMMARY OF GUIDELINES: MEDICAL TREATMENT OPTIONS

Based on available guidelines, it is evident that the treatment of AP depends significantly on its etiology (Figure 4). The cornerstone of therapy for MSAP patients is supportive care, including resuscitation, pain management, and mobilization. Active rehydration, post-pyloric feeding, and pancreatin inhibitors are first-line therapies for AP. In the event of MSAP, a regular diet should be initiated as soon as possible after admission, and in the case of SAP, enteral nutrition should be initiated as soon as possible after admission. The most common reason for intervention is an infection, and surgery is often necessary to remove necrotic tissue once ACS and/or intestinal ischemia develop[36]. Antibiotics are not required to treat sterile necrosis, and non-operative treatment is preferred. However, antibiotics and image-guided drainage should be used as step-up treatments for patients with infections. As first-line





Figure 4 Flow chart of surgical management of acute pancreatitis. AP: Acute pancreatitis.

treatment, minimally invasive image-guided or ED is advised; repeated drains could be required.

Surgery should be considered when less invasive treatments fail but should be postponed until the delineation of necrotic pancreatic tissue (Table 2). Asymptomatic pseudocysts in the pancreas must be treated nonoperatively; in contrast, symptomatic, infectious, or expanding pseudocysts require surgical intervention. Unless there is a strong clinical suspicion of sepsis, fine-needle aspiration (FNA) should be avoided because of the risk of contamination of an otherwise sterile sample; however, in the case of suspected infected necrosis, an image-guided FNA with culture should be performed to distinguish it from sterile necrosis. Pancreatic necrosis may cause OF, and its treatment includes debridement or necrosectomy, peritoneal lavage, drainage, or a "step-up" technique. This step-up strategy is used primarily to treat WON. It consists of prior draining (either endoscopic or percutaneous), followed by a waiting period to allow the wall to mature and debridement using endoscopic or minimally invasive surgical approaches[37]. Due to high mortality, infectious complications, and prolonged hospitalization [38], open surgery is recommended only when the step-up approach fails. Furthermore, in the event of IPN, surgical interventions should be performed after a few weeks (preferably four) of onset to allow the collection to be 'walled off'. Percutaneous drainage can provide adequate source control of necrosis in most individuals (23%-47%). Open debridement with external drainage is still used in cases where less invasive treatments have failed or are not an option.

ERCP should be performed within 48 h in patients with persistent or progressive bile duct obstruction (as suspected clinically, biochemically, and/or radiologically) or cholangitis. Percutaneous transhepatic gallbladder drainage should be considered if ERCP is impractical. Cholecystectomy should be performed in patients with mild AP during their first hospital stay (same-admission cholecystectomy approach) but not in patients with severe AP until their clinical state has improved. If cholecystectomy is contraindicated due to medical comorbidities, patients with GSAP should undergo ERCP and sphincterotomy before discharge to prevent recurrence until the interval for which cholecystectomy is deemed feasible and safe. Cholecystectomy is considered safe and feasible in most cases of biliary pancreatitis; however, the risks of biliary damage and postoperative leakage of bile must be considered. It is essential to realize that each intervention for the management of AP has specific indications with benefits and downsides that must be considered in a case-specific manner [10,29,30,39].

SURGICAL DECISION TARGETS (DECISION-MAKING MAP)

The first step after confirming the diagnosis of AP (by at least two out of the diagnostic triad) should be the differential diagnosis of AP by ruling out other major conditions that have overlapping clinical (epigastric abdominal pain radiating to the back) and biochemical (hyperamylasemia) diagnostic criteria



Table 2 Summary of key surgical recomme	endations in different guidelines for acute pancr	eatitis management		
IAP ¹ (grade A and B)[31]	WSES ² (grade 1A, 1B, or 1C)[4]	AGA (pancreatic necrosis)[33]		
Mild AP is not an indication for pancreatic surgery (grade B recommendation)	Routine ERCP is not indicated (1A)	Drainage and/or debridement of pancreatic necrosis is indicated in patients with IPN		
IPN in patients with clinical signs and symptoms of sepsis is an indication for intervention (recommendation grade B)	ERCP is indicated in patients with GSAP and cholangitis (1B)	Pancreatic debridement should be avoided in the early, acute period (first two weeks)		
Early surgery is not recommended within 14 d after the onset of the disease in patients with necrotic pancreatitis (recommendation grade B)	Clinical deterioration with signs of INP is an indication of intervention (1C)	Percutaneous and transmural ED are both appropriate first-line nonsurgical approaches to the management of patients with WON		
Interventional management should favor an organ-preserving approach (grade B recommendation)	As a continuum in a step-up approach after percutaneous/endoscopic procedure (1C)	Percutaneous drainage of pancreatic necrosis should be considered in patients with infected or symptomatic necrotic collections in the early acute period (< 2 wk)		
ES is an alternative to cholecystectomy in those who are not fit to undergo surgery (grade B recommendation)	In IPN, percutaneous drainage as the first-line of treatment (1A)	SEMS in the form of LAMS appears superior to plastic stents for endoscopic transmural drainage of necrosis		
	Minimally invasive surgical strategies result in fewer postoperative new-onset OF (1B)	The use of DEN should be reserved for those patients with limited necrosis and not responding to endoscopic transmural drainage		
	Laparoscopic cholecystectomy is recommended during index admission in mild GSAP (1A) The risk of recurrent pancreatitis is reduced when ERCP and sphincterotomy are performed during index admission (1B)	Minimally invasive operative approaches to the debridement of IPN are preferred to open approaches		
	Over-resuscitation of patients with early SAP should be avoided; intra-abdominal pressure monitoring is necessary (1C)	A step-up approach consisting of percutaneous drainage or endoscopic transmural drainage, followed by DEN, and then surgical debridement is reasonable		
	OA should be avoided if other strategies can be used to manage IAH (1C)	is reasonable		
	Not to use OA after necrosectomy (1C)			
	Not to debride or perform an early necrosectomy if forced to perform an early OA due to ACS (1A)			
		For patients with disconnected left pancreatic remnants after acute necrotizing mid-body necrosis, definitive surgical management with distal pancreatectomy can be performed		

¹Grade A: Strong evidence that requires a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials or at least one randomized controlled trial (evidence categories Ia and Ib); Grade B: Intermediate evidence, requires nonrandomized clinical studies (evidence categories IIa, IIb, and III).

²Grading of recommendations assessment 1A: Strong recommendation, high-quality evidence; 1B: Strong recommendation, moderate-quality evidence; 1C: Strong recommendation, low-quality or very low-quality evidence.

ACS: Abdominal compartment syndrome; AP: Acute pancreatitis; DEN: Direct endoscopic necrosectomy; ES: Endoscopic sphincterotomy; LAMS: Lumenapposing metal stents; OA: Open abdomen; SAP: Severe acute pancreatitis; SEMS: Self-expanding metal stents; VARD: Video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement; WON: Walled-off necrosis; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography; IPN: Infected pancreatic necrosis; IAP: International Association of Pancreatology; WSES: World Society of Emergency Surgery; AGA: American Gastroenterological Association; GSAP: Gallstone-associated acute pancreatitis; INP: Infected necrotizing pancreatitis; ED: Endoscopic drainage.

> of AP, such as mesenteric ischemia, perforated viscus, inferior wall myocardial infarction, and lower lobar pneumonia, confirming that the diagnosis of AP is not enough. It is still necessary and essential to rule out these serious differentials, as AP itself can be a contributing trigger factor of these differentials (AP can cause aspiration leading to lower lobar pneumonia and affect the portal vein/superior mesenteric vein junction in its inflammatory process, which causes portal vein thrombosis and venous mesenteric ischemia, or unstable angina can lead to a full-blown inferior wall myocardial infarction due to sheer physiological stress and increased demand for cardiac output and oxygen delivery) (Figure 5). Grading the systemic severity of AP, with careful monitoring of hemodynamic stability and OF, and staging of local severity by differentiating between edematous/interstitial and necrotizing types of AP are also crucial at this stage. Once these problems are resolved, the focus should shift to the etiology of AP, the cautious management of systemic and local consequences, and the prioritization of symptomatic support. When the etiology is established, definitive or temporizing management of the underlying distal etiology, for example, by performing preoperative common bile duct exploration and clearance for persistent choledocholithiasis (clinical, biochemical, and/or radiological indicators of persistent

Alzerwi N et al. Surgical management of AP



Figure 5 Decision-making targets in the surgical management of acute pancreatitis (decision-making map). AP: Acute pancreatitis.

biliary/ampullary obstruction) by ERCP, should be attempted, followed by definitive or temporizing management of the underlying proximal etiology, such as cholecystectomy to prevent recurrence of biliary/ampullary obstruction. Finally, malignant obstruction (biliary, ampullary, or pancreatodochal) can be the most proximal etiology and should always be ruled out.

COMMENTARY ON KEY SURGICAL PROCEDURES FOR AP

MSAP and SAP are related to local or systemic sequelae such as peripancreatic fluid accumulation, which presents a risk of compressive or pressure symptoms, organ damage, and mortality[29]. The publication of clinical trials and case reports has increased consistently over the last few decades (Figure 6). The subsequent section reviews some of the most contemporary results of lavage and drainage, necrosectomy, ERCP, and biliary surgery, focusing on open, endoscopic, and percutaneous techniques.

Lavage and drainage

Endoscopic, percutaneous, and open surgical drainage are among the different methods of drainage, each with its own set of benefits and drawbacks[40]. For the first time, Freeny et al[41] presented a unique method known as the step-up technique aimed at gradually controlling infections rather than rapidly removing necrosis. It is based on percutaneous catheter drainage (PCD), which is considered the least invasive procedure for managing necrosis of infected AP, with reduced length of stay [intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital], hemorrhage, mortality, fistulas, and OF, compared to open surgery [42,43].

PCD is not optimal as an early invasive intervention or treatment and is recommended at least four weeks later when necrosis is expected to form a wrap. A retrospective cohort study addressed this issue and described a novel insert catheter approach known as abdominal paracentesis drainage (APD)[44]. APD can lower intestinal barrier damage and SAP severity^[45]. Early treatment by APD reduces the release of inflammatory factors and improves the prognosis. Furthermore, in MSAP or SAP, APD does not increase infection or mortality complications compared to a strategy without APD[46].

A recent meta-analysis found that APD significantly reduced all-cause mortality, length of hospital stay, and procedure cost compared to conventional follow-up treatment, with no discernible differences in the risk of infection or OF[29]. Another study examined the function of APD before PCD as a variation of the step-up strategy. The use of APD before PCD is also effective in managing AP with abdominal fluid accumulation; however, the conditions under which APD should be used have not been thoroughly explained [47].

According to most international guidelines, catheter drainage should be delayed until the "WON stage" is achieved, which usually takes four weeks after the onset of AP. Interestingly, the practicality of surgical necrosectomy is the primary basis for this advice. van Grinsven et al[48] argued that deferring drainage may not be necessary and that early drainage of infected necrosis may improve the results. However, a multicenter randomized superiority trial did not indicate that early drainage was preferable to delayed drainage in terms of complications in cases of IPN[49]. Another recent study compared





Figure 6 Year-wise growth in the number of publications on the surgical management of acute pancreatitis.

combined endoscopic and percutaneous drainage for necrotic fluid collection (NFC) in the "early" and "late" drainage groups. The study found that early draining of NFC is feasible and safe when performed in a tertiary care facility with therapeutic endoscopic US proficiency[50]. These findings underscore the importance of clinical competence in treating complicated AP.

PCD is usually performed under US or computed tomography (CT) guidance. A study examined the effectiveness of the US/CT image fusion guide, reporting that the US/CT-PCD group showed significantly fewer puncture-related problems, shorter hospital stays and intubation time, and lower treatment costs than the US-PCD group. The authors concluded that for PCD, the US/CT image fusion guide is a reliable approach for SAP with infected WON[51].

EUS-TD has progressed from the involvement of multiple plastic stents to fully covered selfexpanding metal stents and lumen-apposing metal stents (LAMS), resulting in a number of procedural and therapeutic advantages without increasing total treatment costs[52]. In early AP, transluminal ED is associated with a shorter resolution period and lower requirement for salvage surgery than PCD[53]. Furthermore, regardless of infection, EUS-guided drainage (EUS-D) has been shown to offer advantages over PCD in terms of clinical success and faster resolution of WON[54]. Prolonged OF is more frequently an indication of PCD in ANC than in WON, although suspected infection is more commonly an indication in WON than in ANC[55]. A study comparing RP and transperitoneal (TP) found that both are safe and effective, although TP has a higher clinical success rate[56].

Another study examined the efficacy of minimally invasive endoscopic procedures in treating IPN. The mortality rate did not differ significantly; however, the incidence of enteral or pancreaticutaneous fistulas was much lower in the endoscopic group. Furthermore, in the endoscopic approach group, physical health scores for quality of life (QoL) were higher, and the mean total cost of treatment was lower[57]. A systematic review compared the effects of ED with various surgical drainage procedures in necrotizing pancreatitis, indicating that ED had a lower incidence of fistula development than other surgical drainage methods[58]. Another study found that the use of a minimally invasive draining technique in patients with IPN was associated with shorter stays in the ICU and hospital[59].

A systematic review compared endoscopic and surgical treatments in patients with infected walled necrosis. There were no differences in mortality; however, the endoscopic group had fewer new-onset OF and perforations or fistulas[60]. Another study revealed that the endoscopic method could provide superior QoL to surgical necrosectomy[61].

Necrosectomy

The standard therapy for infected pancreatitis necrosis is open necrosectomy, which helps remove necrotic tissue and drain contaminated compartments. The upfront approach has recently gained popularity because of its low mortality and morbidity risks. A prospective multicenter randomized trial found that open necrosectomy was associated with a higher incidence of new-onset multiple OF and mortality equivalent to the step-up approach[37]. In response to further improvements, a one-step laparoscopic pancreatic necrosectomy was developed, with a shorter hospital stay than the surgical step-up group but no equivalent mortality or morbidity burden[62]. Infracolic necrosectomy and selective Roux-en-Y cystjejunostomy have also been reported as safe operational alternatives for difficult SAP that are not susceptible to drainage/debridement using standard procedures[63].

Endoscopic, minimally invasive, and video-assisted retroperitoneal techniques for debridement have gained increasing attention in recent decades, with an emphasis on reducing mortality and morbidity. A meta-analysis found that endoscopic therapy, as opposed to minimally invasive surgery, substantially reduced complications in patients with infected necrotizing pancreatitis[64]. Recently, Xiao *et al*[65] examined the efficacy of open necrosectomy, minimally invasive surgery, and the endoscopic step-up technique, indicating that the endoscopic step-up group had fewer complications and shorter hospital



stay.

Step-up procedures have become the standard therapy for WON based on extensive evidence from randomized controlled trials[66-69]; however, it is crucial to be wary of pancreatic fistulas and stentrelated problems during the endoscopic step-up approach[70]. It should also be noted that there is currently no harmonized strategy for the endoscopic treatment of pancreatic necrosis that considers local knowledge, anatomical characteristics of necrosis, and concomitant disorders[30].

According to Minami et al[71], in cases of infected ANC/WON, the open necrosectomy may be performed if clinically necessary. Recently, Jagielski et al[72] showed that percutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy (PEN) using self-expanding esophageal metal stents (SEMS) is potentially efficacious and has an acceptable incidence of complications. Ke et al^[73] verified that the use of SEMS during PEN techniques reduced hospital stay, new-onset sepsis, and duration of the procedure. It should be noted that ED and direct endoscopic necrosectomy (DEN) have been the preferred treatment techniques since the discovery of LAMS, especially when there is considerable solid debris or infection^[74]. However, because long-term problems after DEN are comparable to those observed after pancreatectomy, Kim et al[75] cautioned that DEN should be performed methodically while avoiding injury to viable pancreatic tissues with appropriate antibiotic escalation. Although the postoperative QoL of patients after minimally invasive pancreatic interventions has not yet been identified, it is widely accepted that customized interventional surgical therapy should be attempted in SAP management to obtain the best clinical and QoL outcomes[76-78].

ERCP and biliary surgery

If gallstones are confirmed to be the source of the problem, cholecystectomy is recommended to avoid repeated episodes and, perhaps, biliary sepsis. It is important to note that GSAP improves when the stone is removed. Novikov *et al*^[79] examined all patients admitted to a nationwide inpatient sample for GSAP between 2004 and 2014. These findings support early ERCP in patients with GSAP but without cholangitis. A systematic review evaluated the clinical utility of early ERCP vs early conservative therapy in conjunction with ERCP in selected cases, reporting the absence of significant advantages of early routine ERCP in terms of mortality or local or systemic pancreatitis[80]. A randomized controlled study compared the composite outcomes of immediate ERCP with sphincterotomy and conservative treatment in patients with severe GSAP. Compared to conservative therapy, immediate ERCP with sphincterotomy did not reduce the composite outcome [81]. Other studies have also not demonstrated the benefits of early ERCP with biliary sphincterotomy in improving the prognosis of patients with GSAP who do not have associated cholangitis[39,82].

A study examined whether LCC can prevent recurring acute IAP. During surgery, biliary stones or sludge was found in 23/39 (59%) patients, and the authors concluded that when all other plausible causes of pancreatitis were ruled out, LCC could successfully prevent the recurrence of IAP[83]. Faur et al[84] investigated the effects of early biliary decompression using a minimally invasive method in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.

CONCLUSION

Most patients with AP have a moderate, self-limiting, and straightforward clinical course. Mild and lifethreatening sequelae, local and systemic, include pancreatic and/or peripancreatic fluid collections, walled necrosis, and IPN. Surgical complication management has undergone a dramatic transformation in recent decades. Patients with sterile necrosis who experience symptoms need intervention less often than those with infected necrosis. Pancreatic necrosis has traditionally been treated by open necrosectomy; however, in recent decades, less invasive methods, including endoscopic treatments, have become the norm. Technological advancements have improved the safety and effectiveness of endoscopic operations. However, certain problems still require further correction. Unfortunately, there is no standardized endoscopic approach or protocol for the treatment of various types and complications of SAP, considering parameters such as clinical competence, infection management, anatomical characteristics of necrosis, and comorbidity profiles. The lack of knowledge of the biology of the disease has also resulted in a scarcity of pharmacological and surgical treatment options for AP. Furthermore, controlled studies are required to determine the efficacy of etiology-specific intervention therapy on outcomes such as recurrent AP, treatment costs, progression to chronic pancreatitis and cancer, QoL, and mortality.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Alzerwi N conducted literature review, analysis, and manuscript writing.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Saudi Arabia

ORCID number: Nasser Alzerwi 0000-0002-4877-2152.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Heckler M, Hackert T, Hu K, Halloran CM, Büchler MW, Neoptolemos JP. Severe acute pancreatitis: surgical indications 1 and treatment. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2021; 406: 521-535 [PMID: 32910276 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-020-01944-6]
- Forsmark CE, Vege SS, Wilcox CM. Acute Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 1972-1981 [PMID: 27959604 DOI: 2 10.1056/NEJMra1505202]
- 3 Bugiantella W, Rondelli F, Boni M, Stella P, Polistena A, Sanguinetti A, Avenia N. Necrotizing pancreatitis: A review of the interventions. Int J Surg 2016; 28 Suppl 1: S163-S171 [PMID: 26708848 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.12.038]
- Leppäniemi A, Tolonen M, Tarasconi A, Segovia-Lohse H, Gamberini E, Kirkpatrick AW, Ball CG, Parry N, Sartelli M, Wolbrink D, van Goor H, Baiocchi G, Ansaloni L, Biffl W, Coccolini F, Di Saverio S, Kluger Y, Moore E, Catena F. 2019 WSES guidelines for the management of severe acute pancreatitis. World J Emerg Surg 2019; 14: 27 [PMID: 31210778 DOI: 10.1186/s13017-019-0247-0]
- 5 Petrov MS, Yadav D. Global epidemiology and holistic prevention of pancreatitis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 16: 175-184 [PMID: 30482911 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0087-5]
- 6 Iannuzzi JP, King JA, Leong JH, Quan J, Windsor JW, Tanyingoh D, Coward S, Forbes N, Heitman SJ, Shaheen AA, Swain M, Buie M, Underwood FE, Kaplan GG. Global Incidence of Acute Pancreatitis Is Increasing Over Time: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Gastroenterology 2022; 162: 122-134 [PMID: 34571026 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.09.043]
- 7 Cappell MS. Acute pancreatitis: etiology, clinical presentation, diagnosis, and therapy. Med Clin North Am 2008; 92: 889-923, ix [PMID: 18570947 DOI: 10.1016/j.mcna.2008.04.013]
- Wu H, Ma K, Liao B, Ji T, Zhang S, Cao T. Comparative Analysis of Early Clinical Features and Complications of 8 Different Types of Acute Pancreatitis. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2022; 2022: 3771610 [PMID: 35795856 DOI: 10.1155/2022/3771610
- Lee JK, Enns R. Review of idiopathic pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13: 6296-6313 [PMID: 18081217 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i47.6296]
- 10 Walkowska J, Zielinska N, Tubbs RS, Podgórski M, Dłubek-Ruxer J, Olewnik Ł. Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute Pancreatitis. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 36010324 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12081974]
- 11 Fitz RH. Acute Pancreatitis - A Consideration of Pancreatic Hemorrhage, Hemorrhagic, Suppurative, and Gangrenous Pancreatitis, and of Disseminated Fat-Necrosis. Boston Med Surg 1889; 181 [DOI: 10.1056/NEJM188902211200801]
- Ranson JH, Rifkind KM, Roses DF, Fink SD, Eng K, Localio SA. Objective early identification of severe acute 12 pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1974; 61: 443-451 [PMID: 4835417]
- Bradley EL 3rd. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium 13 on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128: 586-590 [PMID: 8489394 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.1993.01420170122019]
- 14 Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, Tsiotos GG, Vege SS; Acute Pancreatitis Classification Working Group. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut 2013; 62: 102-111 [PMID: 23100216 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302779]
- 15 Dellinger EP, Forsmark CE, Layer P, Lévy P, Maraví-Poma E, Petrov MS, Shimosegawa T, Siriwardena AK, Uomo G, Whitcomb DC, Windsor JA; Pancreatitis Across Nations Clinical Research and Education Alliance (PANCREA). Determinant-based classification of acute pancreatitis severity: an international multidisciplinary consultation. Ann Surg 2012; 256: 875-880 [PMID: 22735715 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318256f778]
- Szatmary P, Grammatikopoulos T, Cai W, Huang W, Mukherjee R, Halloran C, Beyer G, Sutton R. Acute Pancreatitis: 16 Diagnosis and Treatment. Drugs 2022; 82: 1251-1276 [PMID: 36074322 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-022-01766-4]
- 17 Ravi Kanth V, Nageshwar Reddy D. Genetics of acute and chronic pancreatitis: An update. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol 2014; 5: 427-437 [PMID: 25400986 DOI: 10.4291/wjgp.v5.i4.427]
- 18 Zheng Z, Ding YX, Qu YX, Cao F, Li F. A narrative review of acute pancreatitis and its diagnosis, pathogenetic mechanism, and management. Ann Transl Med 2021; 9: 69 [PMID: 33553362 DOI: 10.21037/atm-20-4802]
- 19 Sah RP, Dawra RK, Saluja AK. New insights into the pathogenesis of pancreatitis. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2013; 29: 523-530 [PMID: 23892538 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e328363e399]
- 20 Sah RP, Garg P, Saluja AK. Pathogenic mechanisms of acute pancreatitis. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2012; 28: 507-515 [PMID: 22885948 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e3283567f52]



- Pannala R, Kidd M, Modlin IM. Acute pancreatitis: a historical perspective. Pancreas 2009; 38: 355-366 [PMID: 21 19390402 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318199161c]
- 22 Navarro S. Historical review of our knowledge of acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 41: 143.e1-143.e10 [PMID: 29249269 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2017.11.004]
- 23 Rocha FG, Balakrishnan A, Ashley SW, Clancy TE. A historic perspective on the contributions of surgeons to the understanding of acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2008; 196: 442-449 [PMID: 18718223 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2008.01.028]
- 24 Stern CD. A historical perspective on the discovery of the accessory duct of the pancreas, the ampulla 'of Vater' and pancreas divisum. Gut 1986; 27: 203-212 [PMID: 3512385 DOI: 10.1136/gut.27.2.203]
- 25 Howard JM, Hess W, Traverso W. Johann Georg Wirsüng (1589-1643) and the pancreatic duct: the prosector of Padua, Italy. J Am Coll Surg 1998; 187: 201-211 [PMID: 9704970 DOI: 10.1016/s1072-7515(98)00136-7]
- 26 Senn N. Surgery of the pancreas as based upon experiments and clinical researches. Trans An Surg Assoc 1886; 4: 99-123
- 27 Rashid MU, Hussain I, Jehanzeb S, Ullah W, Ali S, Jain AG, Khetpal N, Ahmad S. Pancreatic necrosis: Complications and changing trend of treatment. World J Gastrointest Surg 2019; 11: 198-217 [PMID: 31123558 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v11.i4.198]
- Bradley EL 3rd, Dexter ND. Management of severe acute pancreatitis: a surgical odyssey. Ann Surg 2010; 251: 6-17 28 [PMID: 20009748 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181c72b79]
- 29 Lu Z, Zhu X, Hua T, Zhang J, Xiao W, Jia D, Yang M. Efficacy and safety of abdominal paracentesis drainage on patients with acute pancreatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2021; 11: e045031 [PMID: 34373293 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045031]
- Feng L, Guo J, Wang S, Liu X, Ge N, Wang G, Sun S. Endoscopic Transmural Drainage and Necrosectomy in Acute Necrotizing Pancreatitis: A Review. J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 168-176 [PMID: 34900627 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0031]
- 31 Working Group IAP/APA Acute Pancreatitis Guidelines. IAP/APA evidence-based guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2013; 13: e1-15 [PMID: 24054878 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2013.07.063]
- 32 Crockett SD, Wani S, Gardner TB, Falck-Ytter Y, Barkun AN; American Gastroenterological Association Institute Clinical Guidelines Committee. American Gastroenterological Association Institute Guideline on Initial Management of Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2018; 154: 1096-1101 [PMID: 29409760 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.01.032]
- Baron TH, DiMaio CJ, Wang AY, Morgan KA. American Gastroenterological Association Clinical Practice Update: 33 Management of Pancreatic Necrosis. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 67-75.e1 [PMID: 31479658 DOI: 10.1053/i.gastro.2019.07.064]
- 34 Yokoe M, Takada T, Mayumi T, Yoshida M, Isaji S, Wada K, Itoi T, Sata N, Gabata T, Igarashi H, Kataoka K, Hirota M, Kadoya M, Kitamura N, Kimura Y, Kiriyama S, Shirai K, Hattori T, Takeda K, Takeyama Y, Sekimoto M, Shikata S, Arata S, Hirata K. Japanese guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis: Japanese Guidelines 2015. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2015; 22: 405-432 [PMID: 25973947 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.259]
- Tenner S, Baillie J, DeWitt J, Vege SS; American College of Gastroenterology. American College of Gastroenterology 35 guideline: management of acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2013; 108: 1400-15; 1416 [PMID: 23896955 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2013.218]
- 36 Dai JY, Yin L, Xu J, Walline JH, Lv CZ, Zhao XD, Yu XZ. Expert consensus on emergency diagnosis and treatment procedures for acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding. J Acute Dis 2020; 9: 231-243 [DOI: 10.4103/2221-6189.299177]
- van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, Hofker HS, Boermeester MA, Dejong CH, van Goor H, Schaapherder AF, 37 van Eijck CH, Bollen TL, van Ramshorst B, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Timmer R, Laméris JS, Kruyt PM, Manusama ER, van der Harst E, van der Schelling GP, Karsten T, Hesselink EJ, van Laarhoven CJ, Rosman C, Bosscha K, de Wit RJ, Houdijk AP, van Leeuwen MS, Buskens E, Gooszen HG; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1491-1502 [PMID: 20410514 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0908821]
- 38 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, Bassi C, McKay CJ, Lankisch PG, Carter R, Di Magno E, Banks PA, Whitcomb DC, Dervenis C, Ulrich CD, Satake K, Ghaneh P, Hartwig W, Werner J, McEntee G, Neoptolemos JP, Büchler MW; International Association of Pancreatology. IAP Guidelines for the Surgical Management of Acute Pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2: 565-573 [PMID: 12435871 DOI: 10.1159/000071269]
- 39 Shrestha DB, Budhathoki P, Sedhai YR, Adhikari A, Poudel A, Aryal BB, Gurung TM, Karki B, Karki BR, Patel D. Urgent Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) vs. Conventional Approach in Acute Biliary Pancreatitis Without Cholangitis: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cureus 2022; 14: e21342 [PMID: 35198265 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.21342]
- 40 Bansal A, Gupta P, Singh AK, Shah J, Samanta J, Mandavdhare HS, Sharma V, Sinha SK, Dutta U, Sandhu MS, Kochhar R. Drainage of pancreatic fluid collections in acute pancreatitis: A comprehensive overview. World J Clin Cases 2022; 10: 6769-6783 [PMID: 36051118 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i20.6769]
- 41 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170: 969-975 [PMID: 9530046 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.170.4.9530046
- 42 Zhang ZH, Ding YX, Wu YD, Gao CC, Li F. A meta-analysis and systematic review of percutaneous catheter drainage in treating infected pancreatitis necrosis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e12999 [PMID: 30461605 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000012999]
- A meta-analysis and systematic review of percutaneous catheter drainage in treating infected pancreatitis necrosis: Erratum. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e14457 [PMID: 30732211 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000014457]
- 44 Liu WH, Ren LN, Chen T, Liu LY, Jiang JH, Wang T, Xu C, Yan HT, Zheng XB, Song FQ, Tang LJ. Abdominal paracentesis drainage ahead of percutaneous catheter drainage benefits patients attacked by acute pancreatitis with fluid collections: a retrospective clinical cohort study. Crit Care Med 2015; 43: 109-119 [PMID: 25251762 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.000000000000606]
- 45 Yuan X, Luo C, Wu J, Li W, Guo X, Li S, Wang B, Sun H, Tang L. Abdominal paracentesis drainage attenuates intestinal mucosal barrier damage through macrophage polarization in severe acute pancreatitis. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2021; 246:



2029-2038 [PMID: 34053233 DOI: 10.1177/15353702211015144]

- 46 Liu L, Yan H, Liu W, Cui J, Wang T, Dai R, Liang H, Luo H, Tang L. Abdominal Paracentesis Drainage Does Not Increase Infection in Severe Acute Pancreatitis: A Prospective Study. J Clin Gastroenterol 2015; 49: 757-763 [PMID: 26053169 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000358]
- 47 Zerem E, Kunosić S, Zerem D, Boloban A, Zerem O, Zlomužica E. Benefits of abdominal paracentesis drainage performed ahead of percutaneous catheter drainage as a modification of the step-up approach in acute pancreatitis with fluid collections. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2020; 83: 285-293 [PMID: 32603048]
- 48 van Grinsven J, van Santvoort HC, Boermeester MA, Dejong CH, van Eijck CH, Fockens P, Besselink MG; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Timing of catheter drainage in infected necrotizing pancreatitis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 13: 306-312 [PMID: 26956064 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.23]
- Boxhoorn L, van Dijk SM, van Grinsven J, Verdonk RC, Boermeester MA, Bollen TL, Bouwense SAW, Bruno MJ, 49 Cappendijk VC, Dejong CHC, van Duijvendijk P, van Eijck CHJ, Fockens P, Francken MFG, van Goor H, Hadithi M, Hallensleben NDL, Haveman JW, Jacobs MAJM, Jansen JM, Kop MPM, van Lienden KP, Manusama ER, Mieog JSD, Molenaar IQ, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Poen AC, Poley JW, van de Poll M, Quispel R, Römkens TEH, Schwartz MP, Seerden TC, Stommel MWJ, Straathof JWA, Timmerhuis HC, Venneman NG, Voermans RP, van de Vrie W, Witteman BJ, Dijkgraaf MGW, van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Immediate versus Postponed Intervention for Infected Necrotizing Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2021; 385: 1372-1381 [PMID: 34614330 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2100826
- 50 Bomman S, Sanders D, Coy D, La Selva D, Pham Q, Zehr T, Law J, Larsen M, Irani S, Kozarek RA, Ross A, Krishnamoorthi R. Safety and clinical outcomes of early dual modality drainage (< 28 days) compared to later drainage of pancreatic necrotic fluid collections: a propensity score-matched study. Surg Endosc 2022 [PMID: 36038648 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-022-09561-8]
- 51 Zhang H, Chen GY, Xiao L, Ma X, Shi L, Wang T, Yan HT, Zou H, Chen Q, Tang LJ, Liu WH. Ultrasonic/CT image fusion guidance facilitating percutaneous catheter drainage in treatment of acute pancreatitis complicated with infected walled-off necrosis. Pancreatology 2018; 18: 635-641 [PMID: 29954676 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2018.06.004]
- 52 Falk V, Kenshil S, Sandha S, Teshima C, D'Souza P, Sandha G. The Evolution of EUS-Guided Transluminal Drainage for the Treatment of Pancreatic Fluid Collections: A Comparison of Clinical and Cost Outcomes with Double-Pigtail Plastic Stents, Conventional Metal Stents and Lumen-Apposing Metal Stents. J Can Assoc Gastroenterol 2020; 3: 26-35 [PMID: 34169224 DOI: 10.1093/jcag/gwy049]
- 53 Rana SS, Verma S, Kang M, Gorsi U, Sharma R, Gupta R. Comparison of endoscopic versus percutaneous drainage of symptomatic pancreatic necrosis in the early (<4 weeks) phase of illness. Endosc Ultrasound 2020; 9: 402-409 [PMID: 33318376 DOI: 10.4103/eus.eus_65_20]
- 54 Samanta J, Dhar J, Muktesh G, Gupta P, Kumar-M P, Das A, Agarwala R, Bellam BL, Chauhan R, Kumar KH, Yadav TD, Gupta V, Sinha SK, Kochhar R, Facciorusso A. Endoscopic drainage versus percutaneous drainage for the management of infected walled-off necrosis: a comparative analysis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 16: 297-305 [PMID: 35227141 DOI: 10.1080/17474124.2022.2047649]
- Mallick B, Dhaka N, Gupta P, Gulati A, Malik S, Sinha SK, Yadav TD, Gupta V, Kochhar R. An audit of percutaneous 55 drainage for acute necrotic collections and walled off necrosis in patients with acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2018; 18: 727-733 [PMID: 30146334 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2018.08.010]
- Verma N, Maurya M, Gupta P, Samanta J, Mandavdhare H, Sharma V, Dutta U, Kochhar R. Retroperitoneal versus 56 transperitoneal percutaneous catheter drainage of necrotic pancreatic collections: a comparative analysis. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2022; 47: 1899-1906 [PMID: 35286420 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-022-03476-7]
- 57 Bang JY, Arnoletti JP, Holt BA, Sutton B, Hasan MK, Navaneethan U, Feranec N, Wilcox CM, Tharian B, Hawes RH, Varadarajulu S. An Endoscopic Transluminal Approach, Compared With Minimally Invasive Surgery, Reduces Complications and Costs for Patients With Necrotizing Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1027-1040.e3 [PMID: 30452918 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.031]
- 58 Mohamadnejad M, Anushiravani A, Kasaeian A, Sorouri M, Djalalinia S, Kazemzadeh Houjaghan A, Gaidhane M, Kahaleh M. Endoscopic or surgical treatment for necrotizing pancreatitis: Comprehensive systematic review and metaanalysis. Endosc Int Open 2022; 10: E420-E428 [PMID: 35433210 DOI: 10.1055/a-1783-9229]
- 59 Darrivere L, Lapidus N, Colignon N, Chafai N, Chaput U, Verdonk F, Paye F, Lescot T. Minimally invasive drainage in critically ill patients with severe necrotizing pancreatitis is associated with better outcomes: an observational study. Crit Care 2018; 22: 321 [PMID: 30466472 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-018-2256-x]
- Haney CM, Kowalewski KF, Schmidt MW, Koschny R, Felinska EA, Kalkum E, Probst P, Diener MK, Müller-Stich BP, 60 Hackert T, Nickel F. Endoscopic versus surgical treatment for infected necrotizing pancreatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Surg Endosc 2020; 34: 2429-2444 [PMID: 32112252 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07469-9
- Psaltis E, Varghese C, Pandanaboyana S, Nayar M. Quality of life after surgical and endoscopic management of severe 61 acute pancreatitis: A systematic review. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2022; 14: 443-454 [PMID: 36051991 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v14.i7.443]
- 62 Han SB, Chen D, Chen QY, Hu P, Zheng H, Chen JH, Xu P, Wang CY, Zhao G. One-step laparoscopic pancreatic necrosectomy verse surgical step-up approach for infected pancreatic necrosis: a case-control study. World J Emerg Med 2022; 13: 274-282 [PMID: 35837558 DOI: 10.5847/wjem.j.1920-8642.2022.058]
- Latif J, Creedon L, Mistry P, Thurley P, Bhatti I, Awan A. Complicated Severe Acute Pancreatitis: Open and Laparoscopic Infracolic Approach. J Gastrointest Surg 2022; 26: 1686-1696 [PMID: 35581460 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-022-05350-9]
- Bang JY, Wilcox CM, Arnoletti JP, Varadarajulu S. Superiority of endoscopic interventions over minimally invasive 64 surgery for infected necrotizing pancreatitis: meta-analysis of randomized trials. Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 298-308 [PMID: 31220368 DOI: 10.1111/den.13470]
- 65 Xiao J, Quan X, Liu F, Li W. Comparison of Different Surgical Methods for Necrotizing Pancreatitis: A Meta-Analysis. Front Surg 2021; 8: 723605 [PMID: 34631782 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.723605]



- 66 van Brunschot S, van Grinsven J, van Santvoort HC, Bakker OJ, Besselink MG, Boermeester MA, Bollen TL, Bosscha K, Bouwense SA, Bruno MJ, Cappendijk VC, Consten EC, Dejong CH, van Eijck CH, Erkelens WG, van Goor H, van Grevenstein WMU, Haveman JW, Hofker SH, Jansen JM, Laméris JS, van Lienden KP, Meijssen MA, Mulder CJ, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Poley JW, Quispel R, de Ridder RJ, Römkens TE, Scheepers JJ, Schepers NJ, Schwartz MP, Seerden T, Spanier BWM, Straathof JWA, Strijker M, Timmer R, Venneman NG, Vleggaar FP, Voermans RP, Witteman BJ, Gooszen HG, Dijkgraaf MG, Fockens P; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Endoscopic or surgical step-up approach for infected necrotising pancreatitis: a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet* 2018; **391**: 51-58 [PMID: 29108721 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32404-2]
- 67 **Gurusamy KS**, Belgaumkar AP, Haswell A, Pereira SP, Davidson BR. Interventions for necrotising pancreatitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016; 4: CD011383 [PMID: 27083933 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011383.pub2]
- 68 Wroński M, Cebulski W, Witkowski B, Jankowski M, Kluciński A, Krasnodębski IW, Słodkowski M. Comparison between minimally invasive and open surgical treatment in necrotizing pancreatitis. J Surg Res 2017; 210: 22-31 [PMID: 28457332 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2016.10.022]
- 69 Cao F, Li A, Wang X, Gao C, Li J, Li F. Laparoscopic transgastric necrosectomy in treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis with sinistral portal hypertension. *BMC Surg* 2021; 21: 362 [PMID: 34629061 DOI: 10.1186/s12893-021-01361-6]
- 70 Xiao NJ, Cui TT, Liu F, Li W. Current status of treatments of pancreatic and peripancreatic collections of acute pancreatitis. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2021; 13: 633-644 [PMID: 34354797 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v13.i7.633]
- 71 Minami K, Horibe M, Sanui M, Sasaki M, Iwasaki E, Sawano H, Goto T, Ikeura T, Takeda T, Oda T, Yasuda H, Ogura Y, Miyazaki D, Kitamura K, Chiba N, Ozaki T, Yamashita T, Koinuma T, Oshima T, Yamamoto T, Hirota M, Tokuhira N, Azumi Y, Nagata K, Takeda K, Furuya T, Lefor AK, Mayumi T, Kanai T. The Effect of an Invasive Strategy for Treating Pancreatic Necrosis on Mortality: a Retrospective Multicenter Cohort Study. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2020; 24: 2037-2045 [PMID: 31428962 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-019-04333-7]
- 72 Jagielski M, Chwarścianek A, Piątkowski J, Jackowski M. Percutaneous Endoscopic Necrosectomy-A Review of the Literature. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35887696 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11143932]
- 73 Ke L, Li G, Wang P, Mao W, Lin J, Gao L, Ye B, Zhou J, Tong Z, Li W, Windsor J. The efficacy and efficiency of stentassisted percutaneous endoscopic necrosectomy for infected pancreatic necrosis: a pilot clinical study using historical controls. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2021; 33: e435-e441 [PMID: 33731580 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002127]
- 74 Pinto S, Bellizzi S, Badas R, Canfora ML, Loddo E, Spada S, Khalaf K, Fugazza A, Bergamini S. Direct Endoscopic Necrosectomy: Timing and Technique. *Medicina (Kaunas)* 2021; 57 [PMID: 34946249 DOI: 10.3390/medicina57121305]
- 75 Kim YS, Cho JH, Cho DH, Park SW, Moon SH, Park JS, Lee YN, Lee SS. Long-term Outcomes of Direct Endoscopic Necrosectomy for Complicated or Symptomatic Walled-Off Necrosis: A Korean Multicenter Study. *Gut Liver* 2021; 15: 930-939 [PMID: 33767033 DOI: 10.5009/gnl20304]
- 76 Del Chiaro M, Rangelova E, Segersvärd R, Arnelo U. Are there still indications for total pancreatectomy? *Updates Surg* 2016; 68: 257-263 [PMID: 27605208 DOI: 10.1007/s13304-016-0388-6]
- 77 Di Candio G, Guadagni S, Furbetta N, Gianardi D, Palmeri M, Di Franco G, Bianchini M, Gambaccini D, Marciano E, Cervelli R, Marchi S, Morelli L. A "tailored" interventional and surgical management for moderate to critical acute pancreatitis in late phase: a cohort study. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* 2022; 407: 2833-2841 [PMID: 35639137 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-022-02557-x]
- 78 Zelga P, Rees J, Iaculli E, Johnson C, Jah A. Patient-reported outcomes after minimally invasive retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy to treat acute pancreatitis: An exploratory study. *J Dig Dis* 2021; 22: 604-614 [PMID: 34331420 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.13036]
- 79 Novikov AA, Fieber JH, Saumoy M, Rosenblatt R, Mekelburg SAC, Shah SL, Crawford CV Jr. ERCP improves mortality in acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis. *Endosc Int Open* 2021; 9: E927-E933 [PMID: 34079880 DOI: 10.1055/a-1320-0041]
- 80 Tse F, Yuan Y. Early routine endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography strategy versus early conservative management strategy in acute gallstone pancreatitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; CD009779 [PMID: 22592743 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009779.pub2]
- 81 Schepers NJ, Hallensleben NDL, Besselink MG, Anten MGF, Bollen TL, da Costa DW, van Delft F, van Dijk SM, van Dullemen HM, Dijkgraaf MGW, van Eijck CHJ, Erkelens GW, Erler NS, Fockens P, van Geenen EJM, van Grinsven J, Hollemans RA, van Hooft JE, van der Hulst RWM, Jansen JM, Kubben FJGM, Kuiken SD, Laheij RJF, Quispel R, de Ridder RJJ, Rijk MCM, Römkens TEH, Ruigrok CHM, Schoon EJ, Schwartz MP, Smeets XJNM, Spanier BWM, Tan ACITL, Thijs WJ, Timmer R, Venneman NG, Verdonk RC, Vleggaar FP, van de Vrie W, Witteman BJ, van Santvoort HC, Bakker OJ, Bruno MJ; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography with sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment in predicted severe acute gallstone pancreatitis (APEC): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2020; **396**: 167-176 [PMID: 32682482 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30539-0]
- 82 Birda CL, Agarwal A. Role of ERCP in acute biliary pancreatitis: yet unanswered. *Endosc Int Open* 2021; 9: E1917 [PMID: 34917462 DOI: 10.1055/a-1591-0833]
- 83 Räty S, Pulkkinen J, Nordback I, Sand J, Victorzon M, Grönroos J, Helminen H, Kuusanmäki P, Nordström P, Paajanen H. Can Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Prevent Recurrent Idiopathic Acute Pancreatitis? *Ann Surg* 2015; 262: 736-741 [PMID: 26583660 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001469]
- 84 Faur M, Fleaca SR, Gherman CD, Bacila CI, Tanasescu D, Serban D, Tribus LC, Tudor C, Smarandache GC, Costea DO, Tudosie MS, Sabau D, Gangura GA, Tanasescu C. Optimal Timing and Outcomes of Minimally Invasive Approach in Acute Biliary Pancreatitis. *Med Sci Monit* 2022; 28: e937016 [PMID: 35794808 DOI: 10.12659/MSM.937016]

Zaishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

S WÜ

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 323-337

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.323

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Current trends in perioperative treatment of resectable gastric cancer

İbrahim Yıldız, Leyla Özer, Elif Şenocak Taşçı, İbrahim Vedat Bayoglu, Erman Aytac

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Wang Z, China; Zhou Y, China

Received: October 28, 2022 Peer-review started: October 28, 2022 First decision: November 30, 2022 Revised: January 5, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



İbrahim Yıldız, Leyla Özer, Department of Medical Oncology, Acıbadem MAA University, İstanbul 34567, Turkey

Elif Şenocak Taşçı, Department of Medical Oncology, Acıbadem University, İstanbul 34567, Turkev

İbrahim Vedat Bayoglu, Department of Medical Oncology, Marmara University, İstanbul 12345, Turkey

Erman Aytac, Department of Surgery, Acibadem University School of Medicine, Istanbul 34567, Turkey

Corresponding author: Leyla Özer, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Medical Oncology, Acıbadem MAA University, Halkalı Merkez, Turgut Özal Bulvarı No:16, Küçükçekmece/ İstanbul, İstanbul 34567, Turkey. leyla.ozer@acibadem.com

Abstract

In the last few decades, the treatment strategy for locally advanced resectable gastric cancer (GC) has shifted to a multimodal approach, which potentially decreases recurrence risk and improves survival rates. Perioperative therapy leads to downstaging, increased curative resection rates, and prolonged disease-free and overall survival, by preventing micrometastases in patients with resectable GC. Application of neoadjuvant therapy provides information about tumor biology and in vivo sensitivity. A consensus regarding the therapeutic approach for non-metastatic GC does not exist, and many clinical trials aim to clarify this aspect. Advances in precision medicine and the role of immunotherapy have been the focus of research in GC treatment. Herein, the current status and possible future developments of perioperative therapy for locally advanced resectable GC are reviewed, based on the most recent randomized clinical trials.

Key Words: Perioperative treatment; Immunotherapy; Neoadjuvant; Chemotherapy; Gastric cancer; Adjuvant

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The results of the most recent randomized studies have led to a shift from traditional care concepts towards evidence-based multimodal treatment strategies for gastric cancer (GC). Perioperative chemotherapy has become the standard of care for resectable GC. Molecular-based modifications of the backbone treatment increase the efficacy of therapy.

Citation: Yıldız İ, Özer L, Şenocak Taşçı E, Bayoglu İV, Aytac E. Current trends in perioperative treatment of resectable gastric cancer. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2023; 15(3): 323-337 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/323.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.323

INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) includes histologically heterogeneous and microscopically distinct cell types and can be classified using various systems such as the Lauren and the World Health Organization (WHO) classifications[1,2]. According to the Lauren classification, GC is categorized into two subtypes: Intestinal and diffuse. The WHO classification defines five different subtypes, *i.e.*, papillary, tubular, mucinous, poorly cohesive, and mixed adenocarcinoma.

Recently, molecular classification systems were published by the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Asian Cancer Research Group, providing a molecular subtyping structure, as well as a guide to targeted agents [3,4]. TCGA identifies a comprehensive set of genetic changes associated with GC and further classifies GC into four subtypes: Chromosomal instability (CIN) (50%), microsatellite instability (MSI) (22%), genomically stable (GS) (20%), and Epstein-Barr virus-positive (EBV) tumors (9%). The EBV subtype has an excellent prognosis, whereas patients with the CIN subtype achieve the greatest benefit following adjuvant chemotherapy [hazard ratio (HR) = 0.39; 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.16-0.94; P = 0.03][5]. However, patients with the GS subtype are characterized by poor chemotherapy benefit and worse prognosis. MSI-high (MSI-H) GC is considered a distinct subtype and has higher mutation rates with unique DNA methylation patterns. Both EBV and MSI-H GC patients are highly responsive to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs)[6].

Despite the significant progress in the therapeutic strategies and surgical techniques for GC in the last decade, the number of patients experiencing relapse and dying after being diagnosed with localized GC remains rather high, even in the early stages. Adjuvant chemotherapy, chemoradiotherapy, and perioperative chemotherapy are different approaches that are proven to improve survival compared with surgery alone. The administration modality and chemotherapy protocols differ between Eastern and Western countries. In Asia, Europe and Northern America adjuvant chemotherapy is administered after surgery; after preoperative chemotherapy and surgery (perioperative chemotherapy) an in combination with radiotherapy (chemoradiotherapy), respectively. Since the onset of the fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin, docetaxel (FLOT)4-AIO trial[7], perioperative FLOT administration has become the new standard of care for locally advanced gastric and gastroesophageal junction [GC/esophagogastric junction (EGJ)] cancers. Advances in precision medicine and the role of immunotherapy have been the focus of GC treatment research. In this review, the current status and possible future developments of perioperative chemotherapy or resectable GC are summarized.

MANAGEMENT OF RESECTABLE GC

Upper endoscopy, endoscopic ultrasound, contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) and positron emission tomography are the main tools for staging. Peritoneal carcinomatosis can be identified in approximately 20% of patients without radiological evidence[8]. It is more frequently encountered in diffuse-type GC[9]. Thus, staging laparoscopy with peritoneal washing should be utilized to screen for peritoneal disease in these patients who are candidates for perioperative CT (Figure 1). Endoscopic resection is recommended in early GC with intestinal histotype, according to Lauren's classification, T1a, < 2 cm, well-differentiated, non-ulcerated, and without clinically suspected lymph node involvement[10]. Standard surgery is defined as total or subtotal gastrectomy with D2 lymph node dissection and recommended in cases with \geq cT1b or cN+ and M0 GC. According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines, perioperative chemotherapy (category 1) or preoperative chemoradiation (category 2B) followed by surgery should be offered to resectable \geq T2 disease in appropriate candidates[10].

Adjuvant treatment

Adjuvant CT alone is the standard of care in Eastern Asia, due to its improved survival benefits reported in the CLASSIC[11] and ACTS-GC[12] trials (Table 1). A large meta-analysis of randomized



Table 1 Landmark trials of perioperative treatment in gastric cancer										
Treatment	Study	Arms	n	R0	pCR	PFS	HR (<i>P</i> value)	OS	HR (<i>P</i> value)	Ref.
NAC	EORTC 40954	PF-S	72	82%			NA	2-yr: 73%	0.84 (0.47)	[<mark>18</mark>]
		S alone	72	67%				2-yr: 70%		
	OEO2	PFx2-S	400	60%			NA	5-yr: 23%	0.84 (0.03)	[17]
		S alone	402	54%				5-yr: 17%		
	OE05	PFx2-S	451	59%	3%			3-yr: 39%	0.90 (0.19)	[19]
		ECXx4-S	446	66%	11%			3-yr: 42%		
NACRT	CROSS	RT + pacli-carbo, w-S	180	92%	29%	5-yr: 44%	0.61 (0.006)	5-yr: 47%	0.68 (0.003)	[<mark>21</mark>]
		S alone	188	69%		5-yr: 27%		5-yr: 33%		
Perioperative CT	MAGIC Trial	ECFx3-S-ECFx3	250	74%	8%	NR	0.66 (< 0.001)	5-yr: 36%	0.75	[<mark>22</mark>]
(1) -targeteu)		S alone	253	68%		NR		5-yr: 23%	(0.009)	
	FNLCC/FCCD	PFx2-S-PFx4	113	84%	3%	5-yr: 34%	0.65 (0.003)	5-yr: 38%	0.69 (0.02)	[23]
		S alone	111	73%		5-yr: 19%		5-yr: 24%		
	The FLOT-4	FLOTx4-S- FLOTx4	356	84.0%	15.6%			5-yr: 45%	0.77 (0.012)	[7]
		ECX/ECFx3-S- ECX/ECFx3	360	77%	5.8%			5-yr: 36%		
	ST03	ECXx3-S-ECXx3	533	64%	8%			3-yr: 50.3%	1.08 (0.36)	[35]
		ECXx3 + BV-S- ECXx3 + BV	530	61%	11%			3-yr: 48.1%		
	PETRARCA (abstract only, ESMO 2020)	FLOTx4-S- FLOTx4	41	90%	12%	26 mo	0.57 (0.114)			[32]
		FLOT + T + Px4-S- FLOT + T + Px4 + 9 (T + P)	40	93%	35%	NR				
	RAMSES[36] (abstract only,	FLOTx4-S- FLOTx4	90	83%	30%					
	ESINO 2020)	FLOT + RAM x4- S-FLOT + RAM x4 + 16 RAM	90	97%	27%					
NAC, adjuvant	CRITICS	ECXx3-S-ECXx3	393			5-yr: 39%	0.99 (0.9)	5-yr: 42%	1.01 (0.9)	[<mark>24</mark>]
CI -/ + KI		ECXx3-S-CRT	395			5-yr: 38%		5-yr: 40%		
Perioperative CT vs adjuvant CT	RESOLVE	S-XELOXx8	345	NR		3-yr: 51.1%	0.86 (0.17) (SOX vs			[28]
		S-SOXx8	337	NR		3-yr: 56.5%	XELOX)			
		350X-S-350X	365	NR		3-yr: 59.4%	0.77 (0.03) (SOX <i>vs</i> XELOX)			
NAC vs CRT	PRODIGY	DOSX3-S-S1x8	266	95%	10%	3-yr: 66.3%	0.70 (0.023)			[2 9]
		S-S-1x8	264	84%		3-yr: 60.3%				
	POET	PFLX3-RT (30 Gy)/C-S	62	71%	15.6%	3-yr: 47.4%	0.67 (0.07)	5-yr: 39.5%	0.65 (0.055)	[<mark>66</mark>]
		PFL2-S	64	69%	2%	3-yr: 22.7%		5-yr: 24.4%		
	NEORES	CF-RT (40 Gy)-S	91	87%	28%			3-yr: 47%	(0.77)	[64]



		CF-S	90	74%	9%			3-yr: 49%		
Adjuvant CRT	INT-0116 trial	5FU/LVx1-CRT- 5FU/LVx2	281			3-yr: 48%	0.66 (0.001)	3-yr: 50%	0.74 (0.005)	[<mark>14</mark>]
		S alone	275			3-yr: 31%		3-yr: 41%		
	CALGB 80101 Trial	5FU/LVx1-CRT- 5FU/LVx2	280			3-yr: 46%	1.00 (0.99)	3-yr: 50%	1.03 (0.80)	[71]
		ECFx1-CRT- ECFx2	266			3-yr: 47%		3-yr: 52%		
	ARTIST trial	XPx2-XRT-XP2	230			3-yr: 78%	0.74 (0.09)	5-yr: 75%	1.13 (0.53)	[15]
		XPx6	228			3-yr: 74%		5-yr: 73%		
	ARTIST trial-2	S-1 (x12 mo)	182			3-yr: 65%	0.69 (0.04) (S-1 <i>vs</i> SOX)	NR	NR	[<mark>16</mark>]
		SOX (x6 mo)	181			3-yr: 74%	0.72 (0.07) (S-1 <i>vs</i> SOXRT)	NR	NR	
		SOXRT	183			3-yr: 73%	0.97 (0.88) (SOX <i>vs</i> SOXRT)	NR	NR	
Adjuvant CT	ACTS-GC trial	S1 (12 mo)	529			5-yr: 65%	0.65	5-yr: 72%	0.67	[14]
		S alone	530			5-yr: 53%		5-yr: 61%		
	CLASSIC trial	XELOXx8 (6 mo)	520			5-yr: 68%	0.58 (<	5-yr: 78%	0.66 (0.53)	[<mark>11</mark>]
		S alone	515			5-yr: 53%	0.0001)	5-yr: 69%		

5FU: 5-fluorouracil; BV: Bevacizumab; CF: Cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil; CRT: Chemoradiotherapy; CT: Chemotherapy; DOS: Docetaxel, oxaliplatin, S-1; ECF: Epirubicin, cisplatin, fluorouracil; ECX: Cisplatin, epirubicin, and capecitabine; ESMO: European Society for Medical Oncology; FLOT: Fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin, docetaxel; HR: Hazard ratio; LV: Leucovorin; NA: Not available; NAC: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy; NACRT: Neoadjuvant chemoradiation; NR: No response; OS: Overall survival; pacli-carbo: Paclitaxel and carboplatin; pCR: Pathological complete response; PF: Cisplatin and fluorouracil; PFL: Cisplatin, fluorouracil, leucovorin; PFS: Progression-free survival; RAM: Ramucirumab; RT: Radiotherapy; S: S-1; SOX: S-1 and Oxaliplatin; T + P: Trastuzumab + pertuzumab; w-S: Followed by surgery; XELOX: Capecitabine and oxaliplatin; XP: Capecitabine and cisplatin.

> controlled trials investigating the impact of postoperative CT vs surgery alone in GC reinforced the survival impact of adjuvant CT[13]. The United States Intergroup-0116 trial (SWOG 9008/INT-0116) indicated improved disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) with adjuvant chemoradiotherapy compared to those with surgery alone [14]. The drawbacks of this trial were substantial rates of acute toxicity (33% had ≥ grade 3 gastrointestinal toxicity) associated with CRT, low rates and extent of nodal dissection (D2 dissection in 10%), relatively simple (and currently outdated) radiotherapy techniques and choice of CT regimen. It has been concluded that adjuvant CRT was only effective in patients who underwent limited (D1 or less) lymph node dissection and were compensated for poor surgery. Additionally, the high toxicity rates have limited the use of postoperative CRT in Europe, and a particular CT regimen is no longer preferred in the United States either.

> The Adjuvant chemoRadioTherapy In Stomach Tumors (ARTIST-1) trial investigated the role of adjuvant CRT in GC patients after D2 gastrectomy [15]. Although radiotherapy did not demonstrate significant survival benefit, it reduced the rate of local recurrence by 6%. Subgroup analysis suggested that lymph node positivity and intestinal subtype were the independent factors for survival benefit with adjuvant radiotherapy. In the ARTIST-2 trial[16], adjuvant oxaliplatin combined with S-1 (SOX) and SOXRT were associated with a reduced hazard of recurrence risk compared to S-1 monotherapy in patients with D2-resected stage II or III lymph node-positive GC with no survival benefits. The addition of radiotherapy to SOX did not significantly reduce the rate of recurrence after D2 gastrectomy compared to SOX alone. DFS between patients treated with adjuvant CT and CRT was similar across all subgroups.

Neoadjuvant CT

A significant number of patients are diagnosed at advanced stages owing to the asymptomatic nature of GC. Neoadjuvant CT (NAC) helps to achieve better control of tumor progression with improved therapeutic response and treatment tolerance in patients with GC. NAC potentially improves OS by downstaging, increasing pathological response rates and reducing the risk of relapses by eradicating the micrometastatis. The trials on NAC for GC have revealed conflicting results. First, the United Kingdom Medical Research Council Esophageal Cancer Trial (OEO2) randomly assigned both patients with adenocarcinoma (67%) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (33%) into two treatment groups: Surgery



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.323 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Perioperative algorithm for resectable gastric cancer. ¹Strongly recommended for diffuse type gastric cancer. ²Upfront surgery may be recommended. ³Radiotherapy for R1/2 resection. CT: Computed tomography; PET-CT: Positron emission tomography computed tomography; EUS: Endoscopic ultrasound; FLOT: Fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin, docetaxel; MSI: Microsatellite instability; HER2: Human epidermal growth factor 2; ICI: Immune checkpoint inhibitor; MSI-H: High microsatellite instability; MSS: Microsatellite stability; PD-L1: Programmed death-ligand 1.

plus preoperative CT [two cycles of cisplatin and fluorouracil (CF)] and surgery alone[17]. In this study, the R0 resection rates (60% *vs* 54%) and 5-year OS (23% *vs* 17%) data favored the NAC arm. In the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC-40954) trial, patients with locally advanced adenocarcinoma of the stomach or EGJ[18] were randomized to the preoperative CF and upfront surgery arms. Although neoadjuvant therapy improved the radical resection rates (82% *vs* 67%, P = 0.036), it did not improve survival.

The United Kingdom Medical Research Council OE05 trial compared the triplet cisplatin, epirubicin, and capecitabine or 5-fluorouracil (ECX/ECF) regimen with the CF regimen and reported that the intensified triplet regimen did not increase survival in EGJ cancers[19]. Despite the increased rates of toxicity, the ECX group had a higher R0 resection rate and pathological complete response (pCR); however, the addition of epirubicin to cisplatin and fluoropyrimidine backbone did not provide any survival benefit.

Neoadjuvant CRT

Several trials evaluated whether neoadjuvant chemoradiation (NACRT) followed by surgery would improve survival compared to surgery alone; however, most of the early studies were small case series that were underpowered[20]. The pivotal Chemoradiotherapy for Oesophageal Cancer Followed by Surgery (CROSS) trial established the benefit of neoadjuvant taxane-based chemoradiation for patients with \geq T2 esophageal or EGJ cancer patients (75% adenocarcinoma)[21]. Complete resection (R0) was achieved in 92% of the CRT-surgery group *vs* 69% of the surgery group (*P* < 0.001). The median OS (mOS) was 49 and 24 mo in CRT and surgery alone groups, respectively [HR = 0.66; *P* = 0.003 and 5-year OS: 47% *vs* 34%]. Postoperative complications were similar in both groups. The survival benefit was highest in the SCC subgroup, with mOS of 81.6 mo in the NACRT plus surgery group and 21.1 mo in the surgery alone group (HR = 0.48; *P* = 0.008). Patients with SCC also had a higher rate of pathologic complete response (49%) compared to patients with adenocarcinoma (23%, *P* = 0.008).

Perioperative CT

The MAGIC trial is unquestionably a milestone in the development of perioperative GC treatment[22]. In this trial, ECF therapy was evaluated as a perioperative treatment compared with surgery alone in patients with resectable stages II and III adenocarcinoma of the stomach (74%), EGJ (11%-12%), and lower esophagus (14%-15%). The results showed that preoperative NAC significantly increased the R0 resection rate (79% *vs* 70%) and increased pathological response compared to surgery alone. The OS rate (5-year OS: 36% *vs* 23%; *P* = 0.009) and PFS rate after the perioperative regimen were improved



compared to those after surgery alone. Postoperative morbidity and mortality were similar in both arms.

In contrast, the FNCLCC/FFCD ACCORD (French) trial evaluated the role of perioperative treatment compared to surgery alone in 224 patients with operable adenocarcinoma of the stomach (25%), EGJ (64%), and lower esophagus (11%)[23]. A significant increase in the R0 resection rates (84% vs 73%, P =0.04) were achieved in the neoadjuvant group compared to the surgery alone group, in addition to improved OS (38% *vs* 24%, *P* = 0.02) and 5-year DFS (34% *vs* 19%, *P* = 0.01).

The MAGIC trial predominantly recruited patients with GC, whereas the French study primarily included patients with proximal tumor. Therefore, the perioperative treatment approach may be considered as evidence-based for both tumor sites. The limitation in both trials was the lack of standard D2 lymph node dissection in the majority of cases, causing a heterogeneous patient population. The German cancer research group recently showed the efficacy of NAC in patients undergoing D2 lymph node dissection in the FLOT4 trial[7].

The FLOT4 trial included patients with locally advanced gastric and EGJ adenocarcinoma. The perioperative FLOT regimen increased the R0 resection rate and prolonged the median PFS and mOS compared to the ECF/ECX regimen. The pCR in the FLOT perioperative group was significantly improved compared to that in the perioperative ECF/ECX group (16% vs 6%). Notably, patients in the FLOT arm showed higher 5-year OS rates (45% vs 36%). The success of this trial was attributed to the use of docetaxel in the FLOT regimen instead of epirubicin used in the ECF/ECX regimen. In the FLOT trial, D2 resection was performed in most patients with GC. The FLOT regimen caused lower grade 3 or 4 non-hematological toxicities. Conversely, grade 3 or 4 neutropenia, diarrhea, and neuropathy were more often observed with FLOT than with ECF/ECX.

In the MAGIC, FCCD/FNCLCC, and FLOT trials, approximately 10% of the patients could not complete preoperative CT, and approximately 50% were unfit for postoperative CT. Perioperative treatment should be considered beforehand for resectable GC because of the reduced patient compliance with adjuvant treatment. Perioperative CT is recommended by both the NCCN and European Society for Medical Oncology guidelines to treat \geq T2 GC, regardless of lymphatic involvement[10,24].

Role of adjuvant chemoradiation in the perioperative approach

The CRITICS study was designed to compare the OS between the perioperative CT (ECX/epirubicin, oxaliplatin, capecitabine) with preoperative CT and postoperative CRT[25]. Postoperative CRT did not improve OS compared to postoperative CT. However, recent long-term follow-up results of the trial, including per-protocol analysis of patients who started the allocated postoperative treatment, showed better 5-year OS rates with postoperative CT (57.9% vs 45.5%, P = 0.0004)[26].

Perioperative vs adjuvant treatment alone

A meta-analysis of 2093 patients with GC randomized in 14 clinical trials reported remarkable results favoring perioperative treatment[27]. The global analysis showed a significant benefit of OS (HR = 0.48, P < 0.001), PFS, and R0 resection rates for the perioperative arm compared to those of the adjuvant-only arm. In the RESOLVE trial[28], 1094 patients who underwent D2 gastrectomy for locally advanced GC were randomly assigned to either the perioperative SOX arm or the postoperative adjuvant CT with SOX or capecitabine and oxaliplatin arm. Perioperative SOX was superior to postoperative capecitabine and oxaliplatin in terms of the 3-year DFS. In addition, postoperative SOX showed equivocal results compared with postoperative capecitabine and oxaliplatin. The PRODIGY study^[29], a phase III randomized clinical trial from South Korea, investigated the outcomes of perioperative CT with docetaxel, oxaliplatin and S-1 against adjuvant S-1 for resectable GC. Significant tumor downstaging and improved PFS (HR = 0.70; P = 0.023) were observed in the perioperative arm, whereas OS was similar regardless of the treatment modality (HR = 0.84; P = 0.338).

Perioperative CT plus targeted therapy/immunotherapy

Experimental research is focused on biomarkers that may be valid for the selection of patients who may benefit from further treatment (*i.e.*, conventional chemotherapeutic agents, immunotherapies and targeted therapies) besides surgery. The identification of different molecular subtypes of GC has greatly accelerated this process.

Several regimens including cytotoxic agents plus targeted molecules or ICIs have been tested as neoadjuvant and adjuvant approaches. Due to their established efficacy in metastatic disease, human epidermal growth factor 2 (HER2) and vascular endothelial growth factor-targeted agents were explored in perioperative regimens with the FLOT backbone.

Anti-HER2

HER2 overexpression or amplification is recorded in approximately 15%-20% of gastric and EGJ adenocarcinomas. It is more common in intestinal type and EGJ cancers than in diffuse/mixed-type cancers and cancers of the gastric body. HER2-positivity is defined by the presence of 3+ immunohistochemical score or 2+ score with positive fluorescence *in situ* hybridization test.



In patients with metastatic HER2-positive GC, the addition of trastuzumab to platinum-based chemotherapy as a first-line treatment has been proven to increase the mOS compared to chemotherapy alone in the landmark ToGA study[30]. Trastuzumab plus chemotherapy is now the standard first-line therapy for patients with HER2+ advanced-stage G/EGJ cancers. New HER2- targeted agents and combinations have been developed to overcome intrinsic and acquired resistance. In a randomized phase II trial (DESTINY-Gastric01)[31], medically compromised patients with HER2+ advanced-stage G/EGJ cancers who had received at least two previous lines of therapy, trastuzumab deructexan, demonstrated a significantly higher response rate and longer OS than those who had received chemotherapy.

Limited data exist on the efficacy of anti-HER2 targeted therapy in the perioperative setting. In the phase II PETRARCA trial (presented at the European Society for Medical Oncology 2020), the addition of trastuzumab and pertuzumab to perioperative FLOT regimen increased the pCR rates (35% vs 12%) and nodal response (68% vs 39%) in HER2- positive resectable EGJ cancer[32]. The R0 resection (90% vs 93%) and surgical morbidity (43% vs 44%) and mortality (2.5% vs 2.5%) rates were comparable. More adverse events of grades > 3 were reported with trastuzumab and pertuzumab, especially diarrhea (5% vs 41%) and leukopenia (13% vs 23%). However, large-scale phase III randomized controlled studies are warranted to confirm the efficacy.

HER2-targeted agents may upregulate the expression of programmed death cell 1 (PD-1) or programmed death cell ligand 1 (PD-L1), increase the extent of tumor immune cell infiltration and promote antigen presentation *via* dendritic cells, all of which could enhance the efficacy of anti-PD-1/ anti-PD-L1 antibodies[33]. A randomized phase III trial evaluating the efficacy of pembrolizumab plus trastuzumab and chemotherapy is currently ongoing (KEYNOTE-811)[34]. The first interim analysis of KEYNOTE-811 showed that adding pembrolizumab to standard therapy with trastuzumab and chemotherapy results in a meaningful improvement in objective response rate as first-line treatment of HER2-positive GC.

Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor

The United Kingdom Medical Research Council ST03 trial compared perioperative ECX with ECX plus bevacizumab in patients with locally advanced resectable gastric, esophageal, and EGJ adenocarcinoma [35]. The 3-year OS and DFS rates were comparable between the combined bevacizumab and control groups. The incidence of impaired wound healing and anastomotic leakage was higher in the bevacizumab group.

The randomized phase II/III RAMSES/FLOT7 trial (presented at the European Society for Medical Oncology 2020) evaluated the addition of the vascular endothelial growth factor-R2 inhibitor, ramucirumab, to the FLOT regimen for resectable GC patients in the perioperative setting[36]. In the phase II of this trial, the addition of ramucirumab to perioperative FLOT significantly improved R0 resection rates (97% *vs* 83%, P = 0.0049) with similar complete/near-complete pathologic response (30% *vs* 27%) and operative morbidity. In the subgroup analysis, the relative benefit of FLOT-ramucirumab on the R0 resection rate was more pronounced in the cT4 (25% *vs* 100%) and diffuse-/mixed-type histology groups (77% *vs* 95%). Even though the anti-angiogenic therapy seems favorable and was successfully used for clinical purposes, further prospective randomized studies are needed to evaluate the use of the drugs included as part of this therapy for localized disease. Additionally, some of these agents have been associated with serious safety issues. Because angiogenesis is an important step in the healing process, agents targeting the angiogenesis pathway may interfere with wound healing, thus increasing the risk of surgical complications, bleeding, and infection.

Immunotherapy

The inhibition of PD-1/PD-L1 interactions, through the use of ICI, is able to reactivate immune response against cancer and has changed the treatment landscape of GC, especially in the metastatic phase. Higher PD-L1 expression, assessed according to the combined positivity score (CPS), is associated with better response to ICI in advanced GC, as observed for other tumors[37].

In advanced GC adenocarcinoma, the combination of nivolumab and chemotherapy improved OS in tumors with PD-L1 CPS \geq 5 in CheckMate-649 trial[38] and pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy (with PDL-1 CPS \geq 10) in KEYNOTE-590 trial[39], as first-line treatment. Nivolumab demonstrated superior OS regardless of PD-L1 expression as third-line therapy in Attraction-02[40] trial and pembrolizumab prolonged the duration of response in PD-L1 positive patients with CPS \geq 1 (KEYNOTE-059)[41].

ICI therapies have been the standard of care for the treatment of advanced MSI-H tumors. MSI is characterized by high mutation rates and the generation of frameshift-peptide neoantigens, which foster a highly immunogenic environment with increased peritumoral and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes [42]. The incidence of MSI in G/EGJ cancers varies between 5% and 20%[43]. MSI-H GC has unique clinical characteristics, including a distal location, high frequency of intestinal-type histology, lower stage and a good prognosis[44].

MSI-H status has been confirmed as a biomarker for pembrolizumab therapy in patients with advanced G/EGJ cancers regardless of the previous lines of therapies. In a *post hoc* cohort analysis of three trials (KEYNOTE-059, KEYNOTE-061, and KEYNOTE-062) including 84 of 1614 patients with confirmed MSI-H advanced G/EGJ cancers, treatment with pembrolizumab therapy alone or in



combination with CT was associated with improved OS, PFS, and durable response[45]. The effect of ICI treatment in the perioperative setting is under investigation in several clinical trials (Table 2). Durvalumab (NCT04592913), pembrolizumab (NCT03221426), atezolizumab (NCT03421288), and avelumab (NCT03399071) studies evaluated the efficacy and safety of ICI plus CT (FLOT) compared to CT alone as a perioperative treatment for localized G/EGJ adenocarcinoma regardless of the PD-L1 status. Although MSI is a strong predictor of response to ICI treatment, the clinical value of PD-L1 expression is still under investigation[46].

Recent studies have shown that tumor mutational burden is a predictive factor of survival in GC patients receiving ICIs[47,48]. In June 2020, the Food and Drug Administration granted accelerated approval for the treatment of patients with unresectable or metastatic tumor mutational burden-high (≥ 10 mutations per megabase) solid tumors who progressed after prior treatment. The efficacy of immunotherapy was also shown in MSI-H metastatic GC, however currently, no phase III data are present for patients with resectable GC. Promising results have been observed in two latest phase II studies, GERCOR NEONIPIGA and DANTE trials[49,50].

Neoadjuvant nivolumab plus ipilimumab plus adjuvant nivolumab were evaluated in the phase II GERCOR NEONIPIGA study in patients with localized dMMR esophagogastric adenocarcinoma[49]. Neoadjuvant therapy with nivolumab and ipilimumab was feasible and associated with a high pCR rate in patients with MSI/dMMR resectable esogastric adenocarcinoma. Among 29 patients with localized MSI/dMMR disease, a pCR rate of 59% was reached, whereas, normally, a pCR rate of about 10% would be expected with platinum- and fluoropyrimidine-based NAC in this particular molecular subtype. DANTE trial evaluated atezolizumab in the perioperative treatment of resectable G/EGJ cancers in combination with FLOT[50]. Higher pCR rates were observed in the ICI arm (50% *vs* 27%).

The benefit of perioperative CT is unclear in MSI-H GC. In a large study, 5-fluorouracil-based adjuvant CT improved DFS (P = 0.002) in microsatellite stable/MSI-low group but showed no benefit in the MSI-H group[51]. In the CLASSIC trial[52], patients with MSI-H GC had no survival benefit from adjuvant CT. In the MAGIC trial[53], which evaluated the role of perioperative CT in resectable GC, MSI-H status was associated with worse survival in the CT-plus-surgery arm compared to microsatellite stable/MSI-low GC. A meta-analysis of pooled data from the CLASSIC, MAGIC, ARTIST, and ITACA-S trials, which compared different curative multimodal treatments for GC, revealed that MSI-H status was associated with longer OS but reported no benefit from perioperative or adjuvant CT[54]. Thus, some centers currently recommend upfront surgery for patients with MSI-H tumors and consider perioperative immunotherapy for advanced locoregional disease.

The CheckMate 577 study[55] investigated the role of adjuvant immunotherapy in residual disease after NACRT in esophageal cancers. Patients with esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma or EGJ cancer received NACRT followed by adjuvant nivolumab for up to 1 year in case of residual pathologic disease (ypT+ and/or ypN+; R0 resection). Adjuvant nivolumab provided superior DFS with a 31% reduction in recurrence risk or death and doubled the median DFS.

CHALLENGING ASPECTS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Impact of histology

The impact of histological subtypes on decision-making of perioperative treatment is neglected in international guidelines. However, tumor histology is an essential denominator for treatment response and its subsequent outcomes. A multicenter phase II study of perioperative CT for GC reported a significantly longer OS and an improved PFS for patients with intestinal-type tumors compared to non-intestinal-type tumors[56]. Homann *et al*[57] reported that the pCR rate was the highest with intestinal-type tumors (30.8%) and the lowest with diffuse/mixed-type tumors (0%). Al-Batran *et al*[58] also found that the tumor regression grade was significantly better in intestinal GC than diffuse GC after NAC with FLOT or ECF.

A previous study showed that NAC conferred better outcomes, although the therapeutic response was relatively weak for gastric signet ring cell carcinoma (SRCC)[59]. Conversely, other studies suggested that NAC provided no survival benefit in this population[60,61]. Another recent analysis confirmed the poor outcomes associated with signet ring cell histology in terms of R0 resection and histopathological response in GC and EGJ cancer patients undergoing NAC[62]. Despite the lack of validated approaches for GC treatment according to histotype, CT seems to be a feasible approach for diffuse GC with SRCC. Nevertheless, these results imply the need for dedicated clinical trials focusing on operable diffuse and/or SRCCs. In the PRODIGE19 trial, presented in the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) 2019, a perioperative approach with ECF vs an upfront surgery followed by adjuvant treatment for resectable gastric SRCC was assessed[63]. Resection and median survival rates were higher with perioperative chemotherapy [R0, 88% vs 78%; 2-year OS, 60% vs 53%; median survival, 39 vs 28 mo (HR = 0.71; 95%CI: 0.40-2.64)]. Consequently, a diagnosis of SRCC does not change the indication of perioperative treatment in patients with locally advanced GC.

Zaishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Overview of ongoing trials of biological and immunological agents in the perioperative treatment for gastric cancer								
NCT	Agent	Target structure	Trial	Phase	Study design	Primary endpoint	Ref.	
NCT04592913	Durvalumab	PD-L1	Matterhorn	III	FLOT + durvalumab	EFS	[72]	
					FLOT + placebo			
NCT03221426	Pembrolizumab	PD-1	Keynote-585	III	CF/FLOT + pembrol- izumab	pCR, OS, EFS	[73]	
					FLOT + placebo			
NCT03421288	Atezolizumab	PD-L1	Dante	Π	FLOT + atezolizumab	DFS	[50]	
					FLOT + placebo			
NCT03399071	Avelumab	PD-L1	Iconic	II	FLOT + avelumab	pCR	[74]	
NCT05504720	Pembrolizumab + trastuzumab	PD-1/HER2	PherFlot	Π	FLOT + pembrolizumab + trastuzumab	DFS, pCR	[75]	
NCT02205047	Trastuzumab +/-	HER2	Innovation	Π	СТ	pCR	[<mark>76</mark>]	
	pertuzumab				CT + trastuzumab			
					CT + trastuzumab + pertzumab			

CF: Cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil; CT: Chemotherapy; DFS: Disease free survival, EFS: Event free survival; FLOT: Fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin, docetaxel; HER: Human epidermal growth factor; OS: Overall survival; pCR: Pathological complete response; PD: Programmed cell death; PDL: Programmed cell death ligand.

EGJ tumors

The treatment options for resectable adenocarcinoma of EGJ include perioperative CT and NACRT. FLOT has been the standard perioperative CT protocol for resectable EGJ and GC. The preference between NACRT and CT alone in EGJ cancer is challenging. Head-to-head comparisons are lacking, and cross-trial comparisons are limited because of the heterogeneities in patient characteristics and surgical management. Although radiosensitivity of SCC and adenocarcinoma are different, previous studies usually analyze these two histological subtypes in a single group[21,64]. Certainly, patients with SCC achieved more benefit from CRT in the CROSS trial. While the FLOT trial included no SCC patients, an exploratory network meta-analysis revealed no significant difference between the CROSS and FLOT trials in terms of OS[64]. In a current meta-analysis, NACRT provided a higher R0 resection and pCR rates and lower local recurrence and distant metastasis rates compared to NAC[65]. NACRT may be particularly preferred for SCC histology because of its increased radiosensitivity, and for bulky adenocarcinomas, where achieving an R0 margin is a prior concern.

Likewise, other studies revealed that NACRT and NAC are comparable in terms of OS[64,66]. The NeoRes trial randomized 181 patients with esophageal cancer to receive preoperative CF with or without concurrent radiotherapy[64]. Although pCRs (the primary endpoint) and R0 resection rates were higher with NACRT, there were no significant differences in PFS or OS. Moreover, subgroup analysis showed no relation in terms of tumor histology (adenocarcinoma vs SCC). The POET trial compared NAC to NACRT followed by surgery and included only locally advanced adenocarcinomas of the EGJ (Siewert types I and II)[66]. Although the study was terminated early due to relatively higher in-hospital mortality in the NACRT group (10.2% vs 3.8%), the mOS and median PFS were similar in both arms.

Both the NeoRes and POET trials have used regimens that are no longer standard of care for EGJ tumors and were underpowered to detect differences in OS. Recent trials have aimed to compare current NAC (FLOT) and CRT (CROSS) regimens in phase III studies (Neo-AEGIS[67], ESOPEC[68], TOPGEAR^[69]). In the Neo-AEGIS trial in which the preliminary results were presented at the ASCO 2021, 377 patients with adenocarcinoma of the esophagus or EGJ were randomized to perioperative CT (ECF/ECX or FLOT) regimen vs NACRT based on the CROSS regimen^[67]. At a median follow-up of 24.5 mo, there were 143 deaths at the second futility analysis (60% of planned events), with a 3-year estimated survival probability of 56% and 57%, respectively. The R0 resection rates (95% vs 82%) and pCR (16% vs 5%) data favored the NACRT arm. Anastomotic leak and postoperative in-hospital mortality were comparable.

The use of trastuzumab in combination with NACRT for HER2-overexpressing EAC was evaluated in the NRG Oncology/RTOG 1010 study[70]. The addition of CRT failed to meet the primary endpoint of DFS. The median DFS was 19.6 mo with CRT and trastuzumab vs 14.2 mo with CRT alone (HR = 0.99; 95%CI: 0.71-1.39).



The CRITICS study showed no benefit of the addition of postoperative radiotherapy, which may be partially attributed to poor patient compliance with the adjuvant treatment[25]. Therefore, subsequent studies have focused on the optimization of preoperative treatment strategies. Determining the clinical value of adding further systemic perioperative CT to NACRT was addressed in the TOPGEAR study [69], which studied the responses in patients with operable GC and gastroesophageal cancer randomized to either perioperative CT or preoperative CT and CRT, followed by adjuvant CT.

Future directions

G/EGJ cancers have high levels of both genomic and phenotypic variability even within individual tumors, and this underlying heterogeneity is considered to be the major reason for the failure of biomarker-based clinical trials. Currently, only the following three biomarkers are routinely used in GC: HER2, PD-L1, and MSI. Other potential targetable genetic alterations, including fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 amplification, epidermal growth factor receptor amplification, MET amplification, Claudin 18.2 expression and NTRK fusion are being tested in ongoing trials in advanced GC. Despite a lack of clinically relevant biomarkers, many clinical trials are underway to study the expression of biomarkers that could provide insight to intratumoral heterogeneity conditioning of the response to treatment. This could lead to an improvement in selection of patients candidates for targeted therapies.

There is little data to support the routine use of molecular therapies or immunotherapy in resectable GC. Nevertheless, the results of early studies on anti-HER2 targeted therapies and ICIs are promising. However, anti-HER2 therapies may improve the response rate, but no survival benefit has been demonstrated yet. In the GERCOR NEONIPIGA trial, the high pCR rates with neoadjuvant ICI are promising, on the perioperative use of immunotherapies in resectable MSI-H GC. The preliminary results of the DANTE study also showed that adding ICI to FLOT therapy in the perioperative setting, regardless of PD-L1 status, may be a very rational approach. The results of these studies can help optimize the selection of patients to receive targeted therapies, thereby facilitating precision medicine approaches for patients with G/EGJ cancers.

In determining patients who are most likely to benefit from immune therapies, a more accurate definition of potential patients who will benefit from chemotherapy, might improve outcomes in the near future, when used along with novel biomarkers, such as MSI and EBV.

CONCLUSION

Appropriate treatment modalities should be planned by a multidisciplinary team specialized in the management of GC because of the complex nature of the disease. Perioperative treatment has become the major denominator of multimodal treatment, as the current standard of care for resectable GC. Biomarkers, MSI, PD-L1, tumor mutational burden, HER2, and genomic subtypes help determine the immunotherapy and targeted therapy options to consolidate the efficacy of the backbone treatment.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yıldız İ wrote the paper; Özer L, Şenocak Taşçı E and Aytac E collected the data; Bayoglu İV prepared the figure and tables.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

ORCID number: İbrahim Yıldız 0000-0001-9094-7289; Leyla Özer 0000-0003-4092-5051; Elif Şenocak Taşçı 0000-0002-1686-1628; İbrahim Vedat Bayoglu 0000-0002-0481-1084; Erman Aytac 0000-0002-8803-0874.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- 1 Lauren P. The two histological main types of gastric carcinoma: Diffuse and so-called intestinal-type carcinoma. an attempt at a histo-clinical classification. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand 1965; 64: 31-49 [PMID: 14320675 DOI: 10.1111/apm.1965.64.1.31]
- Nagtegaal ID, Odze RD, Klimstra D, Paradis V, Rugge M, Schirmacher P, Washington KM, Carneiro F, Cree IA; WHO 2 Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. The 2019 WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. Histopathology 2020; 76: 182-188 [PMID: 31433515 DOI: 10.1111/his.13975]
- 3 Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature 2014; 513: 202-209 [PMID: 25079317 DOI: 10.1038/nature13480]
- Cristescu R, Lee J, Nebozhyn M, Kim KM, Ting JC, Wong SS, Liu J, Yue YG, Wang J, Yu K, Ye XS, Do IG, Liu S, 4 Gong L, Fu J, Jin JG, Choi MG, Sohn TS, Lee JH, Bae JM, Kim ST, Park SH, Sohn I, Jung SH, Tan P, Chen R, Hardwick J, Kang WK, Ayers M, Hongyue D, Reinhard C, Loboda A, Kim S, Aggarwal A. Molecular analysis of gastric cancer identifies subtypes associated with distinct clinical outcomes. Nat Med 2015; 21: 449-456 [PMID: 25894828 DOI: 10.1038/nm.3850
- Sohn BH, Hwang JE, Jang HJ, Lee HS, Oh SC, Shim JJ, Lee KW, Kim EH, Yim SY, Lee SH, Cheong JH, Jeong W, Cho JY, Kim J, Chae J, Lee J, Kang WK, Kim S, Noh SH, Ajani JA, Lee JS. Clinical Significance of Four Molecular Subtypes of Gastric Cancer Identified by The Cancer Genome Atlas Project. Clin Cancer Res 2017; 23: 4441-4449 [PMID: 28747339 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2211]
- Kang BW, Chau I. Current status and future potential of predictive biomarkers for immune checkpoint inhibitors in gastric 6 cancer. ESMO Open 2020; 5 [PMID: 32817133 DOI: 10.1136/esmoopen-2020-000791]
- Al-Batran SE, Homann N, Pauligk C, Goetze TO, Meiler J, Kasper S, Kopp HG, Mayer F, Haag GM, Luley K, Lindig U, Schmiegel W, Pohl M, Stoehlmacher J, Folprecht G, Probst S, Prasnikar N, Fischbach W, Mahlberg R, Trojan J, Koenigsmann M, Martens UM, Thuss-Patience P, Egger M, Block A, Heinemann V, Illerhaus G, Moehler M, Schenk M, Kullmann F, Behringer DM, Heike M, Pink D, Teschendorf C, Löhr C, Bernhard H, Schuch G, Rethwisch V, von Weikersthal LF, Hartmann JT, Kneba M, Daum S, Schulmann K, Weniger J, Belle S, Gaiser T, Oduncu FS, Güntner M, Hozaeel W, Reichart A, Jäger E, Kraus T, Mönig S, Bechstein WO, Schuler M, Schmalenberg H, Hofheinz RD; FLOT4-AIO Investigators. Perioperative chemotherapy with fluorouracil plus leucovorin, oxaliplatin, and docetaxel versus fluorouracil or capecitabine plus cisplatin and epirubicin for locally advanced, resectable gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (FLOT4): a randomised, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet 2019; 393: 1948-1957 [PMID: 30982686 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32557-1
- 8 Machairas N, Charalampoudis P, Molmenti EP, Kykalos S, Tsaparas P, Stamopoulos P, Sotiropoulos GC. The value of staging laparoscopy in gastric cancer. Ann Gastroenterol 2017; 30: 287-294 [PMID: 28469358 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2017.0133]
- Allen CJ, Blumenthaler AN, Das P, Minsky BD, Blum M, Roy-Chowdhuri S, Ajani JA, Ikoma N, Mansfield PF, Badgwell BD. Staging laparoscopy and peritoneal cytology in patients with early stage gastric adenocarcinoma. World J Surg Oncol 2020; 18: 39 [PMID: 32066454 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-020-01813-y]
- Ajani JA, D'Amico TA, Bentrem DJ, Chao J, Cooke D, Corvera C, Das P, Enzinger PC, Enzler T, Fanta P, Farjah F, 10 Gerdes H, Gibson MK, Hochwald S, Hofstetter WL, Ilson DH, Keswani RN, Kim S, Kleinberg LR, Klempner SJ, Lacy J, Ly QP, Matkowskyj KA, McNamara M, Mulcahy MF, Outlaw D, Park H, Perry KA, Pimiento J, Poultsides GA, Reznik S, Roses RE, Strong VE, Su S, Wang HL, Wiesner G, Willett CG, Yakoub D, Yoon H, McMillian N, Pluchino LA. Gastric Cancer, Version 2.2022, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2022; 20: 167-192 [PMID: 35130500 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2022.0008]
- 11 Noh SH, Park SR, Yang HK, Chung HC, Chung IJ, Kim SW, Kim HH, Choi JH, Kim HK, Yu W, Lee JI, Shin DB, Ji J, Chen JS, Lim Y, Ha S, Bang YJ; CLASSIC trial investigators. Adjuvant capecitabine plus oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): 5-year follow-up of an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 1389-1396 [PMID: 25439693 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70473-5]
- 12 Sasako M, Sakuramoto S, Katai H, Kinoshita T, Furukawa H, Yamaguchi T, Nashimoto A, Fujii M, Nakajima T, Ohashi Y. Five-year outcomes of a randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant chemotherapy with S-1 versus surgery alone in stage II or III gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 4387-4393 [PMID: 22010012 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2011.36.5908]
- 13 GASTRIC (Global Advanced/Adjuvant Stomach Tumor Research International Collaboration) Group, Paoletti X, Oba K, Burzykowski T, Michiels S, Ohashi Y, Pignon JP, Rougier P, Sakamoto J, Sargent D, Sasako M, Van Cutsem E, Buyse M. Benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy for resectable gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2010; 303: 1729-1737 [PMID: 20442389 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.534]
- Macdonald JS, Smalley SR, Benedetti J, Hundahl SA, Estes NC, Stemmermann GN, Haller DG, Ajani JA, Gunderson LL, 14 Jessup JM, Martenson JA. Chemoradiotherapy after surgery compared with surgery alone for adenocarcinoma of the stomach or gastroesophageal junction. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 725-730 [PMID: 11547741 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa010187]
- 15 Lee J, Lim DH, Kim S, Park SH, Park JO, Park YS, Lim HY, Choi MG, Sohn TS, Noh JH, Bae JM, Ahn YC, Sohn I, Jung SH, Park CK, Kim KM, Kang WK. Phase III trial comparing capecitabine plus cisplatin versus capecitabine plus cisplatin with concurrent capecitabine radiotherapy in completely resected gastric cancer with D2 lymph node dissection: the ARTIST trial. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30: 268-273 [PMID: 22184384 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.1953]
- 16 Park SH, Lim DH, Sohn TS, Lee J, Zang DY, Kim ST, Kang JH, Oh SY, Hwang IG, Ji JH, Shin DB, Yu JI, Kim KM, An JY, Choi MG, Lee JH, Kim S, Hong JY, Park JO, Park YS, Lim HY, Bae JM, Kang WK; ARTIST 2 investigators. A randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant single-agent S1, S-1 with oxaliplatin, and postoperative chemoradiation with S-1 and oxaliplatin in patients with node-positive gastric cancer after D2 resection: the ARTIST 2 trial(\Rightarrow). Ann Oncol 2021; 32: 368-374 [PMID: 33278599 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.11.017]
- 17 Allum WH, Stenning SP, Bancewicz J, Clark PI, Langley RE. Long-term results of a randomized trial of surgery with or without preoperative chemotherapy in esophageal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 5062-5067 [PMID: 19770374 DOI:



10.1200/JCO.2009.22.2083]

- 18 Schuhmacher C, Gretschel S, Lordick F, Reichardt P, Hohenberger W, Eisenberger CF, Haag C, Mauer ME, Hasan B, Welch J, Ott K, Hoelscher A, Schneider PM, Bechstein W, Wilke H, Lutz MP, Nordlinger B, Van Cutsem E, Siewert JR, Schlag PM. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy compared with surgery alone for locally advanced cancer of the stomach and cardia: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer randomized trial 40954. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 5210-5218 [PMID: 21060024 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.6114]
- 19 Alderson D, Cunningham D, Nankivell M, Blazeby JM, Griffin SM, Crellin A, Grabsch HI, Langer R, Pritchard S, Okines A, Krysztopik R, Coxon F, Thompson J, Falk S, Robb C, Stenning S, Langley RE. Neoadjuvant cisplatin and fluorouracil versus epirubicin, cisplatin, and capecitabine followed by resection in patients with oesophageal adenocarcinoma (UK MRC OE05): an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18: 1249-1260 [PMID: 28784312 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30447-3
- Ashok A, Tiwari V, Jiwnani S, Karimundackal G, Pramesh CS. Controversies in preoperative therapy in esophageal cancer: Current evidence and ongoing research. Ann Gastroenterol Surg 2019; 3: 592-597 [PMID: 31788647 DOI: 10.1002/ags3.12301
- Shapiro J, van Lanschot JJB, Hulshof MCCM, van Hagen P, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Wijnhoven BPL, van Laarhoven 21 HWM, Nieuwenhuijzen GAP, Hospers GAP, Bonenkamp JJ, Cuesta MA, Blaisse RJB, Busch ORC, Ten Kate FJW, Creemers GM, Punt CJA, Plukker JTM, Verheul HMW, Bilgen EJS, van Dekken H, van der Sangen MJC, Rozema T, Biermann K, Beukema JC, Piet AHM, van Rij CM, Reinders JG, Tilanus HW, Steyerberg EW, van der Gaast A; CROSS study group. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy plus surgery versus surgery alone for oesophageal or junctional cancer (CROSS): long-term results of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: 1090-1098 [PMID: 26254683 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00040-6]
- Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP, Thompson JN, Van de Velde CJ, Nicolson M, Scarffe JH, Lofts FJ, Falk SJ, 22 Iveson TJ, Smith DB, Langley RE, Verma M, Weeden S, Chua YJ, MAGIC Trial Participants. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. N Engl J Med 2006; 355: 11-20 [PMID: 16822992 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa055531]
- Ychou M, Boige V, Pignon JP, Conroy T, Bouché O, Lebreton G, Ducourtieux M, Bedenne L, Fabre JM, Saint-Aubert B, 23 Genève J, Lasser P, Rougier P. Perioperative chemotherapy compared with surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal adenocarcinoma: an FNCLCC and FFCD multicenter phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 1715-1721 [PMID: 21444866 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.0597]
- 24 Lordick F, Carneiro F, Cascinu S, Fleitas T, Haustermans K, Piessen G, Vogel A, Smyth EC; ESMO Guidelines Committee. Gastric cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2022; 33: 1005-1020 [PMID: 35914639 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.07.004]
- Cats A, Jansen EPM, van Grieken NCT, Sikorska K, Lind P, Nordsmark M, Meershoek-Klein Kranenbarg E, Boot H, Trip 25 AK, Swellengrebel HAM, van Laarhoven HWM, Putter H, van Sandick JW, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Hartgrink HH, van Tinteren H, van de Velde CJH, Verheij M; CRITICS investigators. Chemotherapy versus chemoradiotherapy after surgery and preoperative chemotherapy for resectable gastric cancer (CRITICS): an international, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 616-628 [PMID: 29650363 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30132-3]
- 26 de Steur WO, van Amelsfoort RM, Hartgrink HH, Putter H, Meershoek-Klein Kranenbarg E, van Grieken NCT, van Sandick JW, Claassen YHM, Braak JPBM, Jansen EPM, Sikorska K, van Tinteren H, Walraven I, Lind P, Nordsmark M, van Berge Henegouwen MI, van Laarhoven HWM, Cats A, Verheij M, van de Velde CJH; CRITICS investigators. Adjuvant chemotherapy is superior to chemoradiation after D2 surgery for gastric cancer in the per-protocol analysis of the randomized CRITICS trial. Ann Oncol 2021; 32: 360-367 [PMID: 33227408 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.11.004]
- 27 Yang Y, Yin X, Sheng L, Xu S, Dong L, Liu L. Perioperative chemotherapy more of a benefit for overall survival than adjuvant chemotherapy for operable gastric cancer: an updated Meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 12850 [PMID: 26242393 DOI: 10.1038/srep12850]
- 28 Zhang X, Liang H, Li Z, Xue Y, Wang Y, Zhou Z, Yu J, Bu Z, Chen L, Du Y, Wang X, Wu A, Li G, Su X, Xiao G, Cui M, Wu D, Wu X, Zhou Y, Zhang L, Dang C, He Y, Zhang Z, Sun Y, Li Y, Chen H, Bai Y, Qi C, Yu P, Zhu G, Suo J, Jia B, Li L, Huang C, Li F, Ye Y, Xu H, Yuan Y, E JY, Ying X, Yao C, Shen L, Ji J; RESOLVE study group. Perioperative or postoperative adjuvant oxaliplatin with S-1 versus adjuvant oxaliplatin with capecitabine in patients with locally advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma undergoing D2 gastrectomy (RESOLVE): an open-label, superiority and non-inferiority, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22: 1081-1092 [PMID: 34252374 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00297-7]
- Kang YK, Yook JH, Park YK, Lee JS, Kim YW, Kim JY, Ryu MH, Rha SY, Chung IJ, Kim IH, Oh SC, Park YS, Son T, 29 Jung MR, Heo MH, Kim HK, Park C, Yoo CH, Choi JH, Zang DY, Jang YJ, Sul JY, Kim JG, Kim BS, Beom SH, Cho SH, Ryu SW, Kook MC, Ryoo BY, Yoo MW, Lee NS, Lee SH, Kim G, Lee Y, Lee JH, Noh SH. PRODIGY: A Phase III Study of Neoadjuvant Docetaxel, Oxaliplatin, and S-1 Plus Surgery and Adjuvant S-1 Versus Surgery and Adjuvant S-1 for Resectable Advanced Gastric Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 2903-2913 [PMID: 34133211 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.02914]
- Bang YJ, Van Cutsem E, Feyereislova A, Chung HC, Shen L, Sawaki A, Lordick F, Ohtsu A, Omuro Y, Satoh T, Aprile G, Kulikov E, Hill J, Lehle M, Rüschoff J, Kang YK; ToGA Trial Investigators. Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for treatment of HER2-positive advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (ToGA): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010; 376: 687-697 [PMID: 20728210 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61121-X
- 31 Shitara K, Bang YJ, Iwasa S, Sugimoto N, Ryu MH, Sakai D, Chung HC, Kawakami H, Yabusaki H, Lee J, Saito K, Kawaguchi Y, Kamio T, Kojima A, Sugihara M, Yamaguchi K; DESTINY-Gastric01 Investigators. Trastuzumab Deruxtecan in Previously Treated HER2-Positive Gastric Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 2419-2430 [PMID: 32469182 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2004413]
- Hofheinz RD, Haag GM, Ettrich TJ, Borchert K, Kretzschmar A, Teschendorf C, Siegler GM, Ebert MP, Goekkurt E, 32 Welslau M, Mahlberg R, Homann N, Pink D, Bechstein WO, Reichardt P, Gaiser T, Sookthai D, Pauligk C, Goetze TO, Al-Batran SE. Perioperative trastuzumab and pertuzumab in combination with FLOT versus FLOT alone for HER2-positive



resectable esophagogastric adenocarcinoma: Final results of the PETRARCA multicenter randomized phase II trial of the AIO. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 4502 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.4502]

- 33 Chaganty BKR, Qiu S, Gest A, Lu Y, Ivan C, Calin GA, Weiner LM, Fan Z. Trastuzumab upregulates PD-L1 as a potential mechanism of trastuzumab resistance through engagement of immune effector cells and stimulation of IFNy secretion. Cancer Lett 2018; 430: 47-56 [PMID: 29746929 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.05.009]
- 34 Janjigian YY, Kawazoe A, Yañez P, Li N, Lonardi S, Kolesnik O, Barajas O, Bai Y, Shen L, Tang Y, Wyrwicz LS, Xu J, Shitara K, Qin S, Van Cutsem E, Tabernero J, Li L, Shah S, Bhagia P, Chung HC. The KEYNOTE-811 trial of dual PD-1 and HER2 blockade in HER2-positive gastric cancer. Nature 2021; 600: 727-730 [PMID: 34912120 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-021-04161-3]
- 35 Cunningham D, Stenning SP, Smyth EC, Okines AF, Allum WH, Rowley S, Stevenson L, Grabsch HI, Alderson D, Crosby T, Griffin SM, Mansoor W, Coxon FY, Falk SJ, Darby S, Sumpter KA, Blazeby JM, Langley RE. Peri-operative chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab in operable oesophagogastric adenocarcinoma (UK Medical Research Council ST03): primary analysis results of a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 2-3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18: 357-370 [PMID: 28163000 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30043-8]
- Al-Batran SE, Hofheinz RD, Schmalenberg H, Strumberg D, Goekkurt E, Angermeier S, Zander T, Potenberg J, Kopp HG, Pink D, Siegler GM, Schenk M, Vita FD, Maiello E, Gaiser T, Sookthai D, Bankstahl US, Pauligk C, Goetze TO, Homann N. Perioperative ramucirumab in combination with FLOT versus FLOT alone for resectable esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (RAMSES/FLOT7): Results of the phase II-portion-A multicenter, randomized phase II/III trial of the German AIO and Italian GOIM. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 4501 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15 suppl.4501]
- Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-L1 Expression as a Predictive Biomarker in Cancer Immunotherapy. Mol Cancer Ther 2015; 37 14: 847-856 [PMID: 25695955 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0983]
- Janjigian YY, Shitara K, Moehler M, Garrido M, Salman P, Shen L, Wyrwicz L, Yamaguchi K, Skoczylas T, Campos Bragagnoli A, Liu T, Schenker M, Yanez P, Tehfe M, Kowalyszyn R, Karamouzis MV, Bruges R, Zander T, Pazo-Cid R, Hitre E, Feeney K, Cleary JM, Poulart V, Cullen D, Lei M, Xiao H, Kondo K, Li M, Ajani JA. First-line nivolumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for advanced gastric, gastro-oesophageal junction, and oesophageal adenocarcinoma (CheckMate 649): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2021; 398: 27-40 [PMID: 34102137 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00797-2]
- 39 Sun JM, Shen L, Shah MA, Enzinger P, Adenis A, Doi T, Kojima T, Metges JP, Li Z, Kim SB, Cho BC, Mansoor W, Li SH, Sunpaweravong P, Maqueda MA, Goekkurt E, Hara H, Antunes L, Fountzilas C, Tsuji A, Oliden VC, Liu Q, Shah S, Bhagia P, Kato K; KEYNOTE-590 Investigators. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for firstline treatment of advanced oesophageal cancer (KEYNOTE-590): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet 2021; 398: 759-771 [PMID: 34454674 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01234-4]
- 40 Chen LT, Satoh T, Ryu MH, Chao Y, Kato K, Chung HC, Chen JS, Muro K, Kang WK, Yeh KH, Yoshikawa T, Oh SC, Bai LY, Tamura T, Lee KW, Hamamoto Y, Kim JG, Chin K, Oh DY, Minashi K, Cho JY, Tsuda M, Sameshima H, Kang YK, Boku N. A phase 3 study of nivolumab in previously treated advanced gastric or gastroesophageal junction cancer (ATTRACTION-2): 2-year update data. Gastric Cancer 2020; 23: 510-519 [PMID: 31863227 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-019-01034-7]
- 41 Fuchs CS, Doi T, Jang RW, Muro K, Satoh T, Machado M, Sun W, Jalal SI, Shah MA, Metges JP, Garrido M, Golan T, Mandala M, Wainberg ZA, Catenacci DV, Ohtsu A, Shitara K, Geva R, Bleeker J, Ko AH, Ku G, Philip P, Enzinger PC, Bang YJ, Levitan D, Wang J, Rosales M, Dalal RP, Yoon HH. Safety and Efficacy of Pembrolizumab Monotherapy in Patients With Previously Treated Advanced Gastric and Gastroesophageal Junction Cancer: Phase 2 Clinical KEYNOTE-059 Trial. JAMA Oncol 2018; 4: e180013 [PMID: 29543932 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.0013]
- 42 Kloor M, von Knebel Doeberitz M. The Immune Biology of Microsatellite-Unstable Cancer. Trends Cancer 2016; 2: 121-133 [PMID: 28741532 DOI: 10.1016/j.trecan.2016.02.004]
- 43 Hause RJ, Pritchard CC, Shendure J, Salipante SJ. Classification and characterization of microsatellite instability across 18 cancer types. Nat Med 2016; 22: 1342-1350 [PMID: 27694933 DOI: 10.1038/nm.4191]
- van Velzen MJM, Derks S, van Grieken NCT, Haj Mohammad N, van Laarhoven HWM. MSI as a predictive factor for 44 treatment outcome of gastroesophageal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Treat Rev 2020; 86: 102024 [PMID: 32388292 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.102024]
- Chao J, Fuchs CS, Shitara K, Tabernero J, Muro K, Van Cutsem E, Bang YJ, De Vita F, Landers G, Yen CJ, Chau I, Elme 45 A, Lee J, Özgüroglu M, Catenacci D, Yoon HH, Chen E, Adelberg D, Shih CS, Shah S, Bhagia P, Wainberg ZA. Assessment of Pembrolizumab Therapy for the Treatment of Microsatellite Instability-High Gastric or Gastroesophageal Junction Cancer Among Patients in the KEYNOTE-059, KEYNOTE-061, and KEYNOTE-062 Clinical Trials. JAMA Oncol 2021; 7: 895-902 [PMID: 33792646 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.0275]
- Iivanainen S, Koivunen JP. Possibilities of Improving the Clinical Value of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Therapies in 46 Cancer Care by Optimizing Patient Selection. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 31952311 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21020556]
- 47 Kim ST, Cristescu R, Bass AJ, Kim KM, Odegaard JI, Kim K, Liu XQ, Sher X, Jung H, Lee M, Lee S, Park SH, Park JO, Park YS, Lim HY, Lee H, Choi M, Talasaz A, Kang PS, Cheng J, Loboda A, Lee J, Kang WK. Comprehensive molecular characterization of clinical responses to PD-1 inhibition in metastatic gastric cancer. Nat Med 2018; 24: 1449-1458 [PMID: 30013197 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-018-0101-z]
- 48 Marabelle A, Fakih M, Lopez J, Shah M, Shapira-Frommer R, Nakagawa K, Chung HC, Kindler HL, Lopez-Martin JA, Miller WH Jr, Italiano A, Kao S, Piha-Paul SA, Delord JP, McWilliams RR, Fabrizio DA, Aurora-Garg D, Xu L, Jin F, Norwood K, Bang YJ. Association of tumour mutational burden with outcomes in patients with advanced solid tumours treated with pembrolizumab: prospective biomarker analysis of the multicohort, open-label, phase 2 KEYNOTE-158 study. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 1353-1365 [PMID: 32919526 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30445-9]
- 49 André T, Tougeron D, Piessen G, de la Fouchardière C, Louvet C, Adenis A, Jary M, Tournigand C, Aparicio T, Desrame J, Lièvre A, Garcia-Larnicol ML, Pudlarz T, Cohen R, Memmi S, Vernerey D, Henriques J, Lefevre JH, Svrcek M. Neoadiuvant Nivolumab Plus Ipilimumab and Adiuvant Nivolumab in Localized Deficient Mismatch Repair/Microsatellite Instability-High Gastric or Esophagogastric Junction Adenocarcinoma: The GERCOR NEONIPIGA Phase II Study. J Clin



Oncol 2023; 41: 255-265 [PMID: 35969830 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.22.00686]

- 50 Al-Batran SE, Lorenzen S, Thuss-Patience PC, Homann N, Schenk M, Lindig U, Heuer V, Kretzschmar A, Goekkurt E, Haag GM, Riera Knorrenschild J, Bolling C, Hofheinz RD, Angermeier S, Jens Ettrich T, Siebenhuener A, Kopp C, Pauligk C, Oliver Goetze T, Gaiser T. Surgical and pathological outcome, and pathological regression, in patients receiving perioperative atezolizumab in combination with FLOT chemotherapy versus FLOT alone for resectable esophagogastric adenocarcinoma: Interim results from DANTE, a randomized, multicenter, phase lib trial of the FLOT-AIO German Gastric Cancer Group and Swiss SAKK. J Clin Oncol 2022; 40: 4003 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2022.40.16_suppl.4003]
- An JY, Kim H, Cheong JH, Hyung WJ, Noh SH. Microsatellite instability in sporadic gastric cancer: its prognostic role and 51 guidance for 5-FU based chemotherapy after R0 resection. Int J Cancer 2012; 131: 505-511 [PMID: 21898388 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.26399]
- 52 Choi YY, Kim H, Shin SJ, Kim HY, Lee J, Yang HK, Kim WH, Kim YW, Kook MC, Park YK, Kim HH, Lee HS, Lee KH, Gu MJ, Choi SH, Hong S, Kim JW, Hyung WJ, Noh SH, Cheong JH. Microsatellite Instability and Programmed Cell Death-Ligand 1 Expression in Stage II/III Gastric Cancer: Post Hoc Analysis of the CLASSIC Randomized Controlled study. Ann Surg 2019; 270: 309-316 [PMID: 29727332 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002803]
- Smyth EC, Wotherspoon A, Peckitt C, Gonzalez D, Hulkki-Wilson S, Eltahir Z, Fassan M, Rugge M, Valeri N, Okines A, Hewish M, Allum W, Stenning S, Nankivell M, Langley R, Cunningham D. Mismatch Repair Deficiency, Microsatellite Instability, and Survival: An Exploratory Analysis of the Medical Research Council Adjuvant Gastric Infusional Chemotherapy (MAGIC) Trial. JAMA Oncol 2017; 3: 1197-1203 [PMID: 28241187 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.6762]
- Pietrantonio F, Miceli R, Raimondi A, Kim YW, Kang WK, Langley RE, Choi YY, Kim KM, Nankivell MG, Morano F, 54 Wotherspoon A, Valeri N, Kook MC, An JY, Grabsch HI, Fucà G, Noh SH, Sohn TS, Kim S, Di Bartolomeo M, Cunningham D, Lee J, Cheong JH, Smyth EC. Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis of the Value of Microsatellite Instability As a Biomarker in Gastric Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 3392-3400 [PMID: 31513484 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.01124
- 55 Kelly RJ, Ajani JA, Kuzdzal J, Zander T, Van Cutsem E, Piessen G, Mendez G, Feliciano J, Motoyama S, Lièvre A, Uronis H, Elimova E, Grootscholten C, Geboes K, Zafar S, Snow S, Ko AH, Feeney K, Schenker M, Kocon P, Zhang J, Zhu L, Lei M, Singh P, Kondo K, Cleary JM, Moehler M; CheckMate 577 Investigators. Adjuvant Nivolumab in Resected Esophageal or Gastroesophageal Junction Cancer. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 1191-1203 [PMID: 33789008 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2032125]
- 56 Schulz C, Kullmann F, Kunzmann V, Fuchs M, Geissler M, Vehling-Kaiser U, Stauder H, Wein A, Al-Batran SE, Kubin T, Schäfer C, Stintzing S, Giessen C, Modest DP, Ridwelski K, Heinemann V. NeoFLOT: Multicenter phase II study of perioperative chemotherapy in resectable adenocarcinoma of the gastroesophageal junction or gastric adenocarcinoma-Very good response predominantly in patients with intestinal type tumors. Int J Cancer 2015; 137: 678-685 [PMID: 25530271 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29403]
- Homann N, Pauligk C, Luley K, Werner Kraus T, Bruch HP, Atmaca A, Noack F, Altmannsberger HM, Jäger E, Al-Batran 57 SE. Pathological complete remission in patients with oesophagogastric cancer receiving preoperative 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin and docetaxel. Int J Cancer 2012; 130: 1706-1713 [PMID: 21618509 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.26180]
- Al-Batran SE, Hofheinz RD, Pauligk C, Kopp HG, Haag GM, Luley KB, Meiler J, Homann N, Lorenzen S, Schmalenberg 58 H, Probst S, Koenigsmann M, Egger M, Prasnikar N, Caca K, Trojan J, Martens UM, Block A, Fischbach W, Mahlberg R, Clemens M, Illerhaus G, Zirlik K, Behringer DM, Schmiegel W, Pohl M, Heike M, Ronellenfitsch U, Schuler M, Bechstein WO, Königsrainer A, Gaiser T, Schirmacher P, Hozaeel W, Reichart A, Goetze TO, Sievert M, Jäger E, Mönig S, Tannapfel A. Histopathological regression after neoadjuvant docetaxel, oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin versus epirubicin, cisplatin, and fluorouracil or capecitabine in patients with resectable gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (FLOT4-AIO): results from the phase 2 part of a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 2/3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016; 17: 1697-1708 [PMID: 27776843 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30531-9]
- Heger U, Sisic L, Nienhüser H, Blank S, Hinz U, Haag GM, Ott K, Ulrich A, Büchler MW, Schmidt T. Neoadjuvant 59 Therapy Improves Outcomes in Locally Advanced Signet-Ring-Cell Containing Esophagogastric Adenocarcinomas. Ann Surg Oncol 2018; 25: 2418-2427 [PMID: 29855828 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-018-6541-3]
- Messager M, Lefevre JH, Pichot-Delahaye V, Souadka A, Piessen G, Mariette C; FREGAT working group FRENCH. 60 The impact of perioperative chemotherapy on survival in patients with gastric signet ring cell adenocarcinoma: a multicenter comparative study. Ann Surg 2011; 254: 684-93; discussion 693 [PMID: 22005144 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182352647
- Kim S, Fiteni F, Paget-Bailly S, Ghiringhelli F, Lakkis Z, Jary M, Fein F, Bonnetain F, Mariette C, Borg C. The impact of 61 taxane-based preoperative chemotherapy in gastroesophageal signet ring cell adenocarcinomas. J Hematol Oncol 2015; 8: 52 [PMID: 25976888 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-015-0148-y]
- Heger U, Blank S, Wiecha C, Langer R, Weichert W, Lordick F, Bruckner T, Dobritz M, Burian M, Springfeld C, Grenacher L, Siewert JR, Büchler M, Ott K. Is preoperative chemotherapy followed by surgery the appropriate treatment for signet ring cell containing adenocarcinomas of the esophagogastric junction and stomach? Ann Surg Oncol 2014; 21: 1739-1748 [PMID: 24419755 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-013-3462-z]
- Eveno C, Adeniz A, Bouche O, Le Malicot K, Hautefeuille V, Faroux R, Bidault AT, Egreteau J, Meunier B, Mabro M, 63 Carrere N, Barriere N, Abdelghani MB, Mauvais F, Di Fiore F, Malka D, Manfredi S, Piessen G. Adjuvant chemotherapy versus perioperative chemotherapy (CTx) for resectable gastric signet ring cell (SRC) gastric cancer: A multicenter, randomized phase II study (PRODIGE 19). J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 4019 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.4019]
- 64 von Döbeln GA, Klevebro F, Jacobsen AB, Johannessen HO, Nielsen NH, Johnsen G, Hatlevoll I, Glenjen NI, Friesland S, Lundell L, Yu J, Nilsson M. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy versus neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy for cancer of the esophagus or gastroesophageal junction: long-term results of a randomized clinical trial. Dis Esophagus 2019; 32 [PMID: 30137281 DOI: 10.1093/dote/dov0781
- Han J, Wang Z, Liu C. Survival and complications after neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy for esophageal 65 cancer: a meta-analysis. Future Oncol 2021; 17: 2257-2274 [PMID: 33739165 DOI: 10.2217/fon-2021-0021]
- 66 Stahl M, Walz MK, Riera-Knorrenschild J, Stuschke M, Sandermann A, Bitzer M, Wilke H, Budach W. Preoperative



chemotherapy versus chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced adenocarcinomas of the oesophagogastric junction (POET): Long-term results of a controlled randomised trial. Eur J Cancer 2017; 81: 183-190 [PMID: 28628843 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.04.027]

- 67 Reynolds JV, Preston SR, O'Neill B, Lowery MA, Baeksgaard L, Crosby T, Cunningham M, Cuffe S, Griffiths GO, Roy R, Falk S, Hanna G, Bartlett FR, Parker I, Alvarez-Iglesias A, Nilsson M, Piessen G, Risum S, Ravi N, McDermott RS. Neo-AEGIS (Neoadjuvant trial in Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagus and Esophago-Gastric Junction International Study): Preliminary results of phase III RCT of CROSS versus perioperative chemotherapy (Modified MAGIC or FLOT protocol. J *Clin Oncol* 2021; **39**: 4004 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_suppl.4004]
- 68 Hoeppner J, Lordick F, Brunner T, Glatz T, Bronsert P, Röthling N, Schmoor C, Lorenz D, Ell C, Hopt UT, Siewert JR. ESOPEC: prospective randomized controlled multicenter phase III trial comparing perioperative chemotherapy (FLOT protocol) to neoadjuvant chemoradiation (CROSS protocol) in patients with adenocarcinoma of the esophagus (NCT02509286). BMC Cancer 2016; 16: 503 [PMID: 27435280 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-016-2564-y]
- Leong T, Smithers BM, Haustermans K, Michael M, Gebski V, Miller D, Zalcberg J, Boussioutas A, Findlay M, O'Connell 69 RL, Verghis J, Willis D, Kron T, Crain M, Murray WK, Lordick F, Swallow C, Darling G, Simes J, Wong R. TOPGEAR: A Randomized, Phase III Trial of Perioperative ECF Chemotherapy with or Without Preoperative Chemoradiation for Resectable Gastric Cancer: Interim Results from an International, Intergroup Trial of the AGITG, TROG, EORTC and CCTG. Ann Surg Oncol 2017; 24: 2252-2258 [PMID: 28337660 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-017-5830-6]
- Safran HP, Winter K, Ilson DH, Wigle D, DiPetrillo T, Haddock MG, Hong TS, Leichman LP, Rajdev L, Resnick M, 70 Kachnic LA, Seaward S, Mamon H, Diaz Pardo DA, Anderson CM, Shen X, Sharma AK, Katz AW, Salo J, Leonard KL, Moughan J, Crane CH. Trastuzumab with trimodality treatment for oesophageal adenocarcinoma with HER2 overexpression (NRG Oncology/RTOG 1010): a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2022; 23: 259-269 [PMID: 35038433 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00718-X]
- 71 Fuchs CS, Niedzwiecki D, Mamon HJ, Tepper JE, Ye X, Swanson RS, Enzinger PC, Haller DG, Dragovich T, Alberts SR, Bjarnason GA, Willett CG, Gunderson LL, Goldberg RM, Venook AP, Ilson D, O'Reilly E, Ciombor K, Berg DJ, Meyerhardt J, Mayer RJ. Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy With Epirubicin, Cisplatin, and Fluorouracil Compared With Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy With Fluorouracil and Leucovorin After Curative Resection of Gastric Cancer: Results From CALGB 80101 (Alliance). J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 3671-3677 [PMID: 28976791 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.2130]
- 72 AstraZeneca. Assessing durvalumab and FLOT chemotherapy in resectable gastric and gastroesophageal junction cancer. [accessed 2022 Oct 4]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04592913 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04592913
- 73 Sharp M, Dohme LLC. Study of pembrolizumab (MK-3475) plus chemotherapy vs placebo plus chemotherapy in participants with gastric or gastroesophageal junction (GEJ) adenocarcinoma (MK-3475-585/KEYNOTE-585). [accessed 2022 Oct 4]. In: Clinical Trials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03221426 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03221426
- Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust. Study Title: Peri-operative Immuno-Chemotherapy in Operable Oesophageal 74 and Gastric Cancer (ICONIC). [accessed 2022 Oct 4]. In: Clinical Trials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03399071 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03399071
- 75 Institut für Klinische Krebsforschung IKF GmbH at Krankenhaus Nordwest. Evaluating pembrolizumab, trastuzumab and FLOT as perioperative treatment of HER2-positive, localized esophagogastric adenocarcinoma. [accessed 2022 Oct 4]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05504720 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT05504720
- European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer EORTC. Neoadjuvant study using trastuzumab or trastuzumab with pertuzumab in gastric or gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (INNOVATION). [accessed 2022 Oct 4]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02205047 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02205047



S WÛ

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 338-345

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.338

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Vascular injury during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: An oftenoverlooked complication

Antonio Pesce, Nicolò Fabbri, Carlo Vittorio Feo

Specialty type: Surgery

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chuang SH, Taiwan; Cochior D, Romania

Received: November 27, 2022 Peer-review started: November 27, 2022 First decision: December 26, 2022 Revised: January 5, 2023 Accepted: February 22, 2023

Article in press: February 22, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Antonio Pesce, Nicolò Fabbri, Carlo Vittorio Feo, Department of Surgery, University of Ferrara, Azienda USL of Ferrara, Azienda USL of Ferrara, Lagosanto 44023, Ferrara, Italy

Corresponding author: Antonio Pesce, FACS, MD, PhD, Research Fellow, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, University of Ferrara, Azienda USL of Ferrara, Azienda USL of Ferrara, 2 Via Valle Oppio, Lagosanto 44023, Ferrara, Italy. antonio.pesce@ausl.fe.it

Abstract

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy is one of the most frequently performed procedures in gastrointestinal surgery worldwide. Bleeding complications due to vascular injuries represent an important cause of morbidity and mortality, especially when facing major bleeding during laparoscopy, where bleeding control can be technically challenging in inexperienced hands. Interestingly, the reported incidence rate of conversion to open surgery due to vascular lesions is approximately 0%-1.9%, with a mortality rate of approximately 0.02%. The primary aim of this article was to perform an up-to-date overview regarding the incidence and surgical management of vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy according to the available scientific evidence.

Key Words: Laparoscopic cholecystectomy; Vascular injury; Vascular anomalies; Surgical management; Specialized hepatobiliary centers

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The theme of biliary injuries in laparoscopic cholecystectomy and the prevention and management of bile duct lesions have been extensively exanimated. However, little attention has been given to vascular injuries. Bleeding complications due to vascular injuries represent an important cause of morbidity and mortality, as well as the negative outcomes of biliary reconstruction when associated with biliary injuries. The vascular lesions should be correctly identified, and surgeons must choose the best therapeutic option to quickly repair the vascular lesion, depending on their own surgical experience and medical center resources. Currently, the management of referrals to specialized hepatobiliary centers for multidisciplinary approaches is mandatory.
Citation: Pesce A, Fabbri N, Feo CV. Vascular injury during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: An often-overlooked complication. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 338-345 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/338.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.338

INTRODUCTION

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is one of the most frequently performed procedures in general surgery worldwide[1]. Iatrogenic vascular and bile duct injuries still represent a major public health problem related to both medico-legal implications and health care costs[1,2]. The theme of biliary injuries in laparoscopic cholecystectomy and the prevention and management of bile duct lesions have been extensively exanimated. However, little attention has been given to vascular lesions[3]. Bleeding complications due to vascular injuries are an important cause of morbidity and mortality, especially during laparoscopy, where bleeding control can be technically challenging in inexperienced hands. Vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy may mainly occur during trocar or Veress needle insertion or during dissection of the hepato-cystic triangle. Interestingly, the reported incidence rate of conversion to open surgery due to intra-operative vascular lesions is approximately 0%-1.9%, with a mortality rate of approximately 0.02%[3-5]. The aim of this article was to analyze and explore the incidence, diagnosis and surgical management of vascular injuries in laparoscopic cholecystectomy according to the available scientific evidence. MEDLINE and PubMed searches were performed using the MeSH terms "vascular injury", "vascular lesion", "vasculo-biliary injury", and "laparoscopic cholecystectomy" to identify relevant articles (cohort studies, systematic reviews, case reports, multicenter studies) published in English, French, Spanish, and Italian over the last twenty years.

INCIDENCE AND RISK FACTORS

Several risk factors may contribute to vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Anatomical factors, including vascular anomalies, patient-related factors, the gallbladder pathology and surgeon's experience, as summarized in Table 1. Concerning the anatomical factors, the different variants of vascular anatomy may represent a possible cause of bile duct injuries, particularly anomalies of the cystic artery and right hepatic artery (RHA). If surgeons are not aware of possible variations of the RHA, such as in the case of acute and chronic cholecystitis with unclear anatomy of Calot's triangle, the RHA may be accidentally injured or mistaken for the cystic artery and actively cut off. In a study assessing the frequency of anatomical variations of biliary and vascular systems from Singh *et al*[6], the operative findings revealed 197 (26.62%) vascular anomalies, mostly related to cystic artery and RHA anatomy. Arterial anomalies are more common, occurring in at least 50% of individuals, and can be recognized only by careful dissection[7]. Based on the classification proposed by Smadja and Blumgart [8], the cystic artery is considered normally positioned when located in the center of the hepato-cystic triangle. In a recent Spanish study performed on a sample of 2000 Laparoscopic cholecystectomy procedures, Noguera et al[9] found an origin of the cystic artery from the RHA in 91.5% of cases. These data are similar to those of Bergamaschi et al[10], where, in a study of 90 consecutive human cadavers, a single artery was found in 59 of 70 specimens (84.3% of all cases). The incidence of third structures within the hepato-cystic triangle was found to be arteries in 36.2% of cases, with a reported incidence of caterpillar hump of the RHA in 12.9% of all cases and double cystic arteries in 5.7%. The most common variations of cystic artery are shown in Figure 1, according to the literature data[7-10]. Among the patient-related factors, overweight and pathological obesity, a history of biliary surgery or endoscopic procedures, and hepatic cirrhosis or chronic liver disease appear to be factors correlated with the development of perioperative complications, both for biliary and vascular structures. However, emergent cholecystectomy for acute cholecystitis increases the risk of iatrogenic lesions, as gallbladder inflammation causes a series of anatomical changes that are associated with an increased risk of iatrogenic injury. Ultimately, the surgeon's experience plays an important role, and for this reason the importance of a correct "learning curve" for young surgeons should be stressed.

HEPATIC ARTERY INJURIES

Intra-operative bleeding is certainly the most common and feared complication of arterial injury during laparoscopic procedures, followed by ligation. Among hepatic artery injuries, lesions of the RHA are the most described complication that may occur during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Hepatic artery closure is usually well tolerated without any particular consequences due to the portal flow and a dense series of collateral arterial branches coming from the hepatic hilum. However, in such cases, hepatic



Table 1 Summary of risk factors associated to vascular injuries				
Anatomical factors	Description			
Common vascular variants of cystic artery and right	Single cystic artery[6]			
nepauc anery	Two arteries (superficial and deep)[6]			
	Single short cystic artery originated from caterpillar right hepatic artery[4,5,10]			
	Long single cystic artery not from right hepatic artery crossing anterior to the common hepatic duct[7,8]			
	Double cystic artery/accessory cystic artery[9]			
	Cystic artery seen more anteriorly than posteriorly in relation to Mascagni's lymph node[7,9]			
	A constant vessel found on the postero-lateral margin of gallbladder bed[6,9]			
	Cystic artery coming from gastroduodenal artery, passing outside Calot's triangle[6,9]			
Patient-related factors	Overweight and pathological obesity[1]			
	History of biliary surgery or endoscopic procedures[1]			
	Underlying liver disease[1]			
Gallbladder pathology	Acute or chronic cholecystitis[1-3]			
	Gallbladder anomalies (gallbladder duplication, gallbladder agenesia, left-side gallbladder) [1-3]			
Surgical experience	Learning curve[1,2]			
	Inadequate exposure[1,2,6]			
	Failure to recognize anatomical landmarks[2,6]			



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.338 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Anatomic illustration of the most common variants of cystic artery. Common variants of cystic artery originating from the right hepatic artery in the classical position[6-8]; B: Long cystic artery seen anteriorly to the cystic duct[6,7]; C: Cystic artery coming from the gastroduodenal artery, passing outside Calot's triangle[6,9]; D: Long single cystic artery not from the right hepatic artery crossing anterior to the common hepatic duct[6,9]. RHA: Right hepatic artery; LHA: Left hepatic artery; PHA: Proper hepatic artery; CHA: Common hepatic artery; GDA: Gastroduodenal artery; G: Gallbladder; CHD: Common hepatic duct; CD: Cystic duct; CBD: Common bile duct; RHD: Right hepatic duct; LHD: Left hepatic duct; AA: Abdominal aorta.

> artery ligation can sometimes cause ischemic hepatic necrosis or liver atrophy. RHA injury is frequently encountered in association with bile duct injury, even if the true incidence of RHA injury without concomitant bile duct injury is not clear[11]. In a cadaveric study, Halasz[12] reported that the incidence of injury to the RHA or its branches was only 7%. All patients survived at least one year after cholecystectomy, and they had normal livers. For this reason, the decision to immediately repair the lesion remains controversial. RHA injuries always occur in two ways: the first is when the fundus-first approach for laparoscopic cholecystectomy is performed in the presence of severe inflammation[13]; the



Zaishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

second is in the presence of vascular anomalies, as in the case of caterpillar hump of the RHA, where the hepatic artery may be wrongly mistaken for the cystic artery[4,5]. The most important complication of RHA injury is massive bleeding during dissection, which always leads to conversion to open surgery in inexperienced hands. In some cases, laparoscopic repair is feasible and safe[11] by suturing in cases of intra-operative bleeding or direct end-to-end anastomosis when possible in cases of ligation or clipping of the RHA.

Hepatic artery pseudoaneurysm represents another important complication after RHA injury, and it may occur in the early or late postoperative course after LC. Approximately 10% of all the reported cases of hemobilia are secondary to iatrogenic cystic artery or hepatic artery pseudoaneurysms as a consequence of an opening of cystic or RHA pseudoaneurysm within the biliary tree[14]. The exact mechanism of hepatic pseudoaneurysm formation is yet unclear: The most accredited hypotheses concern the mechanical or thermal damage during surgical dissection. Transarterial embolization represents the best therapeutic solution for hepatic artery aneurysm with a high success rate, and surgical repair should be performed in cases where the embolization attempt has failed. In many patients, an open approach in an emergency setting is performed[14], even if a laparoscopic approach is used in some cases[15].

HEPATIC VEINS, PORTAL VEIN AND MAJOR RETROPERITONEAL VESSEL INJURIES

Venous bleeding is less common than arterial bleeding. Bleeding from hepatic vein injury commonly comes from the liver bed during detachment of the gallbladder. Between 10% and 15% of patients may present a large branch of the middle hepatic vein adherent to the liver bed, leading to an increased risk of venous injury during cholecystectomy. In 1999, Misawa et al[16] first proposed an ultrasonographic assessment of the risk of injury to branches of the middle hepatic vein during laparoscopic cholecystectomy by analyzing the middle hepatic vein distance from the gallbladder bed before laparoscopy. Currently, there is controversy about the risk of injury to the branch of the middle hepatic vein during LC[17]. In a previous study, Zhang et al[18] analyzed the anatomical relationship between the gallbladder bed and the branches of the middle hepatic vein in 143 healthy volunteers by color Doppler ultrasound and found that, in most subjects, the branch of the middle hepatic vein and the gallbladder bed were well separated. Only patients with large branches of the middle hepatic vein running very close to the gallbladder bed are at risk of bleeding during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. The diameter of the distal branch of the middle hepatic vein close to the gallbladder bed is reported to vary from 0.9 mm to 3.2 mm and in some cases over 5 mm[17,19,20]. Moreover, according to Ball et al [19], the presence of chronic cholecystitis and fibrous tissue may increase the risk of significant bleeding from the liver bed. Concerning the treatment of venous injuries, bleeding from the middle hepatic vein branch during the operation can only be stopped by direct hemostatic stitches; it can be performed by laparoscopy in experienced hands or can often require conversion to open surgery^[21]. In general, we strongly recommend careful dissection during the final steps of laparoscopic cholecystectomy, especially for training surgeons, when dissection becomes easier, and the surgeon may relax.

Portal vein injuries are frequently associated with biliary and RHA injuries. Compared with arterial injury after cholecystectomy, there are very few reports of isolated portal vein injury without associated biliary lesions[22]. Furthermore, as a result of its rarity, the pathogenesis of this type of injury remains unclear. The surgical repair of portal vein lesions is very difficult, often complicated by massive hemorrhage, and seldom successfully managed. When the portal vein is injured during surgery, it should be reconstructed immediately by an experienced hepato-biliary surgeon if the patient is hemodynamically stable. However, the most important complication after surgical repair of a portal vein injury is represented by acute portal thrombosis, often leading to liver infarction. For this reason, anticoagulation therapy should be started as soon as possible to avoid the progression of acute portal vein thrombosis. Liver transplantation is a salvage therapy that should only be considered in end-stage liver disease[22].

Injuries of major retroperitoneal vascular structures are uncommon but potentially life-threatening complications of laparoscopy[23-25]. Inferior vena cava and aorta injuries are frequently associated with trocar or Veress needle insertion during laparoscopic surgery. Early diagnosis and immediate conversion are mandatory for the proper management of these important injuries to minimize morbidity and mortality. Some authors have also described occasional injuries to the right renal artery with the formation of a pseudoaneurysm and consequent renal-vena cava fistula[26,27]. This often represents a late complication following laparoscopic cholecystectomy.

Another important medical complication associated with vena cava injury is venous air embolism [28]; the cardiovascular, pulmonary, and central nervous systems may all be affected, with severity ranging from no symptoms to immediate cardiovascular collapse.

Raishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

CLASSIFICATION OF VASCULAR INJURIES

Several attempts have been made to uniformly classify vascular lesions, so they are always underreported, as summarized in Table 2. In early 2000, Schäfer *et al*[29] proposed a working classification from the Swiss Association of Laparoscopic and Thoracoscopic Surgery (SALTS) by defining vascular injuries during laparoscopy into intraoperative and postoperative bleeding complications. In 2007, Bektas *et al* [30] proposed the Hannover classification by underlining the importance of including additional vascular injury and the location of the biliary lesion at or above the bifurcation of the hepatic duct, as they were found to have a major impact on the extent of surgical intervention for iatrogenic bile duct injury. The Neuhaus and Strasberg-Bismuth classifications for biliary injuries do not consider vascular involvement.

In 2010, Kaushik[31] suggested a new classification system, wherein vascular injuries were divided into major and minor injuries based on the need for conversion, additional surgical procedures, or blood transfusions.

The European Association for Endoscopic Surgery (EAES) recently proposed a new classification named ATOM, including the anatomy of damage and vascular injury (A), timing of detection (To), and mechanism of damage (M)[32].

VASCULO-BILIARY INJURY

Vascular injury, in particular to the RHA, is found in approximately 12% to 61% of iatrogenic bile duct lesions, leading to high morbidity and mortality associated with altered quality of life[33-35]. It is very important to know preoperatively if a vascular lesion occurs along with a biliary lesion because the poor vascularization of the common bile duct may result in anastomotic strictures after surgical biliary tract repair, recurrent cholangitis and secondary biliary cirrhosis[33]. For these reasons, appropriate knowledge of the vascular lesion represents an important condition when the patient is referred to a specialized hepato-biliary center. In most cases, the surgical repair of biliary and vascular injuries is performed simultaneously. There are no guidelines for the timing of repair, whereas few studies have compared early vs late repair of bile duct injury [34,36,37]. In a multicenter study of the European-African Hepato Pancrea to Biliary Association (E-AHPBA), the timing of biliary reconstruction after bile duct injury with hepaticojejunostomy was not correlated with the occurrence of severe postoperative complications, re-intervention or liver-related mortality [34]. In another multicenter study, the most favorable outcomes were more frequently observed in the immediate (within the first 72 h) and (after 6 wk) reconstruction of biliary injury, and type E4 injury was found to be an independent factor of worse outcome[36]. In general, if a major bile duct transection occurs (types E1-E2 according to the Strasberg classification), the integrity of the hepatic artery, especially the RHA, should always be examined meticulously to plan early vascular reconstruction if technically possible. If revascularization is not technically feasible, biliary reconstruction close to the hilar plate is mandatory in order to minimize the possibility of anastomotic complications [38]. If the vascular lesion is discovered late, in a minority of cases, hepatectomy is needed as a salvage strategy [39,40].

DIAGNOSIS AND SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

The diagnosis of intra-operative bleeding during dissection may be obvious, but it should be correctly identified, and surgeons must choose the best therapeutic option to quickly repair the vascular lesion, depending on their own experience and medical center resources. At present, there is no clear consensus on the most suitable type or time to perform the repair, especially when vascular injury occurs in centers not specialized in complex hepato-biliary surgery; thus, the management of these complications is still a much debated topic[33]. In a recent multicenter retrospective study, the authors analyzed the management of vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy, focusing on referral to specialized centers, time to perform the repair, and different treatment option outcomes[33]. In a cohort of 104 patients with vascular injuries, 29 patients underwent vascular repair (27.9%), 13 (12.5%) liver resection, and 1 liver transplant as a first treatment. The majority of vascular and biliary injuries occurred in non-specialized centers, and more than half were immediately transferred. The authors concluded that the management of complex vascular and biliary lesions should be mandatory in specialized centers and that late vascular repair is not necessarily associated with worse outcomes[33]. Another interesting study by Li *et al*[38] analyzed the effects of vascular reconstruction and hepatic rearterialization when technically possible. In this study, successful early arterial reconstruction with or without a vascular graft (within 4 d) allowed recovery from hepatic ischemia, without any evidence of hepatic atrophy or necrosis during follow-up.

Table 2 Classifications of vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy					
Ref.	Definition of vascular injury				
Schäfer <i>et al</i> [<mark>29</mark>], 2000	Major injury: Injury to any of the following vessels: Aorta, vena cava, portal vein, hepatic artery and splenic artery, iliac vessels, mesenteric, omental and renal vessels; the vascular injury is classified in: Intra-operative; local haemorrhage within the abdominal cavity, retroperitoneum or abdominal wall; post-operative: Bleeding occurring within 24 h after surgery				
Bektas <i>et al</i> [<mark>30]</mark> , 2007	Vascular involvement in different biliary injuries grades (types C and D): Type C tangential injury of the common bile duct: with or without vascular lesion; Type D complete transection of the common bile duct: with or without vascular lesion				
Kaushik[<mark>31</mark>], 2010	Major injury: Any bleeding involving cystic artery, right hepatic artery, portal vein, superior mesenteric vein, suprahepatic veins, inferior vena cava, aorta that requires conversion to open surgery to control/repair; additional surgical procedures; need for blood transfusions				
Fingerhut <i>et al</i> [32], 2013	Vasculo-biliary involvement by reporting the type of injured vessel				
Our study	Major vascular injury: Any bleeding involving right hepatic artery, portal vein, suprahepatic veins, inferior vena cava that always requires conversion to open surgery for control/repair; need for blood transfusions; associated biliary injury; need for transfer to tertiary center				

CONCLUSION

Vascular injuries represent a life-threatening complication, and they should be carefully evaluated along with biliary lesions during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. The recognition of these lesions must occur as early as possible, and the surgeon must choose the best therapeutic option for the patient according to available medical resources. Currently, the management of referrals to specialized hepato-biliary centers for multidisciplinary approaches is mandatory.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Pesce A designed the research; Pesce A and Fabbri N researched and wrote the manuscript; Feo C supervised the paper; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflicts of interest to report.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Antonio Pesce 0000-0002-7560-551X; Nicolò Fabbri 0000-0001-7039-3717; Carlo Vittorio Feo 0000-0003-0699-5689.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- Pesce A, Palmucci S, La Greca G, Puleo S. Iatrogenic bile duct injury: impact and management challenges. Clin Exp 1 Gastroenterol 2019; 12: 121-128 [PMID: 30881079 DOI: 10.2147/CEG.S169492]
- Pesce A, Diana M. Critical View of Safety During Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: From the Surgeon's Eye to Fluorescent 2 Vision. Surg Innov 2018; 25: 197-198 [PMID: 29557253 DOI: 10.1177/1553350618763200]
- 3 Tzovaras G, Dervenis C. Vascular injuries in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: an underestimated problem. Dig Surg 2006; 23: 370-374 [PMID: 17164583 DOI: 10.1159/000097951]
- 4 Marano L, Bartoli A, Polom K, Bellochi R, Spaziani A, Castagnoli G. The unwanted third wheel in the Calot's triangle: Incidence and surgical significance of caterpillar hump of right hepatic artery with a systematic review of the literature. J Minim Access Surg 2019; 15: 185-191 [PMID: 29737324 DOI: 10.4103/jmas.JMAS_75_18]
- 5 Pesce A, Fabbri N, Labriola R, Barbara SJ, Feo C. Moynihan's hump of the right hepatic artery: the surgeon's eye cannot recognize what mind doesn't know. ANZ J Surg 2022 [PMID: 36239703 DOI: 10.1111/ans.18120]
- 6 Singh K, Singh R, Kaur M. Clinical reappraisal of vasculobiliary anatomy relevant to laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Minim Access Surg 2017; 13: 273-279 [PMID: 28872096 DOI: 10.4103/jmas.JMAS_268_16]



- 7 Scott-Conner CE, Hall TJ. Variant arterial anatomy in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Am J Surg 1992; 163: 590-592 [PMID: 1534463 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(92)90563-7]
- 8 Smadja C, Blumgart LH. The biliary tract and the anatomy of biliary exposure. In: Blumgart LH. Surgery of the liver and biliary tract. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, 1988 [DOI: 10.1016/b978-1-4160-3256-4.50009-0]
- Noguera MA, Romero CA, Martinez AG, Diaz SRH, Rotger M, Espeche F. Findings and proposal for systematization of surgically important variations of the cystic artery based on an in vivo study of 2000 outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomies. Int J Morphol 2020; 38: 30-34 [DOI: 10.4067/s0717-95022020000100030]
- 10 Bergamaschi R, Ignjatovic D. More than two structures in Calot's triangle. A postmortem study. Surg Endosc 2000; 14: 354-357 [PMID: 10790554 DOI: 10.1007/s004640000154]
- Fujioka S, Fuke A, Funamizu N, Nakayoshi T, Okamoto T, Yanaga K. Laparoscopic repair for intraoperative injury of the 11 right hepatic artery during cholecystectomy. Asian J Endosc Surg 2015; 8: 75-77 [PMID: 25598060 DOI: 10.1111/ases.12151
- Halasz NA. Cholecystectomy and hepatic artery injuries. Arch Surg 1991; 126: 137-138 [PMID: 1992990 DOI: 12 10.1001/archsurg.1991.01410260021002]
- Strasberg SM, Gouma DJ. 'Extreme' vasculobiliary injuries: association with fundus-down cholecystectomy in severely 13 inflamed gallbladders. HPB (Oxford) 2012; 14: 1-8 [PMID: 22151444 DOI: 10.1111/j.1477-2574.2011.00393.x]
- 14 Alrajraji M, Nawawi A, Jamjoom R, Qari Y, Aljiffry M. Delayed hemobilia due to hepatic artery pseudo-aneurysm: a pitfall of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. BMC Surg 2016; 16: 59 [PMID: 27549188 DOI: 10.1186/s12893-016-0175-9]
- Panda N, Narasimhan M, Gunaraj A, Ardhanari R. Laparoscopic management of post-cholecystectomy sectoral artery 15 pseudoaneurysm. J Minim Access Surg 2014; 10: 37-39 [PMID: 24501508 DOI: 10.4103/0972-9941.124471]
- 16 Misawa T, Koike M, Suzuki K, Unemura Y, Murai R, Yoshida K, Kobayashi S, Yamazaki Y. Ultrasonographic assessment of the risk of injury to branches of the middle hepatic vein during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Am J Surg 1999; 178: 418-421 [PMID: 10612541 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9610(99)00202-0]
- 17 Shen BY, Li HW, Chen M, Zheng MH, Zang L, Jiang SM, Li JW, Jiang Y. Color Doppler ultrasonographic assessment of the risk of injury to major branch of the middle hepatic vein during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2003; 2: 126-130 [PMID: 14607664]
- 18 **Zhang WZ**, Shen J, Xie JX, Zhu H. Color Doppler ultrasonographic examination on the relationship between the gallbladder bed and major branch of the middle hepatic vein. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2005; 4: 299-301 [PMID: 15908334
- Ball CG, MacLean AR, Kirkpatrick AW, Bathe OF, Sutherland F, Debru E, Dixon E. Hepatic vein injury during 19 laparoscopic cholecystectomy: the unappreciated proximity of the middle hepatic vein to the gallbladder bed. J Gastrointest Surg 2006; 10: 1151-1155 [PMID: 16966035 DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2006.04.012]
- 20 Levi Sandri GB, Eugeni E, Bufo A, Dominici E. Unexpected bleeding during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a hepatic vein injury. Surg Radiol Anat 2017; 39: 1061-1062 [PMID: 28314938 DOI: 10.1007/s00276-017-1845-8]
- 21 Santivañez JJ, Velásquez ME, Cadena M, Vergara A. Management of Middle Hepatic Vein Injury during Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: A Case Report. Surg J (N Y) 2020; 6: e47-e48 [PMID: 32158952 DOI: 10.1055/s-0040-1701695]
- Wang Z, Yu L, Wang W, Xia J, Li D, Lu Y, Wang B. Therapeutic strategies of iatrogenic portal vein injury after 22 cholecystectomy. J Surg Res 2013; 185: 934-939 [PMID: 23859133 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.06.032]
- 23 Guloglu R, Dilege S, Aksoy M, Alimoglu O, Yavuz N, Mihmanli M, Gulmen M. Major retroperitoneal vascular injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy and appendectomy. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2004; 14: 73-76 [PMID: 15107214 DOI: 10.1089/109264204322973826]
- Thompson JE Jr, Bock R, Lowe DK, Moody WE 3rd. Vena cava injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg 24 Laparosc Endosc 1996; 6: 221-223 [PMID: 8743368]
- 25 Alcázar MT, Ornaque I, Delgado MA, Martí C, Gil A, Montero A. [Abdominal aortic injury as a complication of laparoscopic cholecystectomy]. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim 2004; 51: 452-455 [PMID: 15586539]
- Lemmo G, Marrocco-Trischitta MM, Manni R, Snider F. Renal artery pseudoaneurysm and arteriovenous fistula to the 26 inferior vena cava: a late complication following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Am Surg 2002; 68: 143-145 [PMID: 11842959
- 27 Di Stasi C, Pedicelli A, Manfredi R, Sallustio G. Renocaval arteriovenous fistula as a complication of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2001; 176: 261-262 [PMID: 11133586 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.176.1.1760261]
- Abut YC, Eryilmaz R, Okan I, Erkalp K. Venous air embolism during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Minim Invasive Ther 28 Allied Technol 2009; 18: 366-368 [PMID: 19929300 DOI: 10.3109/13645700903384443]
- 29 Schäfer M, Lauper M, Krähenbühl L. A nation's experience of bleeding complications during laparoscopy. Am J Surg 2000; 180: 73-77 [PMID: 11036146 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9610(00)00416-5]
- 30 Bektas H, Schrem H, Winny M, Klempnauer J. Surgical treatment and outcome of iatrogenic bile duct lesions after cholecystectomy and the impact of different clinical classification systems. Br J Surg 2007; 94: 1119-1127 [PMID: 17497652 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.5752]
- 31 Kaushik R. Bleeding complications in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: Incidence, mechanisms, prevention and management. J Minim Access Surg 2010; 6: 59-65 [PMID: 20877476 DOI: 10.4103/0972-9941.68579]
- 32 Fingerhut A, Dziri C, Garden OJ, Gouma D, Millat B, Neugebauer E, Paganini A, Targarona E. ATOM, the all-inclusive, nominal EAES classification of bile duct injuries during cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc 2013; 27: 4608-4619 [PMID: 23892759 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3081-6]
- Lopez-Lopez V, Kuemmerli C, Cutillas J, Maupoey J, López-Andujar R, Ramos E, Mils K, Valdivieso A, Valero AP, 33 Martinez PA, Paterna S, Serrablo A, Reese T, Oldhafer K, Brusadin R, Conesa AL, Valladares LD, Loinaz C, Garcés-Albir M, Sabater L, Mocchegiani F, Vivarelli M, Pérez SA, Flores B, Lucena JL, Sánchez-Cabús S, Calero A, Minguillon A, Ramia JM, Alcazar C, Aguilo J, Ruiperez-Valiente JA, Grochola LF, Clavien PA, Petrowsky H, Robles-Campos R. Vascular injury during cholecystectomy: A multicenter critical analysis behind the drama. Surgery 2022; 172: 1067-1075 [PMID: 35965144 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2022.06.020]



- 34 A European-African HepatoPancreatoBiliary Association (E-AHPBA) Research Collaborative Study management group; Other members of the European-African HepatoPancreatoBiliary Association Research Collaborative. Post cholecystectomy bile duct injury: early, intermediate or late repair with hepaticojejunostomy - an E-AHPBA multi-center study. HPB (Oxford) 2019; 21: 1641-1647 [PMID: 31151812 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2019.04.003]
- 35 Strasberg SM, Helton WS. An analytical review of vasculobiliary injury in laparoscopic and open cholecystectomy. HPB (Oxford) 2011; 13: 1-14 [PMID: 21159098 DOI: 10.1111/j.1477-2574.2010.00225.x]
- El Nakeeb A, Sultan A, Ezzat H, Attia M, Abd ElWahab M, Kayed T, Hassanen A, AlMalki A, Alqarni A, Mohammed 36 MM. Impact of referral pattern and timing of repair on surgical outcome after reconstruction of post-cholecystectomy bile duct injury: A multicenter study. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2021; 20: 53-60 [PMID: 33268245 DOI: 10.1016/j.hbpd.2020.10.001]
- 37 Conde Monroy D, Torres Gómez P, Rey Chaves CE, Recamán A, Pardo M, Sabogal JC. Early versus delayed reconstruction for bile duct injury a multicenter retrospective analysis of a hepatopancreaticobiliary group. Sci Rep 2022; **12**: 11609 [PMID: 35804006 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-15978-x]
- 38 Li J, Frilling A, Nadalin S, Paul A, Malago M, Broelsch CE. Management of concomitant hepatic artery injury in patients with iatrogenic major bile duct injury after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Br J Surg 2008; 95: 460-465 [PMID: 18161898 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.6022]
- Furtado R, Yoshino O, Muralidharan V, Perini MV, Wigmore SJ. Hepatectomy after bile duct injury: a systematic review. 39 HPB (Oxford) 2022; 24: 161-168 [PMID: 34702627 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2021.09.012]
- 40 Moldovan C, Cochior D, Gorecki G, Rusu E, Ungureanu FD. Clinical and surgical algorithm for managing iatrogenic bile duct injuries during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A multicenter study. Exp Ther Med 2021; 22: 1385 [PMID: 34650633 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2021.10821]



S W U

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 346-361

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346

Basic Study

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Differential expression and significance of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine modification in hepatitis B virus carriers and patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer

Yue-Cui Li, Wei-Yue Hu, Cheng-Hang Li, Li-Li Zhang, Xiang-Wei Xu, Jin Li, Hong-Xia Luo

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Heij LR, Germany; Na-Bangchang K, Thailand

Received: December 12, 2022 Peer-review started: December 12, 2022 First decision: January 5, 2023

Revised: January 17, 2023 Accepted: February 16, 2023 Article in press: February 16, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Yue-Cui Li, Wei-Yue Hu, Cheng-Hang Li, Li-Li Zhang, Xiang-Wei Xu, Jin Li, Hong-Xia Luo, Department of Infectious Diseases, The First People's Hospital of Yongkang, Jinhua 321300, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Yue-Cui Li, MBChB, Chief Physician, Department of Infectious Diseases, The First People's Hospital of Yongkang, No. 599 Jinshan West Road, Yongkang, Jinhua 321300, Zhejiang Province, China. liyuecui02@yeah.net

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The relationship between hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive carrier status and liver cancer has been extensively studied. However, the epigenetic changes that occur during progression from HBsAg-positive carrier status or cirrhosis to liver cancer are unknown. The epigenetic modification of DNA hydroxymethylation is critical in tumor development. Further, 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) is an important base for DNA demethylation and epigenetic regulation. It is also involved in the assembly of chromosomes and the regulation of gene expression. However, the mechanism of action of 5hmC in HBsAgpositive carriers or patients with cirrhosis who develop liver cancer has not been fully elucidated.

AIM

To investigate the possible epigenetic mechanism of HBsAg-positive carriers and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) progression from cirrhosis.

METHODS

Forty HBsAg-positive carriers, forty patients with liver cirrhosis, and forty patients with liver cancer admitted to the First People's Hospital of Yongkang between March 2020 and November 2021 were selected as participants. Free DNA was extracted using a cf-DNA kit. cfDNA was extracted by 5hmC DNA sequencing for principal component analysis, the expression profiles of the three groups of samples were detected, and the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) modified by hydroxymethylation were screened. Bioinformatic analysis was used to enrich DEGs, such as in biological pathways.

RESULTS



A total of 16455 hydroxymethylated genes were identified. Sequencing results showed that 32 genes had significant 5hmC modification differences between HBsAg carriers and liver cancer patients, of which 30 were upregulated and 2 downregulated in patients with HCC compared with HBsAg-positive carriers. Significant 5hmC modification differences between liver cirrhosis and liver cancer patients were identified in 20 genes, of which 17 were upregulated and 3 were downregulated in patients with HCC compared with those with cirrhosis. These genes may have potential loci that are undiscovered or unelucidated, which contribute to the development and progression of liver cancer. Analysis of gene ontology enrichment and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes showed that the major signaling pathways involved in the differential genes were biliary secretion and insulin secretion. The analysis of protein interactions showed that the important genes in the protein-protein interaction network were phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase and solute carrier family 2.

CONCLUSION

The occurrence and development of liver cancer involves multiple genes and pathways, which may be potential targets for preventing hepatitis B carriers from developing liver cancer.

Key Words: Hepatitis B surface antigen; 5-hydroxymethylcytosine; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Liver cancer; DNA sequencing; Differentially expressed genes

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Major signaling pathways involved in differentially expressed genes are biliary secretion and insulin secretion. Abnormal secretion of bile and insulin in tumor cells may promote or symbolize the occurrence and development of liver cancer. SLC2A2 and PCK1 are the central nodes of the differential genes, which may be most closely related to the occurrence of liver cancer. FABP1, APOC3, SI, KRT20, SLC5A1, SLC10A2, RBP2, and AKR1B10 may be key genes in the protein regulatory network, and these genes may play regulatory roles after modification by 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC). Therefore, we suggest that the difference in 5hmC modification levels is related to the occurrence and progression of liver cancer.

Citation: Li YC, Hu WY, Li CH, Zhang LL, Xu XW, Li J, Luo HX. Differential expression and significance of 5hydroxymethylcytosine modification in hepatitis B virus carriers and patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 346-361

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/346.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346

INTRODUCTION

Primary liver cancer, mainly hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), is a solid tumor generated from the malignant transformation of hepatocytes or intrahepatic bile duct cells and is one of the most common malignancies in China[1]. Additionally, the number of hepatitis B virus (HBV) carriers in China is high. If patients develop an infection, chronic HBV infection, liver cirrhosis, and even HCC may occur. The relationship between hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive carriers and liver cancer has been reported in many studies[2]. There is consensus that liver cirrhosis can progress to liver cancer. Although great progress has been made in the prevention and treatment of hepatitis B in China, including a reduction in the transmission rate of HBV, effective treatments for HBV carriers are still lacking. Drugs such as nucleotide analogs, including entecavir, cannot rapidly reduce HBV titers in the short term. Additionally, administration of these drugs to HBV carriers remains controversial in clinical practice[3]. At present, the mechanisms underlying the transformation from the HBsAg-positive state or liver cirrhosis to liver cancer is not entirely clear, especially the potential mechanism of epigenetic changes in the occurrence and progression of these diseases. Therefore, the differences in epigenetic modifications between the HBsAg-positive state, liver cirrhosis, and liver cancer must be explored.

DNA hydroxymethylation is a process in which 5-methylcytosine is oxidized to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) by ten-eleven translocation enzymes during DNA methylation[4]. Further, 5hmC is an important base in DNA demethylation as well as in epigenetic regulation. Some studies suggest that 5hmC is the sixth genome base and is involved in the assembly of chromosomes and regulation of gene expression[5]. Studies have shown that the level of hydroxymethylation in tumors and other diseases is significantly different from that in the normal state, and the difference gradually increases with the



progression of diseases, indicating that the epigenetic modification of hydroxymethylation is essential in the development of tumors[6]. However, the mechanism of 5hmC in HBsAg-positive carriers or patients with cirrhosis that develops into liver cancer has not yet been fully elucidated. 5hmC sequencing is a new technology that constructs free nucleic acid fragments containing 5hmC using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technology and detects the 5hmC sequence using second-generation DNA sequencing technology. Because the number of 5hmC modifications is far less than the number of DNA methylations, 5hmC sequencing has a higher cost performance, efficiency, accuracy, and economy, as well as extensive clinical application value. In this study, we analyzed differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer using 5hmC sequencing technology and further annotated the function of DEGs to explore the similarities and differences in gene hydroxymethylation between HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer and the regulatory role of signaling pathways.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Forty HBsAg-positive carriers, forty patients with liver cirrhosis, and forty patients with liver cancer admitted to the First People's Hospital of Yongkang between March 2020 and November 2021 were selected as participants. This study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the hospital. The diagnostic criteria for liver cirrhosis were based on the International Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Liver Cirrhosis updated in 2021[7]. There were no differences in baseline data, such as sex and age, between the three groups of patients. Inclusion criteria for primary liver cancer were as follows [8]: Body mass index of 20–30 kg/m² in men and 19–34 kg/m² in women; complete results of general biochemical indexes such as liver function; imaging data such as tumor computed tomography/ magnetic resonance imaging and serological indexes; a history of hepatitis B; no history of diabetes or other systemic diseases; no history of other infectious diseases; and no pregnancy or lactation.

Detection with 5hmC sequencing

cfDNA extraction: Blood samples from HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer were collected at the time of diagnosis and sent to Zhongke Jinzhen Co., Ltd. for DNA extraction, pyrolysis of specimen precipitate after centrifugation, and extraction of cfDNA from plasma using the Quick-cfDNA Serum & Plasma Kit (Zymo).

DNA quality test and results: Qubit accurately quantified the DNA concentration, and Q-sep analyzed the size, distribution, and relative quantification of DNA fragments. After the sample was quantified, the DNA of the sample was first repaired, a tail was added to the 3' end, and the sequencing joint was connected. Biotins were connected by a transglycosylation reaction and click chemistry. The DNA fragment containing 5hmC was captured using streptavidin beads, and PCR amplification was performed to complete the entire library construction. After the library quality inspection, different libraries were sequenced using Nova6000 according to the effective concentration and target data volume. After obtaining the original sequence (sequenced reads), the original gene fragments were returned to the correct human reference genome position to calculate the gene expression of each sample.

Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) is an unsupervised multivariate statistical analysis method that can generally reflect the overall differences between samples and the variation between samples within the group. It is commonly used to evaluate sample differences between groups and consistency within groups. PCA was used for dimensionality reduction of all 5hmC gene sequencing results. After data visualization, outlier samples or sample clusters with high similarity were identified.

Screening of DEGs modified by 5hmC

Through the analysis of the significant difference in the 5hmC modification expression matrix of all samples, functional gene modification differences among HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer were found. In this study, the differences in 5hmC expression were analyzed using normalization, discrete estimation, and significance tests. Normalization and discrete estimation mainly remove the influence of sample sequencing depth differences and reduce the false-positive rate through homogenization. DEGs were further detected using DEseq2 and PossionDis algorithms. DEGs were screened according to the log2FoldChange \geq 0.26, gene 5hmC modified expression value, and adjusted P value ≤ 0.05 . The sample classification of this analysis included three groups: HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer, with 40 patients in each group. In the three types of samples, the differences between the liver cirrhosis group and liver cancer group, HBsAg-positive carrier group, and liver cancer patient group were analyzed. Lists of all differential genes are in the original data.



Functional enrichment analysis

Based on the results of gene ontology (GO) and gene pathway annotation, the DEGs were enriched and classified according to the aforementioned functions and pathways. GO enrichment analysis was used for functional classification, and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) enrichment analysis was used for pathway classification. GO enrichment analysis was performed from three aspects: cellular component (CC), biological process (BP), and molecular function (MF). KEGG is a database used for analyzing gene functions, linking multiple genes with specific pathways and functions, and classifying genes according to the pathways involved. STRING (https://string-db.org/) is currently the largest protein interaction database. DEGs were imported into the STRING database, and the homology, literature, and co-expression relationship of known proteins in the database were used to determine the interaction between the imported encoded proteins to construct a protein-protein interaction (PPI) network analysis.

Statistical analysis

Pearson correlation analysis was performed between each pair of samples using the Cor function in Rsoftware; P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The expression of 5hmC modified genes obeyed a Poisson distribution after standardization. The P value was calculated using the Wald test and corrected using multiple hypothesis tests. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Analysis of 5hmC sequencing results

The Nova6000 platform was used to measure samples from the three groups of patients. Each group contained 40 patients, and 16455 genes were detected. The percentages of principal components (PC) 1 and 2 in the PCA plot of all genes in HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer were 24.933% and 12.06% (Figure 1A), respectively. The percentages of PC1 and PC2 in the PCA plot of differential genes were 46.351% and 14.927% (Figure 1B), respectively, suggesting that differential genes can distinguish HBsAg-positive carriers from patients with liver cancer.

Similarly, when detecting the same number of genes, the percentages of PC1 and PC2 in the PCA plot of all genes in patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer were 21.998% and 11.076% (Figure 1C), respectively, and the percentages of PC1 and PC2 in the PCA plot of differential genes were 59.621% and 12.27% (Figure 1D), respectively, suggesting that differential genes have the ability to distinguish between liver cirrhosis and liver cancer.

Analysis of DEG expression level

Differences between patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer and differences between HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer were analyzed. According to the levels of 5hmC modified genes in each sample, DEGs between HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cirrhosis or liver cancer were screened. The results showed 32 DEGs between HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer, of which 30 were upregulated and 2 genes were downregulated by 5hmC modification. The distribution of DEGs is shown by a volcanic and thermal map in Figure 2A and C. All DEGs upregulated and downregulated in HBsAg-positive carriers and liver cancer groups are shown in Table 1. There were 20 DEGs between patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer, of which 17 were upregulated and 3 genes were downregulated by 5hmC modification. The distribution of the DEGs is shown by a volcanic and thermal map (Figure 2B and D). All DEGs that were upregulated and downregulated in patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer are shown in Table 2.

GO and KEGG enrichment analysis of DEGs in HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer

According to the results of DEG detection, GO enrichment analysis was used for the functional annotation of the 5hmC sequences. After the difference analysis between HBsAg carrier and liver cancer groups, the top 10 enriched GO terms related to BP, CC, and MF were used as the main functions of differential hydroxymethylation genes between HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer. The main pathways involved are shown in Figure 3A. The numbers of genes involved in the GO BP of TOP3 were 4, 4, and 4, respectively, which were mainly related to digestion, homophilic cell adhesion via plasma membrane adhesion membrane, and cellular lipid catabolic processes. The numbers of genes included in the MF of TOP3 were 3, 2, and 2, respectively, which were related to the activities of secondary active transmembrane transporter activity, alcohol binding, and solute:cation symporter activity. The numbers of genes in TOP3 cell components were 5, 4, and 2, respectively, which were mainly related to the apical part of the cell, apical plasma membrane, and cell cortex region. These three kinds of gene function together suggest that the main differences between HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer may be digestive function and cell information transmission.

From the perspective of pathway enrichment, 92 pathways were found to be closely related to KEGG enrichment in HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer. The main pathways are shown in



Table 1 Differential genes between hepatitis B surface antigen-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer after 5hydroxymethylcytosine sequencing

Symbol	Ensembl	log2FoldChange	padj
SI	ENSG0000090402	0.849003917	0.000172596
FAM83B	ENSG00000168143	0.532487323	0.00425853
PCK1	ENSG00000124253	0.519299173	0.006848676
KCNN2	ENSG0000080709	-0.510730422	0.011078186
FAT1	ENSG0000083857	0.47499449	0.02542581
FGF19	ENSG00000162344	0.428605733	0.036854977
FABP1	ENSG00000163586	0.427372957	0.025268146
SLC10A2	ENSG00000125255	0.417559665	0.005504835
ISX	ENSG00000175329	0.391889896	0.005936182
АРОС3	ENSG00000110245	0.374978715	0.017711634
NOVA1	ENSG00000139910	0.367147827	0.006848676
KRT20	ENSG00000171431	0.361001798	0.049694505
DUSP1	ENSG00000120129	0.341097702	0.001523335
RBP2	ENSG00000114113	0.330491105	0.049694505
PCLO	ENSG00000186472	0.307272826	0.000520372
BRINP3	ENSG00000162670	0.297534011	0.001107995
SLC2A2	ENSG00000163581	0.297032232	0.006630228
AKR1B10	ENSG00000198074	0.296134756	0.012660193
SEMA3A	ENSG00000075213	0.295498456	7.92E-05
SLC5A1	ENSG00000100170	0.295343232	0.027331533
ROBO1	ENSG00000169855	0.294408057	0.026805139
ROPN1B	ENSG00000114547	-0.292505301	0.002291301
PRR16	ENSG00000184838	0.291799543	0.049694505
TNFSF15	ENSG00000181634	0.286998557	0.01533013
CDH17	ENSG00000079112	0.284940571	0.001204498
MUC17	ENSG00000169876	0.284637524	0.022168549
PCDH7	ENSG00000169851	0.284173648	0.00131498
FOS	ENSG00000170345	0.28075648	0.008754834
GABRA2	ENSG00000151834	0.27973066	0.049694505
NRCAM	ENSG00000091129	0.270536808	0.047702973
DPP10	ENSG00000175497	0.268657512	0.005504835

Figure 3B. Among them, the number of pathways related to digestive secretion, such as carbohydrate digestion and absorption, insulin and bile secretion, galactose metabolism, and the glucagon signaling pathway, were most significant. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways were also significantly enriched in differentially hydroxy-methylated genes. These results indicate that the main difference between HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer lies in their digestive function. Soluble carrier family 2 member 2 (*SLC2A2*) and Fos proto-oncogene, AP-1 transcription factor subunit (*FOS*) were involved in the most enriched pathways. *SLC2A2* is mainly enriched in insulin and bile secretion, the prolactin signaling pathway, and central carbon metabolism in cancer. *FOS* is mainly enriched in the prolactin, MAPK, and B-cell receptor signaling pathways and the PD-L1/PD-1 pathway, suggesting that *SLC2A2* is related to liver-digestive function.

Bishidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Differential genes between patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer after 5-hydroxymethylcytosine sequencing				
Symbol	Ensembl	log2FoldChange	padj	
MUC8	NA	-0.61023	0.048721	
PROX1	ENSG00000117707	0.510971	0.047662	
ТВХ3	ENSG00000135111	0.380857	0.04644	
DSC2	ENSG00000134755	0.366222	0.021397	
PSME1	ENSG00000092010	0.340336	0.036054	
C2orf72	ENSG00000204128	0.339959	0.015473	
PTP4A1	ENSG00000112245	0.33768	0.043273	
KCTD12	E0NSG00000178695	0.325745	0.016818	
FMO2	ENSG00000094963	0.320229	0.040782	
LGALS9C	ENSG00000171916	-0.29776	0.040782	
СҮРЗА5	ENSG00000106258	0.292488	0.048557	
SNAPC5	ENSG00000174446	0.290892	0.020989	
TMEM176A	ENSG0000002933	0.285556	0.04535	
SMPDL3A	ENSG00000172594	0.283335	0.036054	
TNFSF10	ENSG00000121858	0.281624	0.009552	
CYP27A1	ENSG00000135929	0.275649	0.038131	
FAM20A	ENSG00000108950	0.275255	0.040338	
CCDC67	NA	0.268828	0.036054	
IL37	ENSG00000125571	-0.26789	0.021397	
RBM47	ENSG00000163694	0.267243	0.038605	

GO and KEGG enrichment analysis of DEGs in the liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups

After the difference analysis between the liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups, the main pathways involved in the GO enrichment analysis were determined, as shown in Figure 4A. Among them, the numbers of genes involved in the GO BP of TOP3 were 2, 2, and 2, respectively, which were mainly related to the bile acid biosynthetic process, ectodermal placode development, and ventricular cardiac muscle tissue development. The numbers of genes included in the MF of TOP3 were 3, 3 and 3, respectively, which were related to monooxygenase activity, oxidoreductase activity, acting on paired donors, and cofactor binding. The numbers of genes contained in the TOP3 cell components were 1, 1, and 1, respectively, which were mainly related to the hydrolysis of short peptides, ubiquitination and protein synthesis. These three types of gene functions jointly suggest that the main differential functions between liver cirrhosis and liver cancer may be bile acid metabolism and oxidoreductase activity.

The KEGG enrichment results of the liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups differed from those of the above enrichment pathways. The results showed that 22 pathways were closely related; the main pathways involved are shown in Figure 4B. Among them, pathways related to the metabolism of various biological components were enriched, but specific pathways were different, such as primary bile acid biosynthesis, cholesterol metabolism, retinol metabolism, and drug metabolism (cytochrome P450), as well as cell death-related signaling pathways such as cytotoxicity, apoptosis, and necrotizing apoptosis mediated by natural killer cells, which were also significantly enriched in differentially hydroxymethylated genes. These results indicate that the main difference between liver cirrhosis and liver cancer is first reflected in the metabolic disorders of various active substances, and that the death behavior of tumor cells is different from that of non-tumor cells.

PPI analysis of proteins encoded by DEGs

Proteins usually perform biological functions by binding to one another. According to the https:// string-db.org/ STRING protein interaction database, DEGs were analyzed using PPI, and the results are shown in Figure 5A, which shows the PPI network of DEGs in HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer. PCK1 and SLC2A2 were most closely related to each protein. Protein interactions were mainly concentrated between genes such as FABP1, APOC3, SI, KRT20, SLC5A1, SLC10A2, RBP2, and AKR1B10; Figure 5B displays the PPI network of patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer. It shows that only *PROX1* and *TBX3* have potential protein interactions, and the relationship between other





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Principal component analysis after 5-hydroxymethylcytosine sequencing of hepatitis B surface antigen-positive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer (40 cases per group). A: Principal component analysis (PCA) plot of all genes in hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer; B: PCA plot of differential genes between HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer; C: PCA plot of all genes in patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer; D: PCA plot of differential genes between patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer. PCA: Principal component analysis; HBV: Hepatitis B virus.

proteins is unclear.

DISCUSSION

China has the most frequent occurrences of liver cancer, accounting for 47% of cases globally. Liver cancer ranks third among malignant tumors in China. In 2018, the number of newly diagnosed patients with liver cancer in China was 390000, and the number of deaths was 360000. Therefore, it remains a major threat to the health of the Chinese population[9]. Although many basic and clinical studies have explored the mechanisms of liver cancer formation and development, it remains unclear, and there are limited studies on epigenetic modifications in the occurrence and development of liver cancer, especially on the regulation of hydroxymethylation. To further define the potential relationship between HBsAg carrier status, liver cirrhosis, and liver cancer in the epigenetic modification of hydroxymethylation, serum samples from 40 HBsAg carriers, 40 patients with liver cirrhosis, and 40 patients with liver cancer were collected in our hospital. The bioinformatics method of 5hmC sequencing was used to conduct an in-depth analysis of these datasets, and DEGs were screened for 5hmC; the genes and pathways closely related to them were identified through bioinformatic analysis.







DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine differences after sequencing. A, B: The gene volcano maps of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)positive carriers and patients with liver cancer (A) and of patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer (B). The blue point indicates that the change of gene hydroxymethylation log2 fold is less than -0.26, and the red point indicates that the change of gene hydroxymethylation log2 fold is more than 0.26; C, D: Gene hot maps for HBsAg-positive carriers and patients with liver cancer (C) and for patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer (D). The blue block colors indicate a lower level of gene hydroxymethylation, and the red block colors indicate a higher level of gene hydroxymethylation. HBV: Hepatitis B virus.

In this study, 16455 hydroxymethylated genes were identified. Sequencing showed that 32 genes had significant differences in 5hmC modifications between HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer, and 20 genes had significant differences in 5hmC modifications between patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer. These genes may have potential loci that have not been discovered or clearly studied, leading to the occurrence and development of liver cancer, which is congruent with the findings of previous studies on epigenetic modifications[10]. Studies have shown that multiple DEGs of 5hmC are upregulated and downregulated in HBsAg carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer, involving multiple cellular signaling pathways and biological processes[11].

GO enrichment analysis showed that 32 DEGs were enriched in both HBsAg carriers and patients with liver cancer, indicating that liver cancer progression is the result of multiple pathways. For example, in GO BP analysis, the digestion and cellular lipid catabolic processes are enriched; digestion is one of the most important functions of the liver, and lipid catabolism is part of the digestive link and is responsible for one of the most basic biological processes[12]. In GO MF, the enrichment of secondary active transmembrane transporters and cation symporter activity was the most obvious, indicating that transmembrane transporters and ion transporters are involved in the digestive function of liver cells and



[®] WJGS https://www.wjgnet.com

Α

The most enriched GO terms



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Results of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine sequencing differential gene enrichment analysis between hepatitis B surface antigen carriers and patients with liver cancer. A: Gene ontology enrichment analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) sequencing differentially expressed genes

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

(DEGs); B: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes enrichment analysis of 5hmC sequencing DEGs. GO: Gene ontology; CC: Cellular component; BP: Biological process; MF: Molecular function.

may affect the progression of liver cancer[13]. In GO CC analysis, the apical part of the cell and apical plasma membrane were enriched, suggesting that the interaction between cells mainly occurs on the cell membrane[14]. Interestingly, in the GO BP analysis of the liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups, the most obvious enrichment was bile acid biosynthesis and metabolic processes. Bile acid can increase the contact area of lipase by emulsification of fat, improve the activity of pancreatic and lipoprotein lipases, and promote intestinal fat transport to promote fat metabolism[15]. In the GO MF analysis, oxidation-related enzymes were enriched, indicating that the redox function of liver cirrhosis was further affected after liver cancer progression, which is consistent with the results of Chen *et al*[16]. In GO CC analysis, the enrichment of the proteasome complex further supports the results of these molecular functions. Minor *et al*[17] also pointed out that HBV proteins can promote the occurrence and development of HCC by forming a ubiquitinated proteasome complex.

KEGG analysis showed that the DEGs between HBsAg carriers and liver cancer groups had the largest number of genes enriched in the series of digestive and metabolic pathways, and the genes enriched in liver digestive function-related pathways accounted for the largest proportion of DEGs. Most genes are involved in digestive processes such as insulin and bile secretion, galactose metabolism, and the glucagon signaling pathway. In addition to these pathways, DEGs in the liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups were also related to death processes, such as apoptosis and necrotizing apoptosis. Normal liver cells often develop abnormal metabolic behavior during their gradual development into tumor cells. This abnormal behavior affects the normal function of the liver, which can be considered a progressive feature of liver cancer. However, most previous studies concluded that no obvious pathological changes appeared in the liver of HBV carriers without disease. A few studies pointed out that the secretion of digestive juice in HBsAg-positive carriers might be related to the occurrence and development of liver cancer. An increasing number of researchers believe that the normal transaminase levels of HBsAg-positive carriers do not indicate fibrosis or inflammatory necrosis in the liver, which may also show different degrees of hepatocyte degeneration, necrosis, and even fibrosis[18]. In the liver tissue of HBV carriers with normal alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels and without treatment, the proportion of liver inflammation grade G2-3 was 25.0%, which was higher than that in the group with a slight increase in ALT, and HBV carriers were accompanied by different degrees of liver fibrosis[18]. Studies have shown that insulin inhibits HBsAg expression in hepatocytes[19]. Moreover, the presence of insulin resistance-related diseases during entecavir treatment is associated with a slower decline in HBsAg expression[20]. Researchers have found that, while lovastatin is used to block the p21Ras signaling pathway of insulin, it also inhibits the secretion of HBsAg in Hep3B cells, which may be caused by the instability of lipid rafts due to the depletion of cholesterol from the membrane^[21]. Therefore, it is reasonable to believe that changes in liver digestive function-related pathways are closely related to the progression of liver cancer.

PPI analysis showed that protein interactions were mainly concentrated among genes with PCK1 and SLC2A2 as the central nodes, and protein interactions were mainly concentrated among genes such as FABP1, APOC3, SI, KRT20, SLC5A1, SLC10A2, RBP2, and AKR1B10. Most of them are involved in the regulation of cellular insulin, glucocorticoids, glucagon, and other signaling pathways and play a key role in glucose metabolism and gluconeogenesis. The PCK1 gene, encoding cytosolic phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK-C), functions as a glucoamylase in the liver and kidneys^[22]. Studies have found that the type 2 diabetes phenotypes, such as obesity, fat malnutrition, fatty liver, and even death in serious circumstances, appear in mice after knockout of systemic and tissue-specific PCK1 genes[23]. In this study, PCK1 was highly expressed in liver cancer tissues (log2FC = 0.519299173). Considering that the 5hmC modification of *PCK1* may affect the transcription and translation of the PEPCK-C isoenzyme, it is necessary to verify the effect of 5hmC on its protein expression and explore the relationship between PCK1 and the occurrence and development of liver cancer. SLC2A2 is a membrane glycoprotein that encodes liver cells, pancreatic β cells, and intestinal and renal epithelial cells and mediates easy bidirectional glucose transport. Owing to its low affinity for glucose, it is a glucose sensor rather than the main transporter of glucose. This gene mutation is reportedly related to susceptibility to Fanconi-Bickel syndrome and non-insulin-dependent diabetes[24]. It participates in many processes, such as cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, by regulating glucose metabolism[25,26]. This study found that the 5hmC modification level of SLC2A2 was slightly increased (log2FC = 0.297032232); however, whether the 5hmC modification affects the function of SLC2A2 requires further confirmation. The valuable information obtained in the PPI network construction of liver cirrhosis and liver cancer groups is limited, and we can only infer that PROX1-TBX3 may have molecular interactions and a role in the progression of liver cirrhosis to liver cancer.



Figure 4 Enrichment analysis results of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine sequencing differential genes between patients with liver cirrhosis and

those with liver cancer. A: Gene ontology enrichment analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) sequencing differentially expressed genes (DEGs); B: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes enrichment analysis of 5hmC sequencing DEGs. GO: Gene ontology; CC: Cellular component; BP: Biological process; MF: Molecular function.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.346 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 Protein-protein interaction network analysis of differentially expressed genes. A: Protein-protein interaction (PPI) network of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in hepatitis B surface antigen carriers and patients with liver cancer; B: PPI network of DEGs in patients with liver cirrhosis and those with liver cancer.

CONCLUSION

This study showed that the 5hmC modification of genes in the liver digestion-related pathway may be closely related to the occurrence and development of liver cancer. Abnormal bile and insulin secretion by tumor cells may promote or symbolize the occurrence and development of liver cancer. *SLC2A2* and *PCK1* are the central nodes of the DEGs, which may be most closely related to the occurrence of liver cancer. *FABP1, APOC3, SI, KRT20, SLC5A1, SLC10A2, RBP2,* and *AKR1B10* may be the key genes in the protein regulatory network. 5hmC modification of these genes alters their transcription and other functions and plays a regulatory role. These differences in the 5hmC modification levels of DEGs provide further insights into the development and progression of liver cancer. We plan to verify the 5hmC modification levels of these genes to further explore the mechanisms of liver cancer.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

As an important base in DNA demethylation, 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) is also involved in epigenetic regulation, specifically in the assembly of chromosomes and the regulation of gene expression. However, the mechanism of action of 5hmC in hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive carriers and during the transition from cirrhosis to liver cancer remains unclear.

Zaishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research motivation

This study investigated the relationship between HBsAg-positive carriers, patients with cirrhosis, and patients with hepatocellular carcinoma using their serum samples and to identify potential genes and signaling pathways of DNA hydroxymethylation in order to understand the possible developmental mechanisms.

Research objectives

Using 5hmC sequencing technology, we analyzed the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) of HBsAgpositive carriers, patients with liver cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer. The function of DEGs was further elucidated to explore the differences and similarities in gene hydroxymethylation and the regulatory role of signaling pathways in these groups.

Research methods

Using 5hmC DNA sequencing technology, we detected the expression profile of the samples, and the DEGs modified by DNA hydroxymethylation were screened. Bioinformatic analysis was used to enrich the DEGs.

Research results

The 5hmC DNA sequencing results showed that 30 genes were upregulated and 2 genes were downregulated in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma compared with HBsAg positive carriers. Further, 17 genes were upregulated and 3 genes were downregulated in hepatocellular carcinoma, compared with cirrhosis. Abnormal secretion of bile and insulin in tumor cells may promote or symbolize the occurrence and development of liver cancer. SLC2A2 and PCK1 are the central nodes of the differential genes, which may be most closely related to the occurrence of liver cancer. FABP1, APOC3, SI, KRT20, SLC5A1, SLC10A2, RBP2, and AKR1B10 may be the key genes in the protein regulatory network that play a regulatory role through 5hmC modification.

Research conclusions

The occurrence and development of liver cancer are related to several 5hmC-modified pathway genes and metabolic pathways, which may be potential therapeutic targets to prevent the progression of liver cancer in hepatitis B carriers.

Research perspectives

The differences and similarities in gene hydroxymethylation in HBsAg positive carriers, patients with cirrhosis, and patients with liver cancer and the regulatory role of signaling pathways were revealed by 5hmC sequencing technology.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Li YC and Hu WY conceived the experimental ideas; Hu WY and Li CH performed the data collection; Zhang LL, Xu XW, Li J and Luo HX completed data sorting and analysis; Li YC wrote this manuscript.

Supported by Science and Technology Planning Project of Zhejiang Province, No. LGF20H160001.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by The First People's Hospital of Yongkang Institutional Review Board.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this study.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yue-Cui Li 0000-0002-3147-1724; Wei-Yue Hu 0000-0002-5266-7638; Cheng-Hang Li 0000-0001-9286-5375; Li-Li Zhang 0000-0002-5080-6091; Xiang-Wei Xu 0000-0003-1352-0294; Jin Li 0000-0003-3978-0086; Hong-Xia Luo



0000-0002-5378-3446.

S-Editor: Wang JL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JL

REFERENCES

- Tümen D, Heumann P, Gülow K, Demirci CN, Cosma LS, Müller M, Kandulski A. Pathogenesis and Current Treatment 1 Strategies of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Biomedicines 2022; 10 [PMID: 36551958 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines10123202]
- Yu CX, Chen YS, Ge ZJ, Zhang YH, Xu X, Tian T, Wen Y, Zhu J, Song C, Chen JG, Hu ZB. Dietary habits and risk of 2 hepatocellular carcinoma among hepatitis B surface antigen carriers: A prospective cohort study in China. J Dig Dis 2020; 21: 406-415 [PMID: 32407579 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12878]
- Long Q, Yao YQ, Yan CG. [Research advances in necessity of antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis B virus carriers]. 3 Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi 2016; 24: 465-468 [PMID: 27465955 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-3418.2016.06.016]
- Skvortsova K, Stirzaker C, Taberlay P. The DNA methylation landscape in cancer. Essays Biochem 2019; 63: 797-811 [PMID: 31845735 DOI: 10.1042/EBC20190037]
- Fu S, Wu H, Zhang H, Lian CG, Lu Q. DNA methylation/hydroxymethylation in melanoma. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 78163-78173 [PMID: 29100458 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.18293]
- Rustad SR, Papale LA, Alisch RS. DNA Methylation and Hydroxymethylation and Behavior. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 6 2019; **42**: 51-82 [PMID: 31392630 DOI: 10.1007/7854_2019_104]
- 7 Chinese Society of Hepatology; Chinese Medical Association. [Chinese guidelines on the management of liver cirrhosis]. Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi 2019; 27: 846-865 [PMID: 31941240 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-3418.2019.11.008]
- Bureau of Medical Administration; National Health Commination of the People's Republic of China. [Standardization for diagnosis and treatment of primary hepatic carcinom (2019 edition)]. Zhongguo Shiyong Waike Zazhi 2020; 40: 121-138 [DOI: 10.19538/j.cjps.issn1005-2208.2020.02.01]
- Forner A, Reig M, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2018; 391: 1301-1314 [PMID: 29307467 DOI: 9 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30010-2
- 10 Dhar D, Baglieri J, Kisseleva T, Brenner DA. Mechanisms of liver fibrosis and its role in liver cancer. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2020; 245: 96-108 [PMID: 31924111 DOI: 10.1177/1535370219898141]
- 11 Cai J, Chen L, Zhang Z, Zhang X, Lu X, Liu W, Shi G, Ge Y, Gao P, Yang Y, Ke A, Xiao L, Dong R, Zhu Y, Yang X, Wang J, Zhu T, Yang D, Huang X, Sui C, Qiu S, Shen F, Sun H, Zhou W, Zhou J, Nie J, Zeng C, Stroup EK, Chiu BC, Lau WY, He C, Wang H, Zhang W, Fan J. Genome-wide mapping of 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free DNA as a non-invasive approach for early detection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 2019; 68: 2195-2205 [PMID: 31358576 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318882]
- 12 Solhi R, Lotfinia M, Gramignoli R, Najimi M, Vosough M. Metabolic hallmarks of liver regeneration. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2021; 32: 731-745 [PMID: 34304970 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2021.06.002]
- Paulusma CC, Lamers WH, Broer S, van de Graaf SFJ. Amino acid metabolism, transport and signalling in the liver 13 revisited. Biochem Pharmacol 2022; 201: 115074 [PMID: 35568239 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115074]
- Li YH, Liu Y, Li YD, Liu YH, Li F, Ju Q, Xie PL, Li GC. GABA stimulates human hepatocellular carcinoma growth through overexpressed GABAA receptor theta subunit. World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 2704-2711 [PMID: 22690081 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i21.2704]
- 15 Garrido A, Kim E, Teijeiro A, Sánchez Sánchez P, Gallo R, Nair A, Matamala Montoya M, Perna C, Vicent GP, Muñoz J, Campos-Olivas R, Melms JC, Izar B, Schwabe RF, Djouder N. Histone acetylation of bile acid transporter genes plays a critical role in cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 850-861 [PMID: 34958836 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.12.019]
- 16 Chen W, Yang A, Jia J, Popov YV, Schuppan D, You H. Lysyl Oxidase (LOX) Family Members: Rationale and Their Potential as Therapeutic Targets for Liver Fibrosis. Hepatology 2020; 72: 729-741 [PMID: 32176358 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31236
- Minor MM, Slagle BL. Hepatitis B virus HBx protein interactions with the ubiquitin proteasome system. Viruses 2014; 6: 17 4683-4702 [PMID: 25421893 DOI: 10.3390/v6114683]
- 18 An ZW, Wang B, Dai SM, Jiang L, Yan ZC. [Study on the relationship between serum Tim-3 level and the disease process in different state of hepatitis B virus]. Zhongguo Shiyan Zenduanxue 2017; 21: 1901-1903 [DOI: 10.3969/i.issn.1007-4287.2017.11.010
- 19 Senoymak MC, Ozkan H. Evaluation of the Relationship between Insulin Resistance and HBV DNA Level in Patients with HBeAg-negative Chronic HBV Infection (Natural Course Phase 3). Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol 2020; 10: 85-91 [PMID: 33511070 DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals-10018-1329]
- 20 Lin TC, Liu WC, Hsu YH, Lin JJ, Chiu YC, Chiu HC, Cheng PN, Chen CY, Chang TT, Wu IC. Insulin Resistance Associated Disorders Pivoting Long-Term Hepatitis B Surface Antigen Decline During Entecavir Therapy. J Clin Med 2019; 8 [PMID: 31698809 DOI: 10.3390/jcm8111892]
- 21 Lin YL, Shiao MS, Mettling C, Chou CK. Cholesterol requirement of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) secretion. Virology 2003; 314: 253-260 [PMID: 14517078 DOI: 10.1016/s0042-6822(03)00403-3]
- Xu D, Wang Z, Xia Y, Shao F, Xia W, Wei Y, Li X, Qian X, Lee JH, Du L, Zheng Y, Lv G, Leu JS, Wang H, Xing D, Liang T, Hung MC, Lu Z. The gluconeogenic enzyme PCK1 phosphorylates INSIG1/2 for lipogenesis. Nature 2020; 580: 530-535 [PMID: 32322062 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2183-2]
- Hu Q, Chen H, Zuo Y, He Q, He X, Simpson S Jr, Huang W, Yang H, Zhang H, Lin R. Role of PCK1 gene on oil tea-23 induced glucose homeostasis and type 2 diabetes: an animal experiment and a case-control study. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2019;



16: 12 [PMID: 30805021 DOI: 10.1186/s12986-019-0337-8]

- 24 Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, Wheeler E, Glazer NL, Bouatia-Naji N, Gloyn AL, Lindgren CM, Mägi R, Morris AP, Randall J, Johnson T, Elliott P, Rybin D, Thorleifsson G, Steinthorsdottir V, Henneman P, Grallert H, Dehghan A, Hottenga JJ, Franklin CS, Navarro P, Song K, Goel A, Perry JR, Egan JM, Lajunen T, Grarup N, Sparsø T, Doney A, Voight BF, Stringham HM, Li M, Kanoni S, Shrader P, Cavalcanti-Proença C, Kumari M, Qi L, Timpson NJ, Gieger C, Zabena C, Rocheleau G, Ingelsson E, An P, O'Connell J, Luan J, Elliott A, McCarroll SA, Payne F, Roccasecca RM, Pattou F, Sethupathy P, Ardlie K, Ariyurek Y, Balkau B, Barter P, Beilby JP, Ben-Shlomo Y, Benediktsson R, Bennett AJ, Bergmann S, Bochud M, Boerwinkle E, Bonnefond A, Bonnycastle LL, Borch-Johnsen K, Böttcher Y, Brunner E, Bumpstead SJ, Charpentier G, Chen YD, Chines P, Clarke R, Coin LJ, Cooper MN, Cornelis M, Crawford G, Crisponi L, Day IN, de Geus EJ, Delplanque J, Dina C, Erdos MR, Fedson AC, Fischer-Rosinsky A, Forouhi NG, Fox CS, Frants R, Franzosi MG, Galan P, Goodarzi MO, Graessler J, Groves CJ, Grundy S, Gwilliam R, Gyllensten U, Hadjadj S, Hallmans G, Hammond N, Han X, Hartikainen AL, Hassanali N, Hayward C, Heath SC, Hercberg S, Herder C, Hicks AA, Hillman DR, Hingorani AD, Hofman A, Hui J, Hung J, Isomaa B, Johnson PR, Jørgensen T, Jula A, Kaakinen M, Kaprio J, Kesaniemi YA, Kivimaki M, Knight B, Koskinen S, Kovacs P, Kyvik KO, Lathrop GM, Lawlor DA, Le Bacquer O, Lecoeur C, Li Y, Lyssenko V, Mahley R, Mangino M, Manning AK, Martínez-Larrad MT, McAteer JB, McCulloch LJ, McPherson R, Meisinger C, Melzer D, Meyre D, Mitchell BD, Morken MA, Mukherjee S, Naitza S, Narisu N, Neville MJ, Oostra BA, Orrù M, Pakyz R, Palmer CN, Paolisso G, Pattaro C, Pearson D, Peden JF, Pedersen NL, Perola M, Pfeiffer AF, Pichler I, Polasek O, Posthuma D, Potter SC, Pouta A, Province MA, Psaty BM, Rathmann W, Rayner NW, Rice K, Ripatti S, Rivadeneira F, Roden M, Rolandsson O, Sandbaek A, Sandhu M, Sanna S, Sayer AA, Scheet P, Scott LJ, Seedorf U, Sharp SJ, Shields B, Sigurethsson G, Sijbrands EJ, Silveira A, Simpson L, Singleton A, Smith NL, Sovio U, Swift A, Syddall H, Syvänen AC, Tanaka T, Thorand B, Tichet J, Tönjes A, Tuomi T, Uitterlinden AG, van Dijk KW, van Hoek M, Varma D, Visvikis-Siest S, Vitart V, Vogelzangs N, Waeber G, Wagner PJ, Walley A, Walters GB, Ward KL, Watkins H, Weedon MN, Wild SH, Willemsen G, Witteman JC, Yarnell JW, Zeggini E, Zelenika D, Zethelius B, Zhai G, Zhao JH, Zillikens MC; DIAGRAM Consortium; GIANT Consortium; Global BPgen Consortium, Borecki IB, Loos RJ, Meneton P, Magnusson PK, Nathan DM, Williams GH, Hattersley AT, Silander K, Salomaa V, Smith GD, Bornstein SR, Schwarz P, Spranger J, Karpe F, Shuldiner AR, Cooper C, Dedoussis GV, Serrano-Ríos M, Morris AD, Lind L, Palmer LJ, Hu FB, Franks PW, Ebrahim S, Marmot M, Kao WH, Pankow JS, Sampson MJ, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Pramstaller PP, Wichmann HE, Illig T, Rudan I, Wright AF, Stumvoll M, Campbell H, Wilson JF; Anders Hamsten on behalf of Procardis Consortium; MAGIC investigators, Bergman RN, Buchanan TA, Collins FS, Mohlke KL, Tuomilehto J, Valle TT, Altshuler D, Rotter JI, Siscovick DS, Penninx BW, Boomsma DI, Deloukas P, Spector TD, Frayling TM, Ferrucci L, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K, van Duijn CM, Aulchenko YS, Cao A, Scuteri A, Schlessinger D, Uda M, Ruokonen A, Jarvelin MR, Waterworth DM, Vollenweider P, Peltonen L, Mooser V, Abecasis GR, Wareham NJ, Sladek R, Froguel P, Watanabe RM, Meigs JB, Groop L, Boehnke M, McCarthy MI, Florez JC, Barroso I. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nat Genet 2010; 42: 105-116 [PMID: 20081858 DOI: 10.1038/ng.520]
- 25 Hoppstädter J, Ammit AJ. Role of Dual-Specificity Phosphatase 1 in Glucocorticoid-Driven Anti-inflammatory Responses. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 1446 [PMID: 31316508 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01446]
- Jin Q, Li R, Hu N, Xin T, Zhu P, Hu S, Ma S, Zhu H, Ren J, Zhou H. DUSP1 alleviates cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury 26 by suppressing the Mff-required mitochondrial fission and Bnip3-related mitophagy via the JNK pathways. Redox Biol 2018; 14: 576-587 [PMID: 29149759 DOI: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.11.004]



S

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Surgery*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 362-373

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.362

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Compliance with enhanced recovery after surgery predicts long-term outcome after hepatectomy for cholangiocarcinoma

Chaowasaporn Jongkatkorn, Vor Luvira, Chalisa Suwanprinya, Kantaruthai Piampatipan, Natwutpong Leeratanakachorn, Theerawee Tipwaratorn, Attapol Titapun, Tharatip Srisuk, Suapa Theeragul, Apiwat Jarearnrat, Vasin Thanasukarn, Ake Pugkhem, Narong Khuntikeo, Chawalit Pairojkul, Supot Kamsa-Ard, Vajarabhongsa Bhudhisawasdi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Cheng KC, China; Li JX, China; Tsoulfas G, Greece

Received: November 18, 2022 Peer-review started: November 18, 2022

First decision: November 30, 2022 Revised: December 9, 2022 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Chaowasaporn Jongkatkorn, Vor Luvira, Chalisa Suwanprinya, Kantaruthai Piampatipan, Theerawee Tipwaratorn, Attapol Titapun, Tharatip Srisuk, Suapa Theeragul, Apiwat Jarearnrat, Vasin Thanasukarn, Ake Pugkhem, Narong Khuntikeo, Vajarabhongsa Bhudhisawasdi, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand

Natwutpong Leeratanakachorn, Department of Surgery, Saraburi Hospital, Saraburi 18000, Thailand

Chawalit Pairojkul, Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand

Supot Kamsa-Ard, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Public Health, Khon Kaen University, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand

Corresponding author: Vor Luvira, FRCS (Gen Surg), MD, Associate Professor, Doctor, Surgical Oncologist, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, Mittraphap Road, Muang Khon Kaen, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand. vor_110@yahoo.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) program has been proved to improve postoperative outcome for many surgical procedures, including liver resection. There was limited evidence regarding the feasibility and benefit of ERAS in patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma.

AIM

To evaluate the feasibility of ERAS in patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma and its association with patient outcomes.

METHODS

We retrospectively analyzed 116 cholangiocarcinoma patients who underwent hepatectomy at Srinagarind Hospital, Khon Kaen University between January 2015 and December 2016. The primary outcome was the compliance with ERAS.



To determine the association between ERAS compliance and patient outcomes. the patients were categorized into those adhering more than and equal to 50% (ERAS \geq 50), and below 50% (ERAS < 50) of all components. Details on type of surgical procedure, preoperative and postoperative care, tumor location, postoperative laboratory results, and survival time were evaluated. The compliance with ERAS was measured by the percentage of ERAS items achieved. The Kaplan-Meier curve was used for survival analysis.

RESULTS

The median percentage of ERAS goals achieved was 40% ($\pm 12\%$). Fourteen patients (12.1%) were categorized into the ERAS \geq 50 group, and 102 patients were in the ERAS < 50 group. Postoperative hospital stay was significantly shorter in the ERAS \geq 50 group [8.9 d, 95% confidence interval (CI): 7.3-10.4 d] than in the ERAS < 50 group (13.7 d, 95%CI: 12.2-15.2 d) (*P* = 0.0217). No hepatobiliary-related complications or in-hospital mortality occurred in the ERAS \geq 50 group. Overall survival was significantly higher in the ERAS \geq 50 group. The median survival of the patients in the ERAS < 50 group was 1257 d (95% CI: 853.2-1660.8 d), whereas that of the patients in the ERAS \geq 50 group was not reached.

CONCLUSION

Overall ERAS compliance for patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma is poor. Greater ERAS compliance could predict in-hospital, short-term, and long-term outcomes of the patients.

Key Words: Enhanced recovery program after surgery; Cholangiocarcinoma; Hepatectomy; Survival; Enhanced recovery after surgery; Outcome

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The present study is the first and the largest study demonstrating the enhanced recovery program after surgery (ERAS) compliance and its association with short-term and long-term outcomes of cholangiocarcinoma patients. This study demonstrated that overall ERAS compliance in patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma was poor. The patients with high ERAS compliance were significantly associated with shorter postoperative hospital stay, and, interestingly, longer overall survival.

Citation: Jongkatkorn C, Luvira V, Suwanprinya C, Piampatipan K, Leeratanakachorn N, Tipwaratorn T, Titapun A, Srisuk T, Theeragul S, Jarearnrat A, Thanasukarn V, Pugkhem A, Khuntikeo N, Pairojkul C, Kamsa-Ard S, Bhudhisawasdi V. Compliance with enhanced recovery after surgery predicts long-term outcome after hepatectomy for cholangiocarcinoma. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 362-373 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/362.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.362

INTRODUCTION

Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) program has been proven to be beneficial and become the standard of care in colorectal surgery. Over the years, it gains considerable momentum and has been implemented in other surgical specialties[1], even in emergency settings[2]. Since liver resection is a relatively complex surgery, with unique perioperative procedures and complications[3,4], ERAS in liver resection may be more difficult to implement and has different considerations from other abdominal operations. There are several recommendations and evidence supporting ERAS in liver resection procedures[5-7].

Despite a large amount of evidence supporting using ERAS in liver surgery, most of them did not focus specifically on liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma, which has several unique features including: (1) The requirement of anatomic major liver resection; (2) Being non-cirrhotic but having a tense liver from various degree of biliary obstruction; and (3) The requirement of biliary-enteric anastomosis in selected cases[8,9]. There was limited evidence regarding the feasibility and benefit of ERAS in patients who underwent hepatic resection for cholangiocarcinoma. Although the feasibility of applying ERAS in patients who underwent hepatic resection for cholangiocarcinoma has been demonstrated by Yip et al[10] and Quinn et al[8], the association between ERAS compliance and patient outcomes, both in short and long term, has not been reported. We, therefore, aimed to evaluate the feasibility of ERAS in patients who underwent hepatic resection for cholangiocarcinoma, and determine



its association with outcomes of the patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

All patients undergoing hepatic resection for cholangiocarcinoma at Srinagarind Hospital, Khon Kaen University (Khon Kaen, Thailand) between January 2015 and December 2016 were included in this comparative study. We retrospectively reviewed the prospectively maintained medical and pathological records of 116 patients with histologically-confirmed cholangiocarcinoma. During the study period, our team was aware of ERAS of all abdominal operations but did not fully implement a formal ERAS protocol for hepatobiliary surgery.

Preoperative preparation

All patients with radiologically diagnosed cholangiocarcinoma received a common preoperative protocol, which included: (1) Resectability evaluation by reviewing cross-sectional imaging and patient status. The criteria for resectability included: (a) Good performance status (ECOG 0-1); (b) Absence of distant organ or lymph node metastasis on preoperative imaging; and (c) Sufficient volume of expected future liver remnant; (2) Blood examination: Complete blood count, liver tests, coagulogram, hepatitis panels, and tumor markers; and (3) Preoperative biliary drainage of future liver remnants, either endoscopically or percutaneously, in patients with obstructive jaundice with the aim to reduce serum total bilirubin to below 10 mg/dL. All patients were admitted to the hospital at least one day before the operation. All clinical, laboratory, and radiological data were rechecked at the time of the admission.

Operative procedure

During the study period, we performed all liver resection by open surgery. Mirror-L incision was used in all cases. The type of liver resection was determined by the extent of the tumor, with plans to achieve at least all gross tumor removal. To optimize the surgical margin, surgeons preferred major hepatic resection to minor hepatic resection, which was performed only in patients with intraoperatively found limited future liver function. Liver parenchyma transection techniques and method of vascular inflow occlusion depended on the surgeon's preference. Biliary-enteric anastomosis, if needed, encompassed ante-colic hepatico-jejunostomy in all cases.

Postoperative care plan

After surgery, all patients were admitted to the intensive care unit until their conditions were stable and able to be extubated. Patients were allowed to be discharged from the hospital when they were on a full oral diet, received adequate pain controls, and demonstrated acceptable clinical and laboratory results. All patients were followed up in the hepatobiliary clinic with their respective attending surgeon at 2 wk after discharge.

ERAS compliance assessment

Adherence to ERAS components was recorded. During the study period, our hepatobiliary team had not fully implemented a formal ERAS protocol. Our protocol, as detailed in Table 1, contained 17 components, including preoperative counseling, preoperative fasting and preoperative carbohydrate load, pre-anesthetic anxiolytic, venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis, antimicrobial prophylaxis and skin preparation, prophylactic nasogastric intubation, preventing intraoperative hypothermia, fluid management, prophylactic abdominal drainage, early mobilization, postoperative glycemic control, preventing postoperative day 1 (POD1), early nasogastric (NG) tube removal at POD 1, postoperative nutrition and early oral intake, and removal of urinary catheter at POD 2. Patients were then categorized into those who adhered to more than and equal to 50% (ERAS \geq 50), and below 50% (ERAS \leq 50) of all ERAS components.

Data collection and statistical analysis

The primary outcome of this study was the compliance with ERAS, which was measured by the percentage of ERAS items achieved. We also investigated the association between the ERAS compliance and long-term outcomes of the patients. Descriptive analyses were performed and presented as appropriate. Continuous data were analyzed using student's *t*-test. Categorical data were compared using the Pearson χ^2 test. Survival analysis was presented using the Kaplan-Meier curve. Comparisons amongst groups were analyzed using a log-rank test. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using STATA version 13 (Lakeway, TX, United States).

Zaishidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Hepatic resection enhanced recovery program after surgery pathway					
ERAS item	Goals				
Preoperative counseling	Patients receive dedicated education, full care pathway, details of operation and associated complication, and estimated length of hospital stay with clear verbal and wriinstruction				
Preoperative fasting and preoperative carbohydrates load	Preoperative fasting 6 h for solids and 2 h for liquids. Carbohydrate loading evening before the day of surgery and 2 h before induction of anesthesia				
Pre-anesthetic anxiolytic	Short-acting anxiolytics prior to the induction of anesthesia				
VTE prophylaxis	Low-molecular weight heparin or unfragmented heparin administration 2-12 h before surgery				
Antimicrobial prophylaxis and skin preparation	Single dose intravenous antibiotics administration before skin incision and less than 1 h before hepatectomy				
Prophylactic nasogastric intubation	No use of prophylactic nasogastric intubation				
Preventing intraoperative hypothermia	Maintenance of perioperative normothermia using forced air blankets and controlling temperature of the operating room				
Fluid management (CVP monitoring)	The maintenance of low CVP (below 5 cm $\rm H_2O$) with close monitoring during liver transection phase				
Prophylactic abdominal drainage	None or minimize the use of prophylactic abdominal drainage				
Early mobilization	Begin to walk around the ward at least 3 times a day				
Postoperative glycemic control	Insulin therapy to maintain normoglycemia before full oral intake				
Preventing PONV	Patients should receive PONV prophylaxis with 2 anti-emetic drugs until POD3				
Multimodal analgesia	Multimodal analgesia combined with wound infusion analgesia or intrathecal opiates. Removal of epidural analgesia before POD3				
Initial oral analgesic drug at POD1	Initial oral analgesic drug at POD1				
Early NG tube removal at POD1	Removal of NG tube at POD1 unless there was > 400 mL/d drainage				
Postoperative nutrition and early oral intake	Patients can eat soft diet at POD2				
Removal of urinary catheter POD2	Removal of urinary catheter POD2				

VTE: Venous thromboembolism; POD: Postoperative day; ERAS: Enhanced recovery program after surgery; PONV: Postoperative nausea and vomiting; NG: Nasogastric; CVP: Central venous pressure.

Ethical consideration

The Institutional Review Board, Office of Human Research Ethics, Khon Kaen University reviewed and approved this study (No. HE611590).

RESULTS

There were 116 cholangiocarcinoma patients who underwent hepatic resection during the study period. The median age was 63 ± 9.5 years. Male patients outnumbered female patients (62.1% vs 37.9%). None of the patients achieved ERAS goal of at least 80%. The median percentage of ERAS goals achieved was 40% ± 12%. Only 14 patients (12.1%) achieved at least 50 percent of ERAS goal and were categorized into the ERAS \geq 50 group. The remaining were categorized into the ERAS < 50 group. All of the patients of this cohort achieved goals in three components, including preoperative counseling, antimicrobial prophylaxis and skin preparation, and preventing intraoperative hypothermia. None of the patients achieved goals in preoperative fasting and preoperative carbohydrate load, avoiding NG intubation, avoiding abdominal drainage, and early mobilization. The ERAS items that had a difference in goal achievement between two groups included: Early removal of Foley catheter, early oral dietary intake, early NG tube removal, initiate oral analgesic drug, postoperative glycemic control, prevention of PONV, multimodal analgesia, VTE prophylaxis, pre-anesthetic anxiolytic, and fluid management, as detailed in Figure 1. There were no differences in patients' clinical and operative characteristics between groups, except for a higher percentage of male patients in the ERAS < 50 group (65.7% vs 35.7%, P = 0.03), and a higher proportion of intrahepatic tumor location (85.7% vs 39.2%, P = 0.027) and higher preoperative serum cholesterol level (P = 0.0445) in the ERAS \geq 50 group (Table 2).

ERAS and postoperative outcome

The postoperative outcomes are shown in Table 3. There were no hepatobiliary related complications in



Table 2 Characteristics of the patients according to enhanced recovery program after surgery compliance

Variable	<i>n</i> (%) or mean (SD)		P value ¹		
Vallable	ERAS < 50 (<i>n</i> = 102)			ERAS ≥ 50 (<i>n</i> = 14)	
Age	62.1	7.9	61.8	11.0	0.905
Gender (male)	67	65.7	5.0	35.7	0.031
Location					0.027
Intrahepatic	40	39.2	12.0	85.7	
Bismuth I	0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Bismuth II	2	2.0	0.0	0.0	
Bismuth IIIA	38	37.3	1.0	7.1	
Bismuth IIIB	17	16.7	1.0	7.1	
Bismuth IV	5	4.9	0.0	0.0	
Type of CCA					0.442
MF	10	9.8	2.0	14.3	
PI/FN	31	30.4	2.0	14.3	
IG/PP	61	59.8	10.0	71.4	
Procedure					0.285
Right hepatectomy	38	37.3	9.0	64.3	
Extended right hepatectomy	18	17.7	0.0	0.0	
Right trisectionectomy	12	11.8	0.0	0.0	
Left hepatectomy	25	24.5	4.0	28.6	
Extended left hepatectomy	3	2.9	0.0	0.0	
Left trisectionectomy	2	2.0	0.0	0.0	
Other	4	3.9	1.0	7.1	
Vascular resection	7	6.9	1.0	7.1	0.969
Vascular inflow occlusion	39	38.2	7.0	50.0	0.399
EBL (mL)	647.1	490.5	446.4	273.5	0.138
Preoperative laboratory investigation					
ТВ	2.1	2.6	0.8	0.7	0.070
AST	365.9	359.0	215.8	122.7	0.139
ALT	253.6	250.6	166.0	96.0	0.216
ALP	141.3	106.0	84.8	39.4	0.060
Alb	2.8	0.7	3.0	0.6	0.257
Cholesterol	133.7	39.7	156.9	29.7	0.045

 $^1P < 0.05$ by chi squared or *t*-test where appropriate.

MF: Mass-forming; PI: Periductal infiltrating; FN: Flat-nodular; IG: Intraductal growth; PP: Papillary polypoid; ERAS: Enhanced recovery program after surgery; CCA: Cholangiocarcinoma; EBL: Estimated blood loss; TB: Total bilirubin; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALT: Alanine transaminase; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; Alb: Albumin.

> the ERAS \geq 50 group. Postoperative hospital stay was significantly shorter in the ERAS \geq 50 group [8.9 d, 95% confidence interval (CI): 7.3-10.4 d] than in the ERAS < 50 group (13.7 d, 95% CI: 12.2-15.2 d) (P = 0.0217). There were no differences in postoperative laboratory results between the two groups, except for serum cholesterol level at POD3 and POD5.

> There was no 30-d mortality in this cohort. There were three patients with 60-d mortality, all of which were in the ERAS < 50 group. The patients died on POD 21, 37, and 45 from bleeding aneurysm of right hepatic artery stump, severe pneumonia, and postoperative liver failure, respectively. With a median follow-time of 1241 d, the median survival of this cohort was 1302 d (95% CI: 1130.6-1473.4 d). There was



Table 3 Postoperative outcomes					
	<i>n</i> (%) or mean (95%Cl)				
Variable	ERAS < 50 (<i>n</i> = 102)		ERAS ≥ 50 (<i>n</i>	P value ¹	
Overall morbidity	51	50.0%	4	28.6%	0.132
Hepatobiliary complications					0.281
Post-hepatectomy liver failure	14	13.7%	0	0%	
Bile leakage	4	3.9%	0	0%	
Stricture/cholangitis	1	0.9%	0	0%	
Transient hyperbilirubinemia	9	8.8%	0	0%	
General complications					
Wound complications	18	18.8%	0	0%	0.076
Pulmonary complications	9	8.8%	2	14.3%	0.513
Cardiac complication	5	4.9%	0	0%	0.397
Acute kidney injury	2	1.9%	0	0	0.597
Post-operative stay (d)	13.7	12.2-15.2	8.9	7.3-10.4	0.022
Cholesterol					
Postoperative day 1	131.5	123.9-138.9	151.1	141.2-160.9	0.057
Postoperative day 3	107.3	101.5-113.1	127.7	116.7-138.7	0.013
Postoperative day 5	96.6	90.8-102.5	118.1	109.1-127.2	0.009
Serum albumin					
Postoperative day 1	3.0	2.9-3.1	3.1	2.9-3.3	0.271
Postoperative day 3	2.9	2.8-2.9	3.0	2.9-3.2	0.224
Postoperative day 5	2.8	2.7-2.9	2.9	2.8-3.1	0.425
Total bilirubin					
Postoperative day 1	3.2	2.4-3.9	1.6	1.1-2.2	0.142
Postoperative day 3	2.7	2.1-3.4	1.4	0.9-2.0	0.171
Postoperative day 5	2.8	2.0-3.5	1.3	0.9-1.6	0.157
Alanine aminotransferase					
Postoperative day 1	294.9	242.6-347.2	231.1	166.9-295.3	0.376
Postoperative day 3	169.4	142.6-196.3	177.6	124.1-231.1	0.829
Postoperative day 5	89.7	74.5-104.9	97.1	72.5-121.8	0.726
Aspartate aminotransferase					
Postoperative day 1	386.5	323.4-449.7	285.2	196.4-373.9	0.247
Postoperative day 3	169.4	142.6-196.3	177.6	124.1-231.1	0.829
Postoperative day 5	89.7	74.5-104.9	97.1	72.5-121.8	0.726
International normalized ratio (PT/INR)					
Postoperative day 1	1.27	1.2-1.35	1.27	1.18-1.35	0.939
Postoperative day 3	1.42	1.37-1.47	1.34	1.24-1.45	0.293
Postoperative day 5	1.39	1.3-1.49	1.26	1.17 -1.35	0.295
Postoperative mortality					
30 d	0	0%	0	0%	
60 d	3	2.9%	0	0%	
Survival (95%CI)					0.019



Jongkatkorn C et al. ERAS in cholangiocarcinoma

Median (d)	1257	853.2-1660.8	Not reached	
1-yr survival	77.5%	63.1-89.1	100%	
3-yr survival	50.9%	37.1-67.9	85.7	53.9-96.2

 ${}^{1}P < 0.05$ by chi squared or t-test where appropriate.

ERAS: Enhanced recovery program after surgery; CI: Confidence interval; PT: Prothrombin time; INR: International normalized ratio.



Figure 1 Comparison of enhanced recovery program after surgery compliance between enhanced recovery program after surgery ≥ 50 and enhanced recovery program after surgery < 50 groups. The numbers indicate the percentage of patients achieving enhanced recovery program after surgery goal in each component. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.001. VTE: Venous thromboembolism; POD: Postoperative day ERAS: Enhanced recovery program after surgery.

> a statistically significant difference in overall survival between the two groups (P = 0.0187) (Figure 2A). The median survival of the patients in the ERAS < 50 group was 1257 d (95% CI: 853.2-1660.8 d), whereas that of the patients in the ERAS \geq 50 group was not reached - more than 50% of the patient with ERAS \geq 50 were still alive at the time of the last follow-up. The respective 1- and 3-year survival rate of the patients in the ERAS < 50 was 77.5% (95% CI: 63.1-89.1) and 50.9% (95% CI: 37.1-67.9), and that of the patients in the ERAS \geq 50 group was 100% and 85.7% (95%CI: 53.9-96.2). The survival between the groups seem to differ in both intrahepatic (Figure 2B) and extrahepatic tumors (Figure 2C), but the difference was not statistically significant.

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that overall ERAS compliance in patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma was poor. The patients with ERAS \geq 50 were significantly associated with shorter postoperative hospital stay, and, interestingly, longer overall survival.

Postoperative care for liver resection has many unique challenges that have a large impact on the physiologic outcomes, such as having a large abdominal incision that requires the use of spinal anesthesia, significant intraoperative hemodynamic disturbance, and having a decreased liver volume postoperatively. These factors explain why overall ERAS compliance is lower compared to other abdominal operations, despite the fact that this group of patients might gain the most benefit from ERAS implementation. We initially intended to use 80% ERAS adherence as the cut point for categorizing the patients. However, at the time of the study, there was poor compliance to the ERAS protocol and none of the cases were able to achieve more than 80% of ERAS components. Consequently, a cut point at 50% ERAS was used instead. In the future, when ERAS is more routinely adopted, a higher cut point for components achieved may result in more tiers and more pronounced difference in patient outcomes. It should be noted that some ERAS components might not be suitable for cholangiocarcinoma resection, including the omission of nasogastric tube and abdominal drainage[8]. In our





Figure 2 Kaplan-Meier survival curves stratified by percentage of enhanced recovery program after surgery goal achievement. A: All cohort; B: Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma; C: Extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. ERAS: Enhanced recovery program after surgery.

study, none of the patients achieved these component goals. Gastric dilation during the operation would preclude a good exposure of the operative field. Liver transection created a large raw surface of the liver that could cause postoperative bleeding and bile collection, therefore placement of abdominal drainage is almost unavoidable. Instead, several intraoperative manners should be further evaluated and considered to be ERAS components, such as intraoperative vascular inflow occlusion, controlling of central venous pressure, and inferior vena cava clamping[9,11]. These make liver transection safer, and would enhance patient recovery. We found that ERAS components that showed difference in compliance between the groups were mostly related to analgesic and dietary-related components. This finding is compatible with a previous study [12]. These components could be modified easily without any additional costs, and should be prioritized for implementation. Effective pain management might be a key to successfully enhancing recovery after liver resection. Lower postoperative pain, incorporated with early removal of Foley catheter, leads to early mobilization and, subsequently, early returns of bowel movement[8]. The delayed oral intake in the patients with extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma, who require biliary-enteric anastomosis, preclude enhanced recovery. This leads to several delays, including oral analgesia, NG tube removal, mobilization, and, ultimately, recovery. This explains why we found a higher proportion of extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in the ERAS < 50 group. Improvement of ERAS for liver resection is crucial. Since a number of cases are required for achieving the optimal recovery and compliance[13], the large center with a high number of cholangiocarcinoma cases should be the initiator of ERAS development. Since 2016, we have been able to consistently apply these ERAS components: Pre-anesthetic anxiolytic, VTE prophylaxis, preventing intraoperative hypothermia, preventing PONV, early NG tube removal at POD1, and early oral intake. Moreover, we started to perform minimally invasive surgery for liver resection procedure.

Another way in which operative outcomes could be improved is through laparoscopic surgery, as previous studies have shown that laparoscopic liver resection is associated with shorter length of stay [14]. Therefore, ERAS in laparoscopic liver resection should be considered separately from open liver resection. Since laparoscopic liver resection is typically performed in selected patients that require less complicate operative procedure, our study was intentionally conducted when all cholangiocarcinoma cases, at our center, received open resection in order to minimize selection bias.

Recent evidence from other randomized controlled trials reaffirmed that the ERAS protocol for patients who underwent liver resection was associated with decreased length of hospital stay and lower overall morbidity[15-17]. Our study confirmed that these findings are also valid in cholangiocarcinoma patients. We found that the patients with higher ERAS compliance had significantly shorter length of hospital stay. This is comparable with a previous report, which stated that patients undergoing major liver resection that were on ERAS protocol experienced the greatest benefit in terms of decreased length of hospital stay and decreased rate of 30-d complications[12]. Alteration of postoperative liver tests could be used as an indicator for liver recovery and risk of postoperative liver failure[4]. In our study, the postoperative serum cholesterol level was significantly higher in the ERAS \geq 50 group. It might indirectly indicate that liver recovery is faster in this group. Other explanations include: (1) The patients in this group already had higher cholesterol level preoperatively; and (2) Higher proportion of intrahepatic tumors, which require less extensive liver resection. None of our patients in the ERAS \geq 50 group experienced hepatobiliary-related complications. There might be synergistic effects between absence of complications and achieving ERAS goals. Both of them promote patient recovery and, ultimately, shorten length of hospital stay. One study reported that even in high risk or with major postoperative complications, high ERAS compliance was achievable^[8]. However, it is safe to say that achievement of ERAS \geq 50 can be used to predict in-hospital, postoperative hepatobiliary-related complications, especially postoperative liver failure.

Although ERAS protocol has been proven to be beneficial amongst patients who underwent liver resection in terms of short-term outcomes[6,7,12], there was no study demonstrating these associations with long-term outcomes. We demonstrated the association between higher ERAS achieving and longer survival of the patients. This issue had been addressed in other cancers[18,19]. ERAS improved survival through various ways: (1) Reduction of postoperative stress leads to better immunologic function against the remaining tumor micro-metastases; and (2) Promoting quick recovery prevents the delay of adjuvant treatment. However, since there is no solid evidence of benefit of postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy for resectable cholangiocarcinoma[20-22], and cholangiocarcinoma is a heterogeneous disease with various progression pathways[23,24], it could not be concluded that improvement of ERAS compliance leads to an improvement of overall survival of cholangiocarcinoma patients. Even so, higher ERAS achievement could at least be used as a marker of better survival of cholangiocarcinoma patients.

To the best of our knowledge, our study was the first to demonstrate the association between greater ERAS achievement and long-term outcome of the patients who underwent liver resection. Moreover, this study was the largest study that focused only on cholangiocarcinoma patients who underwent liver resection by various hepatobiliary surgeons. However, there were several limitations that should be acknowledged. Bias might be introduced due to the following: (1) Being retrospective in nature; (2) Having a short interval of study period when a standard, full-ERAS protocol has not completely been developed. Due to the aforementioned limitations, only a correlation between better ERAS compliance and better outcome can be drawn; we were unable to interpret that better ERAS achievement caused better outcome; and (3) The sample size of the ERAS \geq 50 group is quite small and could cause a significant type 2 error. Future prospective study should be conducted with full implementation of ERAS protocol specifically for the cholangiocarcinoma patients to demonstrate this association.

CONCLUSION

Overall ERAS compliance for cholangiocarcinoma is poor. There is a room for improvements of ERAS in patients who underwent liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma. Greater ERAS compliance could predict not only in-hospital, short-term outcomes but also long-term outcomes of the patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocol has shown to be beneficial to patient outcomes in various abdominal surgeries, including hepatectomy. However, no previous study has demonstrated this association for hepatectomy in cholangiocarcinoma patients.

Research motivation

The present study explored the ERAS compliance and its association with outcomes of the patients who underwent open liver resection for cholangiocarcinoma during the first period of ERAS implementation.

Research objectives

To demonstrate the association between good ERAS compliance and short-term and long-term outcomes in cholangiocarcinoma patients.



Research methods

Cholangiocarcinoma patients who underwent open hepatectomy between January 2015 and December 2016 were retrospectively analyzed. Patient's compliance to ERAS was measured by the percentage of ERAS items achieved and categorized into more than and equal to 50% (ERAS \geq 50), and below 50% (ERAS < 50) of all ERAS components. Details on operative procedure, patient care, and survival were analyzed.

Research results

A total of 116 patients were identified - 14 patients (12.1%) were categorized into the ERAS \geq 50 group, and 102 patients were in the ERAS < 50 group. Postoperative hospital stay was significantly shorter in the ERAS \geq 50 group [8.9 d, 95% confidence interval (CI): 7.3-10.4 d] than in the ERAS < 50 group (13.7 d, 95% CI: 12.2-15.2 d) (*P* = 0.0217). No hepatobiliary-related complications or in-hospital mortality occurred in the ERAS \geq 50 group. Overall survival was significantly higher in the ERAS \geq 50 group.

Research conclusions

Good ERAS compliance is associated with decreased length of hospital stay, decreased morbidity, and better survival.

Research perspectives

Current overall ERAS compliance is poor. Future improvements in ERAS compliance could result in better short-term and long-term outcomes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Mr. Ian Thomas for reviewing the English-language presentation of the manuscript.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All the authors contributed to this paper.

Supported by the grant of Faculty of Medicine, Khon Kaen University, Thailand, No. IN62330.

Institutional review board statement: The Institutional Review Board, Office of Human Research Ethics, Khon Kaen University reviewed and approved this study (No. HE611590).

Informed consent statement: Since this study was a retrospective study, informed consent form is not needed.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The original anonymous dataset is available on request from the corresponding author at vor_110@yahoo.com.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Thailand

ORCID number: Vor Luvira 0000-0001-7333-2936; Ake Pugkhem 0000-0002-0882-9740; Narong Khuntikeo 0000-0001-9305-0688.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Wang JJ

Raisbideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- 1 Agarwal V, Divatia JV. Enhanced recovery after surgery in liver resection: current concepts and controversies. Korean J Anesthesiol 2019; 72: 119-129 [PMID: 30841029 DOI: 10.4097/kja.d.19.00010]
- Lohsiriwat V. Enhanced recovery after surgery vs conventional care in emergency colorectal surgery. World J 2 Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 13950-13955 [PMID: 25320532 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i38.13950]
- 3 Benzoni E, Molaro R, Cedolini C, Favero A, Cojutti A, Lorenzin D, Intini S, Adani GL, Baccarani U, Bresadola F, Uzzacu A. Liver resection for HCC: analysis of causes and risk factors linked to postoperative complications. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54: 186-189 [PMID: 17419257]
- Sawangkajohn W, Luvria V, Leeratanakachorn N, Tipwaratorn T, Theerakul S, Jarearnrat A, Titapun A, Srisuk T, 4 Pugkhem A, Khuntikeo N, Bhudhisawasdi V, Kamsa-Ard S. Re-Rising of Total Bilirubin Level after Postoperative Day 3 (The V Pattern) Predicting Liver Failure and Survival of Patients who Underwent Hepatectomy for Cholangiocarcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2020; 21: 3573-3578 [PMID: 33369454 DOI: 10.31557/APJCP.2020.21.12.3573]
- 5 Melloul E, Hübner M, Scott M, Snowden C, Prentis J, Dejong CH, Garden OJ, Farges O, Kokudo N, Vauthey JN, Clavien PA, Demartines N. Guidelines for Perioperative Care for Liver Surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society Recommendations. World J Surg 2016; 40: 2425-2440 [PMID: 27549599 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-016-3700-1]
- 6 Rouxel P, Beloeil H. Enhanced recovery after hepatectomy: A systematic review. Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med 2019; 38: 29-34 [PMID: 29807132 DOI: 10.1016/j.accpm.2018.05.003]
- Noba L, Rodgers S, Chandler C, Balfour A, Hariharan D, Yip VS. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Reduces 7 Hospital Costs and Improve Clinical Outcomes in Liver Surgery: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Gastrointest Surg 2020; 24: 918-932 [PMID: 31900738 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-019-04499-0]
- Quinn LM, Mann K, Jones RP, Bathla S, Stremitzer S, Dunne DF, Lacasia C, Fenwick SW, Malik HZ. Defining enhanced recovery after resection of peri-hilar cholangiocarcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol 2019; 45: 1439-1445 [PMID: 30979508 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2019.03.033]
- Leeratanakachorn N, Luvira V, Tipwaratorn T, Theeragul S, Jarearnrat A, Titapun A, Srisuk T, Kamsa-Ard S, Pugkhem A, Khuntikeo N, Pairojkul C, Bhudhisawasdi V. Infrahepatic Inferior Vena Cava Clamping Reduces Blood Loss during Liver Transection for Cholangiocarcinoma. Int J Hepatol 2021; 2021: 1625717 [PMID: 34484836 DOI: 10.1155/2021/16257171
- 10 Yip VS, Dunne DF, Samuels S, Tan CY, Lacasia C, Tang J, Burston C, Malik HZ, Poston GJ, Fenwick SW. Adherence to early mobilisation: Key for successful enhanced recovery after liver resection. Eur J Surg Oncol 2016; 42: 1561-1567 [PMID: 27528466 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2016.07.015]
- 11 Zhou J, He X, Wang M, Zhao Y, Zhang N, Wang L, Mao A. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery in Patients With Hepatocellular Carcinoma Undergoing Laparoscopic Hepatectomy. Front Surg 2021; 8: 764887 [PMID: 34881286 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.764887]
- 12 Burchard PR, Dave YA, Loria AP, Parikh NB, Pineda-Solis K, Ruffolo LI, Strawderman M, Schoeniger LO, Galka E, Tomiyama K, Orloff MS, Carpizo DR, Linehan DC, Hernandez-Alejandro R. Early postoperative ERAS compliance predicts decreased length of stay and complications following liver resection. HPB (Oxford) 2022; 24: 1425-1432 [PMID: 35135723 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2022.01.008]
- 13 Lohsiriwat V. Learning curve of enhanced recovery after surgery program in open colorectal surgery. World J Gastrointest Surg 2019; 11: 169-178 [PMID: 31057701 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v11.i3.169]
- Morise Z. Current status of minimally invasive liver surgery for cancers. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 6090-6098 14 [PMID: 36483154 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i43.6090]
- 15 Liang X, Ying H, Wang H, Xu H, Liu M, Zhou H, Ge H, Jiang W, Feng L, Liu H, Zhang Y, Mao Z, Li J, Shen B, Liang Y, Cai X. Enhanced recovery care versus traditional care after laparoscopic liver resections: a randomized controlled trial. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 2746-2757 [PMID: 29234943 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-017-5973-3]
- 16 Ni CY, Yang Y, Chang YQ, Cai H, Xu B, Yang F, Lau WY, Wang ZH, Zhou WP. Fast-track surgery improves postoperative recovery in patients undergoing partial hepatectomy for primary liver cancer: A prospective randomized controlled trial. Eur J Surg Oncol 2013; 39: 542-547 [PMID: 23562361 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2013.03.013]
- Jones C, Kelliher L, Dickinson M, Riga A, Worthington T, Scott MJ, Vandrevala T, Fry CH, Karanjia N, Quiney N. 17 Randomized clinical trial on enhanced recovery versus standard care following open liver resection. Br J Surg 2013; 100: 1015-1024 [PMID: 23696477 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.9165]
- 18 Curtis NJ, Taylor M, Fraser L, Salib E, Noble E, Hipkiss R, Allison AS, Dalton R, Ockrim JB, Francis NK. Can the combination of laparoscopy and enhanced recovery improve long-term survival after elective colorectal cancer surgery? Int J Colorectal Dis 2018; 33: 231-234 [PMID: 29188453 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-017-2935-0]
- 19 Tian YL, Cao SG, Liu XD, Li ZQ, Liu G, Zhang XQ, Sun YQ, Zhou X, Wang DS, Zhou YB. Short- and long-term outcomes associated with enhanced recovery after surgery protocol vs conventional management in patients undergoing laparoscopic gastrectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 5646-5660 [PMID: 33088158 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i37.5646]
- 20 Ma KW, Cheung TT, Leung B, She BWH, Chok KSH, Chan ACY, Dai WC, Lo CM. Adjuvant chemotherapy improves oncological outcomes of resectable intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e14013 [PMID: 30702559 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000014013]
- Rangarajan K, Simmons G, Manas D, Malik H, Hamady ZZ. Systemic adjuvant chemotherapy for cholangiocarcinoma 21 surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol 2020; 46: 684-693 [PMID: 31761507 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2019.11.499]
- 22 Wang ML, Ke ZY, Yin S, Liu CH, Huang Q. The effect of adjuvant chemotherapy in resectable cholangiocarcinoma: A meta-analysis and systematic review. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2019; 18: 110-116 [PMID: 30470543 DOI: 10.1016/j.hbpd.2018.11.001
- Aishima S, Oda Y. Pathogenesis and classification of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: different characters of perihilar 23 large duct type versus peripheral small duct type. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2015; 22: 94-100 [PMID: 25181580 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.154]



24 Bagante F, Weiss M, Alexandrescu S, Marques HP, Aldrighetti L, Maithel SK, Pulitano C, Bauer TW, Shen F, Poultsides GA, Soubrane O, Martel G, Koerkamp BG, Guglielmi A, Itaru E, Pawlik TM. Long-term outcomes of patients with intraductal growth sub-type of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. HPB (Oxford) 2018; 20: 1189-1197 [PMID: 29958811 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2018.05.017]



S WÛ

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 374-386

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.374

ISSN 1948-9366 (online) ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Pain management in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation: A retrospective study

Yan Guan, Ye Tian, Ya-Wei Fan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Soldera J, Brazil; Tovoli F, Italy

Received: December 21, 2022 Peer-review started: December 21, 2022 First decision: January 3, 2023 Revised: January 11, 2023 Accepted: February 15, 2023 Article in press: February 15, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Yan Guan, Ye Tian, Ya-Wei Fan, Hepatic Surgery Center, Department of Surgery, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Ya-Wei Fan, MD, Nurse, Hepatic Surgery Center, Department of Surgery, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, No. 116 Zhuodaoquan South Road, Hongshan District, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China. fanyaweitj2022@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Pain after transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation (TACE) can seriously affect the prognosis of patients and the insertion of additional medical resources.

AIM

To develop an early warning model for predicting pain after TACE to enable the implementation of preventive analgesic measures.

METHODS

We retrospectively collected the clinical data of 857 patients (from January 2016 to January 2020) and prospectively enrolled 368 patients (from February 2020 to October 2022; as verification cohort) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) who received TACE in the Hepatic Surgery Center of Tongji Hospital. Five predictive models were established using machine learning algorithms, namely, random forest model (RFM), support vector machine model, artificial neural network model, naive Bayes model and decision tree model. The efficacy of these models in predicting postoperative pain was evaluated through receiver operating characteristic curve analysis, decision curve analysis and clinical impact curve analysis.

RESULTS

A total of 24 candidate variables were included in the predictive models using the iterative algorithms. Age, preoperative pain, number of embolised tumours, distance from the liver capsule, dosage of iodised oil and preoperative prothrombin activity were closely associated with postoperative pain. The accuracy of the predictive model was compared between the training [area under the curve (AUC) = 0.798; 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.745-0.851] and verification (AUC = 0.871; 95% CI: 0.818-0.924) cohorts, with RFM having the best


predictive efficiency (training cohort: AUC = 0.869, 95%CI: 0.816-0.922; internal verification cohort: AUC = 0.871; 95%CI: 0.818-0.924).

CONCLUSION

The five predictive models based on advanced machine learning algorithms, especially RFM, can accurately predict the risk of pain after TACE in patients with HCC. RFM can be used to assess the risk of pain for facilitating preventive treatment and improving the prognosis.

Key Words: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; Pain; Machine learning algorithm; Prediction

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Machine learning-based pre-warning models can be used to predict post-transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation (TACE) pain for hierarchical management of patients at high risk of moderate and severe pain after TACE. In particular, random forest model (RFM) combined with preoperative predictors (*i.e.*, age, preoperative pain, distance from liver capsule ≤ 2 cm, prothrombin activity, iodine oil dose and increased number of emboli) has optimal discriminating power and high predictive accuracy. Therefore, RFM can be used for early prediction of the risk of pain, which can facilitate prompt pain management after TACE and improve the prognosis of patients.

Citation: Guan Y, Tian Y, Fan YW. Pain management in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation: A retrospective study. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2023; 15(3): 374-386 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/374.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.374

INTRODUCTION

As a first-line treatment for patients with mid-stage hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation (TACE) is especially suitable for patients with multifocal HCC who are not eligible for radical treatment[1,2]. Compared with the classic supportive treatment, TACE can significantly improve the quality of life and prolong the survival time of patients[3]. However, because TACE can block the blood supply of main blood vessels and lead to local liver tissue swelling and tumour necrosis, most patients experience pain of varying intensity after receiving TACE[4]. Previous studies have shown that the incidence of pain in patients with HCC after TACE is 60%-80%, and approximately 20%-40% of patients have severe pain, prolonged bed rest time and increased likelihood of postoperative complications, resulting in increased medical costs[5-7]. Therefore, prompt and effective pain management and nursing care are of great significance for improving the prognosis and quality of life of patients receiving TACE.

Early pain management can not only significantly reduce the incidence of pain but also improve the quality of life of patients receiving TACE. Therefore, identifying predictive factors related to postoperative pain may help to assess the risk of pain after TACE to implement pain relief interventions in advance[8]. Previous studies have shown that age, portal vein tumour thrombosis and tumour diameter are associated with an increased risk of pain after TACE[9]. In addition, preoperative anxiety, depression and other psychological factors can promote postoperative pain[10,11]. However, no effective scoring strategy is available for evaluating the risk of pain in patients with HCC after TACE. Developing such strategies may facilitate hierarchical management of patients with HCC with different degrees of pain.

In recent years, scholars have constructed nomographs for quantitative scoring by integrating multidimensional pain-related variables. Nomographs are based on traditional logic algorithms, which can help to indicate the risk of pain in patients with HCC receiving TACE[9]. However, with the continuous innovation and improvement of machine learning algorithms, several advanced algorithms have been gradually applied to the medical field for improving the accuracy and robustness of risk stratification [12-14]. To the best of our knowledge, an early warning model integrating machine learning algorithms and clinical indicators of post-TACE pain has not yet been developed for the management of pain in patients with HCC. Therefore, in this study, we constructed a machine learning-based model to predict post-TACE pain for early identification and prompt treatment of high-risk patients in clinical settings.

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

We retrospectively included 857 patients with HCC who received TACE in the Hepatic Surgery Center of Tongji Hospital from January 2016 to January 2020 through the electronic record system of the hospital. Additionally, we prospectively included 368 patients with HCC who underwent TACE in the hospital from February 2020 to October 2022 as the external verification cohort. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients aged > 18 years; (2) Patients diagnosed with HCC *via* histopathological examination; (3) Patients receiving traditional TACE; and (4) The patients received corticosteorids as part of the protocol and the pain-management protocols has not changed between 2016 and 2022. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients with incomplete medical records; and (2) Patients who underwent other surgeries and those with long-term use of painkillers before surgery. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, and Huazhong University of Science and Technology and complies with the Declaration of Helsinki (2013 version). All patients with HCC who participated in this study signed an informed consent form. Figure 1 demonstrates the process of patient selection and construction of predictive models.

Selection of predictive factors

We retrospectively collected the perioperative clinical data of patients: (1) Demographic data, including age, sex and body mass index; (2) History of TACE and hepatobiliary surgery; (3) Relevant preoperative imaging data, including maximum tumour diameter, number of embolised tumours, location of embolised tumours, portal vein tumour thrombosis and distance from the liver capsule; (4) Surgery-related data, including preoperative pain (PrP) perception, Child-Pugh classification, surgical duration, use of embolic supplement (except for iodised oil, gelatin sponge, blank microspheres, polyvinyl alcohol and other granular embolic agents) and iodised oil dosage; and (5) Preoperative biochemical data, including the levels of albumin, total bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase; prothrombin time; prothrombin activity and platelet count. The quality control standards for retrospective data were as follows: Variables with missing data in $\leq 5\%$ of the total number of cases were considered for inclusion in the analysis (the missing value is filled in using median interpolation); however, those with missing data in $\geq 5\%$ of cases were excluded to avoid bias caused by filling the missing value.

Evaluation criteria for postoperative pain intensity

The intensity of postoperative pain was evaluated by trained professionals using the numeric rating scale. The subjective feelings of patients were considered the main observation index. Patients were evaluated every 2 h after receiving TACE and scored as follows: 0 points, no pain; 1-3 points, mild pain; 4-6, moderate pain; 7-10, severe pain. Patients with scores of \geq 4 points are identified as having moderate and severe pain, and opioids should be considered for analgesic treatment. We considered moderate and severe pain within 24 h after surgery as the outcome variables. Patients with pain scores of \geq 4 points within 24 h of surgery were included in the pain group, whereas those with < 4 points were included in the non-pain group.

Establishment of predictive models for post-TACE pain

Five common machine learning algorithms were used to develop predictive models: Random forest model (RFM), support vector machine model (SVMM), artificial neural network model (ANNM), decision tree model (DTM) and naive Bayes model (NBM). The efficacy of these models in predicting postoperative pain was evaluated through receiver operating characteristic analysis and decision curve analysis (DCA). In addition, continuous correction curves were plotted to evaluate the robustness of predictive models, and clinical impact curves (CICs) were plotted to evaluate the differentiation efficiency of the optimal predictive model (RFM). All predictive models were tested in the internal training, internal verification and external verification cohorts.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the R software (https://www.r-project.org/). For descriptive analysis, the median (interquartile range) and frequency (%) of continuous variables and categorical variables were evaluated, respectively. Pearson correlation coefficients were evaluated to measure the degree of correlation between variables, and least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression was performed for selecting significant variables for models. For variable screening and inter-group comparison (pain *vs* non-pain group), *P*-values of < 0.05 were considered significant.

Zaishidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Flow chart of patient inclusion and prediction model construction.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of patients with or without postoperative pain

Patients were divided into pain and non-pain groups based on whether they had moderate or severe pain within 24 h of TACE. Among 1225 patients, 205 (16.73%) had pain after TACE. The cumulative incidence of moderate and severe post-TACE pain at < 6 h, 6-12 h and 12-24 h after TACE was 15.12%, 17.26% and 13.15%, respectively, in the training cohort, and 14.86%, 18.26% and 15.11%, respectively, in the external verification cohort.

On comparing the baseline data of patients with HCC between the pain and non-pain groups, significant differences (P < 0.05) were observed in age, PrP, maximum tumour diameter, number of embolised tumours (NOETs), distance from the liver capsule (DFLS), use of embolic supplements and dosage of iodised oil. On comparison of biochemical indicators, post-TACE pain was found to be significantly associated with prothrombin activity and platelet count (P < 0.05). The detailed baseline data of the two groups are summarised in Table 1.

Selection of predictors of postoperative pain

According to the distribution of Pearson correlation coefficients, postoperative pain was considered an 'outcome variable', and its correlation with 24 candidate variables was examined (Figure 2A). Postoperative pain was significantly correlated with age, PrP, NOET, DFLS, dosage of iodised oil (LOD) and preoperative prothrombin activity (PTA). Similarly, LASSO regression was used to determine the optimal penalty coefficient (Figures 2B and 2C) to screen for candidate variables for the predictive models. For four models, age, PrP, NOET, DFLS, LOD and PTA were identified as significant predictive factors, which was consistent with the results obtained by generalized linear modelthrough univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses (Figure 2D). Altogether, these results indicate that age, PrP, NOET, DFLS, LOD and PTA can efficiently predict postoperative pain in patients with HCC.

Construction of predictive models for postoperative pain

RFM and DTM were constructed based on the principle of 'branching' to discriminate and classify each included variable (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table 1). Age, PrP, NOET, DFLS, LOD and PTA were the major variables included in RFM, whereas the 'branch' variable in the decision tree included only PTA and DFLS. In addition, ANNM was constructed based on the algorithms of the 'input layer', 'hidden layer' and 'output layer' (Figure 4). After iteration of the input and hidden layers, age, tumour size and pathological type could accurately stratify the pain risk. Consistent with the candidate variables included in ANNM, SVMM was based on a class of generalised linear classifiers that categorise data in a binary way according to supervised learning, which can convert the problem into a convex quadratic programming problem. Furthermore, age, NOET, DLFS, LOD and PTA were the major variables included in NBM. These results suggest that predictive models of postoperative pain can be developed using the abovementioned variables, and the contribution of the intersecting variables among these models cannot be ignored.

Effectiveness of the five predictive models

DCA was performed to evaluate the differentiation efficiency and robustness of the five predictive



Table 1 Baseline demographic and clinicopathological characteristics of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma

	Training set				Testing set
Variables	Overall (<i>n</i> = 857)	Pain (<i>n</i> = 139)	No-pain (<i>n</i> = 718)	P value	Overall (<i>n</i> = 368)
Age (%), yr					
≤ 50	199 (23.2)	119 (85.6)	80 (11.1)	< 0.001	86 (23.4)
> 50	658 (76.8)	20 (14.4)	638 (88.9)		282 (76.6)
Gender (%)					
Male	445 (51.9)	74 (53.2)	371 (51.7)	0.806	151 (41.0)
Female	412 (48.1)	65 (46.8)	347 (48.3)		217 (59.0)
BMI [median (IQR)], kg/m ²	24.00 (21.10, 27.10)	23.70 (21.10, 27.45)	24.00 (21.02, 27.08)	0.658	24.00 (21.20, 26.70)
Pathogeny (%)					
Hepatitis B	218 (25.4)	31 (22.3)	187 (26.0)	0.089	104 (28.3)
HCV	226 (26.4)	28 (20.1)	198 (27.6)		88 (23.9)
Alcoholic liver	214 (25.0)	39 (28.1)	175 (24.4)		95 (25.8)
Others	199 (23.2)	41 (29.5)	158 (22.0)		81 (22.0)
ECOG (%)					
0	417 (48.7)	63 (45.3)	354 (49.3)	0.443	187 (50.8)
1	440 (51.3)	76 (54.7)	364 (50.7)		181 (49.2)
TACE (%)					
Yes	445 (51.9)	70 (50.4)	375 (52.2)	0.756	169 (45.9)
No	412 (48.1)	69 (49.6)	343 (47.8)		199 (54.1)
HHS (%)					
Yes	414 (48.3)	73 (52.5)	341 (47.5)	0.321	195 (53.0)
No	443 (51.7)	66 (47.5)	377 (52.5)		173 (47.0)
PrP (%)					
Yes	204 (23.8)	130 (93.5)	74 (10.3)	< 0.001	91 (24.7)
No	653 (76.2)	9 (6.5)	644 (89.7)		277 (75.3)
MDT (%), cm					
≤10	416 (48.5)	76 (54.7)	340 (47.4)	0.137	193 (52.4)
> 10	441 (51.5)	63 (45.3)	378 (52.6)		175 (47.6)
LOET (%)					
Left	437 (51.0)	80 (57.6)	357 (49.7)	0.11	189 (51.4)
Right	420 (49.0)	59 (42.4)	361 (50.3)		179 (48.6)
NOET (%)					
Single	683 (79.7)	21 (15.1)	662 (92.2)	< 0.001	280 (76.1)
Multiple	174 (20.3)	118 (84.9)	56 (7.8)		88 (23.9)
PVTT (%)					
Yes	438 (51.1)	72 (51.8)	366 (51.0)	0.932	185 (50.3)
No	419 (48.9)	67 (48.2)	352 (49.0)		183 (49.7)
DFLS (%), cm					
>2	646 (75.4)	16 (11.5)	630 (87.7)	< 0.001	268 (72.8)
≤2	211 (24.6)	123 (88.5)	88 (12.3)		100 (27.2)
CTPG (%)					



Grade A	442 (51.6)	75 (54.0)	367 (51.1)	0.602	176 (47.8)
Grade B	415 (48.4)	64 (46.0)	351 (48.9)		192 (52.2)
OpD (%), h					
≤1	452 (52.7)	83 (59.7)	369 (51.4)	0.088	184 (50.0)
>1	405 (47.3)	56 (40.3)	349 (48.6)		184 (50.0)
ES (%)					
Yes	437 (51.0)	72 (51.8)	365 (50.8)	0.908	187 (50.8)
No	420 (49.0)	67 (48.2)	353 (49.2)		181 (49.2)
LOD (%), mL					
≤10	630 (73.5)	21 (15.1)	609 (84.8)	< 0.001	260 (70.7)
> 10	227 (26.5)	118 (84.9)	109 (15.2)		108 (29.3)
Albumin [median (IQR)], g/L	36.12 (33.45, 38.63)	36.11 (33.50, 38.81)	36.12 (33.43, 38.57)	0.688	36.03 (33.42, 38.73)
PT [median (IQR)], s	12.70 (12.30, 13.20)	12.60 (12.30, 13.10)	12.70 (12.30, 13.20)	0.559	12.70 (12.30, 13.10)
PTA [median (IQR)], %	82.25 (77.12, 86.60)	90.20 (87.26, 93.18)	80.33 (76.45, 84.36)	< 0.001	82.29 (77.81, 86.83)
TBIL [median (IQR)], g/L	16.17 (12.95, 19.37)	16.20 (13.34, 19.27)	16.16 (12.88, 19.39)	0.972	16.12 (13.25, 19.23)
ALT [median (IQR)], U/L	33.00 (27.00, 40.00)	34.00 (24.50, 40.00)	33.00 (27.00, 40.75)	0.446	34.00 (26.00, 41.00)
AST [median (IQR)], U/L	42.00 (35.00, 48.00)	44.00 (35.00, 49.00)	41.00 (35.00, 48.00)	0.091	42.00 (34.00, 48.25)
PLT [median (IQR)], 109	136.00 (104.00, 163.00)	138.00 (104.00, 160.00)	135.50 (104.00, 164.00)	0.749	130.50 (100.00, 160.25)

IQR: Interquartile range; BMI: Body mass index; ECOG: Eastern cooperative oncology group; HHS: History of hepatobiliary surgery; PrP: Preoperative_pain; MTD: Maximum tumor diameter; LOET: Location of embolized tumor; NOET: Number of embolized tumors; PVTT: Portal vein tumor thrombus; DFLS: Distance from liver capsule; CTBG: Child-pugh grade; OpD: Operation_duration; ES: Embolization supplement; LOD: Iodine oil dosage; PT: Prothrombin time; PTA: Prothrombin activity; TBIL: Total bilirubin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; PLT: Platelet count

> models. The predictive efficiency of RFM was most optimal, followed by DTM. The predictive efficiency of ANNM and SVMM was better than that of NBM (Figure 5). The area under the curve (AUC) values of RFM were 0.869 [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.816-0.922) and 0.871 (95% CI: 0.818-0.924) in the training and internal verification sets, respectively. Additionally, the prediction accuracy of DTM, ANNM, SVMM, and NBM in the training cohort was between (AUC = 0.798; 95%CI: 0.745-0.851) and (AUC = 0.871; 95% CI: 0.818-0.924) (Table 2). These results indicate that although the candidate variables used in the five predictive models were similar, the predictive efficiency of the models was significantly different, with RFM having the best predictive efficiency.

Clinical evaluation of the optimal predictive model

CIC curves were plotted to verify the predictive efficiency of RFM. As shown in Supplementary Figure 1, RFM significantly distinguished between high- and low-risk patients in the training, internal verification and external verification sets, and its stratification effect was very stable. These results suggest that RFM as a predictive tool for evaluating post-TACE pain has clinical significance and can be used to guide early management of pain hierarchically.

DISCUSSION

At present, TACE is considered the first-line non-surgical treatment for HCC. TACE can effectively control the growth of HCC cells, significantly prolong the survival of patients and benefit patients with HCC; therefore, it is the first therapeutic option and the most effective treatment for patients with advanced HCC who are not eligible for surgical resection[15,16]. Although the trauma of TACE is minor, several adverse reactions may occur postoperatively [17]. Pain is one of the common postoperative complications; however, its pathophysiological mechanism remains unclear[18]. It may be caused by acute liver parenchyma ischaemia, liver capsule tension caused by transient liver swelling and chemical damage of hepatic arteries[19]. Previous studies have shown that pain can prolong the length of hospital stay, reduce the quality of life of patients and harm the physiology and psychology of patients[19,20]. Therefore, early treatment of postoperative pain is necessary for improving the



Table 2 The receiver operating characteristic curve analyses for pain risk in each machine learning-based model							
Model	Training set		Testing set				
	AUC mean	AUC 95%CI	AUC mean	AUC 95%CI			
RFM	0.869	0.816-0.922	0.871	0.818-0.924			
DTM	0.861	0.808-0.914	0.864	0.811-0.917			
ANNM	0.826	0.773-0.879	0.827	0.774-0.880			
SVMM	0.803	0.750-0.856	0.808	0.755-0.861			
NBM	0.798	0.745-0.851	0.803	0.750-0.856			

RFM: Random forest model; SVMM: Support vector machine model; DTM: Decision tree model; ANNM: Artificial neural network model; NBM: Naive Bayesian model; AUC: Area under curve; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.



Figure 2 Variable screening and weight allocation. A: Correlation matrix analysis of candidate features; B and C: Feature selection by least absolute shrinkage and selection operator regression; D: The weight distribution of the candidate variables of each ML-based model. BMI: Body mass index; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation; HHS: History of hepatobiliary surgery; PrP: Preoperative pain; MDT: Maximum tumor diameter; LOET: Location of embolized tumor; NOET: Number of embolised tumours; PVTT: Portal vein tumor thrombus; DFLS: Distance from the liver capsule; CTPG: Child-pugh grade; OpD: Operation_duration; ES: Embolization supplement; LOD: lodine oil dosage; PT: Prothrombin time; PTA: Prothrombin activity; TBIL: Total bilirubin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; PLT: Platelet count; RFM: Random forest model; DTM: Decision tree model; SVMM: Support vector machine model; NBM: Naive Bayes model; ANNM: Artificial neural network model.

prognosis of patients with HCC. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to use machine learning algorithms to build a multi-course model for predicting post-TACE pain. The model can help to assess the risk of post-TACE pain objectively in order to improve clinical diagnosis and treatment. Previous studies have shown that the incidence of pain is high among patients with HCC after 6-12 h

of TACE[19,21,22]. However, this study showed that the incidence of moderate and severe pain in



 $\textbf{DOI:} 10.4240 / wjgs.v15.i3.374 \ \textbf{Copyright} \ \textcircled{C} The \ Author(s) \ 2023.$

Figure 3 Predictive model visualization based on machine learning-based algorithm. A: Random forest model; B: Decision tree model. The candidate factors associated with fracture risk were ordered via random forest algorithm (A) and (B) prediction node and weight were allocated via decision tree algorithm. BMI: Body mass index; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation; HHS: History of hepatobiliary surgery; PrP: Preoperative pain; MDT: Maximum tumor diameter; LOET: Location of embolized tumor; NOET: Number of embolised tumours; PVTT: Portal vein tumor thrombus; DFLS: Distance from the liver capsule; CTPG: Child-pugh grade; OpD: Operation_duration; ES: Embolization supplement; LOD: lodine oil dosage; PT: Prothrombin time; PTA: Preoperative prothrombin activity; TBIL: Total bilirubin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; PLT: Platelet count; RFM: Random forest model; DTM: Decision tree model; SVMM: Support vector machine model; NBM: Naive Bayes model; ANNM: Artificial neural network model

> patients with HCC was 16.73% within 24 h of TACE. Based on the analysis of pain occurrence at various time points, the incidence of pain was highest at 6 h after TACE. A possible reason is that postoperative pain is mostly caused by tumour tissue embolism and necrosis, the liver volume increases, and the right upper quadrant pain is caused by pulling the capsule. In this study, patients with HCC were uniformly administered preventive analgesic drugs before surgery, thus delaying the occurrence of pain. However, medical staff should strengthen the early inspection of patients with HCC, pay close attention to the symptoms and signs of patients and implement preventive measures, whenever necessary, to alleviate postoperative pain symptoms.

> In this study, machine learning-based models were developed to predict post-TACE pain, and candidate predictors were identified based on the clinical baseline data of patients before surgery. The results were consistent with those of previous studies [20,23,24]. For example, this study showed that age of > 50 years was an independent risk factor for moderate-to-severe pain after TACE. The reason for the high incidence of postoperative pain in young patients is that the pain threshold of the human body

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Predictive model visualization based on artificial neural network model algorithm. A: Artificial neural network model; B: Variable importance using connection weight. PrP: Preoperative pain; NOET: Number of embolised tumours; DFLS: Distance from the liver capsule; LOD: Iodine oil dosage; PTA: Preoperative prothrombin activity.



Figure 5 Prediction pain risk performance of candidate models based on machine learning-based algorithm. A: Decision curve analysis (DCA) for five machine learning (ML)-based models in the training set; B: DCA for five ML-based models in the testing set. DTM: Decision tree model; ANNM: Artificial neural network model; NBM: Naive Bayes model; RFM: Random forest model; SVMM: Support vector machine model.

increases with age, and the sensitivity of elderly patients to pain is lower than that of young patients, resulting in changes in pain tolerance[25]. Therefore, medical staff should closely observe the symptoms and signs of young patients after surgery, and if necessary, pre-emptive analgesia should be implemented to reduce the incidence of postoperative pain. Furthermore, PrP was also identified as an important predictor of moderate-to-severe pain after TACE, which is consistent with the results of previous studies[26,27]. A meta-analysis reported that PrP is an important predictor of postoperative pain[26]. A possible reason is that the influx of PrP signals can enhance the excitability of spinal dorsal horn neurons and their responsiveness to pain transmission, which can be further maintained through transcriptional changes[28]. For example, cyclooxygenase-2 is induced to produce prostaglandin E2, which leads to postoperative pain[21]. Therefore, selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors should be administered to high-risk patients preoperatively to reduce the incidence of moderate and severe pain postoperatively.

Furthermore, the distance between the tumour and liver capsule (≤ 2 cm), presence of multiple embolic tumours and dosage of lipiodol greater than 10 mL were also identified as risk factors for moderate-to-severe pain after TACE, which is consistent with the results of previous studies[10,29]. If the tumour tissue is close to the liver capsule, it may become necrotic and oedematous after hepatic arterial chemoembolisation, leading to increased tension in the liver capsule. Consequently, the patient is more likely to feel pain and discomfort. Moreover, if more tumours are embolised, more iodised oil is required, and a larger embolised area may increase the pain caused by tumour necrosis. we speculated that embolization of nodules close to the gallbladder might also be an alternative cuase of pain, especially if cystic artery vessels provided bllod to the nodules and had to be embolized. Prothrombin activity is an important indicator of liver coagulation because high prothrombin activity often indicates that the body is in a hypercoagulable state[30,31]. High prothrombin activity may be a primary cause of postoperative pain. Alternatively, injured tissue cells release a large amount of thromboplastin during surgery, which can also lead to a temporary hypercoagulable state in the early postoperative period[32,



33]. Consequently, the blood flow is slow, and the risk of postoperative micro-thrombosis and pain is increased. Therefore, medical staff should promptly evaluate the liver function of patients, detect changes in prothrombin time and control the abnormal indicators of coagulation function for effective pain management.

Although the candidate variables included in this study can be used to develop different machine learning-based predictive models, the predictive accuracy of the models may differ. In this study, RFM was found to have the best prediction efficiency, which is consistent with the results reported in previous studies[34,35]. RFM can realise multiple iterations of subsequent variables based on the 'bagging' algorithm, which signifies that the predictive efficiency of the included variables can be optimised after adding numerous 'branches' and 'pruning' [35,36]. Although ANNM can be used for risk stratification of patients with post-TACE pain, its predictive efficiency is slightly inferior to that of RFM, which reflects the practicability of the input- and hidden-layer algorithms in this study. However, the algorithm requires to be constantly updated to reflect the robustness of its 'output layer' [37]. The predictive performance of machine learning algorithms is undoubtedly better than that of logical regression algorithms because machine learning has incomparable advantages in terms of the number of iterations. Altogether, in this study, we developed an efficient predictive model based on candidate variables that can be adopted clinically. The model can be used for stratifying the risk of post-TACE pain to facilitate early management and improve the prognosis of patients.

However, this study has some limitations. First, this study had a retrospective design and only focused on patients undergoing traditional lipiodol-based embolisation, while the latter focused on patients using drug-eluting microspheres for embolisation. Therefore, the results may have been affected by selection bias. Second, although some clinical variables were included in this study, the psychological status and psychosocial factors of patients were not included, and no suggestion was made to further improve the predictive model by adding these factors. Third, this study relied on only single-centre internal verification; therefore, external spatial verification is required to accurately evaluate the predictive efficiency of the predictive models. Fourth, this study included only patients receiving traditional TACE; therefore, patients undergoing different types of TACE should be included in future studies to improve the universality of the predictive model.

CONCLUSION

Machine learning-based pre-warning models can be developed to predict post-TACE pain for hierarchical management of patients at high risk of moderate and severe pain after TACE. In particular, RFM combined with preoperative predictors (*i.e.*, age, PrP, DFLS \leq 2cm, prothrombin activity, iodine oil dose and presence of multiple emboli) has optimal discriminating power and high predictive accuracy. Therefore, RFM can be used for early prediction of the risk of postoperative pain, which can facilitate prompt pain management after TACE and improve the prognosis of patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Pain after transcatheter arterial chemoembolisation (TACE) can seriously affect the prognosis of patients and the insertion of additional medical resources.

Research motivation

To develop a practical model for predicting pain after TACE.

Research objectives

This study aimed to predict pain after TACE to enable the implementation of preventive analgesic measures.

Research methods

Of 857 patients (from January 2016 to January 2020) and prospectively enrolled 368 patients (from February 2020 to October 2022; as verification cohort) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) who received TACE were collected from the Hepatic Surgery Center of Tongji Hospital. Five predictive models were established using machine learning algorithms were used to predicting postoperative pain and receiver operating characteristic curve analysis, decision curve analysis and clinical impact curve analysis were used to evaluate the effectiveness of the model.

Research results

Of 24 candidate variables were to build prediction model, among them, the age, preoperative pain,



number of embolised tumours, distance from the liver capsule, dosage of iodised oil and preoperative prothrombin activity were closely associated with postoperative pain. The random forest model (RFM) had the best predictive efficiency [training cohort: Area under the curve (AUC) = 0.869, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.816-0.922; internal verification cohort: AUC = 0.871; 95% CI: 0.818-0.924].

Research conclusions

The five prediction models based on advanced machine learning algorithms are extremely suitable for the pain management of liver cancer patients after TACE, especially the RFM can accurately classify the pain risk of patients.

Research perspectives

Machine learning-based pre-warning models can be developed to predict post-TACE pain for hierarchical management of patients at high risk of moderate and severe pain after TACE. Alarmingly, the RFM can be used for early prediction of the risk of postoperative pain, which can facilitate prompt pain management after TACE and improve the prognosis of patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The researchers thanked all the participants in this study and offered their health data free of charge.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Guan Y and Tian Y contributed equally to this work; Fan YW designed the research study; Guan Y and Tian Y performed the research; Guan Y, Tian Y and Fan YW analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; and all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study has been approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology.

Informed consent statement: All patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who participated in this study signed an informed consent form.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-a checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-a checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Ya-Wei Fan 0000-0002-4101-7488.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Liu JB, Chu KJ, Ling CC, Wu TM, Wang HM, Shi Y, Li ZZ, Wang JH, Wu ZJ, Jiang XQ, Wang GR, Ma YS, Fu D. Prognosis for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma patients treated with postoperative adjuvant transcatheter hepatic artery chemoembolization. Curr Probl Cancer 2020; 44: 100612 [PMID: 32517878 DOI: 10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2020.100612
- 2 Cahill BA. Management of patients who have undergone hepatic artery chemoembolization. Clin J Oncol Nurs 2005; 9: 69-75 [PMID: 15751500 DOI: 10.1188/05.CJON.69-75]
- 3 Li S, Lyu N, Han X, Li J, Lai J, He M, Deng H, Shi M, Wang H, Zhao M. Hepatic Artery Infusion Chemotherapy Using



Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, and Oxaliplatin versus Transarterial Chemoembolization as Initial Treatment for Locally Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Propensity Score-Matching Analysis. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2021; 32: 1267-1276.e1 [PMID: 34166806 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2021.06.008]

- 4 Kokudo N, Makuuchi M. Current role of portal vein embolization/hepatic artery chemoembolization. Surg Clin North Am 2004; 84: 643-657 [PMID: 15062666 DOI: 10.1016/j.suc.2003.12.004]
- Chang Y, Jeong SW, Young Jang J, Jae Kim Y. Recent Updates of Transarterial Chemoembolilzation in Hepatocellular 5 Carcinoma. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 33142892 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21218165]
- Wang ZX, Liu SL, Sun CH, Wang Q. Psychological intervention reduces postembolization pain during hepatic arterial 6 chemoembolization therapy: a complementary approach to drug analgesia. World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14: 931-935 [PMID: 18240352 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.14.931]
- Romano M, Giojelli A, Tamburrini O, Salvatore M. Chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma: effect of 7 intraarterial lidocaine in peri- and post-procedural pain and hospitalization. Radiol Med 2003; 105: 350-355 [PMID: 12835628
- Hyun D, Cho SK, Shin SW, Park KB, Lee SY, Park HS, Choo SW, Do YS. Combined transarterial chemoembolization of 8 the right inferior phrenic artery and radiofrequency ablation for small hepatocellular carcinoma near the diaphragm: its efficacy and safety. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2018; 43: 2851-2858 [PMID: 29492603 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-018-1515-2]
- Bian LF, Zhao XH, Gao BL, Zhang S, Ge GM, Zhan DD, Ye TT, Zheng Y. Predictive model for acute abdominal pain after transarterial chemoembolization for liver cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 4442-4452 [PMID: 32874056 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i30.4442]
- Benzakoun J, Ronot M, Lagadec M, Allaham W, Garcia Alba C, Sibert A, Vilgrain V. Risks factors for severe pain after 10 selective liver transarterial chemoembolization. Liver Int 2017; 37: 583-591 [PMID: 27529160 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13235]
- Chen SC, Wu SF, Wang TJ, Rosenberg J, Lu YY, Liang SY. Factors influencing the coping strategies of liver cancer patients undergoing transarterial chemoembolization. Int J Nurs Pract 2022; 28: e13033 [PMID: 34913227 DOI: 10.1111/ijn.13033]
- Deo RC. Machine Learning in Medicine. Circulation 2015; 132: 1920-1930 [PMID: 26572668 DOI: 12 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.001593
- Handelman GS, Kok HK, Chandra RV, Razavi AH, Lee MJ, Asadi H. eDoctor: machine learning and the future of 13 medicine. J Intern Med 2018; 284: 603-619 [PMID: 30102808 DOI: 10.1111/joim.12822]
- Arslan E, Schulz J, Rai K. Machine Learning in Epigenomics: Insights into Cancer Biology and Medicine. Biochim 14 Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 2021; 1876: 188588 [PMID: 34245839 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188588]
- 15 Takaki H, Sato Y, Yamakado K. [Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma:current topics]. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi 2017; 114: 1602-1610 [PMID: 28883289 DOI: 10.11405/nisshoshi.114.1602]
- 16 Paul SB, Guglani B, Gulati MS, Batra Y, Mukhopadhyay S. Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in hepatocellular carcinoma: technique, effects and present status. Trop Gastroenterol 2003; 24: 176-184 [PMID: 15164527]
- Hassanin TM, Fouad Y, Hassnine A, Eisawy M, Farag N, Abdel Ghany W. Quality of Life after Transcatheter Arterial 17 Chemoembolization Combined with Radiofrequency Ablation in Patients with Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma Compared with Transcatheter Arterial Chemoembolization alone. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2021; 22: 1255-1261 [PMID: 33906320 DOI: 10.31557/APJCP.2021.22.4.1255]
- 18 Sueyoshi E, Hayashida T, Sakamoto I, Uetani M. Vascular complications of hepatic artery after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010; 195: 245-251 [PMID: 20566824 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.08.2301]
- Chang KT, Liu CJ, Tsai HT, Hsu TP, Chen PT, Hu SH. Effects and safety of body positioning on back pain after 19 transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in people with hepatocellular carcinoma: A randomized controlled study. Int J Nurs Stud 2020; 109: 103641 [PMID: 32535341 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103641]
- He JJ, Yin XX, Wang T, Chen MY, Li XL, Yang XJ, Shao HY. Factors influencing postembolization syndrome in patients 20 with hepatocellular carcinoma undergoing first transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. J Cancer Res Ther 2021; 17: 777-783 [PMID: 34269313 DOI: 10.4103/jcrt.jcrt 132 21]
- 21 Lv N, Kong Y, Mu L, Pan T, Xie Q, Zhao M. Effect of perioperative parecoxib sodium on postoperative pain control for transcatheter arterial chemoembolization for inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial. Eur Radiol 2016; 26: 3492-3499 [PMID: 26801163 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-016-4207-8]
- 22 Gu J, Liang Y. Clinical Nursing Paths Benefit Patient Outcomes Undergoing Transcatheter Arterial Chemoembolization for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2022; 2022: 4655293 [PMID: 35769161 DOI: 10.1155/2022/4655293]
- Wang TC, Zhang ZS, Xiao YD. Determination of Risk Factors for Pain After Transarterial Chemoembolization with Drug-23 Eluting Beads for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Pain Res 2020; 13: 649-656 [PMID: 32273750 DOI: 10.2147/JPR.S246197]
- Pachev A, Raynaud L, Paulatto L, Dioguardi Burgio M, Roche V, Garcia Alba C, Sibert A, Lagadec M, Kavafyan-Lasserre 24 J, Paugam-Burtz C, Vilgrain V, Ronot M. Predictive factors of severe abdominal pain during and after transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur Radiol 2021; 31: 3267-3275 [PMID: 33123789 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-020-07404-5]
- 25 El Tumi H, Johnson MI, Dantas PBF, Maynard MJ, Tashani OA. Age-related changes in pain sensitivity in healthy humans: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Eur J Pain 2017; 21: 955-964 [PMID: 28230292 DOI: 10.1002/ejp.1011]
- Ip HY, Abrishami A, Peng PW, Wong J, Chung F. Predictors of postoperative pain and analgesic consumption: a 26 qualitative systematic review. Anesthesiology 2009; 111: 657-677 [PMID: 19672167 DOI: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181aae87a
- 27 Yang MMH, Hartley RL, Leung AA, Ronksley PE, Jetté N, Casha S, Riva-Cambrin J. Preoperative predictors of poor acute postoperative pain control: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2019; 9: e025091 [PMID: 30940757 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025091]
- 28 Kehlet H. Postoperative pain, analgesia, and recovery-bedfellows that cannot be ignored. Pain 2018; 159 Suppl 1: S11-S16 [PMID: 30113942 DOI: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001243]



- 29 Cohen MJ, Bloom AI, Barak O, Klimov A, Nesher T, Shouval D, Levi I, Shibolet O. Trans-arterial chemo-embolization is safe and effective for very elderly patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 2521-2528 [PMID: 23674854 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i16.2521]
- Hoffman M. Coagulation in Liver Disease. Semin Thromb Hemost 2015; 41: 447-454 [PMID: 26049068 DOI: 30 10.1055/s-0035-1550435]
- Chow JH, Lee K, Abuelkasem E, Udekwu OR, Tanaka KA. Coagulation Management During Liver Transplantation: Use 31 of Fibrinogen Concentrate, Recombinant Activated Factor VII, Prothrombin Complex Concentrate, and Antifibrinolytics. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2018; 22: 164-173 [PMID: 29099345 DOI: 10.1177/1089253217739689]
- 32 Moon YJ, Kim SH, Kim JW, Lee YK, Jun IG, Hwang GS. Comparison of postoperative coagulation profiles and outcome for sugammadex versus pyridostigmine in 992 living donors after living-donor hepatectomy. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e0129 [PMID: 29538210 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000010129]
- 33 Oo J, Allen M, Loveday BPT, Lee N, Knowles B, Riedel B, Burbury K, Thomson B. Coagulation in liver surgery: an observational haemostatic profile and thromboelastography study. ANZ J Surg 2020; 90: 1112-1118 [PMID: 32455509 DOI: 10.1111/ans.15912]
- 34 Wang H, Zhou L. Random survival forest with space extensions for censored data. Artif Intell Med 2017; 79: 52-61 [PMID: 28641924 DOI: 10.1016/j.artmed.2017.06.005]
- Rigatti SJ. Random Forest. J Insur Med 2017; 47: 31-39 [PMID: 28836909 DOI: 10.17849/insm-47-01-31-39.1] 35
- 36 Buri M, Hothorn T. Model-based random forests for ordinal regression. Int J Biostat 2020 [PMID: 32764162 DOI: 10.1515/ijb-2019-0063]
- Zhou L, Wang C. Innovation of Platform Economy Business Model Driven by BP Neural Network and Artificial 37 Intelligence Technology. Comput Intell Neurosci 2022; 2022: 3467773 [PMID: 35855802 DOI: 10.1155/2022/3467773]



World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 387-397

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.387

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study Risk factors and prediction model for inpatient surgical site infection after elective abdominal surgery

Jin Zhang, Fei Xue, Si-Da Liu, Dong Liu, Yun-Hua Wu, Dan Zhao, Zhou-Ming Liu, Wen-Xing Ma, Ruo-Lin Han, Liang Shan, Xiang-Long Duan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Jin Zhang, Fei Xue, Si-Da Liu, Dong Liu, Yun-Hua Wu, Zhou-Ming Liu, Wen-Xing Ma, Ruo-Lin Han, Xiang-Long Duan, Second Department of General Surgery, Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, Xi'an 710068, Shaanxi Province, China
Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Fei Xue, Xiang-Long Duan, Institute of Medical Research, Northwestern Polytechnical University, Xi'an 710072, Shaanxi Province, China
Peer-review model: Single blind	Fei Xue, Xiang-Long Duan, Second Department of General Surgery, Third Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710068, Shaanxi Province, China
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Dan Zhao, Computer Science School, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang 11800, Malaysia
Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0	Liang Shan, Medical Service, Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, Xi'an 710068, Shaanxi Province, China
Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0	Corresponding author: Liang Shan, MD, Attending Doctor, Medical Service, Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, No. 256 West Youyi Road, Beilin District, Xi'an 710068, Shaanxi
P-Reviewer: Musa Y, Nigeria; Sultan AAEA, Egypt	Province, China. 584/10525@qq.com
Received: October 31, 2022	Abstract
Peer-review started: October 31, 2022 Peer-review started: October 31, 2022 First decision: January 3, 2023	BACKGROUND Surgical site infections (SSIs) are the commonest healthcare-associated infection. In addition to increasing mortality, it also lengthens the hospital stay and raises healthcare expenses. SSIs are challenging to predict, with most models having
Revised: January 11, 2023 Accepted: February 15, 2023 Article in press: February 15, 2023	poor predictability. Therefore, we developed a prediction model for SSI after elective abdominal surgery by identifying risk factors.
Published online: March 27, 2023	AIM To analyse the data on inpatients undergoing elective abdominal surgery to



e the data on inpatients undergoing elective abdominal surgery to identify risk factors and develop predictive models that will help clinicians assess patients preoperatively.

METHODS

We retrospectively analysed the inpatient records of Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital from January 1, 2018 to January 1, 2021. We included the demographic data of the patients and their haematological test results in our analysis. The attending physicians provided the Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 (NRS 2002)



scores. The surgeons and anaesthesiologists manually calculated the National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) scores. Inpatient SSI risk factors were evaluated using univariate analysis and multivariate logistic regression. Nomograms were used in the predictive models. The receiver operating characteristic and area under the curve values were used to measure the specificity and accuracy of the model.

RESULTS

A total of 3018 patients met the inclusion criteria. The surgical sites included the uterus (42.2%), the liver (27.6%), the gastrointestinal tract (19.1%), the appendix (5.9%), the kidney (3.7%), and the groin area (1.4%). SSI occurred in 5% of the patients (n = 150). The risk factors associated with SSI were as follows: Age; gender; marital status; place of residence; history of diabetes; surgical season; surgical site; NRS 2002 score; preoperative white blood cell, procalcitonin (PCT), albumin, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) levels; preoperative antibiotic use; anaesthesia method; incision grade; NNIS score; intraoperative blood loss; intraoperative drainage tube placement; surgical operation items. Multivariate logistic regression revealed the following independent risk factors: A history of diabetes [odds ratio (OR) = 5.698, 95% confidence interval (CI): 3.305-9.825, *P* = 0.001], antibiotic use (OR = 14.977, 95%CI: 2.865-78.299, *P* = 0.001), an NRS 2002 score of \geq 3 (OR = 2.426, 95% CI: 1.199-4.909, P = 0.014), general anaesthesia (OR = 3.334, 95%CI: 1.134-9.806, *P* = 0.029), an NNIS score of ≥ 2 (OR = 2.362, 95%CI: 1.019-5.476, *P* = 0.045), $PCT \ge 0.05 \ \mu g/L$ (OR = 1.687, 95%CI: 1.056-2.695, P = 0.029), LDL < 3.37 mmol/L (OR = 1.719, 95% CI: 1.039-2.842, *P* = 0.035), intraoperative blood loss ≥ 200 mL (OR = 29.026, 95% CI: 13.751-61.266, P < 0.001), surgical season (P < 0.05), surgical site (P < 0.05), and incision grade I or III (P < 0.05) 0.05). The overall area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of the predictive model was 0.926, which is significantly higher than the NNIS score (0.662).

CONCLUSION

The patient's condition and haematological test indicators form the bases of our prediction model. It is a novel, efficient, and highly accurate predictive model for preventing postoperative SSI, thereby improving the prognosis in patients undergoing abdominal surgery.

Key Words: Surgical site infections; Risk factors; Abdominal surgery; Prediction model

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Herein, we retrospectively analysed the data, including patient personal information, test indicators, and surgical information, of patients undergoing elective abdominal surgery and used univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses to assess risk factors for surgical site infection (SSI) in hospitalised patients. Nomograms were used in the prediction models. Subject working characteristics and area under the curve were used to measure the accuracy of the model up to 97%. R language was used to create a web page for dynamic predictive analysis of abdominal SSIs. A new predictive approach for preventing abdominal SSIs is made easier and more precise.

Citation: Zhang J, Xue F, Liu SD, Liu D, Wu YH, Zhao D, Liu ZM, Ma WX, Han RL, Shan L, Duan XL. Risk factors and prediction model for inpatient surgical site infection after elective abdominal surgery. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 387-397

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/387.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.387

INTRODUCTION

Surgical site infection (SSI) is the commonest healthcare-associated infection^[1] that helps determine patient prognosis. SSIs occur in 2%-5% of inpatients undergoing surgery in the United States[2]. The incidence of SSI ranges from 2% to 10% in Europe[3-5], while in China, it ranges from 4% to 6% [6,7]. Patients undergoing complex surgeries associated with high-risk factors are more likely to develop SSI [8]. SSI results in a prolonged hospital length of stay (LOS). It burdens patients physically, psychologically, and economically[9].

Patients with abdominal symptoms requiring abdominal surgeries, such as gastric surgery, colorectal surgery, appendix surgery, etc., have a higher incidence of postoperative infection because the human gastrointestinal tract is a cavity that communicates with the outside world, comprising a wide variety of



intestinal flora, which can cause infections [10,11]. The National Quality Partnership, as part of the Surgical Care Improvement Project (SCIP), aims to prevent postoperative SSI. Several preoperative quality indicators, namely preoperative oxygen inhalation, normal body temperature maintenance, adequate circulating glucose, sterile drapes, surgical gowns, wound-protection devices, antimicrobialcoated sutures, incisional wound irrigation, and prophylactic negative-pressure wound therapy, lower the risk of SSI[12]. Despite these efforts, the LOS remained high, and the SSI remained unaffected. The National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) risk index is a traditional tool used to predict SSI [13]. The model comprises the American Society of Anaesthesiologists' preoperative assessment score, incision grade, and surgery time, with the score ranging from 0 to 3. These three elements, however, are insufficient to construct a prediction model. Grant et al[14] later developed a prediction model with an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of 0.65, higher than that of the NNIS. Despite its ease of use, this model could only be applied to colorectal surgery. Therefore, our goal was to establish a novel, efficient, and highly accurate predictive model to prevent postoperative SSI in patients undergoing abdominal surgery.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The clinical data of 3018 patients who underwent abdominal surgeries from January 2018 to January 2021 at Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital were retrospectively analysed. We included patients aged > 18 years and < 100 years in the study. This study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was obtained from the patients and their families before surgery. SSI was diagnosed if one of the following occurred: Incision infection, deep incision infection, and organ-space infection^[15]. The infection prevention and control staff manually diagnosed SSI. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital.

Data collection

The hospital information system (HIS) was used to obtain the following patient-related data: Basic information: Age, gender, marital status, place of residence, and a history of diabetes and hypertension. Scores: Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 (NRS 2002) and NNIS.

Preoperative biochemical index: Red blood cell, white blood cell (WBC), haemoglobin, procalcitonin (PCT), albumin (ALB), triglyceride, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and total cholesterol levels.

Hospitalisation information: Preoperative duration (days from admission to surgery), preoperative antibiotic use, surgical season, anaesthesia method (general anaesthesia or non-general anaesthesia), incision grade (I, II, or III), intraoperative blood loss, intraoperative irrigation, tension reduction suture, incision drainage, multiple tissue excision, and the surgical site.

Statistical methods

The 22.0 and R 4.2.1 were used to perform statistical analyses. The chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used to compare enumeration data, and the *t*-test was used to compare measurement data. SSI was the dependent variable, and the other variables were the independent variables. Significant indicators of SSI after abdominal surgery (P < 0.05) were identified using the univariate analysis, and multivariate logistic regression was used to identify independent risk factors for SSI after abdominal SSI (P < 0.05). The "rms" package in R 4.2.1 was used to display the prediction model as a nomogram based on independent risk factors. A nomogram was used to calculate the probability of SSI after abdominal surgery. Scores are assigned to each index. Higher probabilities were associated with a higher score. Receiver operating characteristic curves were constructed, and the area under the curve (AUC) values were calculated. The higher the value, the higher the model's accuracy. The datasets analysed in the current study are not publicly available due to the hospital's restrictions on public resources and confidentiality requirements; however, they are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

RESULTS

A total of 3018 patients were included in this study. Of these, 150 patients were diagnosed with SSI, and 2868 were diagnosed with nonsurgical site infection. The median age of the patients was 45 years. Of the 3018 patients, 900 (29.8%) were males, 2118 (70.2%) were females, 1622 (53.7%) patients lived in urban areas, and 1396 (46.3%) patients lived in rural areas. A total of 539 (17.8%) patients had hypertension, and 402 (13.3%) patients had diabetes. The surgical site distribution was as follows: The uterus (42.2%), the liver (27.6%), the gastrointestinal tract (19.1%), the appendix (5.9%), the kidney (3.7%), and the groin area (1.4%).





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.387 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 The nomogram to construct a predictive model of abdominal surgical site infection. PCT: Procalcitonin; LDL: Lipoprotein cholesterol; NNIS: National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance.

> Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed on SSI development after abdominal surgery. Univariate analyses revealed that gender; age; marital status; place of residence; history of diabetes; the NRS 2002 score; the NNIS score; preoperative WBC, PCT, ALB, and LDL; preoperative antibiotic use; anaesthesia method, incision grade; intraoperative blood loss; intraoperative drainage; multiple tissue excision; surgical season; and surgical site were significantly associated with postoperative abdominal incision infection (P < 0.05) (Table 1).

> Multivariate analysis revealed that diabetes [odds ratio (OR) = 5.698, 95% confidence interval (CI): 3.305-9.825, *P* = 0.001]; antibiotic use (OR = 14.977, 95%CI: 2.865-78.299, *P* = 0.001); an NRS 2002 score of ≥ 3 (OR = 2.426, 95%CI: 1.199-4.909, *P* = 0.014); an NNIS score of ≥ 2 (OR = 2.362, 95%CI: 1.019-5.476, *P* = 0.045); PCT ≥ 0.05 μg/L (OR = 1.687, 95% CI: 1.056-2.695, P = 0.029); LDL < 3.37 mmol/L (OR = 1.719, 95% CI: 1.039-2.842, P = 0.035); surgical sites, such as the gastrointestinal tract (OR = 3.646, 95% CI: 1.097-12.121, *P* = 0.035), appendix (OR = 23.056, 95% CI: 6.944-76.548, *P* < 0.001), kidney (OR = 6.256, 95% CI: 1.377-29.361, *P* < 0.020), and the groin area (OR = 53.589, 95% CI: 10.354-277.357, *P* < 0.001); surgical seasons, including summer (OR = 18.948, 95%CI: 9.537-37.648, *P* < 0.001), autumn (OR = 2.648, 95%CI: 1.454-4.823, *P* = 0.001), and winter (OR = 0.481, 95% CI: 0.266-0.872, *P* = 0.016); incision grade III (OR = 11.226, 95% CI: 1.689-74.630, P = 0.012); general anaesthesia (OR = 3.334, 95% CI: 1.134-9.806, P = 0.029); intraoperative blood loss > 200 mL (OR = 29.026, 95% CI: 13.751-61.266, P < 0.001) were independent risk factors for SSI (Table 2).

> The multivariate analysis results were incorporated into the nomogram to construct a predictive model of SSI after abdominal surgery using R 4.2.1 (Figure 1). The following points were assigned to the patients based on the nomogram: 0 points for patients without a history of diabetes and 43 points for patients with a history of diabetes; 0 points for patients with a PCT level within the normal range and 19 points for patients with an abnormal PCT level; 0 points for patients with an LDL of \geq 3.37 mmol/L and 16 points for patients with an LDL of < 3.37 mmol/L; 0 points for patients with an NRS 2002 score of < 2and 17 points for patients with an NRS 2002 score of \geq 3; 0 points for patients with an NNIS score of \leq 2 and 12 points for patients with an NNIS score of ≥ 2 ; 0 points for patients who received non-general anaesthesia and 38 points for patients who received general anaesthesia; 0 points for preoperative antibiotic use and 71 points for no preoperative antibiotic use; 0 points for patients with an intraoperative blood loss of < 200 mL and 91 points for patients with an intraoperative blood loss of \ge 200 mL; 0 points if the surgical season was winter, 20 points if the surgical season was spring, 45 points if the surgical season was autumn, and 96 points if the surgical season was summer; in terms of the surgical site, the points were assigned as follows: 0 points for the uterus, 15 points for the liver, 45 points for the stomach, 51 points for the kidney, 82 points for the appendix, and 98 points for the groin area; in terms of the incision grade the points were assigned as follows: 0 points for grade I incision, 48 points for



Table 1 Univariate analysis of risk factors associated with surgical site infection						
Factors		SSI (<i>n</i> = 150)	NSSI (<i>n</i> = 2868)	X ²	P value	
Gender	Male	85	815	54.356	< 0.001	
	Female	65	2053			
Age	< 70 yr	83	2145	27.927	< 0.001	
	≥70 yr	67	723			
Marriage	Married	132	2678	10.006	0.007	
	Single	7	108			
	Others	11	82			
Residence	Rural	83	1313	5.232	0.022	
	Urban	67	1555			
Antibiotic use	Yes	14	66	27.316	< 0.001	
	No	136	2802			
Hypertension	Yes	20	519	2.204	0.138	
	No	130	2349			
Diabetes	Yes	46	356	41.137	< 0.001	
	No	104	2512			
Preoperative duration	< 7 d	108	2248	3.391	0.066	
	≥7 d	42	620			
NRS 2002	< 3	104	2652	44.853	< 0.001	
	≥3	46	216			
NNIS	<2	80	2420	96.634	< 0.001	
	≥2	70	448			
RBC (10 ¹² /L)	< 4	86	1565	0.44	0.507	
	≥ 4	64	1303			
WBC (10 ⁹ /L)	< 10	86	1943	7.017	0.008	
	≥10	64	925			
HB (g/L)	< 120	67	1473	2.555	0.11	
	≥ 120	83	1395			
PCT (µg/L)	< 0.05	58	1824	37.748	< 0.001	
	≥ 0.05	92	1044			
ALB (g/L)	< 35	105	1344	30.574	< 0.001	
	≥ 35	45	1524			
TG (mmol/L)	< 1.7	124	1503	0.433	0.511	
	≥1.7	26	365			
LDL (mmol/L)	< 3.37	95	1456	9.011	0.003	
	≥ 3.37	55	1412			
HDL (mmol/L)	< 1.55	79	1722	3.222	0.073	
	≥ 1.55	71	1146			
TC (mmol/L)	< 6.45	117	2149	0.718	0.397	
	≥ 6.45	33	719			
Blood loss (mL)	< 200	87	2401	65.118	< 0.001	
	≥ 200	63	467			



Zhang J et al. Prediction model for SSI

Drainage	Yes	103	1129	50.661	< 0.001
	No	47	1739		
Tension suture	Yes	7	72	Fisher	0.112
	No	143	2796		
Flushing	Yes	86	1596	0.164	0.685
	No	64	1272		
Item	Single	41	1443	30.12	< 0.001
	Multiple	109	1425		
Anesthesia	General	133	1969	26.525	< 0.001
	N-general	17	899		
Incision	Ι	8	95	228.143	< 0.001
	II	103	2702		
	III	39	71		
Season	Spring	36	825	301.157	< 0.001
	Summer	41	68		
	Autumn	42	382		
	Winter	31	1593		
Surgical site	Uterus	22	1252	188.267	< 0.001
	Liver	12	821		
	Gastrointestinal	76	501		
	Appendix	27	152		
	Kidney	5	107		
	Groin	8	35		

SSI: Surgical site infection; NNIS: National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance; NRS 2002: Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; RBC: Red blood cell; WBC: White blood cell; HB: Hemoglobin; PCT: Procalcitonin; ALB: Albumin; TG: Triglyceride; LDL: Lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL: High-density lipoprotein; TC: Total cholesterol.

> grade II incision, and 68 points for grade III incision. The total score was 500. The predictive value of SSI after abdominal surgery was 90% when the score was > 328. Overall, the predictive model had a significantly higher AUC value (0.926) than that of the NNIS (0.662) (Figure 2). SSI occurrence was significantly associated with the SSI risk score obtained on logistic regression. Particularly, the model was associated with an increased incidence of SSI (30%, 70%, 90%, and 100% for score cut-offs of 210-250, 250-290, 290-330, and > 330, respectively) as the SSI score increased in the validation cohort (Figure 3). Based on these results, we set up an online tool to better predict SSI risk after abdominal surgery established on the nomogram in this study (https://drzhangjinssi.shinyapps.io/DynNo/ mapp/).

DISCUSSION

SSI after abdominal surgery results in prolonged hospital LOS and significant hospitalisation costs[16]. A survey reported that the additional expenditure per SSI patient could support the hospitalisation costs of 13 normal surgical patients[8]. Therefore, the significance of SSI for hospitals, countries, and patients is obvious[17]. Over the past few years, several SSI prediction models have been developed to help clinicians identify high-risk patients who might benefit from early intervention. Due to its simplicity and convenience, the NNIS risk index is currently the method that is most frequently used. Its three variables, however, are insufficient for a precise evaluation[18,19]. Mu et al[20] established an SSI prediction model based on patient data from 39 countries between 2006 and 2008 [area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) = 0.67]. An accurate prediction model might be created using data from 39 additional; however, using such a model in clinical settings could be inconvenient. Although Van Walraven et al^[21] established a prediction model with an AUROC of 0.80; this model required substantial patient information. Medical personnel are overworked in settings where electronic



Table 2 Multivariate analysis of risk factors associated with surgical site infection					
Factors	OR	95%CI		<i>P</i> value	
The history of diabetes	5.698	3.305	9.825	0.001	
The use of antibiotic	14.977	2.865	78.299	0.001	
NRS 2002 ≥ 3	2.426	1.199	4.909	0.014	
NNIS≥2	2.362	1.019	5.476	0.045	
$PCT \ge 0.05 \ \mu g/L$	1.687	1.056	2.695	0.029	
LDL < 3.37 mmol/L	1.719	1.039	2.842	0.035	
General anesthesia	3.334	1.134	9.806	0.029	
Blood loss ≥ 200 mL	29.026	13.751	61.266	< 0.001	
Surgical site					
Uterus	Ref.				
Gastrointestinal	3.646	1.097	12.121	0.035	
Appendix	23.056	6.944	76.548	< 0.001	
Kidney	6.256	1.377	29.361	0.020	
Groin	53.589	10.354	277.357	< 0.001	
Incision					
Ι	Ref.				
III	11.226	1.689	74.630	0.012	
Season					
Spring	Ref.				
Summer	18.948	9.537	37.648	< 0.001	
Autumn	2.648	1.454	4.823	0.001	
Winter	0.481	0.266	0.872	0.016	

PCT: Procalcitonin; LDL: Lipoprotein cholesterol; NNIS: National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance; NRS 2002: Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval.

> medical records are not being used. Therefore, it is necessary to construct a prediction model which is accurate and easy to use. In this study, the SSI prediction model is relatively novel and efficient. It can be used to predict SSI after abdominal surgery, and the necessary information involved is within the scope of implementation, making it applicable. In this study, the SSI-related factors were retrospectively examined from the perspectives of fundamental preoperative patient data, preoperative blood test indicators, surgery-related data, and the overall patient condition score, including age, gender, marital status, WBC count, and intraoperative blood loss. Additionally, we included various comprehensive and representative factors, including the NRS 2002 and NNIS scores. Our model is innovative compared with other models [22,23]. Besides objective test indicators and the patient's personal information, the doctor can establish overall control and evaluate the patient's condition. This model is more practical and credible, as shown by the entire procedure and the AUROC result.

> The predictability of the SSI prediction model was comprehensively evaluated using univariate regression, multivariate logistic regression, and R 4.2.1 "rms". Identifying patients at high risk for SSI is important; however, intervention should be the primary action following identification. The SCIP items must first be completed, albeit not all of them need to be covered [24,25]. Furthermore, when patients undergo elective surgeries, the model should be used comprehensively to determine the probability of infection. SSI is more likely to occur when the prediction score is high, and precautions must be taken accordingly. Improving the patient's nutrition, appropriate anaesthesia methods, and reducing intraoperative blood loss will help prevent SSIs. Patients with an SSI monitor for post-discharge wound surveillance could help identify and manage the condition at the earliest using intelligent identification programs available in some developed regions of the world. This would improve the effectiveness of hospital visits and foster better communication between doctors and patients [26,27]. Additionally, a preoperative plan devised by a multidisciplinary team could lower the occurrence of SSI, particularly in critically ill patients, as well as help in a comprehensive assessment and symptomatic treatment[28].



Figure 2 The receiver operating characteristic curve of prediction model compared with National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance risk index in the validation cohort. AUROC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; NNIS: National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance.





There are four aspects to predicting SSI preoperatively: Assessment, intervention, diagnosis, and treatment, which are equally essential for managing SSI[29]. Multidisciplinary discussions and comprehensive step-by-step assessments can help lower the incidence of SSI, thereby improving patient satisfaction and recovery indexes.

The efficacy of our model has been verified; however, it has a few limitations. First, professionals diagnosed and selected the patients for this study; however, there may still be artificial errors that affect our model. Second, as the study was a retrospective analysis, potential selection bias could exist. The prediction model was created based on a broad cohort of patients undergoing abdominal surgery. The model needs constant improvement to be clinically used because the data were only from one institution, and the sample size was insufficient. This challenge could be categorised under clinical big data analysis, as reported by Ejaz et al[16]. Lastly, in terms of data analysis, several missing variables were excluded, and the model establishment expression form needs improvement.

The following will be considered in our future studies: (1) As a result of the promotion of diagnosisrelated groups payment system for hospitalised patients[30], the International Classification of Diseases code[31] will become increasingly standardised as it can be used to screen cases; (2) More validation cohorts need to be included, and patient information can be collected from different regions of the country and globally, making the model more convincing and resilient; (3) The patients' missing data



needs to be handled appropriately. Chen *et al*[1] suggested that other variables can be used to replace the factors with too many missing values. As a fundamental step, clinicians need to strengthen their ability to write medical records; and (4) The text content in the model will be embedded later and then applied to the entire HIS, making the process more efficient and accurate.

CONCLUSION

SSI prediction models are useful for hospitalised patients and have recently undergone continuous development. However, they lack reliability due to their complex and dynamic nature. Herein, we established a novel model for predicting SSI after abdominal surgery and verified its efficiency and accuracy in preventing postoperative SSI. We anticipate that our study will help improve patient prognosis after abdominal surgery.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Surgical site infections (SSIs) can increase mortality and prolong the length of hospital stay, thereby increasing healthcare costs. Therefore, it is much necessary to develop a prediction model after elective abdominal surgeries in order to identify risk factors of SSI.

Research motivation

To establish a predictive model for SSI which is more easily assess the risk of it. And provide timely interventions for high-risk patients to improve the quality of care so as to reduce medical costs and ease the burden on patients.

Research objectives

The present study aimed to develop a realistic, feasible, valid and unique model for predicting the risk of elective abdominal SSI.

Research methods

This observational study was conducted from January 1, 2018 to January 1, 2021 using patient demographic data and haematological test results. Inpatient SSI risk factors were evaluated using univariate analysis and multivariate logistic regression. Nomograms were used in the predictive models. The receiver operating characteristic and area under the curve values were used to measure the specificity and accuracy of the model.

Research results

The key findings indicated that the surgical sites included the uterus (42.2%), the liver (27.6%), the gastrointestinal tract (19.1%), the appendix (5.9%), the kidney (3.7%), and the groin area (1.4%). SSI occurred in 5% of the patients (n = 150). Multivariate logistic regression revealed the following independent risk factors: A history of diabetes, antibiotic use, a Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 score of \geq 3, general anaesthesia, a National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) score of \geq 2, procalcitonin \geq 0.05 µg/L, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol < 3.37 mmol/L, intraoperative blood loss \geq 200 mL, surgical season, surgical site, and incision grade (all P < 0.05. The overall area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of the predictive model was 0.926, which was significantly higher than that of the NNIS (0.662).

Research conclusions

The patient's condition and haematological test indicators formed the bases of our prediction model. It is a novel, efficient, and highly accurate predictive model for preventing postoperative SSI, thereby improving the prognosis in patients undergoing abdominal surgery.

Research perspectives

This study developed the accurate model for predicting the risk of elective abdominal SSI. We plan to make larger multi-centre and large sample studies in order to obtain more realistic and valid data results.

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Professor Xiang-Long Duan for contribution of this writing support and selfless help. In particular, the authors would like to thank the editors and reviewers of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery for the recognition of our research.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All the authors solely contributed to this paper; Zhang J, Xue F, Liu SD, Liu D and Wu YH designed the research study; Zhao D, Liu ZM, Ma WX and Han RL performed the research; Zhang J, Zhao D and Xue F analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Shan L and Duan XL were responsible for revising the manuscript for important intellectual content; and all authors read and approved the final version.

Supported by Key Research and Development Program of Shaanxi, No. 2020GXLH-Y-019 and 2022KXJ-141; Innovation Capability Support Program of Shaanxi, No. 2019GHJD-14 and 2021TD-40; Science and Technology Talent Support Program of Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, No. 2021LJ-05; 2023 Natural Science Basic Research Foundation of Shaanxi Province, No. 2023-JC-YB-739.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the Shaanxi Provincial People's Hospital, No. 2021-315.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Dataset available from the corresponding author at 584710525@qq.com. Participants gave informed consent for data sharing.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jin Zhang 0000-0002-7302-6477; Si-Da Liu 0000-0003-4766-3111; Liang Shan 0000-0002-6482-0919.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Fan JR

REFERENCES

- Chen W, Lu Z, You L, Zhou L, Xu J, Chen K. Artificial Intelligence-Based Multimodal Risk Assessment Model for Surgical Site Infection (AMRAMS): Development and Validation Study. JMIR Med Inform 2020; 8: e18186 [PMID: 32538798 DOI: 10.2196/18186]
- Waltz PK, Zuckerbraun BS. Surgical Site Infections and Associated Operative Characteristics. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2017; 2 18: 447-450 [PMID: 28448197 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2017.062]
- Strobel R, Kreis M, Lauscher JC. [Surgical site infections-Prevention and treatment strategies]. Chirurg 2021; 92: 385-394 3 [PMID: 33410973 DOI: 10.1007/s00104-020-01330-4]
- Lo Giudice D, Trimarchi G, La Fauci V, Squeri R, Calimeri S. Hospital infection control and behaviour of operating room staff. Cent Eur J Public Health 2019; 27: 292-295 [PMID: 31951688 DOI: 10.21101/cejph.a4932]
- Danwang C, Bigna JJ, Tochie JN, Mbonda A, Mbanga CM, Nzalie RNT, Guifo ML, Essomba A. Global incidence of surgical site infection after appendectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2020; 10: e034266 [PMID: 32075838 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034266]
- Shao J, Zhang H, Yin B, Li J, Zhu Y, Zhang Y. Risk factors for surgical site infection following operative treatment of ankle fractures: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Surg 2018; 56: 124-132 [PMID: 29929022 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2018.06.018
- 7 Shen YM. [Strategies on the prevention and treatment of surgical site infection and the resulting wound]. Zhonghua Shao Shang Za Zhi 2021; 37: 207-212 [PMID: 33706437 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.cn501120-20210105-00006]
- 8 Zhou J, Ma X. Cost-benefit analysis of craniocerebral surgical site infection control in tertiary hospitals in China. J Infect Dev Ctries 2015; 9: 182-189 [PMID: 25699493 DOI: 10.3855/jidc.4482]



- 9 Li PY, Yang D, Liu D, Sun SJ, Zhang LY. Reducing Surgical Site Infection with Negative-Pressure Wound Therapy After Open Abdominal Surgery: A Prospective Randomized Controlled Study. Scand J Surg 2017; 106: 189-195 [PMID: 27609528 DOI: 10.1177/1457496916668681]
- 10 Solomkin JS, Mazuski JE, Bradley JS, Rodvold KA, Goldstein EJ, Baron EJ, O'Neill PJ, Chow AW, Dellinger EP, Eachempati SR, Gorbach S, Hilfiker M, May AK, Nathens AB, Sawyer RG, Bartlett JG. Diagnosis and management of complicated intra-abdominal infection in adults and children: guidelines by the Surgical Infection Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2010; 11: 79-109 [PMID: 20163262 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2009.9930]
- Bressan AK, Aubin JM, Martel G, Dixon E, Bathe OF, Sutherland FR, Balaa F, Mimeault R, Edwards JP, Grondin SC, 11 Isherwood S, Lillemoe KD, Saeed S, Ball CG. Efficacy of a Dual-ring Wound Protector for Prevention of Surgical Site Infections After Pancreaticoduodenectomy in Patients With Intrabiliary Stents: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Ann Surg 2018; 268: 35-40 [PMID: 29240005 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002614]
- 12 Stulberg JJ, Delaney CP, Neuhauser DV, Aron DC, Fu P, Koroukian SM. Adherence to surgical care improvement project measures and the association with postoperative infections. JAMA 2010; 303: 2479-2485 [PMID: 20571014 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.841]
- Culver DH, Horan TC, Gaynes RP, Martone WJ, Jarvis WR, Emori TG, Banerjee SN, Edwards JR, Tolson JS, Henderson 13 TS. Surgical wound infection rates by wound class, operative procedure, and patient risk index. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System. Am J Med 1991; 91: 152S-157S [PMID: 1656747 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(91)90361-z]
- Grant R, Aupee M, Buchs NC, Cooper K, Eisenring MC, Lamagni T, Ris F, Tanguy J, Troillet N, Harbarth S, Abbas M. 14 Performance of surgical site infection risk prediction models in colorectal surgery: external validity assessment from three European national surveillance networks. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2019; 40: 983-990 [PMID: 31218977 DOI: 10.1017/ice.2019.163]
- 15 Endo S, Tsujinaka T, Fujitani K, Fujita J, Tamura S, Yamasaki M, Kobayashi S, Akamaru Y, Mizushima T, Shimizu J, Umeshita K, Ito T, Mori M, Doki Y, Risk factors for superficial incisional surgical site infection after gastrectomy: analysis of patients enrolled in a prospective randomized trial comparing skin closure methods. Gastric Cancer 2016; 19: 639-644 [PMID: 25862566 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-015-0494-z]
- Ejaz A, Schmidt C, Johnston FM, Frank SM, Pawlik TM. Risk factors and prediction model for inpatient surgical site 16 infection after major abdominal surgery. J Surg Res 2017; 217: 153-159 [PMID: 28595819 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2017.05.018]
- 17 Isbell KD, Hatton GE, Wei S, Green C, Truong VTT, Woloski J, Pedroza C, Wade CE, Harvin JA, Kao LS. Risk Stratification for Superficial Surgical Site Infection after Emergency Trauma Laparotomy. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2021; 22: 697-704 [PMID: 33404358 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2020.242]
- National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance System. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) System 18 Report, data summary from January 1992 through June 2004, issued October 2004. Am J Infect Control 2004; 32: 470-485 [PMID: 15573054 DOI: 10.1016/S0196655304005425]
- Ercole FF, Starling CE, Chianca TC, Carneiro M. Applicability of the national nosocomial infections surveillance system risk index for the prediction of surgical site infections: a review. Braz J Infect Dis 2007; 11: 134-141 [PMID: 17625742 DOI: 10.1590/s1413-867020070001000281
- 20 Mu Y, Edwards JR, Horan TC, Berrios-Torres SI, Fridkin SK. Improving risk-adjusted measures of surgical site infection for the national healthcare safety network. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2011; 32: 970-986 [PMID: 21931247 DOI: 10.1086/662016
- Van Walraven C, Musselman R. The Surgical Site Infection Risk Score (SSIRS): A Model to Predict the Risk of Surgical 21 Site Infections. PLoS One 2013; 8: e67167 [PMID: 23826224 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067167]
- 22 Bucher BT, Ferraro JP, Finlayson SRG, Chapman WW, Gundlapalli AV. Use of Computerized Provider Order Entry Events for Postoperative Complication Surveillance. JAMA Surg 2019; 154: 311-318 [PMID: 30586132 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.4874]
- 23 Haya N, Feiner B, Baessler K, Christmann-Schmid C, Maher C. Perioperative interventions in pelvic organ prolapse surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018; 8: CD013105 [PMID: 30121957 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013105]
- 24 Awad SS. Adherence to surgical care improvement project measures and post-operative surgical site infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2012; 13: 234-237 [PMID: 22913334 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2012.131]
- 25 Humphreys H. Preventing surgical site infection. Where now? J Hosp Infect 2009; 73: 316-322 [PMID: 19700219 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2009.03.028]
- 26 Koek MB, Wille JC, Isken MR, Voss A, van Benthem BH. Post-discharge surveillance (PDS) for surgical site infections: a good method is more important than a long duration. Euro Surveill 2015; 20 [PMID: 25742435 DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.es2015.20.8.21042
- Kummerow Broman K, Gaskill CE, Faqih A, Feng M, Phillips SE, Lober WB, Pierce RA, Holzman MD, Evans HL, 27 Poulose BK. Evaluation of Wound Photography for Remote Postoperative Assessment of Surgical Site Infections. JAMA Surg 2019; 154: 117-124 [PMID: 30422236 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.3861]
- Lin DM, Carson KA, Lubomski LH, Wick EC, Pham JC. Statewide Collaborative to Reduce Surgical Site Infections: 28 Results of the Hawaii Surgical Unit-Based Safety Program. J Am Coll Surg 2018; 227: 189-197.e1 [PMID: 29782913 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2018.04.031]
- 29 Noorit P, Siribumrungwong B, Thakkinstian A. Clinical prediction score for superficial surgical site infection after appendectomy in adults with complicated appendicitis. World J Emerg Surg 2018; 13: 23 [PMID: 29946346 DOI: 10.1186/s13017-018-0186-1]
- Malik AT, Li M, Khan SN, Alexander JH, Li D, Scharschmidt TJ. Are current DRG-based bundled payment models for 30 revision total joint arthroplasty risk-adjusting adequately? Bone Joint J 2020; 102-B: 959-964 [PMID: 32600143 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.102B7.BJJ-2019-1641.R1
- Bao W, Lin H, Zhang Y, Wang J, Zhang S. Medical code prediction via capsule networks and ICD knowledge. BMC Med 31 Inform Decis Mak 2021; 21: 55 [PMID: 34330264 DOI: 10.1186/s12911-021-01426-9]



S W 0

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 398-407

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Percutaneous management in hepatic alveolar echinococcosis: A sum of single center experiences and a brief overview of the literature

Suat Eren, Sonay Aydın, Mecit Kantarci, Volkan Kızılgöz, Akın Levent, Düzgün Can Şenbil, Okan Akhan

Specialty type: Radiology, nuclear medicine and medical imaging

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Corrales FJ, Spain; Tavan H, Iran

Received: November 24, 2022 Peer-review started: November 24, 2022 First decision: December 10, 2022 Revised: December 18, 2022

Accepted: February 14, 2023 Article in press: February 14, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Suat Eren, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Atatürk University, Erzurum 25100, Turkey

Sonay Aydın, Mecit Kantarci, Volkan Kızılgöz, Akın Levent, Düzgün Can Şenbil, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University, Erzincan 24100, Turkey

Okan Akhan, Department of Radiology, Hacettepe University, Ankara 06090, Turkey

Corresponding author: Düzgün Can Şenbil, MD, Academic Research, Doctor, Research Assistant, Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University, Hacı Ali akın Street, Erzincan 24100, Turkey. senbilcan@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Hepatic alveolar echinococcosis (HAE) is a serious zoonotic infection that affects humans. It may have a tumor-like appearance at times. Percutaneous treatment of HAE patients is extremely relaxing for them. HAE is a significant human zoonotic infection caused by the fox tapeworm Echinococcus Multilocularis larvae. It possesses the characteristics of an invasive tumor-like lesion due to its infiltrative growth pattern and protracted incubation period. The disease is endemic over central Europe, Asia, and North America.

AIM

To characterize HAE patients who were treated percutaneously, their outcomes, and the major technical features of percutaneous treatment in HAE.

METHODS

Patients who were treated with percutaneous cyst drainage and/or percutaneous biliary drainage were included in the study. Uncorrected abnormal coagulation values and solid or non-infected HAE with minor necrotic change were excluded.

RESULTS

Thirty-two patients underwent percutaneous cyst drainage, two patients underwent percutaneous biliary drainage, and four patients underwent percutaneous biliary drainage alone. Interventional radiology is utilized to drain echinococcal necrosis and abscesses within/without the liver, as well as diseased



and clogged bile ducts.

CONCLUSION

Percutaneous drainage of cyst contents and/or biliary channels using a minimally invasive technique is a very beneficial. Percutaneous cyst drainage with albendazole therapy improves quality of life in patients who are unable to undergo surgery, even when the mass resolves with long-term treatment.

Key Words: Interventional; Radiology; Treatment; Alveolar echinococcosis; Liver

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Interventional radiology is utilized to drain echinococcal necrosis and abscesses within/without the liver either as palliative operations or as a bridge to radical resection. Percutaneous cyst drainage with albendazole therapy improves quality of life in patients who are unable to undergo surgery, even when the mass resolves with long-term treatment.

Citation: Eren S, Aydın S, Kantarci M, Kızılgöz V, Levent A, Şenbil DC, Akhan O. Percutaneous management in hepatic alveolar echinococcosis: A sum of single center experiences and a brief overview of the literature. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2023; 15(3): 398-407

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/398.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398

INTRODUCTION

Hepatic alveolar echinococcosis (HAE) is a significant human zoonotic infection caused by the fox tapeworm *Echinococcus Multilocularis* larvae (EM). It possesses the characteristics of an invasive tumor-like lesion due to its infiltrative growth pattern and protracted incubation period. The disease is endemic over central Europe, Asia, and North America[1,2].

Percutaneous sterilization procedures, surgery, medication treatment, a "wait-and-see" approach, or a combination of these are available for management. In comparison, the clinical signs of alveolar echinococcosis (AE) are similar to those of a malignant, silently progressive liver disease, with local tissue infiltration and metastasis. Structured treatment is critical for AE management, which involves WHO staging, pharmacological therapy, and at least a decade of follow-up[3].

While excision of lesions or liver transplantation (LT) is the most successful treatment option when operable, the majority of patients require palliative care prior to open surgery due to the presence of comorbidities. Typically, the disease is identified at an irreversible stage. In certain instances, invasion of the bile ducts and arteries, as well as necrosis in the lesion's center, result in serious consequences such as cholangitis and liver abscesses. Palliative surgery has been shown to have little advantage in terms of care, while percutaneous and endoscopic techniques have increased in popularity. In these patients, percutaneous draining of the complex cyst and biliary tree may be employed as a minimally invasive technique[2,4-6].

The purpose of this study is to characterize the methods to treat HAE patients, the outcomes of the treatment options, and the major technical features of percutaneous treatment in HAE.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and diagnosis

Electronic archives were retrospectively evaluated to define the treatment options of the HAE patients between January 2012-December 2021. Patients were classified under two main subgroups: (1) surgical treatment: complete surgical excision and antihelmintic therapy, partial resection and antihelmintic therapy, LT; and (2) Interventional radiologic treatment: percutaneous cyst drainage, percutaneous cyst drainage only.

The first diagnosis was made mostly on the basis of conventional imaging findings such as computed tomography (CT) scans in three phases (hepatic artery, portal vein, and hepatic vein); ultrasound (US); immunoserologic testing with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; and, in some cases, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Age, gender data and the presence/frequency of the complications were noted.

Interventional radiologic treatment: Uncorrected abnormal coagulation values and solid or noninfected HAE with minor necrotic change were the main contraindications for interventional radiologic treatment. The big necrotic cyst or infected cyst with or without mass effect on the biliary tree and surrounding arteries were the selection criteria for percutaneous cyst drainage.

All cases were reviewed for percutaneous access to the cyst, application route, and selection of the appropriate imaging modality for guidance prior to draining. Generally, we preferred US entry advice. We chose CT guidance for cysts that were difficult to visualize with US (due to thick calcification of the cyst wall or conspicuous gas within the cyst). Patients with abnormal coagulation parameters were handled as soon as possible after hematologic correction. In situations of cholangitis or biliary obstruction due to mass invasion, percutaneous biliary drainage was performed. Seldinger's method was used to install drainage catheters (8-10 Fr). We employed both intercostal and subcostal techniques.

Statistical analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows 20 software was used to analyze the data (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the data conformed to a normal distribution. Numerical variables with a normal distribution were represented as mean \pm SD values and categorical variables as number (*n*) and percentage values (%). Age was compared across groups using the student's t test, and the frequency of complications was analyzed using the Chi-square test according to subgroups.

RESULTS

Patients

The current study included 125 patients, 67 (53.6%) of whom were female and 58 (46.4%) of whom were male. Mean age of the population was 53.6 ± 8.4 years, median age was 63 years (min-max; 41-82 years). Table 1 shows the detailed distribution of patients based on treatment options.

Surgical treatment

Mean age of the patients was 48.8 ± 3.4 years. 45 patients (51.7%) were female and 42 (48.2%) patients were male.

Complications were discovered in 15 (17.2%) patients: Fever (8 patients), hemorrage (4 patients), subphrenic infection (2 patient), bile leakage (1 patient).

Figures 1 and 2 demonstrate the significant radiologic findings of surgically treated patients.

Interventional radiologic treatment

Mean age of the patients was 64.5 ± 6.1 years, 20 patients (52.6%) were female and 18 (47.3%) patients were male.

Twenty-eight lesions mostly located in the right lobe (73.6 %) and 9 lesions primarily located in the left lobe (32.1%). There was bilateral involvement in one case (2.6%). Cyst infection was detected at 11 (28.9%) cases.

Intercostal route was used in six patients (15.7 %), whereas subcostal approach was preferred in the rest. All cysts were effectively drained, and no significant complications associated with catheter drainage were observed during follow-up. Complication rate was significantly higher in surgical treatment group than interventional radiologic treatment (P = 0.001). Catheters were replaced due to blockage or stenosis in six patients. All patients admitted prophylactic antibiotics and albendazole.

Figure 3 demonstrates the significant findings of interventional radiologic treatment. Table 2 contains further information about the patients covered.

Extrahepatic findings

There were no cases of extrahepatic alveolar echinococcosis in the surgical therapy group. Whereas, in the interventional radiologic treatment subgroup, six patients were diagnosed with extrahepatic alveolar echinococcosis: three in the lung, one in the adrenal gland, one in the brain (Figure 4), and one in the peritoneal cavity.

DISCUSSION

Alveolar echinococcosis is one of the most dangerous and potentially fatal zoonoses on the planet, and it appears to be spreading across Europe[1,7]. In 97 percent of patients, lesions begin in the liver. Due to the larva's slow growth rate, it behaves similarly to a slow-growing invasive tumor that eventually invades the liver parenchyma, arteries, and bile ducts. In severe HAE, the mass may invade all neighboring organs and spread hematogenously to distant organs such as the lungs and brain[8,9].



Table 1 Distribution of patients based on treatment options, n (%)						
Surgical treatment		Interventional radiologic treatment				
Complete surgical excision and antihelmintic therapy	60 (48)	Percutaneous cyst drainage	32 (25.6)			
Partial resection and antihelmintic therapy	23 (18.4)	Percutaneous cyst drainage with percutaneous biliary drainage	2 (1.6)			
Liver transplantation	4 (3.2%)	Percutaneous biliary drainage only	4 (3.2)			
Total	87 (69.6)	Total	38 (30.4)			



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Male, 28 years old. Hepatic alveolar echinococcosis is a serious infection that requires liver replacement. A: On axial portal venous phase contrast enhanced computed tomography, a large cystic mass is visible; B: After percutaneous treatment, the lesion's size has decreased, and a drainage catheter is visible (arrow); C: Percutaneous drainage was unable to heal the lesion, and liver transplantation was undertaken.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Female, 50-year-old. Treatment of hepatic alveolar echinococcosis with right hepatectomy. A: On axial portal venous phase contrast enhanced computed tomography, a large cystic mass is visible; B: After percutaneous treatment, the lesion's size has decreased, and a drainage catheter is visible (arrow); C: Percutaneous drainage was unable to heal the condition, and a right hepatectomy was performed.

> There are studies in the literature that show that familial factors may influence susceptibility to alveolar echinococcosis[10]. However, family clustering is extremely uncommon in alveolar echinococcus. The rate of blood ties between patients was found to be 13% in a study of 153 people. As a result, in the event of alveolar echinococcosis, the family should be screened with US[11].

> Immunoserologic studies based on the use of EM are useful in diagnosing and determining the EM agent. In the United States, HAE lesions frequently present as ill-defined heterogeneous infiltrations. While necrosis and infection cause hypoechoic foci inside the mass, hyperechoic zones are associated with fibro-parasitic tissue and dispersed calcifications. CT demonstrates the invading mass's characteristic calcifications more clearly. Triphasic contrast enhanced CT imaging is very beneficial for determining the vascular and biliary extension and invasion of neighboring tissue. With its high sensitivity to soft tissue, MRI is extremely useful for detecting satellite liver lesions, invasions, and central nervous system lesions, as well as examining the biliary tract[12].

> Due to the sluggish growing rate of cysts, there is typically an asymptomatic phase before diagnosis of several years. The clinical appearance is similar to that of slow-growing liver cancer, and severe illness almost always involves invasion of the biliary and vascular walls. Although it is always fatal if not properly treated, early detection and treatment offer a better prognosis[13,14].

> Although radical liver resection is the preferred method of treatment in order to prevent palliative surgical procedures, total excision of the mass is frequently not possible. LT should be regarded as a viable option for life-saving treatment. LT, on the other hand, is not always feasible and is contrain-



Table 2 D	Table 2 Details of the included patients					
No.	Age/gender	Location of cyst	Cystic content	Percutaneous treatment	Surgery	
1	35/M	RL	Infected	PD	LT	
2	47/F	LL	Non-infected	PD	No	
3	58/F	RL	Non-infected	PD-PBD	No	
4	60/F	LL	Non-infected	PD	No	
5	37/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	Right lobectomy	
6	66/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
7	33/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
8	36/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
9	36/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
10	52/F	RL	Infected	PD-PBD	LT	
11	57/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
12	33/F	RL	Infected	PD	Right lobectomy	
13	26/F	RL	Infected	PD	Right lobectomy	
14	62/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
15	39/M	LL	Infected	PD	No	
16	59/M	LL	Non-infected	PD	No	
17	66/F	LL	Non-infected	PD	No	
18	21/F	LL	Infected	PD	Left lobectomy	
19	24/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
20	35/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
21	51/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	Right lobectomy	
22	44/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
23	28/M	RL	Infected	PD	LT	
24	57/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	LT	
25	71/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
26	17/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
27	39/F	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
28	71/F	RL	Infected	PD	No	
29	50/F	RL	Infected	PD	Right lobectomy	
30	34/M	Bilateral	Non-infected	PD	No	
31	28/M	RL	Non-infected	PD	No	
32	50/M	LL	Non-infected	PD	Left lobectomy	
33	15/M	LL	Infected	PD	Inoperable	
34	61/M	RL	Infected	PD	Inoperable	
35	45/F	LL	Non-infected	PBD	No	
36	53/F	RL	Non-infected	PBD	LT	
37	25/F	RL	Non-infected	PBD	LT	
38	43/F	RL	Non-infected	PBD	LT	

PD: Percutaneous drainage of cyst; PBD: Percutaneous biliary drainage; RL: Right lobe of liver; LL: Left lobe of liver; M: Male; F: Female.

Raisbideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Female, 32-year-old. A: Alveolar Echinococcosis at right liver lobe, with typical peripheral calcifications and large central necrosis; B: 3D image in the coronal plane illustrates the location of the percutaneous drainage catheter and the external biliary drainage catheter in the patient; C: Drainage catheter can be seen in within the lesion (arrow); D: The shrunken lesion cavity and the regression of the dilatation in the left intrahepatic bile ducts are illustrated by 3D coronal plane image. PDC: Percutaneous drainage catheter; IVC: Inferior vena cava; EBDC: External biliary drainage catheter; LHV: Left hepatic vein; RHD: Right hepatic duct; LHD: Left hepatic duct; CHA: Common hepatic artery; HPV: Hepatic portal vein; CBD: Common biliary duct; Gb: Gallbladder; CD: Cystic duct.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.398 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Male, 45 years old. A and B: Axial magnetic resonance imaging demonstrates enhancing brain lesions associated with alveolar echinococcosis (circles). Alveolar Echinococcosis is also prevalent in the parenchyma of the left lung (arrow); C: Percutaneous drainage was performed; typical calcifications (white arrow) are visible, as is the drainage catheter (black arrow); D: 3D axial plane cross sectional illustration image shows the percutaneous drainage catheter placement in the lesion cavity. PDC: Percutaneous drainage catheter; IVC: Inferior vena cava; Ao: Abdominal aorta; IVC: Inferior vena cava; St: Stomach; Sp: Spleen.

dicated in patients with residual or metastatic HAE[15,16]. Depending on the degree of liver surgery, documented complication rates ranged from 15% to 36%, and fatality rates after excision ranged from 3% to 4.2%[17]. Similarly to the literature, the complication rate of surgical treatment in our sample was 17.2%, but we identified no issues in the interventional radiologic treatment subgroup, despite having a higher mean age. This suggests that interventional radiological therapy may be a viable treatment option for alveolar echinococcosis.

Baishidena® WJGS https://www.wjgnet.com

Despite all major surgical procedures, only half of the patients recovered completely. Interventional radiological treatments have been developed over time and have replaced palliative surgeries[18,19]. Drugs that inhibit parasitic growth are also crucial in the treatment of alveolar echinococci. In a series of 37 patients, Bresson-Hadni *et al*[14] used a multidisciplinary approach. In comparison to the past, only one patient received a liver transplant, and palliative surgery rates dropped by 80% in the literature.

HAE lesions are divided into three types: solid, pseudocystic, and mixed. While percutaneous cyst drainage can be performed in pseudocystic and mixed forms, percutaneous biliary drainage can be performed in any form as a palliative treatment for biliary stasis[20].

Cyst enlargement may result in compression or obstruction of the circulatory and biliary systems. Cyst necrosis and infection are two primary factors that contribute to fast cyst growth. The mass's inadequate vascularization frequently results in necrosis in the center portion of the lesion. Necrosis increases the intra-cystic pressure and mass effect, which may result in biliary stasis, cysto-biliary fistula, or necrotic cyst content rupture into the peritoneal and/or pleural space. With lower intracystic pressure, catheter drainage of necrotic material minimizes these problems[21].

Cyst infection is a significant consequence of HAE and may present acutely as cholangitis and septicemia, mimicking a liver abscess. Catheter drainage of infected cysts, such as liver abscess, should be performed until favorable conditions for major surgery are achieved. Because surgical therapy is contraindicated in acutely infected cysts, transcatheter drainage of a life-threatening bacterial or fungal infection within the cyst may be performed as a bridge operation in symptomatic patients prior to a curative surgical procedure. Catheter drainage can alleviate both the symptoms associated with abscess and the compressive symptoms on the arteries and biliary tree[8,21]. Eleven of our patients with infected cystic content were successfully treated with drainage.

In cases of infectious manifestations of centro-parasitic abscess or cholangitis, radiological interventional procedures are extremely useful. Percutaneous drainage of massive centro-parasitic abscesses, combined with systemic antibiotics, significantly improves the patient's clinical status. It is especially useful in elderly patients for whom a partial hepatectomy is not an option. Radiological interventional procedures are also very helpful in cases of cholangitis caused by parasitic tissue infiltration of the biliary tree and the resulting fibro-inflammatory reaction[22].

Biliary blockage symptoms typically emerge as a result of direct invasion of the major bile ducts or as a result of HAE's mass effect. Cholangitis symptoms may also be present as a result of parasite mass connection with bile ducts or pigment stones accumulating above a parasitic biliary stenosis[8]. Biliary blockage and cholangitis result in a more rapid decline in liver function, as well as mass destruction of the liver tissue. In these instances, if the patient has a large necrotic mass, we choose cyst drainage to alleviate tension on the biliary tree and major arteries. In certain cases, biliary stasis symptoms may improve with cyst draining alone due to the cyst's reduction in size. If biliary invasion and extensive cysto-biliary fistulas are present, the bile content of the cyst can be drained concurrently with the cyst content without extra biliary drainage. If these individuals benefit just from cyst drainage, this approach may be beneficial in avoiding the use of several catheters and may be sufficient in the interim till surgery. If patients have not demonstrated sufficient benefit from cyst draining, catheterization of one or two sides of the biliary tree should alleviate symptoms of biliary stasis.

In patients who are unable to undergo surgery, percutaneous cyst drainage and/or percutaneous biliary drainage with albendazole medication are the only treatment options available to protect these patients from re-infection, rupture, and to alleviate compressive symptoms. Biliary stenting may be combined with percutaneous biliary drainage or cyst draining if necessary[2]. We also have examples extrahepatic alveolar echinococcosis. Percutaneous cyst draining was used to treat one incidence of metastases to peritoneal cavity due to infected cystic material. Another case with cerebral metastases was treated with percutaneous draining of the infected cyst and albendazole (10 mg/kg) medical treatment. Extrahepatic involvement was not uncommon in patients treated with interventional radiologic procedures, according to our patient sample. The relevance of the radiologic workup before deciding on the sort of treatment is highlighted at this point. Extensive exams for extrahepatic involvement, particularly with CT or MRI, can aid in determining the best course of treatment.

Although percutaneous drainage is extremely beneficial in HAE patients, our cases had certain restrictions. Transcatheter draining of alveolar cysts is more challenging than conventional cyst drainage. To begin, we generally opted to apply US instructions. Nonetheless, the cyst's appearance was obscured in some cases due to significant calcification or strong fibrosis. In some patients, CT guidance for needle entry and catheter placement may be required. Second, the cyst capsule proved difficult to puncture due to its rigid nature. As a result, we are required to employ a thick needle for entrance and to dilate the tract prior to catheter drainage installation. Prior to catheter implantation, it is beneficial to lower positive pressure within the cyst *via* cystic content aspiration to minimize peritoneal seeding in these circumstances. Nonetheless, catheter exchange is required in the majority of patients undergoing follow-up.

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

Interventional radiology is utilized to drain echinococcal necrosis and abscesses within/without the liver, as well as diseased and clogged bile ducts, in HAE cases, either as palliative operations or as a bridge to radical resection. These techniques not only relieve pressure on the hepatic arteries and biliary path, but also make surgical resection easier by minimizing peripheral granulation tissue. In acutely infected patients, percutaneous drainage of cyst contents and/or biliary channels using a minimally invasive technique is a very beneficial, if not required, surgery that can save lives in some circumstances. Percutaneous cyst drainage with albendazole therapy improves quality of life in patients who are unable to undergo surgery, even when the mass resolves with long-term treatment.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Alveolar echinococcus is a zoonotic infection that can be fatal in humans. In our study, we conducted a brief assessment of the role of interventional radiology in the treatment of alveolar echinococcus.

Research motivation

Despite radical surgical procedures, the rate of complete recovery from alveolar echinococcus is quite low. Patients can benefit greatly from an increase in the success rates of treatments performed with interventional radiology.

Research objectives

The goal of our research is to compare the success rates of interventional radiological methods to surgical methods.

Research methods

Our clinic's experience and those mentioned in the literature, as well as surgical methods, were compared.

Research results

Interventional radiology can be used to treat infected alveolar echinococci in particular.

Research conclusions

Interventional radiology can be used to treat infected alveolar echinococci in particular. Palliative surgery rates may thus fall.

Research perspectives

In our study, it was aimed to provide convenience for the patient and save time and money by advancing interventional radiological treatment methods in the treatment of alveolar echinococcus.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Eren S, Aydın S and Kantarcı M contributed with data acquisition; Kızılgöz V performed the statistical analysis; Levent A, Senbil DC and Akhan O contributed to study design; Eren S and Kızılgöz V contributed to critical analysis; Senbil DC and Aydın S contributed to writing and critical review of the manuscript; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The Ethics and Research Board of the Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University faculty of medicine approved the study, No. EBYU-KAEK-2020-001-297.

Informed consent statement: Written informed consent was obtained from the participants.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Data used in this study is available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

ORCID number: Sonay Aydın 0000-0002-3812-6333; Mecit Kantarci 0000-0002-1043-6719; Düzgün Can Şenbil 0000-0003-0233-7371.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- Romig T, Deplazes P, Jenkins D, Giraudoux P, Massolo A, Craig PS, Wassermann M, Takahashi K, de la Rue M. Ecology and Life Cycle Patterns of Echinococcus Species. Adv Parasitol 2017; 95: 213-314 [PMID: 28131364 DOI: 10.1016/bs.apar.2016.11.002
- Kantarci M, Bayraktutan U, Karabulut N, Aydinli B, Ogul H, Yuce I, Calik M, Eren S, Atamanalp SS, Oto A. Alveolar echinococcosis: spectrum of findings at cross-sectional imaging. Radiographics 2012; 32: 2053-2070 [PMID: 23150858 DOI: 10.1148/rg.327125708]
- 3 Kern P, Menezes da Silva A, Akhan O, Müllhaupt B, Vizcaychipi KA, Budke C, Vuitton DA. The Echinococcoses: Diagnosis, Clinical Management and Burden of Disease. Adv Parasitol 2017; 96: 259-369 [PMID: 28212790 DOI: 10.1016/bs.apar.2016.09.006
- 4 Bulakçı M, Kartal MG, Yılmaz S, Yılmaz E, Yılmaz R, Şahin D, Aşık M, Erol OB. Multimodality imaging in diagnosis and management of alveolar echinococcosis: an update. Diagn Interv Radiol 2016; 22: 247-256 [PMID: 27082120 DOI: 10.5152/dir.2015.15456]
- Dagoglu-Kartal MG, Ciftci T, Ozer C, Akinci D, Akhan O. Case Report: Role of Interventional Radiology in the Management of Patients with Alveolar Echinococcus: Successful Management of Three Cases. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2018; 98: 1403-1407 [PMID: 29611496 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.17-0089]
- 6 Koroglu M, Akhan O, Gelen MT, Koroglu BK, Yildiz H, Kerman G, Oyar O. Complete resolution of an alveolar echinococcosis liver lesion following percutaneous treatment. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2006; 29: 473-478 [PMID: 16228851 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-005-0017-0]
- 7 Brehm K. The role of evolutionarily conserved signalling systems in Echinococcus multilocularis development and hostparasite interaction. Med Microbiol Immunol 2010; 199: 247-259 [PMID: 20376483 DOI: 10.1007/s00430-010-0154-1]
- Bresson-Hadni S, Miguet JP, Mantion G, Giraudoux P, Vuitton DA. L'échinococcose alvéolaire: une maladie comparable à un cancer du foie à marche lente [Alveolar echinococcosis: a disease comparable to a slow growing cancer]. Bull Acad Natl Med 2008; 192: 1131-1138 [PMID: 19235477]
- Moray G, Shahbazov R, Sevmis S, Karakayali H, Torgay A, Arslan G, Savas N, Yilmaz U, Haberal M. Liver transplantation in management of alveolar echinococcosis: two case reports. Transplant Proc 2009; 41: 2936-2938 [PMID: 19765480 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.07.022]
- 10 Vuitton DA, Zhang SL, Yang Y, Godot V, Beurton I, Mantion G, Bresson-Hadni S. Survival strategy of Echinococcus multilocularis in the human host. Parasitol Int 2006; 55 Suppl: S51-S55 [PMID: 16360335 DOI: 10.1016/j.parint.2005.11.007]
- Yang YR, Ellis M, Sun T, Li Z, Liu X, Vuitton DA, Bartholomot B, Giraudoux P, Craig PS, Boufana B, Wang Y, Feng X, 11 Wen H, Ito A, McManus DP. Unique family clustering of human echinococcosis cases in a chinese community. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2006; 74: 487-94 [PMID: 16525111]
- Bresson-Hadni S, Delabrousse E, Grenouillet F, Mantion G, Vuitton DA. [Alveolar echinococcosis: how to confirm the 12 diagnosis? Bull Acad Natl Med 2008; 192: 1141-1149 [PMID: 19235478]
- Piarroux M, Piarroux R, Giorgi R, Knapp J, Bardonnet K, Sudre B, Watelet J, Dumortier J, Gérard A, Beytout J, Abergel 13 A, Mantion G, Vuitton DA, Bresson-Hadni S. Clinical features and evolution of alveolar echinococcosis in France from 1982 to 2007: results of a survey in 387 patients. J Hepatol 2011; 55: 1025-1033 [PMID: 21354448 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.02.018
- 14 Bresson-Hadni S, Delabrousse E, Blagosklonov O, Bartholomot B, Koch S, Miguet JP, Mantion GA, Vuitton DA. Imaging aspects and non-surgical interventional treatment in human alveolar echinococcosis. Parasitol Int 2006; 55 Suppl: S267-S272 [PMID: 16403670 DOI: 10.1016/j.parint.2005.11.053]
- Kawamura N, Kamiyama T, Sato N, Nakanishi K, Yokoo H, Kamachi H, Tahara M, Yamaga S, Matsushita M, Todo S. 15 Long-term results of hepatectomy for patients with alveolar echinococcosis: a single-center experience. J Am Coll Surg 2011; 212: 804-812 [PMID: 21398158 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.02.007]
- 16 Vuitton DA, Bresson-Hadni S, Giraudoux P, Bartholomot B, Laplante JJ, Delabrousse E, Blagosklonov O, Mantion G. [Alveolar echinococcosis: from an incurable rural disease to a controlled urban infection]. Presse Med 2010; 39: 216-230 [PMID: 19423275 DOI: 10.1016/j.lpm.2008.10.028]
- Salm LA, Lachenmayer A, Perrodin SF, Candinas D, Beldi G. Surgical treatment strategies for hepatic alveolar 17 echinococcosis. Food Waterborne Parasitol 2019; 15: e00050 [PMID: 32095621 DOI: 10.1016/j.fawpar.2019.e00050]
- 18 Bresson-Hadni S, Vuitton DA, Bartholomot B, Heyd B, Godart D, Meyer JP, Hrusovsky S, Becker MC, Mantion G, Lenys D. Miguet JP. A twenty-year history of alveolar echinococcosis: analysis of a series of 117 patients from eastern France. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000; 12: 327-336 [PMID: 10750654 DOI: 10.1097/00042737-200012030-00011]
- Roche G, Canton P, Gerard A, Colin D, Boissel P, Chaulieu C, Dureux JB. Essai de traitement de l'échinococcose alvé olaire par le flubendazole. A propos de 7 observations. Med Mal Infect 1982; 12: 218-230 [DOI: 10.1016/s0399-077x(82)80036-x]



- 20 Liu YH, Wang XG, Gao JS, Qingyao Y, Horton J. Continuous albendazole therapy in alveolar echinococcosis: long-term follow-up observation of 20 cases. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2009; 103: 768-778 [PMID: 19457528 DOI: 10.1016/j.trstmh.2009.04.006]
- 21 Matsumoto J, Yagi K. Experimental studies on Echinococcus multilocularis in Japan, focusing on biohazardous stages of the parasite. Exp Parasitol 2008; 119: 534-541 [PMID: 18396283 DOI: 10.1016/j.exppara.2008.02.008]
- 22 Vuitton DA, Mantion G, Million L, Bresson-Hadni S. [Échinococcose alvéolaire]. Rev Prat 2020; 70: 754-764 [PMID: 33739723]



S WŰ

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Surgery*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 408-419

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Clinical features of acute esophageal mucosal lesions and reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D: A retrospective study

Chikamasa Ichita, Akiko Sasaki, Sayuri Shimizu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology
and hepatologyChikamasa Ichita, Akiko Sasaki, Department of Gastroenterology Medicine Center, Shonan
Kamakura General Hospital, Kamakura 247-8533, Kanagawa, JapanProvenance and peer review:
Unsolicited article; Externally peerChikamasa Ichita, Sayuri Shimizu, Department of Health Data Science, Yokohama City
University, Yokohama 236–0027, Kanagawa, Japan

Corresponding author: Chikamasa Ichita, MD, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology Medicine Center, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, 1370-1 Okamoto, Kamakura 247-8533, Kanagawa, Japan. ichikamasa@yahoo.co.jp

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Acute esophageal mucosal lesions (AEMLs) are an underrecognized and largely unexplored disease. Endoscopic findings are similar, and a higher percentage of AEML could be misdiagnosed as reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D (RE-D). These diseases could have different pathologies and require different treatments.

AIM

To compare AEML and RE-D to confirm that the two diseases are different from each other and to clarify the clinical features of AEML.

METHODS

We selected emergency endoscopic cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding with circumferential esophageal mucosal injury and classified them into AEML and RE-D groups according to the mucosal injury's shape on the oral side. We examined patient background, blood sampling data, comorbidities at onset, endoscopic characteristics, and outcomes in each group.

RESULTS

Among the emergency cases, the AEML and RE-D groups had 105 (3.1%) and 48 (1.4%) cases, respectively. Multiple variables exhibited significantly different results, indicating that these two diseases are distinct. The clinical features of AEML consisted of more comorbidities [risk ratio (RR): 3.10; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.68–5.71; *P* < 0.001] and less endoscopic hemostasis compared with RE-D (RR: 0.25; 95% CI: 0.10–0.63; *P* < 0.001). Mortality during hospitalization was

reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Cicala M, Italy; Zhuang ZH, China

Received: November 25, 2022 Peer-review started: November 25, 2022 First decision: January 23, 2023 Revised: January 27, 2023 Accepted: March 3, 2023 Article in press: March 3, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



higher in the AEML group (RR: 3.43; 95% CI: 0.82-14.40; P = 0.094), and stenosis developed only in the AEML group.

CONCLUSION

AEML and RE-D were clearly distinct diseases with different clinical features. AEML may be more common than assumed, and the potential for its presence should be taken into account in cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding with comorbidities.

Key Words: Acute esophageal mucosal lesion; Comorbidities; Esophageal reflux; Black esophagus; Acute necrotizing esophagitis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The pathogenesis of acute esophageal mucosal lesion (AEML) is uncertain and is frequently misdiagnosed as reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D (RE-D). Therefore, we compared the clinical features of AEML and RE-D using a single-center retrospective study. These esophageal diseases were distinguished based on the oral shape of the esophageal mucosal injury. Our results suggest AEML cases may be more prevalent than previously thought, as twice as many AEML cases were observed than RE-D cases. We found clear differences between these diseases and recommend that AEML is considered in cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding.

Citation: Ichita C, Sasaki A, Shimizu S. Clinical features of acute esophageal mucosal lesions and reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D: A retrospective study. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 408-419

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/408.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408

INTRODUCTION

Acute esophageal mucosal lesion (AEML) is proposed in Japan and other Asian countries as a disease concept that unites black and non-black esophagus[1]. The proportion of black esophagus is quite rare, accounting for 0.2% and 3% in upper and emergency endoscopy for upper gastrointestinal bleeding, respectively [2,3]. A severe case of AEML is considered a black esophagus [4]. AEML is observed mainly in older males with severe comorbidities presenting with upper gastrointestinal bleeding[5-7]. Circulatory insufficiency and gastric acid reflux have been suggested as factors associated with AEML [6-8]. However, the actual pathogenesis of AEML remains uncertain, and the disease has many indistinct aspects, including its clinical characteristics.

The endoscopic features of AEML include circumferential diffuse mucosal injury of the lower esophagus and sharp changes at the squamocolumnar junction [5]. This finding is similar to reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D (RE-D). Consequently, AEML is frequently misdiagnosed as RE-D. Although reports have compared AEML with reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade C (RE-C) and RE-D[1], no studies have compared AEML with RE-D.

Therefore, this study aimed to clarify that AEML and RE-D are different diseases and to investigate the clinical features of AEML by comparing them with those of RE-D, which is a relatively established disease concept. Furthermore, since only a few studies have investigated the necessity for endoscopic hemostasis and outcomes such as stenosis development and in-hospital mortality, we also examined subjects with these outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This was a single-center, retrospective study.

Patients

We assessed the medical records of all patients who underwent emergency upper endoscopy at Shonan Kamakura General Hospital in Kanagawa, Japan, between October 2016 and May 2022. Emergency upper endoscopy was defined as endoscopy performed within 24 h of the request. We included patients with diffuse circumferential mucosal injury of the esophagus and excluded patients with corrosive



esophagitis, radiation esophagitis, infectious esophagitis, eosinophilic esophagitis, esophageal pemphigoid, and systemic sclerosis. We also excluded obstructive symptoms caused by tumors or ileus or post-upper gastrointestinal tract surgery.

Definitions

We categorized the patients into groups based on the esophageal mucosal injury's shape on the oral side [1]. The RE-D group was defined as esophageal mucosal injuries that tapered off radially toward the oral side (Figure 1). In contrast, the AEML group was defined as esophageal mucosal injuries untapered radially toward the oral side and extended circumferentially (Figure 2). In the AEML group, black esophagus was defined as black esophageal mucosa appearing circumferentially (Figure 3A). We diagnosed black esophagus if a small amount of the black component was discovered (Figure 3B). However, the mucosa that did not meet this definition was considered non-black esophagus. These endoscopic findings were confirmed by two expert endoscopists (CI and AS), who were assigned to each group if their diagnoses were both consistent. Cases that did not match the two endoscopists' diagnoses were excluded from this study. If multiple upper endoscopies were performed on the same patient, only the first episode of the most severe disease was used for analysis.

Sample size

We did not set the case number in this study since the prevalence of AEML remains uncertain.

Variables and outcomes

We compared the following factors between these two groups: Age, sex, chief complaint (hematemesis, black vomit, and black stool), presence of shock vitality, underlying conditions (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, coronary artery disease, liver cirrhosis, and previous malignancy), medications (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs), antithrombotic drugs, steroids, antibiotics, and acid inhibitors, comorbidities at onset, blood sampling data (white blood cell, C-reactive protein, hemoglobin, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, albumin, blood glucose, and lactate), endoscopic findings (need for hemostasis, esophageal hiatal hernia, gastric ulcer, duodenal ulcer, and atrophic gastritis), and other outcomes (presence of stenosis post-onset and mortality during hospitalization).

Shock vitality was defined as a shock index of > 1 at the time of presentation[9,10]. Blood sampling data were collected at the time of admission. Previous malignancy was defined as a previous diagnosis of malignant disease, regardless of the degree of progression, and those currently inactive. Acid inhibitors included proton-pump inhibitors (PPI), histamine H2-receptor antagonists, and potassiumcompetitive acid blockers. Comorbidities at onset indicated diseases that were simultaneously observed when the patient presented with an episode of upper gastrointestinal bleeding, and treatment for malignancy was defined as a non-surgical treatment for malignancy, such as chemotherapy. Prerenal failure was defined as a creatinine level of > 1.5 mg/dL and fractional excretion of sodium of < 1% or urea nitrogen of < 35% [11]. Esophageal hiatal hernia was defined as an indirect finding of an esophageal hiatus widened by two or more scopes in the retroflex view (Figure 4)[12]. Atrophic gastritis, where a mucosal change was caused by Helicobacter pylori infection, was diagnosed by the vascular pattern associated with loss of gastric mucosal glands and loss of folds[13,14]. Patients with esophageal stenosis were considered to have stenosis when it was difficult to pass the upper endoscope (GIF-H260 or GIF-H290Z; Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) within 6 mo.

Statistical analysis

Parametric and non-parametric continuous values were reported using mean ± standard deviation and median and interquartile ranges, respectively. Categorical variables are reported using numbers and percentages. Continuous and categorical values were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test and Fisher's exact test, respectively. A two-sided P value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Risk ratios (RRs), including 95% confidence intervals (CIs), and effect sizes (r) were calculated for binary and continuous outcomes, respectively[15]. All statistical analyses were performed using EZR version 1.55[16], which is a package for R statistical software (https://www.r-project.org/). Specifically, it is a modified version of the R commander designed to add statistical functions that are frequently used in biostatistics. The statistical methods of this study were reviewed by Sayuri Shimizu from the Department of Health Data Science, Yokohama City University.

RESULTS

Upper endoscopies were performed in 47254 cases, of which 3362 (7.1%) were emergency upper endoscopies. Of the emergency upper endoscopies, diffuse circumferential mucosal injury of the esophagus occurred in 209 cases (6.2%). Forty-nine cases were excluded based on the exclusion criteria. The expert endoscopists did not match the diagnosis in seven cases. The patients were classified into the AEML (n = 105) and RE-D (n = 48) groups. Among all upper endoscopic cases, AEML and RE-D accounted for 0.2% and 0.1%, respectively, whereas among all emergency upper endoscopic cases,




DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Visual definition of endoscopic findings regarding reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D. A: In the lower esophagus; fused; the circumferential mucosal injury; B: Oral mucosal injury radially tapered off toward the oral side.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Visual definition of the endoscopic findings regarding the acute esophageal mucosal lesion. A: In the lower esophagus; fused; the circumferential mucosal injury; B: Oral mucosal injury was not spiny-shaped.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Visual definition of endoscopic findings regarding black esophagus. A: In the acute esophageal mucosal lesions group, black esophagus was defined as circumferentially appearing black esophageal mucosa; B: Even with a small amount of black component, we diagnosed black esophagus.

Baishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Visual definition of a hiatal hernia. Esophageal hiatal hernia was defined as a widening of the hilum with two or more scopes in the retroflex view of the endoscope.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 Flow diagram of patient inclusion and exclusion. AEML: Acute esophageal mucosal lesions; RE-D: Reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D.

AEML and RE-D accounted for 3.1% and 1.4%, respectively. In the AEML group, black and non-black esophagus accounted for 19 (18%) and 86 (82%) cases, respectively (Figure 5). Patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. AEML was more common in a younger age group (AEML group *vs* RE-D group; median 75.0 years *vs* 87.0 years; P < 0.001) and in male patients (58.1% *vs* 27.1%; RR: 2.15; 95%CI: 1.31–3.51; P < 0.001). Although no significant differences were observed regarding main complaints or the presence of shock vitality (27.6% *vs* 16.7%; RR: 1.66; 95%CI: 0.82–3.35; P = 0.16), patients with AEML were significantly more likely to have an underlying condition of diabetes mellitus (22.1% *vs* 8.3%; RR: 2.63; 95%CI: 0.96–7.18; P = 0.043) and previous malignancy (28.6% *vs* 10.4%; RR: 2.74; 95%CI: 1.13–6.63; P = 0.013). No significant difference was found in the type of medication administered. The blood sampling data showed significant differences in all collected items except for albumin levels (Table 2).

<table-container><table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row></table-container>	Table 1 Patient background and medications, n (%)						
<table-container><table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row></table-container>		AEML (<i>n</i> = 105)					
<table-container><table-row><table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row></table-row></table-container>	Parameter	Black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 19)	Non-black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 86)	RE-D (<i>n</i> = 48)	Risk ratio (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value	
<table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row>	Age in yr, median (IQR)	75.0 (65.0–85.0)		87.0 (78.0-91.3)	0.34	< 0.001	
<table-row><table-row><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-row></table-row>		83.0 (71.5-86.0)	75.0 (65.0-84.0)				
<table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container>	Male	61 (58.1)		13 (27.1)	2.15 (1.31-3.51)	< 0.001	
Chefe complaintj03Henatenesis3(20,3)16(3,3)Henatenesis6(3,0)2(2,0)Back voniting5(6,0)2(6,0)J02,6)5(6,0)6(2,0)Back stools1(10,5)6(2,0)J03,6)6(3,0)1,6(0,23,3)J04,6)2(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J04,7)2(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J04,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)3(2,0)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)1,2(1,6)1,6(0,23,3)J14,7)1,6(1,2)1,6(1,2)J14,7)1,6(1,2)1,6(1,2)J14,7)1,7(1,2)1,2(1,6,2,7)J14,7)1,7(1,2)1,2(1,6,2,7)		11 (57.9)	50 (58.1)				
Henatemention30(3.3)16(3.3)Henatemention6(3.6)24(2.7)Back vomiting6(3.6)26(3.2)10(5.0)54(6.8)6(2.5)Back stools11(0.5)6(2.5)10(5.0)6(3.6)6(3.6)10(5.0)6(3.6)16(0.82-3.5)10(5.0)20(7.6)16(5.6)10(5.0)20(7.6)16(1.6)10(5.0)20(7.6)10(1.6)10(5.0)20(7.6)10(1.6)10(5.0)20(7.6)10(1.6)10(5.0)10(1.6)10(1.6)10(5.0)10(1.6)10(1.6)10(5.0)10(2.1)10(1.6)10(5.0)10(1.6)10(1.6)10(5.0) <td< td=""><td>Chief complaint</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.713</td></td<>	Chief complaint					0.713	
formula <t< td=""><td>Hematemesis</td><td>30 (28.3)</td><td></td><td>16 (33.3)</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Hematemesis	30 (28.3)		16 (33.3)			
Back voniting65 (61.0)26 (62.2)<		6 (31.6)	24 (27.9)				
Index stoolsIndex st	Black vomiting	65 (61.0)		26 (54.2)			
<table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-container><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container></table-container>		10 (52.6)	54 (62.8)				
Automatical Presence of shock vitation3 (15.8)8 (9.3)8 (16.7)1.66 (0.82-3.35)0.162 (3 (2.1)2 (2 (2.1))2 (2 (2.1))2 (2 (2.1))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)Hypertension4 (9 (4.7)2 (2 (2.1))2 (3 (2.1))2 (3 (2.1))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)Diabetes mellitus4 (3 (2.1))3 (3 (2.1))3 (3 (1.9))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)Diabetes mellitus1 (2 (2.1))1 (2 (2.1))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)Chronic kidney disease1 (9 (3.2))1 (2 (2.1))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)Chronic kidney disease1 (9 (3.2))1 (2 (2.1))1.66 (0.82-3.35)1.66 (0.82-3.35)	Black stools	11 (10.5)		6 (12.5)			
Presence of shock vitality 29 (27.6) 8 (16.7) 1.66 (0.82-3.35) 0.16 6 (31.6) 23 (26.7) -<		3 (15.8)	8 (9.3)				
6 (31.6) 23 (26.7) Underlying conditions Flypertension 49 (46.7) 13 (68.4) 36 (41.9) Diabetes mellitus 23 (22.1) 4 (21.1) 19 (22.4) Chronic kidney disease 19 (18.3) 19 (18.3) 7 (14.6) 12 (19.6) 1.64 (19.6)	Presence of shock vitality	29 (27.6)		8 (16.7)	1.66 (0.82–3.35)	0.16	
Underlying conditions Hypertension 49 (46.7) 23 (47.9) 0.97 (0.68-1.39) 1 13 (68.4) 36 (41.9) 4 (8.3) 5.63 (0.96-7.18) 0.043 Diabetes mellitus 23 (22.1) 4 (8.3) 2.63 (0.96-7.18) 0.043 4 (21.1) 19 (22.4) 7 (14.6) 1.24 (0.56-2.75) 0.649		6 (31.6)	23 (26.7)				
Hypertension 49 (46.7) 23 (47.9) 0.97 (0.68-1.39) 1 13 (68.4) 36 (41.9) 4 (8.3) 2.63 (0.96-7.18) 0.043 Diabetes mellitus 23 (22.1) 19 (22.4) 0.043 Chronic kidney disease 19 (18.3) 7 (14.6) 1.24 (0.56-2.75) 0.649	Underlying conditions						
13 (68.4) 36 (41.9) Diabetes mellitus 23 (22.1) 4 (21.1) 19 (22.4) Chronic kidney disease 19 (18.3) 19 (18.3) 7 (14.6)	Hypertension	49 (46.7)		23 (47.9)	0.97 (0.68–1.39)	1	
Diabetes mellitus 23 (22.1) 4 (8.3) 2.63 (0.96-7.18) 0.043 4 (21.1) 19 (22.4)		13 (68.4)	36 (41.9)				
4 (21.1) 19 (22.4) Chronic kidney disease 19 (18.3) 7 (14.6) 1.24 (0.56-2.75) 0.649	Diabetes mellitus	23 (22.1)		4 (8.3)	2.63 (0.96-7.18)	0.043	
Chronic kidney disease 19 (18.3) 7 (14.6) 1.24 (0.56-2.75) 0.649		4 (21.1)	19 (22.4)				
	Chronic kidney disease	19 (18.3)		7 (14.6)	1.24 (0.56-2.75)	0.649	
5 (26.3) 14 (16.5)		5 (26.3)	14 (16.5)				
Coronary artery disease 13 (12.4) 1 (2.1) 5.94 (0.8-44.14) 0.065	Coronary artery disease	13 (12.4)		1 (2.1)	5.94 (0.8-44.14)	0.065	
3 (15.8) 10 (11.6)		3 (15.8)	10 (11.6)				
Liver cirrhosis 3 (2.9) 2 (4.2) 0.69 (0.12–3.97) 0.649	Liver cirrhosis	3 (2.9)		2 (4.2)	0.69 (0.12-3.97)	0.649	
0 (0.0) 3 (3.5)		0 (0.0)	3 (3.5)				
Previous malignancy 30 (28.6) 5 (10.4) 2.74 (1.13-6.63) 0.013	Previous malignancy	30 (28.6)		5 (10.4)	2.74 (1.13-6.63)	0.013	
7 (36.8) 23 (26.7)		7 (36.8)	23 (26.7)				
Medications	Medications						
NSAIDs 13 (12.4) 2 (4.2) 2.97 (0.70–12.66) 0.148	NSAIDs	13 (12.4)		2 (4.2)	2.97 (0.70–12.66)	0.148	
3 (15.8) 10 (11.6)		3 (15.8)	10 (11.6)				
Antithrombotic 28 (26.7) 17 (35.4) 0.75 (0.46-1.24) 0.339	Antithrombotic	28 (26.7)		17 (35.4)	0.75 (0.46-1.24)	0.339	
3 (15.8) 25 (29.1)		3 (15.8)	25 (29.1)				
Steroids 4 (3.8) 1 (2.1) 1.83 (0.21-15.93) 1	Steroids	4 (3.8)		1 (2.1)	1.83 (0.21-15.93)	1	
0 (0.0) 4 (4.7)		0 (0.0)	4 (4.7)				
Antibiotics 8 (7.6) 1 (2.1) 3.66 (0.47-28.4) 0.274	Antibiotics	8 (7.6)		1 (2.1)	3.66 (0.47-28.4)	0.274	
2 (10.5) 6 (7.0)		2 (10.5)	6 (7.0)				
Acid blockers 42 (40.4) 15 (31.2) 1.28 (0.79-2.07) 0.368	Acid blockers	42 (40.4)		15 (31.2)	1.28 (0.79–2.07)	0.368	
10 (52.6) 32 (37.6)		10 (52.6)	32 (37.6)				

Age was calculated with an effect size *r* because the risk ratio could not be calculated. 95%CI: 95% confidence interval; AEML: Acute esophageal mucosal

Baisbideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

lesion; IQR: Interquartile range; NSAIDs: Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; RE-D: Reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D.

Table 2 Blood sampling	data				
	AEML (<i>n</i> = 105)				
Parameter	Black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 19)	Non-black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 86)	RE-D (<i>n</i> = 48)	Effect size, <i>r</i>	<i>P</i> value
White blood cell in μL ,	11650 (8300–14700)		8700 (6750–10925)	0.26	< 0.001
methan (iQK)	13100 (8750–16700)	11200 (8225-14500)			
Hemoglobin in g/dL, (mean ± SD)	10.70 (3.47)		9.45 (2.81)	0.2	0.026
	10.53 (3.58)	10.78 (3.46)			
Albumin in g/dL, (mean ± SD)	3.11 (0.97)		3.00 (0.74)	0.06	0.483
	2.91 (1.14)	3.15 (0.93)			
BUN in mg/dL, median	36.60 (20.50-62.40)		28.05 (16.90-37.92)	0.21	0.009
(IQK)	35.10 (18.95- 67.85)	39.20 (20.65-61.90)			
Creatinine in mg/dL ,	1.10 (0.87- 2.32)		0.80 (0.63-0.94)	0.37	< 0.001
median (IQK)	1.34 (0.90-2.63)	1.09 (0.84–2.10)			
Glucose in mg/dL, median	141 (110–196)		124.00 (99.00-147.00)	0.20	0.015
(IQK)	137 (106–172)	145 (111–203)			
CRP in mg/dL, median	1.59 (0.35–5.22)		0.45 (0.23-1.93)	0.24	0.003
(IQK)	1.37 (0.31-4.68)	1.64 (0.38-5.48)			
Lactate in mmol/L,	3.18 (1.96-5.14)		1.81 (1.38-2.38)	0.40	< 0.001
metudii (IQK)	3.45 (2.76-6.31)	3.02 (1.94-4.75)			

The following blood sampling data were not measured: albumin level in one case in the acute esophageal mucosal lesion (AEML) group (1 in the non-black esophagus); glucose level in six cases in the AEML group (one and five cases of the black and non-black esophagus, respectively) and three cases in the reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D (RE-D) group; C-reactive protein level in one case in the AEML group (1 in the non-black esophagus); and lactate level in 23 cases in the AEML group (5 and 18 cases of the black and non-black esophagus, respectively) and 15 cases in the RE-D group. BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; IQR: Interquartile range; SD: Standard deviation.

> The AEML group had significantly more comorbidities at admission (57.5% vs 18.8%; RR: 3.10; 95% CI: 1.68–5.71; P < 0.001), with infection being the leading cause (21.7% vs 10.4%), followed by treatment for malignancy (8.5% vs 0%), prerenal failure (7.5% vs 2.1%), and after surgery (6.6% vs 2.1%) (Table 3).

> The need for endoscopic hemostasis and endoscopic findings is shown in Table 4. RE-D showed more cases requiring endoscopic hemostasis (5.7% vs 22.9%; RR: 0.25; 95% CI: 0.10–0.63; P = 0.004). Esophageal hiatal hernias were significantly more frequent in the RE-D group (74.8% vs 97.9%; RR: 0.76; 95% CI: 0.68-0.86; P < 0.001). However, the percentage of atrophic gastritis was not significantly different (36.8%) vs 31.2%; RR: 1.19; 95%CI: 0.73-1.94; P = 0.586), but gastric ulcers (29.2% vs 2.1%; RR: 14.17; 95%CI: 1.99–100.79; *P* < 0.001) and duodenal ulcers (19.8% *vs* 6.2%; RR: 3.20; 95%CI: 1.00–10.21; *P* = 0.033) were more significantly common in the AEML group.

> The outcomes for each group are shown in Table 5. Mortality during hospitalization tended to be higher in the AEML group (14.2% vs 4.2%; RR: 3.43; 95%CI: 0.82–14.40; P = 0.094), and esophageal stenosis was not significantly different (3.8% vs 0%; P = 0.309). However, esophageal stenosis occurred only in the AEML group, specifically in those with non-black esophagus (0% in black esophagus vs 4.7% in non-black esophagus). Esophageal stenosis developed at an average onset of 27 d. Furthermore, endoscopic dilatation was performed in two cases, while central venous nutrition was performed in two other cases (Figure 6).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate whether AEML and RE-D are different diseases by distinguishing the



Table 3 Comorbidities at onset, n (%)						
	AEML (<i>n</i> = 105)			Dials notice	•	
	Black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 19)	Non-black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 86)	48)	(95%CI)	value	
Comorbidities	61 (57.5)		9 (18.8)	3.10 (1.68-5.71)	< 0.001	
Infection	23 (21.7)		5 (10.4)			
	3 (15.8)	20 (23.0)				
Treatment for malignancy	9 (8.5)		0 (0.0)			
	4 (21.1)	5 (5.7)				
Prerenal failure	8 (7.5)		1 (2.1)			
	1 (5.3)	7 (8.0)				
After surgery	7 (6.6)		1 (2.1)			
	1 (5.3)	6 (6.9)				
Stroke	4 (3.8)		1 (2.1)			
	0 (0.0)	4 (4.6)				
Alcoholic ketoacidosis	4 (3.8)		0 (0.0)			
	0 (0.0)	4 (4.6)				
Diabetic ketoacidosis/Hyperosmolar hyperglycemic	2 (1.9)		0 (0.0)			
syndrome	1 (5.3)	1 (1.1)				
Pulmonary embolism	1 (0.9)		0 (0.0)			
	0 (0.0)	1 (1.1)				
Peripheral arterial disease	1 (0.9)		0 (0.0)			
	0 (0.0)	1 (1.1)				
Duodenal ulcer	1 (0.9)		0 (0.0)			
	0 (0.0)	1 (1.1)				
Liver disease	1 (0.9)		0 (0.0)			
	1 (5.3)	0 (0.0)				
Heart failure	0 (0.0)		1 (2.1)			
	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)				

AEML: Acute esophageal mucosal lesion; RE-D: Reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

two esophageal diseases according to the oral shape of the esophageal mucosal injury. Here, approximately twice as many AEML cases were observed than RE-D cases. Multiple variables in this study exhibited significantly different results, indicating that the two diseases may be attributed to different pathologies. The AEML group was significantly less likely to require endoscopic hemostasis. Although no significant differences were detected, mortality during hospitalization was higher in the AEML group than in the RE-D group. Stenosis was observed in three cases, only in the AEML group.

This study is similar to previous research that compared AEML with RE-C and D regarding patient background, endoscopic findings, and blood sampling data[1]; however, several differences were observed. The AEML group was younger, had more comorbidities at onset, more patients with diabetes mellitus or previous malignancy as an underlying condition, and less need for endoscopic hemostasis. Mortality during hospitalization was also at a high percentage, although not significantly different.

Diabetes mellitus and previous malignancy history were highly prevalent in the AEML group because they were associated with comorbidities, such as increased susceptibility to infection[17]. Comorbidities deteriorate the general condition, resulting in microcirculatory disturbances. Although gastric acid reflux and impaired peripheral circulation were considered possible etiologies of AEML[1,5-7], this study's results, which included blood sampling data, strongly suggested an association with impaired peripheral circulation. The possible cause of the higher mortality observed in the AEML group

Ichita C et al. AEMLs and reflux esophagitis comparison

Table 4 Need for endoscopic nemostasis and endoscopic findings, <i>n</i> (%)						
	AEML (<i>n</i> = 105)		$D \in D (n = 40)$	Diele retie (05% CI)	Dyelve	
	Black esophagus (n = 19)	Non-black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 86)	- RE-D (<i>n</i> = 48)	RISK ratio (95%CI)	P value	
Need of endoscopic hemostasis	6 (5.7)		11 (22.9)	0.25 (0.10-0.63)	0.004	
	0 (0.0)	6 (7.0)				
Hiatus hernia	77/103 (74.8)		46/47 (97.9)	0.76 (0.68–0.86)	< 0.001	
	14/18 (77.8)	64/85 (74.4)				
Gastric atrophy	39 (36.8)		15 (31.2)	1.19 (0.73–1.94)	0.586	
	5 (26.3)	34 (39.1)				
Gastric ulcer	31 (29.2)		1 (2.1)	14.17 (1.99–100.79)	< 0.001	
	8 (42.1)	23 (26.4)				
Duodenal ulcer	21 (19.8)		3 (6.2)	3.20 (1.00-10.21)	0.033	
	5 (26.3)	16 (18.4)				

AEML: Acute esophageal mucosal lesion; RE-D: Reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval. Hiatus hernia could not be evaluated in 2 cases in the AEML group (1 in black esophagus, 1 in non-black esophagus) and 1 case in the RE-D group.

Table 5 Outcomes in patients, n (%)						
	AEML (<i>n</i> = 106)		DED(n=49)	Dials ratio (05% CI)	Dyelve	
	Black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 19)	Non-black esophagus (<i>n</i> = 87)	" KE-D (<i>II</i> – 40)	RISK Patio (95%CI)	Pvalue	
Mortality during hospitalization	15 (14.2)		2 (4.2)	3.43 (0.82-14.40)	0.094	
	5 (26.3)	10 (11.5)				
Esophageal stenosis	4 (3.8)		0 (0.0)		0.309	
	0 (0.0)	4 (4.6)				

AEML: Acute esophageal mucosal lesion; RE-D: Reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

may also be related to the high prevalence of comorbidities. Additionally, the RE-D group had more elderly patients because more older women with kyphosis tend to have reflux esophagitis[18-21]. Elderly age is reportedly to be a high-risk factor for bleeding with reflux esophagitis^[22], which may be associated with the need for endoscopic hemostasis.

Notably, this is the largest study to investigate the characteristics of AEML. In contrast to previous research, our study included only emergency cases presenting with upper gastrointestinal bleeding and used RE-D, which is an appropriate comparator for AEML. This study indicates that the incidence of AEML is higher than that of RE-D, suggesting that many AEML cases could be misdiagnosed as RE-D.

Although esophageal mucosal injury in AEML improves relatively quickly with the treatment of comorbidities, RE-D, which is caused by chronic gastric acid reflux, requires long-term acid-blocker therapy. Therefore, differentiating AEML from RE-D can prevent the unnecessary administration of acid blockers[1]. Although a stenosis risk of approximately 3.4% has been reported in reflux esophagitis cases[22], this study confirms that stenosis also develops in AEML cases. Several reports have shown that stenosis develops in black esophagus[23-25] and that black esophagus has a higher prevalence of stenosis than non-black esophagus[4]. However, this study indicated that stenosis could also develop in non-black esophagus. Stenosis was observed after approximately 1-mo; therefore, appropriate endoscopic follow-up is necessary even for non-black esophagus.

This study had some limitations. First, it was an observational study, and some of the possible information related to the outcomes, such as the duration of PPI administration and the history of treatment of varices with endoscopic variceal ligation, was not fully obtained. However, this is the largest study of AEML, adopting the more idealistic RE-D as a comparison. As a result, it may be possible to evaluate outcomes that could not be obtained in previous studies, such as the occurrence of stenosis. Second, the differences between AEML and RE-D in terms of endoscopic findings are not yet definitive. Although the present study was based on a previous report, further investigation is warranted.





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.408 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 A case of esophageal stenosis. A 75-year-old male patient developed non-black esophagus acute esophageal mucosal lesions during chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. The patient could not eat on the 27th day of onset. Upper endoscopy and esophagography showed esophageal stenosis. Symptoms improved after five endoscopic balloon dilatations. A: Upper endoscopy; B: Esophagography.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, AEML and RE-D were clearly distinct diseases with different clinical features. AEML develops about twice as frequently as RE-D and may be a more familiar disease. Therefore, the possibility of AEML should be considered in cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding with comorbidities.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Recently, the concept of acute esophageal mucosal lesions (AEML), which encompasses both Black Esophagus and its milder variant, has been proposed, particularly in the Asian region.

Research motivation

The clinical manifestations of AEML remain inadequately understood and have been misdiagnosed as reflux esophagitis Los Angeles classification grade D (RE-D).

Research objectives

This study aimed to differentiate AEML from RE-D and to elucidate the clinical features of AEML.

Research methods

We selected emergency endoscopic cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding characterized by circumferential esophageal mucosal injury and classified them into AEML and RE-D groups based on the shape of mucosal injury observed on the oral side. We subsequently examined patient demographics, blood sampling data, comorbidities at onset, endoscopic characteristics, and outcomes in each group.

Research results

Among the emergency cases, the incidence of AEML and RE-D were 3.1% and 1.4%, respectively. A comparison of multiple variables revealed significant differences, suggesting that these two conditions are distinct. The clinical features of AEML were characterized by a higher prevalence of comorbidities [risk ratio (RR): 3.10; P < 0.001] and a lower rate of endoscopic hemostasis compared with RE-D (RR: 0.25; P < 0.001). Additionally, in-hospital mortality was higher in the AEML group (RR: 3.43; P = 0.094), and stenosis was observed exclusively in the AEML group.

Raisbidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research conclusions

AEML and RE-D were clearly distinct diseases with different clinical features. AEML may be more prevalent than previously thought, and the potential for its presence should be taken into account in cases of upper gastrointestinal bleeding accompanied by comorbidities.

Research perspectives

In the future, we aim to conduct studies on a larger sample size across multiple institutions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to the Gastroenterology Medicine Center, the Emergency Department, the General internal medicine department, and the Surgery Department of Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, who were involved in the patient care.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ichita C, Sasaki A, and Shimizu S contributed equally to this work; Ichita C contributed to the planning, data gathering, literature review, as well as writing and editing of this article; Shimizu S provided epidemiological advice and reviewed the statistical analysis; Sasaki A contributed to this study as an expert endoscopist; All authors commented on draft versions and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the institutional review board of the Future Medical Research Center Ethical Committee, No. TGE01484-024.

Informed consent statement: Due to the observational nature of the study based on medical records without using samples taken from the human body, informed consent was not required. Instead, an opt-out method was used on our hospital website.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report having no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The original anonymous dataset is available on request from the corresponding author at ichikamasa@yahoo.co.jp.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Chikamasa Ichita 0000-0001-9210-7371; Akiko Sasaki 0000-0003-4219-554X; Sayuri Shimizu 0000-0003-0661-1171.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Fan JR

REFERENCES

- 1 Sakata Y, Tsuruoka N, Shimoda R, Yamamoto K, Akutagawa T, Sakata N, Iwakiri R, Fujimoto K. Comparison of Clinical Characteristics of Patients with Acute Esophageal Mucosal Lesion and those with Severe Reflux Esophagitis. Digestion 2019; 99: 275-282 [PMID: 30212811 DOI: 10.1159/000492492]
- Goldenberg SP, Wain SL, Marignani P. Acute necrotizing esophagitis. Gastroenterology 1990; 98: 493-496 [PMID: 2 2295407 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(90)90844-q]
- Augusto F, Fernandes V, Cremers MI, Oliveira AP, Lobato C, Alves AL, Pinho C, de Freitas J. Acute necrotizing esophagitis: a large retrospective case series. Endoscopy 2004; 36: 411-415 [PMID: 15100949 DOI: 10.1055/s-2004-814318]
- 4 Tatsumi R, Ohta T, Matsubara Y, Yoshizaki K, Sakamoto J, Sato R, Amizuka H, Kimura K, Furukawa S, Maemoto H, Orii F, Ashida T, Serikawa S. Examination of the severity of subtypes of acute esophageal mucosal lesion. Gastroenterol Endosc 2014; 56: 3775-3785 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.03.611]
- 5 Tsumura T, Maruo T, Tsuji K, Osaki Y, Tomono N. Twelve cases of acute esophageal mucosal lesion. Dig Endosc 2006;



18: 199-205 [DOI: 10.1111/j.0915-5635.2006.00608.x]

- 6 Ihara Y, Hizawa K, Fujita K, Matsuno Y, Sakuma T, Esaki M, Iida M. [Clinical features and pathophysiology of acute esophageal mucosal lesion]. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi 2016; 113: 642-646 [PMID: 27052393 DOI: 10.11405/nisshoshi.113.642
- 7 Kawauchi H, Ohta T, Matsubara Y, Yoshizaki K, Sakamoto J, Amitsuka H, Kimura K, Maemoto A, Orii F, Ashida T. [Clinicopathological study of acute esophageal mucosal lesion]. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi 2013; 110: 1249-1257 [PMID: 23831655]
- Gurvits GE, Shapsis A, Lau N, Gualtieri N, Robilotti JG. Acute esophageal necrosis: a rare syndrome. J Gastroenterol 8 2007; **42**: 29-38 [PMID: 17322991 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-006-1974-z]
- 9 Allgöwer M, Burri C. ["Shock index"]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1967; 92: 1947-1950 [PMID: 5299769 DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1106070
- Koch E, Lovett S, Nghiem T, Riggs RA, Rech MA. Shock index in the emergency department: utility and limitations. 10 Open Access Emerg Med 2019; 11: 179-199 [PMID: 31616192 DOI: 10.2147/OAEM.S178358]
- Pépin MN, Bouchard J, Legault L, Ethier J. Diagnostic performance of fractional excretion of urea and fractional excretion 11 of sodium in the evaluations of patients with acute kidney injury with or without diuretic treatment. Am J Kidney Dis 2007; 50: 566-573 [PMID: 17900456 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.07.001]
- 12 Hill LD, Kozarek RA, Kraemer SJ, Aye RW, Mercer CD, Low DE, Pope CE 2nd. The gastroesophageal flap valve: in vitro and in vivo observations. Gastrointest Endosc 1996; 44: 541-547 [PMID: 8934159 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(96)70006-8]
- Kimura K, Takemoto T. An endoscopic recognition of the atrophic border and its significance in chronic gastritis. 13 Endoscopy 2008; 1: 87-97 [DOI: 10.1055/s-0028-1098086]
- Redéen S, Petersson F, Jönsson KA, Borch K. Relationship of gastroscopic features to histological findings in gastritis and 14 Helicobacter pylori infection in a general population sample. Endoscopy 2003; 35: 946-950 [PMID: 14606018 DOI: 10.1055/s-2003-43479
- Durlak JA. How to select, calculate, and interpret effect sizes. J Pediatr Psychol 2009; 34: 917-928 [PMID: 19223279 15 DOI: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp0041
- 16 Kanda Y. Investigation of the freely available easy-to-use software 'EZR' for medical statistics. Bone Marrow Transplant 2013; 48: 452-458 [PMID: 23208313 DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2012.244]
- Kuderer NM, Choueiri TK, Shah DP, Shyr Y, Rubinstein SM, Rivera DR, Shete S, Hsu CY, Desai A, de Lima Lopes G Jr, 17 Grivas P, Painter CA, Peters S, Thompson MA, Bakouny Z, Batist G, Bekaii-Saab T, Bilen MA, Bouganim N, Larroya MB, Castellano D, Del Prete SA, Doroshow DB, Egan PC, Elkrief A, Farmakiotis D, Flora D, Galsky MD, Glover MJ, Griffiths EA, Gulati AP, Gupta S, Hafez N, Halfdanarson TR, Hawley JE, Hsu E, Kasi A, Khaki AR, Lemmon CA, Lewis C, Logan B, Masters T, McKay RR, Mesa RA, Morgans AK, Mulcahy MF, Panagiotou OA, Peddi P, Pennell NA, Reynolds K, Rosen LR, Rosovsky R, Salazar M, Schmidt A, Shah SA, Shaya JA, Steinharter J, Stockerl-Goldstein KE, Subbiah S, Vinh DC, Wehbe FH, Weissmann LB, Wu JT, Wulff-Burchfield E, Xie Z, Yeh A, Yu PP, Zhou AY, Zubiri L, Mishra S, Lyman GH, Rini BI, Warner JL; COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium. Clinical impact of COVID-19 on patients with cancer (CCC19): a cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1907-1918 [PMID: 32473681 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31187-9]
- 18 Hosogane N, Watanabe K, Yagi M, Kaneko S, Toyama Y, Matsumoto M. Scoliosis is a Risk Factor for Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease in Adult Spinal Deformity. Clin Spine Surg 2017; 30: E480-E484 [PMID: 28437356 DOI: 10.1097/BSD.00000000000263]
- 19 Fujimoto K. Review article: prevalence and epidemiology of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in Japan. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2004; 20 Suppl 8: 5-8 [PMID: 15575864 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2004.02220.x]
- 20 Shimazu T, Matsui T, Furukawa K, Oshige K, Mitsuyasu T, Kiyomizu A, Ueki T, Yao T. A prospective study of the prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux disease and confounding factors. J Gastroenterol 2005; 40: 866-872 [PMID: 16211342 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-005-1670-4]
- Furukawa N, Iwakiri R, Koyama T, Okamoto K, Yoshida T, Kashiwagi Y, Ohyama T, Noda T, Sakata H, Fujimoto K. 21 Proportion of reflux esophagitis in 6010 Japanese adults: prospective evaluation by endoscopy. J Gastroenterol 1999; 34: 441-444 [PMID: 10452674 DOI: 10.1007/s005350050293]
- Sakaguchi M, Manabe N, Ueki N, Miwa J, Inaba T, Yoshida N, Sakurai K, Nakagawa M, Yamada H, Saito M, Nakada K, 22 Iwakiri K, Joh T, Haruma K. Factors associated with complicated erosive esophagitis: A Japanese multicenter, prospective, cross-sectional study. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 318-327 [PMID: 28127205 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i2.318]
- 23 Kosaka M, Kono Y, Nakagawa M. Gastrointestinal: Acute esophageal necrosis causing severe esophageal stenosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 35: 919 [PMID: 31900954 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14909]
- Barrientos Delgado A, Martínez Tirado MP, Martín-Lagos Maldonado A, Palacios Pérez Á, Casado Caballero FJ. 24 [Extensive esophageal stenosis secondary to acute necrotizing esophagitis]. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 38: 327-329 [PMID: 25150722 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2014.06.008]
- Gómez ÁA, Guerrero D, Hani AC, Cañadas R. [Acute necrotizing esophagitis (black esophagus) with secondary severe 25 stenosis]. Rev Gastroenterol Peru 2015; 35: 349-354 [PMID: 26802889]



S $W \hat{U}$

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 420-429

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.420

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study Positive correlation between latent Epstein-Barr virus infection and severity of illness in inflammatory bowel disease patients

Hong-Tao Wei, Xiao-Wei Xue, Qing Ling, Peng-Yan Wang, Wei-Xun Zhou

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Dash S, India; Yumiba T, Japan

Received: January 20, 2023 Peer-review started: January 20, 2023 First decision: February 10, 2023 Revised: February 16, 2023 Accepted: March 3, 2023 Article in press: March 3, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Hong-Tao Wei, Department of Gastroenterology, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100050, China

Xiao-Wei Xue, Qing Ling, Peng-Yan Wang, Wei-Xun Zhou, Department of Pathology, Molecular Pathology Research Center, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Beijing 100730, China

Corresponding author: Wei-Xun Zhou, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Pathology, Molecular Pathology Research Center, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, No. 1 Shuaifuyuan, Dongcheng District, Beijing 100730, China. zweixun@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Emerging studies indicate the critical involvement of microorganisms, such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Immunosuppressive therapies for IBD can reactivate latent EBV, complicating the clinical course of IBD. Moreover, the clinical significance of EBV expression in B lymphocytes derived from IBD patients' intestinal tissues has not been explored in detail.

AIM

To explore the clinical significance of latent EBV infection in IBD patients.

METHODS

Latent EBV infection was determined by double staining for EBV encoded RNA and CD20 in colon specimens of 43 IBD patients who underwent bowel resection. Based on the staining results, the patients were divided into two groups, according to their latent EBV infection states - negative (n = 33) and positive (n = 33) 10). Illness severity of IBD were assigned according to Crohn's disease activity index (ulcerative colitis) and Mayo staging system (Crohn's disease). The clinicpathological data were analyzed between the two different latent EBV groups and also between the mild-to-moderate and severe disease groups.

RESULTS

Systolic pressure (P = 0.005), variety of disease (P = 0.005), the severity of illness (P= 0.002), and pre-op corticosteroids (P = 0.025) were significantly different between the EBV-negative and EBV-positive groups. Systolic pressure (P = 0.001),



variety of disease (P = 0.000), pre-op corticosteroids (P = 0.011) and EBV infection (P = 0.003) were significantly different between the mild-to-moderate and severe disease groups.

CONCLUSION

IBD patients with latent EBV infection may manifest more severe illnesses. It is suggested that the role of EBV in IBD development should be further investigated, latent EBV infection in patients with serious IBD should be closely monitored, and therapeutic course should be optimized.

Key Words: Epstein-Barr virus; Epstein-Barr virus encoded RNA; Inflammatory bowel disease; Crohn's disease; Ulcerative colitis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients with latent Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection may manifest more severe illnesses. It is suggested that the role of EBV in IBD development should be further investigated, latent EBV infection in patients with serious IBD should be closely monitored, and therapeutic course should be optimized.

Citation: Wei HT, Xue XW, Ling Q, Wang PY, Zhou WX. Positive correlation between latent Epstein-Barr virus infection and severity of illness in inflammatory bowel disease patients. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 420-429

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/420.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.420

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) collectively refers to the chronic inflammation of the intestinal lining due to the altered immune response of the gut microbiota. The cases of IBD are increasing globally at an alarming rate in the 21st century[1]. Two major types of IBD, namely Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the most commonly occurring ones, seriously threatening global health burden. Therefore, understanding the pathogenesis of IBD plays an important role in the prevention and disease management. Emerging studies have indicated the critical involvement of microorganisms in the IBD pathogenesis and progression[2].

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), also called human herpesvirus 4, infection accounts for one of the leading viral infections (approximately 90%) in humans. While most infections have been found to be involved in the oral route, other infection pathways like sexual transmission, transmission during blood transfusion, and organ transplantation have also been noted. EBV primarily targets resting B lymphocytes inducing their proliferation and polyclonal activities. Under this condition, adaptive immunity-associated cytotoxic T cells play important roles in regulating the EBV infection in the host. Notably, acutely infected individuals may present with infectious mononucleosis in a small cohort. Mostly, EBV integrates its DNA element into the memory B lymphocytes and establishes a lifelong latent infection status. While the virus can enter the lytic stage in individuals with compromised immune systems. In such cases, EBV may be reactivated, promoting the onset of virus-related malignancies, including Burkitt's lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, gastric cancer, and nasopharyngeal cancer subtypes[3]. In addition, EBV infection is associated with autoimmune diseases, such as multiple bone marrow fibrosis[4].

Moreover, the pathological connection between EBV and IBD has been receiving increasing attention in recent times [5,6]. Notably, immunosuppressive therapies, including anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy, have been found to induce IBD pathogenesis and reactivate latent EBV[7], thereby increasing the susceptibility toward lymphocyte proliferation diseases. There is currently a lot of controversy regarding the direct involvement of EBV in inducing IBD and whether to include the EBV screening prior to IBD treatment initiation[8,9]. On the other hand, EBV co-infection may complicate the clinical course of IBD by aggravating the severity, chronicity, refraction to therapy, and increasing the recurrence rate of IBD[10]. However, most studies on EBV infection and IBD severity included a relatively small number of cases [6,11], and the clinical significance of EBV expression in B lymphocytes in the diseased intestinal tissue of IBD patients has not been discussed in detail.

Based on the findings from previous studies and the mode of EBV pathogenesis in relation to IBD, in this study, we examined 43 patients who underwent surgical resection, using EBV encoded RNA (EBER) and B lymphocyte (CD20) double staining technique to correlate the latent EBV infection and clinic-pathological data of IBD patients. Furthermore, we explored the clinical value of latent EBV



infection in predicting the severity of IBD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample collection

This study involved the retrospective review of 43 IBD patients' demographics and basic clinical information, including characteristics, medical history, clinical data, biochemical data, and pathological information. The enrolled patients underwent bowel resection surgery in the Department of Surgery at Peking Union Medical College Hospital between July 2010 and September 2013. These patients were diagnosed with either CD or UC by both pathological and clinical examinations. Exclusion criteria of the study included: (1) Extraintestinal chronic diseases, such as chronic renal insufficiency, heart failure, cirrhosis and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, *etc.*; (2) Medical history of immunodeficiency diseases, such as chronic infections and/or history of inflammatory diseases, including vasculitis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and rheumatologic condition; and (3) History of synchronous malignancies.

Collection data included the following parameters, patient age at the time of surgery, gender, past medical history, variety and severity of disease, cause of surgery, surgery procedure, symptoms, signs, complications, accompanying diseases, treatment course, and biochemical data. Illness severity of CD and UC were assigned according to CD activity index and Mayo staging system.

Detection of EBV latent infection

EBV latent infection was diagnosed based on the results of double staining of EBER and CD20 (specific biomarker of B lymphocytes) markers. The double staining was performed following the pre-optimized staining protocol. Briefly, the IBD samples were fixed in 10% buffered formalin, dehydrated in alcohol, and embedded in paraffin. Paraffin blocks were sectioned at 4 µm thickness. Routine hematoxylin and eosin staining was performed for histopathological examinations. For double staining with EBER and CD20, *in situ* hybridization (ISH) using 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) chromogen was first performed, followed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) for CD20 using Fast Red DAB chromogen. IHC was performed on an automated immunostainer (BOND-MAX, Leica Microsystems), according to the manufacturer's protocols (Bond Polymer Refine RNA ISH protocol and Bond Polymer Refine Red IHC protocol, Leica Microsystems).

For each test sample, a second section (consecutive section wherever possible) was hybridized with a mixture of sense (non-complimentary) EBER probe as the negative control. The number of EBER positive cells, which were stained in the cell nucleus, were manually counted in the high-power field (HPF) for each optical field. B-lymphocytes cytomembrane showed positive staining for CD20 expression in IHC analysis.

Statistical analysis

Based on the double staining results, patients from the EBV latent infection (EBER positive) and EBV non-latent infection (EBER negative) were compared in terms of demographics, clinical characteristics, and biochemical findings. The clinic-pathological results were also compared between the patients with mild-to-moderate and severe disease symptoms. To analyze categorical variables, the χ^2 test was used. Measurement data that met the normal distribution were compared using the *t*-test between the two groups, and measurement data that did not conform to the normal distribution were compared using the Mann-Whitney *U* test between the two groups. To perform statistical analyses, SPSS 25.0 (SPSS for Window, SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) was adopted. A *P* < 0.05 indicated significant differences.

RESULTS

The clinico-pathological characteristics of patients

All clinic-pathological data are detailed in Table 1 and Table 2. Among the 43 IBD patients recruited to this study, there were 34 male- and 9 female patients. The age of the patients ranged from 13 to 70 years, and the mean age was 43.6 years. Among these patients, 20 patients had a history of smoking, and 17 patients had an alcohol drinking habit. Twenty-seven patients were diagnosed with CD and 16 patients with UC. The number of mild, moderate and severely affected patients were 10, 21, and 12, respectively. Three patients underwent surgery as they were seriously required, 9 patients were non-responsive to internal medicine therapy, and the other patients were medically required. Regarding the surgical procedures, 14 patients received laparoscopic partial enterectomy, and the other 29 patients had partial enterectomy through open surgery. The mean heart rate of these patients was 87.2 times/min, the median systolic pressure was 101 mmHg, and the mean diastolic pressure was 66.2 mmHg. At admission, 17 patients complained of fever, 42 patients reported abdominal pain, 29 patients had diarrhea, 20 patients had fecal occult blood, 15 patients had mucus or bloody purulent stool, 39 patients



Table 1 Basic information on patients (n = 43)	
Variables	Data
Characteristics	
Sex (Male/female)	34/9
Age (yr), mean ± SD	43.6 ± 2.7
Smoking (No/Yes)	23/20
Drinking (No/Yes)	26/17
Clinical data	
Crohn's disease/ulcerative colitis	27/16
Location	
Crohn disease (L1/L2/L3/L4)	9/0/18/0
Ulcerative colitis (E1/E2/E3)	0/2/14
Severity of illness (Mild/moderate/severe)	10/21/12
Cause of surgery	
Patient required	3
Non-response to intern medicine therapy	9
Medical required	31
Intestinal obstruction	18
Fistula	5
Definite diagnosis requires	1
Gastrointestinal bleeding	3
Intestinal stenosis	1
Gastrointestinal perforation	2
Carcinogenesis	1
Pre-op aminosalicylic acid (No/Yes)	8/35
Pre-op corticosteroids (No/Yes)	24/19
Pre-op immunosuppressive therapy (No/Yes)	34/9
Surgical procedures (Laparoscopic/open surgery)	14/29
Course (d), mean ± SD	73.6 ± 11.7
Indicators to be explored	
Latent Epstein-Barr virus infection (Negative/positive)	33/10

had a history of losing weight, 14 patients had abdominal mass, 2 patients had toxic megacolon, 14 patients had a gastrointestinal hemorrhage, 24 patients had intestinal obstruction, 9 patients had intestinal perforation, 8 patients had a perianal disease, and 16 patients had extraintestinal manifestations. Before surgery, 35 patients received aminosalicylic acid, 19 patients had corticosteroids, and 9 patients undertook immunosuppressive therapy. The mean treatment course was 73.6 d.

Histochemical double staining results of EBER and CD20 in IBD colon tissues

EBER positive staining, mainly distributed in the nucleus of B lymphocytes, suggested that the EBV latent infection status in the diagnosed patients. We found ten cases (23.3%) of IBD with EBV positive diagnosis, including 2 (7.4%) CD and 8 (50%) UC patients. Figure 1A, D and G show the normal control colon tissue.

In two cases of CD patients with EBV latent infection, numbers of EBER-positive B lymphocytes ranged from 8 to15 cells per HPF, and the positively stained cells were scattered throughout the field, accounting for 80%-90% EBER-positive B lymphocytes. The CD pathology was manifested as the full-wall inflammation, but EBER-positive B lymphocytes were mainly concentrated in the mucosa and submucosa (Figure 1B, E, and H).

Table 2 Vital sid	uns, clinical manifestations and biochemical data of the r	patients (<i>n</i> = 4	13)
Tuble L Thur org	and, on nour manneolations and bioonennour data of the		

Variables	Data
Vital signs	
Heart rate (time/min), mean ± SD	87.2 ± 3.1
Systolic pressure (mmHg), median (Q1, Q3)	101.0 (94.5, 113.0)
Diastolic pressure (mmHg), mean ± SD	66.2 ± 1.7
Clinical manifestations	
Fever (No/Yes)	26/17
Abdominal pain (No/Yes)	1/42
Diarrhea (No/Yes)	14/29
Fecal occult blood (No/Yes)	23/20
Mucus or bloody purulent stool (No/Yes)	28/15
Lose weight (≥ 5 kg) (No/Yes)	4/39
Abdominal mass (No/Yes)	29/14
Toxic megacolon (No/Yes)	41/2
Gastrointestinal hemorrhage (No/Yes)	29/14
Intestinal obstruction (No/Yes)	19/24
Intestinal perforation (No/Yes)	34/9
Perianal disease (No/Yes)	35/8
Extraintestinal manifestations (No/Yes)	27/16
Oral ulcer (Yes)	13
Pyoderma gangrenosum (Yes)	1
Peripheral spondyloarthritis (Yes)	6
Others (Yes)	2
Biochemical data	
White blood cell (× $10^9/L$), mean ± SD	6.7 ± 0.6
Neutrophil count (× $10^9/L$), mean ± SD	4.6 ± 0.5
Hemoglobin (g/L), mean \pm SD	103.6 ± 4.5
Platelets (× 10^9 /L), mean ± SD	343.2 ± 25.7
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L), median (Q1, Q3)	11.0 (8.0, 14.0)
Aspartate aminotransferase (U/L), median (Q1, Q3)	14.0 (10.3, 18.8)
Albumin (g/L), mean ± SD	30.6 ± 1.5
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L), median (Q1, Q3)	127.0 (102.0, 140.0)
Creatinine (µmol/L), mean ± SD	60.7 ± 3.0
Potassium (mmol/L), mean ± SD	3.8 ± 0.1
Prothrombin time (s), mean ± SD	12.2 ± 0.2
Activated partial thromboplastin time (s), median (Q1, Q3)	29.3 (26.5, 32.9)
C-reactive protein (g/L), median (Q1, Q3)	26.3 (16.3, 71.4)

In cases of 8 UC patients with EBV latent infection, numbers of EBER-positive B lymphocytes ranged from13 to 60 cells/HPF, and with a random distribution of the EBER-positive cells, accounting for 30%-70% cells per HPF. Like CD patients, EBER-positive B lymphocytes in UC patients were also concentrated in the mucosa and submucosa (Figure 1C, F, and I). Importantly, all cases of UC with EBV latent infection showed a full colon type pathology.

Zaisbideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.420 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Normal control colon tissue and latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis-affected colon tissues. A, D, G: Normal control colon tissue; B, E, H: Colon tissue in Crohn's disease patients; C, F, I: Colon tissue in ulcerative colitis patients. A-C: Hematoxylin and eosin staining, ×400; D-F: CD20 and Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNA (EBER) double staining, ×400; G-I: CD20 and EBER double staining, ×12.5.

Correlation between latent EBV infection and clinic-pathological features

Clinico-pathological data of all patients were compared between the EBER-positive and EBER-negative expressions in B lymphocyte groups, according to the IHC results, as demonstrated in Table 3. Systolic pressure (P = 0.005), variety of disease (P = 0.005), the severity of illness (P = 0.002), and pre-op corticosteroids (P = 0.025) were significantly different between the two groups. While no significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of other characteristics, clinical and biochemical data.

Correlation between severity of disease and basic medical information

Clinico-pathological data of all patients were also compared between the mild-to-moderate and severe patient groups, as demonstrated in Table 4. Systolic pressure (P = 0.001), variety of disease (P = 0.000), pre-op corticosteroids (P = 0.011) and latent EBV infection (P = 0.003) were significantly different between the two groups, and no significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of other categories of characteristics, clinical and biochemical data.

DISCUSSION

After excluding some confounding factors, our results showed that the latent EBV infection detected in colon tissue of IBD patients was positively related to the severity of the disease, and patients with latent EBV infection in their colon tissues were severely ill. Studies have confirmed that EBV can cause immune disorders, and IBD is one of the autoimmune diseases. Therefore, we hypothesized that EBV infection could aggravate the severity of IBD through complex immune mechanisms. In addition, advanced stage IBD patients with altered immune response and immunosuppressive therapy could also show increased susceptibility to EBV. Eventually, the immune imbalance following EBV infection and the resulting deterioration of the IBD stage are most likely to be mutually causal, leading to a vicious



Table 3 Summary of factors related to latent Epstein-Barr virus infection

Variables	Epstein-Barr virus-negative (<i>n</i> = 33)	Epstein-Barr virus-positive (<i>n</i> = 10)	Statistical value (t/χ^2)	<i>P</i> value
Systolic pressure (mmHg), mean ± SD	106.56 ± 11.51	94.33 ± 7.71	2.991 (<i>t</i>)	0.005 ¹
Variety of disease			7.965 (Adjusted)	0.005 ¹
Crohn disease	25	2		
Ulcerative colitis	8	8		
Severity of illness			12.293 (Likelihood ratio)	0.002 ¹
Mild	8	2		
Moderate	20	1		
Severe	5	7		
Pre-op corticosteroids			5.017 (Adjusted)	0.025 ¹
No	22	2		
Yes	11	8		

¹Significant differences

Table 4 Data comparison between patients with mild/moderate or severe inflammatory bowel disease						
Variables	Mild/moderate (n = 31)	Severe (<i>n</i> = 12)	Statistical value (t/χ^2)	P value		
Systolic pressure (mmHg), mean ± SD	107.33 ± 11.698	94.45 ± 7.71	3.482 (<i>t</i>)	0.001 ¹		
Variety of disease			12.542 (Adjusted)	0.000 ¹		
Crohn disease	25	2				
Ulcerative colitis	6	10				
Pre-op corticosteroids			6.408	0.011 ¹		
No	21	3				
Yes	10	9				
Latent Epstein-Barr virus infection			8.911 (Adjusted)	0.003 ¹		
Negative	28	5				
Positive	3	7				

¹Significant differences

cycle of disease aggressiveness and poor prognosis. However, unlike the effect of EBV on multiple myeloma, we observed that not all the patients with severe IBD had EBV-positive diagnosis, which led us to postulate that EBV infection could be one of the critical factors in inducing severe IBD symptoms, but was not an indispensable etiological factor. In addition to the involvement of EBV, the severity of IBD must have involved other complex pathophysiological mechanisms. Based on our findings, we suggest that patients with latent EBV infection should be closely monitored, and the effect of EBV infection on the IBD patients should be given attention, and the pathogenesis between them should be clearly defined.

The clinic-pathological relationship between EBV and IBD has always attracted the attention of researchers and clinicians. For example, Dimitroulia et al[12], and Li et al[13], have shown that the prevalence of EBV in the intestinal tissue of patients with IBD is significantly higher than that in the control group. Moreover, patients with a high prevalence of EBV infection exhibit worsening disease symptoms, as compared to non-EBV infected patients who present remission incidences, suggesting that the severity of IBD may be related to the EBV infection [12,13]. In addition, it has also been found that the positive expression of EBV in IBD patients is higher in refractory patients than in the control group. Further, the higher EBV positive expression has been linked to the mucous damage and high clinical indexes of activity[6,11,14]. Our results were consistent with these findings, suggesting that the positive expression of EBV in latent infection might be related to the severity of IBD. However, most of the above



studies used specimens from patients' serum or colonoscopy biopsies, while the specimens used in our study were specimens removed from bowel surgery. Relative to the determination of EBV in serum, EBV in bowel resection specimens can better reflect the direct role of EBV in the IBD pathology. In addition, compared to the EBV determination in colonoscopy biopsy specimens, the EBV of the bowel resection specimens can better reflect the EBV infiltration of the entire layer of the bowel wall. Therefore, our results based on the bowel resection specimens were more reliable and precise. We also obtained morphological data of EBV by IHC analysis of the colon wall of IBD patients to determine the exact location of EBV in the B lymphocytes of intestinal tissue, which was also the verification and supplementary to the previous studies.

In our study, we found that latent EBV infection rates were related to the pre-op corticosteroid administration. Crosstalk between EBV-positivity and corticosteroid administration has also been found in another study[14]. We thought two aspects should be considered to explain these reasons. Firstly, latent EBV infection might be related to the severity of the disease, and the disease severity was directly proportional to the increasing dose of corticosteroid, indicating EBV infection was related to corticosteroids. Secondly, following the corticosteroid therapy, the immunosuppressive condition of patients might have increased their susceptibility toward EBV infection. However, the exact reason is needed to be confirmed by cohort research in the future.

Interestingly, we also found that the proportion of latent EBV infection in UC patients was higher than that in CD patients. In addition, all UC patients with latent EBV infection exhibited full colon type pathology. The reason for the difference in the proportion of EBV latent infection in the UC and CD patients and the relationship between latent EBV infection and subtypes in UC patients are worthy of further research and discussion.

So far, there is no consensus on whether all IBD patients mandatorily require EBV infection testing at the early stage. At present, the detection of EBV infection in IBD patients is mainly focused on patients who require azathioprine treatment, which may increase the activation of EBV and the incidence of related lymphatic system proliferative diseases. Studies suggest that before starting to use azathioprine, detection of EBV serology should be performed first, following the counting of natural killer cells during treatment to determine whether the patient has the risk of developing an abnormally serious primary EBV infection and EBV-related malignancies [5,8,15-17]. But other studies have also shown that the activation of EBV has no direct connection with the impact of immunosuppressive therapy [13,18]. Notably, the exposure to EBV in adulthood is almost universal, and the incidences of hematological malignancies in IBD are rare. In the cost-benefit analysis, it seems that the value of EBV detection before the IBD patient starts treatment is limited[9,19-21]. Our results suggest that it is important not only to consider the activation of EBV by immunosuppressive drugs that can lead to related malignant tumors but also to understand the relationship between EBV infection and the severity of IBD. With regard to the question of whether to carry out EBV testing first in IBD patients, we suggest that determination should be made after the role of EBV infection on IBD progression rate and deterioration are clarified, or it can be used in high-risk patient populations (such as patients with full colon UC or those who require corticosteroid therapy for the disease).

In addition to the aforementioned obstacles, there are still several unsolved questions about the relation of EBV infection with IBD severity. For example, whether IBD patients with latent EBV infection should be treated for EBV. And recent studies have shown that different EBV strains have inconsistent pathogenic effects on nasopharyngeal carcinoma[22]. However, the exact causal relationship between different EBV strains and the progression of IBD is not clear yet.

Small sample size and one-center study were also considerable drawbacks of this retrospective study. A large sample size and multi-center studies to explain the serious relationship between latent EBV infection and the condition of IBD patients are needed for detailed investigation in the future.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our findings indicated that IBD patients with latent EBV infection might manifest severe symptoms. We suggest that the role of EBV in IBD development should be further investigated, and latent EBV infection in patients with serious IBD should be closely monitored and optimized treatment.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Emerging studies indicate the critical involvement of microorganisms, such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Immunosuppressive therapies for IBD can reactivate latent EBV, complicating the clinical course of IBD.

Research motivation

This study explored the clinical significance of EBV expression in B lymphocytes derived from IBD patients' intestinal tissues in detail.

Research objectives

This study aimed to explore the clinical significance of latent EBV infection in IBD patients.

Research methods

Double staining for EBV encoded RNA and CD20 to determine latent EBV infection. The clinicpathological data were analyzed between the two different latent EBV groups and also between the mild-to-moderate and severe disease groups.

Research results

Systolic pressure, variety of disease, the severity of illness, and pre-op corticosteroids were significantly different between the EBV-negative and EBV-positive groups. Systolic pressure, variety of disease, pre-op corticosteroids and EBV infection were significantly different between the mild-to-moderate and severe disease groups.

Research conclusions

Latent EBV infection is positively related to severity of IBD illness.

Research perspectives

The role of EBV in IBD development should be further investigated; latent EBV infection in patients with serious IBD should be closely monitored.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wei HT made a major contribution to the study design, data analysis, and manuscript writing; Xue XW and Zhou WX had the same contribution to the manuscript by providing advice for the study design and giving suggestions to improve the manuscript writing; Ling Q and Wang PY collected and reviewed the experimental data; and all authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Supported by Clinical and Translational Medicine Research Foundation of Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, No. 2020-I2M-C&T-B-038; Capital Health Research and Development of Special Project, No. 2022-1-2181; and Group Medical Aid Project of the Tibet Autonomous Region Natural Science Foundation, No. XZ2020ZR-ZY28[Z].

Institutional review board statement: This work was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Science (Approval No. JS-2918).

Informed consent statement: This study does not involve patient intervention, information disclosure and long-term follow-up, the informed consent is exempted with the approval of the Institutional Review Board.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: After the paper is published, the corresponding author can be contacted to obtain the data for reasonable reasons.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Hong-Tao Wei 0000-0001-7394-7447; Xiao-Wei Xue 0000-0002-9174-8211; Peng-Yan Wang 0000-0002-8967-986X; Wei-Xun Zhou 0000-0002-7459-7343.

S-Editor: Wang JL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JL

Zaishidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- 1 Ng SC, Shi HY, Hamidi N, Underwood FE, Tang W, Benchimol EI, Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Wu JCY, Chan FKL, Sung JJY, Kaplan GG. Worldwide incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in the 21st century: a systematic review of population-based studies. Lancet 2017; 390: 2769-2778 [PMID: 29050646 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32448-0
- 2 Azimi T, Nasiri MJ, Chirani AS, Pouriran R, Dabiri H. The role of bacteria in the inflammatory bowel disease development: a narrative review. APMIS 2018; 126: 275-283 [PMID: 29508438 DOI: 10.1111/apm.12814]
- Dunmire SK, Verghese PS, Balfour HH Jr. Primary Epstein-Barr virus infection. J Clin Virol 2018; 102: 84-92 [PMID: 3 29525635 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2018.03.001]
- Dugan JP, Coleman CB, Haverkos B. Opportunities to Target the Life Cycle of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) in EBV-4 Associated Lymphoproliferative Disorders. Front Oncol 2019; 9: 127 [PMID: 30931253 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00127]
- 5 de Francisco R, Castaño-García A, Martínez-González S, Pérez-Martínez I, González-Huerta AJ, Morais LR, Fernández-García MS, Jiménez S, Díaz-Coto S, Flórez-Díez P, Suárez A, Riestra S. Impact of Epstein-Barr virus serological status on clinical outcomes in adult patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 723-730 [PMID: 30095176 DOI: 10.1111/apt.149331
- Pezhouh MK, Miller JA, Sharma R, Borzik D, Eze O, Waters K, Westerhoff MA, Parian AM, Lazarev MG, Voltaggio L. 6 Refractory inflammatory bowel disease: is there a role for Epstein-Barr virus? Hum Pathol 2018; 82: 187-192 [PMID: 30120969 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2018.08.001]
- Lapsia S, Koganti S, Spadaro S, Rajapakse R, Chawla A, Bhaduri-McIntosh S. Anti-TNFa therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases is associated with Epstein-Barr virus lytic activation. J Med Virol 2016; 88: 312-318 [PMID: 26307954 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.24331]
- Honkila M, Niinimäki R, Taskinen M, Kuismin O, Kettunen K, Saarela J, Turunen S, Renko M, Tapiainen T. A nearly fatal primary Epstein-Barr virus infection associated with low NK-cell counts in a patient receiving azathioprine: a case report and review of literature. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19: 404 [PMID: 31077135 DOI: 10.1186/s12879-019-4022-3]
- Barnes EL, Herfarth HH. The Usefulness of Serologic Testing for Epstein-Barr Virus Before Initiation of Therapy for Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology 2017; 153: 1167 [PMID: 28881185 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.04.055]
- 10 Wu S, He C, Tang TY, Li YQ. A review on co-existent Epstein-Barr virus-induced complications in inflammatory bowel disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 31: 1085-1091 [PMID: 31205127 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000001474]
- 11 Ciccocioppo R, Racca F, Scudeller L, Piralla A, Formagnana P, Pozzi L, Betti E, Vanoli A, Riboni R, Kruzliak P, Baldanti F, Corazza GR. Differential cellular localization of Epstein-Barr virus and human cytomegalovirus in the colonic mucosa of patients with active or quiescent inflammatory bowel disease. Immunol Res 2016; 64: 191-203 [PMID: 26659090 DOI: 10.1007/s12026-015-8737-y]
- 12 Dimitroulia E, Pitiriga VC, Piperaki ET, Spanakis NE, Tsakris A. Inflammatory bowel disease exacerbation associated with Epstein-Barr virus infection. Dis Colon Rectum 2013; 56: 322-327 [PMID: 23392146 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e31827cd02c]
- 13 Li X, Chen N, You P, Peng T, Chen G, Wang J, Li J, Liu Y. The Status of Epstein-Barr Virus Infection in Intestinal Mucosa of Chinese Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Digestion 2019; 99: 126-132 [PMID: 30235444 DOI: 10.1159/000489996
- Ciccocioppo R, Racca F, Paolucci S, Campanini G, Pozzi L, Betti E, Riboni R, Vanoli A, Baldanti F, Corazza GR. Human 14 cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infection in inflammatory bowel disease: need for mucosal viral load measurement. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 1915-1926 [PMID: 25684960 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i6.1915]
- Hyams JS, Dubinsky MC, Baldassano RN, Colletti RB, Cucchiara S, Escher J, Faubion W, Fell J, Gold BD, Griffiths A, Koletzko S, Kugathasan S, Markowitz J, Ruemmele FM, Veereman G, Winter H, Masel N, Shin CR, Tang KL, Thayu M. Infliximab Is Not Associated With Increased Risk of Malignancy or Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis in Pediatric Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology 2017; 152: 1901-1914.e3 [PMID: 28193515 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.02.004]
- 16 de Francisco R, Castaño-García A, Riestra S. Editorial: which inflammatory bowel disease patients should be screened for Epstein-Barr virus infection? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 1159-1160 [PMID: 30375688 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15002]
- Goetgebuer RL, van der Woude CJ, de Ridder L, Doukas M, de Vries AC. Clinical and endoscopic complications of 17 Epstein-Barr virus in inflammatory bowel disease: an illustrative case series. Int J Colorectal Dis 2019; 34: 923-926 [PMID: 30739187 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-019-03257-7]
- Rodríguez-Lago I, Merino O, López de Goicoechea MJ, Aranzamendi M, Zubiaurre L, Muro N, Ortiz de Zárate J, Cilla G, 18 Cabriada JL. Immunosuppression for inflammatory bowel disease does not influence Epstein-Barr viral load in the shortterm. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 42: 542-547 [PMID: 31402179 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2019.03.016]
- Chapman S, El-Matary W. Screening for Epstein-Barr Virus Status and Risk of Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis in 19 Children With Inflammatory Bowel Disease on Azathioprine. Gastroenterology 2017; 153: 1167-1168 [PMID: 28881189 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.07.052]
- Hans AK, Scott FI. Editorial: which inflammatory bowel disease patients should be screened for Epstein-Barr virus infection? Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 1158-1159 [PMID: 30375692 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14988]
- 21 Ahmed T, Brown F, Ahmed R, Shah A, Whitehead S, Steed H, Brookes MJ. Letter: impact of Epstein-Barr virus serological status on clinical outcomes in adult patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; **49**: 476-477 [PMID: 30689253 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15104]
- Xu M, Yao Y, Chen H, Zhang S, Cao SM, Zhang Z, Luo B, Liu Z, Li Z, Xiang T, He G, Feng QS, Chen LZ, Guo X, Jia 22 WH, Chen MY, Zhang X, Xie SH, Peng R, Chang ET, Pedergnana V, Feng L, Bei JX, Xu RH, Zeng MS, Ye W, Adami HO, Lin X, Zhai W, Zeng YX, Liu J. Genome sequencing analysis identifies Epstein-Barr virus subtypes associated with high risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Nat Genet 2019; 51: 1131-1136 [PMID: 31209392 DOI: 10.1038/s41588-019-0436-5



S W U

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 430-439

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.430

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Clinical Trials Study Efficacy and outcome of extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage plus surgery vs surgery alone with advanced gastric cancer patients

En-Dong Song, Heng-Bo Xia, Li-Xiang Zhang, Jun Ma, Pan-Quan Luo, Lai-Zhi Yang, Ben-Hong Xiang, Bai-Chuan Zhou, Lei Chen, Hui Sheng, Yin Fang, Wen-Xiu Han, Zhi-Jian Wei, A-Man Xu

Specialty type: Surgery

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Çiftci AB, Turkey; Li L, New Zealand

Received: November 26, 2022 Peer-review started: November 26, 2022 First decision: January 3, 2023

Revised: January 15, 2023 Accepted: February 22, 2023 Article in press: February 22, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



En-Dong Song, Lai-Zhi Yang, Ben-Hong Xiang, Yin Fang, Department of General Surgery, The First People's Hospital of Wuhu City, Wuhu 241000, Anhui Province, China

Heng-Bo Xia, Li-Xiang Zhang, Pan-Quan Luo, Bai-Chuan Zhou, Wen-Xiu Han, Zhi-Jian Wei, A-Man Xu, Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China

Jun Ma, Department of Surgical Oncology, Anqing Municipal Hospital, Anqing 246000, Anhui Province, China

Lei Chen, Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou 325000, Zhejiang Province, China

Hui Sheng, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, East Hospital Area of Wuhan Fourth Hospital, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: A-Man Xu, MD, Doctor, Department of General Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Ji-Xi Road, Hefei 230032, Anhui Province, China. xuaman@ahmu.edu.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common malignant tumors. After resection, one of the major problems is its peritoneal dissemination and recurrence. Some free cancer cells may still exist after resection. In addition, the surgery itself may lead to the dissemination of tumor cells. Therefore, it is necessary to remove residual tumor cells. Recently, some researchers found that extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage (EIPL) plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy can improve the prognosis of patients and eradicate peritoneal free cancer for GC patients. However, few studies explored the safety and long-term outcome of EIPL after curative gastrectomy.

AIM

To evaluate the efficacy and long-term outcome of advanced GC patients treated with EIPL.

METHODS



According to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, a total of 150 patients with advanced GC were enrolled in this study. The patients were randomly allocated to two groups. All patients received laparotomy. For the non-EIPL group, peritoneal lavage was washed using no more than 3 L of warm saline. In the EIPL group, patients received 10 L or more of saline (1 L at a time) before the closure of the abdomen. The surviving rate analysis was compared by the Kaplan-Meier method. The prognostic factors were carried out using the Cox appropriate hazard pattern.

RESULTS

The basic information in the EIPL group and the non-EIPL group had no significant difference. The median follow-up time was 30 mo (range: 0-45 mo). The 1- and 3-year overall survival (OS) rates were 71.0% and 26.5%, respectively. The symptoms of ileus and abdominal abscess appeared more frequently in the non-EIPL group (P < 0.05). For the OS of patients, the EIPL, Borrmann classification, tumor size, N stage, T stage and vascular invasion were significant indicators. Then multivariate analysis revealed that EIPL, tumor size, vascular invasion, N stage and T stage were independent prognostic factors. The prognosis of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group (P < 0.001). The 3-year survival rate of the EIPL group (38.4%) was higher than the non-EIPL group (21.7%). For the recurrence-free survival (RFS) of patients, the risk factor of RFS included EIPL, N stage, vascular invasion, type of surgery, tumor location, Borrmann classification, and tumor size. EIPL and tumor size were independent risk factors. The RFS curve of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group (P = 0.004), and the recurrence rate of the EIPL group (24.7%) was lower than the non-EIPL group (46.4%). The overall recurrence rate and peritoneum recurrence rate in the EIPL group was lower than the non-EIPL group (P < 0.05).

CONCLUSION

EIPL can reduce the possibility of perioperative complications including ileus and abdominal abscess. In addition, the overall survival curve and RFS curve were better in the EIPL group.

Key Words: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage; Advanced gastric cancer; Prognosis; Recurrence; Overall survival

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: It has been found that extensive intraoperative abdominal lavage (EIPL) combined with abdominal chemotherapy can improve the prognosis of patients with gastric cancer. However, few studies have explored the safety and long-term efficacy of EIPL after therapeutic gastrectomy. This randomized study evaluated the efficacy and long-term outcome of advanced gastric cancer patients with extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage.

Citation: Song ED, Xia HB, Zhang LX, Ma J, Luo PQ, Yang LZ, Xiang BH, Zhou BC, Chen L, Sheng H, Fang Y, Han WX, Wei ZJ, Xu AM. Efficacy and outcome of extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage plus surgery vs surgery alone with advanced gastric cancer patients. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 430-439 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/430.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.430

INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common malignant tumors. Its morbidity and mortality in China have been increasing in recent years [1,2]. Despite great advances in surgery and other treatment, the 5year survival rate of GC is low[3,4]. After resection, one of the major problems is its peritoneal dissemination and recurrence. Peritoneal recurrence is more likely to occur in advanced GC patients. Although chemotherapy is applied, the prognosis of these patients remains poor[5].

Some free cancer cells may still exist after resection. In addition, the surgery itself may lead to the dissemination of tumor cells[6,7]. Therefore, it is necessary to remove residual tumor cells. Recently, extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage (EIPL) has received more attention. It is a useful treatment that can wash the abdominal cavity completely using 10 L of physiological saline (up to 10 times). Based on a previous study, EIPL is a safe and simple procedure[8]. Some researchers found that EIPL plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy can improve the prognosis of patients[9]. This technique can eradicate peritoneal free cancer, which is beneficial for the recurrence-free survival (RFS) of GC patients [7,10]. However, few studies explored the safety and long-term outcome of EIPL after curative gastrectomy.



In this study, we explored the efficacy and 3-year outcome of advanced GC patients with the technique of EIPL and analyzed the possible mechanism.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

The study population was advanced GC patients with clinically T3 or T4 and M0 disease according to computed tomographic scans and ultrasonographic gastroscopy. The seventh American Joint Committee was used for the tumor, node and metastasis stage. Each patient signed the informed consent, and this study was approved by the institutional review board of The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Anqing Municipal Hospital and The First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

According to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, patients were included in the research. The inclusion criteria included: (1) All patients were confirmed GC with T3/4NanyM0; (2) The surgery was definite and complete resection of cancer; (3) These patients did not have heart disease or any important organ failure; and (4) The patient was available for follow-up. The exclusion criteria included: (1) The patient had previous malignant tumors or various primary tumors; and (2) The patient had accepted radiation treatment or chemotherapy treatment previously.

Procedure

If patients were confirmed with cT3 or cT4 and M0 disease and were suitable for radical gastrectomy, they were formally included in the study and then randomized. Patients were randomized to the EIPL group or non-EIPL group in a 1:1 ratio. Allocation was performed using sealed opaque envelopes that contained computer-generated random numbers and the procedure to which patients were allocated. Research participants were randomized to the EIPL arm or non-EIPL arm based on random permuted blocks with a varying block size of four, assuming equal allocation between treatment arms. The cytological examination was performed by introducing saline into the cavity. The cytological statuses were negative. After the exploratory operation, the envelopes were opened to determine whether EIPL was applied. A total, proximal or distal gastrectomy was completed depending on the primary tumor location. Total gastrectomy or partial resection with D2 lymphadenectomy was performed by the guidelines of the Japanese Research Society[11]. All patients received laparotomy, which reduced the influence of surgical methods. In addition, after clinical preoperative evaluation, the patient's preoperative nutritional status was good.

For the non-EIPL group, peritoneal lavage was washed using no more than 3 L of warm saline. In the EIPL group, patients received 10 L or more of saline (1 L at a time) before the closure of the abdomen. Patients were excluded if the stage was not detected as T3 or T4 and M0. In the end, 100 patients were finally included in this study between March 2016 and March 2017. The external population included 50 GC patients who were hospitalized at The First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University and Anqing Municipal Hospital from March 2016 to November 2017, and the methods and procedures were consistent with our group (Supplementary Figure 1).

Data collection and follow-up

The patient's demographic and clinicopathological data were recorded, including age, sex, tumor location, tumor size, differentiation grade, pathological type, *etc*. The routine laboratory data including neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), *etc* were collected.

Peripheral blood tests were obtained within 1 wk before surgery and on the 2nd day after surgery. The cutoff value of CEA was determined according to the normal level. We determined the following indexes: neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR); neutrophil count; and lymphocyte count. These two variables were grouped into the low group and high group according to the optimal cutoff values, which were calculated based on the Youden index [maximum (sensitivity + specificity-1)][12].

Tumor location was classified into five subgroups according to the anatomy of the stomach: gastric cardia; fundus of stomach; body of stomach; gastric antrum; and pylorus. Among them, upper means cardia and fundus of stomach. Middle means body of stomach. Low means gastric antrum and pylorus. To prevent the influence of esophageal cancer on the results of this study, gastroesophageal junction tumors were not included in our research. The postoperative complications, the length of hospital stay and other outcomes were also recorded. The complications included abscess, leakage, bleeding, *etc*.

After the operation, the patients received eight 3-wk cycles of oral S-1 plus intravenous oxaliplatin. Diagnosis of recurrence was made by abdominal ultrasound, computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, gastroscopy and pathology tests. We collected follow-up data through telephone and outpatient visits every 90 d until December 2020.

Statistical analysis

The baseline characteristics analysis of the non-EIPL group and EIPL group patients was performed including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), smoking status, tumor location, differentiated grade, T stage, N stage, tumor size, Borrmann classification, CEA, neutrophil count, lymphocyte count, NLR and platelet count. The outcome after surgery was analyzed, including type of surgery, the time from surgery to first flatus, postoperative hospital stays, abdominal pain, ileus, abdominal abscess, leakage, bleeding, neutrophil count, lymphocyte count, NLR and platelet count. Continuous variables were expressed as mean ± SD and were analyzed by the Student's t-test. Categorical values were identified by count (percent) and were analyzed by χ^2 test or Fisher exact test. The Kaplan-Meier method and Logrank test were used to compare the prognosis of the non-EIPL group and EIPL group. In addition, variables including sex, age, EIPL/non-EIPL, tumor size, type of surgery, tumor location, Borrmann classification, differentiated grade, T stage, N stage and vascular invasion were enrolled into the univariate analysis using the Cox proportional hazards model to determine the factors influencing the GC patient's overall survival (OS). Subsequently, risk factors screened by univariate analysis (P < 0.05) were enrolled into the multivariate analysis using the Cox proportional hazards model to determine the independent risk factors influencing the OS. The SPSS app (17.0 version) was used for statistical analysis.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics

The baseline characteristic analysis of the 150 patients was shown in Table 1. Among them, 109 (72.67%) were male, and 41 (27.33%) were female. The median age was 67 years (range: 35-80 years). The basic information in the EIPL group and the non-EIPL group had no significant difference. The median follow-up time was 30 mo (range: 0-45 mo). The 1- and 3-year OS rates were 71.0% and 26.5%, respectively.

Surgical outcome after gastrectomy

Table 2 presented the results of surgery. There was no significant difference in time (surgery to first flatus), postoperative hospital stay, abdominal pain, bleeding, leakage or another blood index between the two groups (P > 0.05), but the symptoms of ileus and abdominal abscess appeared more frequently in the non-EIPL group (P < 0.05).

OS of patients

Risk factors of OS were shown in Table 3. The result showed that the EIPL, Borrmann classification, tumor size, N stage, T stage and vascular invasion were significant indicators. Then multivariate analysis revealed that EIPL, tumor size, vascular invasion, N stage and T stage were independent prognostic factors (Table 4). The survival curve (Figure 1A) revealed that the prognosis of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group (P < 0.001). The 3-year survival rate of the EIPL group (38.4%) was higher than the non-EIPL group (21.7%).

RFS of patients

The risk factor of RFS included EIPL, N stage, vascular invasion, type of surgery, tumor location, Borrmann classification and tumor size (Supplementary Table 1). EIPL and tumor size were independent risk factors (Supplementary Table 2). The RFS curve of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group (P = 0.004) (Figure 1B), and the recurrence rate of the EIPL group (24.7%) was lower than the non-EIPL group (46.4%).

Patterns of recurrence

The recurrence rate of lymph node, node and other organs in the EIPL group and the non-EIPL group were not significantly different (P > 0.05), but the overall recurrence rate and peritoneum recurrence rate in the EIPL group was lower than the non-EIPL group (P < 0.05) (Supplementary Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Positive peritoneal lavage cytology and peritoneal recurrence are associated with the prognosis of GC [13,14]. Previous research has reported that EIPL combined with intraperitoneal treatment is an effective treatment for GC patients^[9] that can reduce the recurrence rate of advanced patients. However, the safety and effect of EIPL alone remained unclear. Therefore, this study explored the clinical value of EIPL.



Song ED et al. EIPL plus surgery

Table 1 The baseline characteristic analysis of the patients					
Variables	Non-EIPL group, <i>n</i> = 75	EIPL group, <i>n</i> = 75	P value		
Age in yr	66.93 ± 9.38	64.55 ± 8.22	0.099		
Sex			0.200		
Male	51	58			
Female	24	17			
BMI in kg/m ²	21.51 ± 2.29	21.64 ± 3.34	0.786		
Smoking status			0.373		
Yes	55	50			
No	20	25			
Tumor location			0.260		
Upper	21	14			
Middle	11	17			
Low	43	44			
Differentiated grade			0.121		
High	0	0			
Middle	55	45			
Low	20	30			
T stage			0.405		
Т3	4	2			
T4	71	73			
N stage			0.112		
N0	13	24			
N1	18	12			
N2	14	17			
N3	30	22			
Tumor size in cm	5.52 ± 2.21	5.37 ± 2.32	0.671		
Borrmann classification			0.100		
П	7	14			
III	68	61			
CEA in g/L	16.21 ± 78.06	14.13 ± 35.88	0.834		
Neutrophil count as 10 ⁹ /L	3.49 ± 1.32	4.71 ± 8.39	0.215		
Lymphocyte count as 10 ⁹ /L	1.35 ± 0.47	1.76 ± 2.48	0.164		
NLR	3.02 ± 1.96	3.03 ± 2.20	0.989		
Platelet as 10 ⁹ /L	202.52 ± 61.39	226.19 ± 90.94	0.064		

BMI: Body mass index; CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; EIPL: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio.

Our results indicated that the OS curve and RFS curve of the EIPL group were better than the non-EIPL group, and the technique of EIPL was a significant factor in OS and RFS in advanced GC patients. EIPL may reduce the recurrence rate of the tumor and improve the outcome for patients. Yamamoto et al [6] also conducted a randomized controlled trial (RCT) of EIPL with pancreatic cancer patients and found similar conclusions. Based on these studies, the technique of EIPL needs to be applied to abdominal cancers.

Intraoperative bleeding and surgery can lead to residual tumor cells in the abdominal cavities, which may increase the risk of peritoneal metastasis. In our study, intraoperative blood loss between two groups was not significantly different. In the non-EIPL group, intraperitoneal lavage does not exceed 3



Table 2 Outcomes after surgery			
Variables	Non-EIPL group, <i>n</i> = 75	EIPL group, <i>n</i> = 75	P value
Type of surgery			0.242
Total	55	61	
Distal	20	14	
Time, surgery to first flatus in d	4.19 ± 0.99	3.95 ± 0.87	0.108
Postoperative hospital stay in d	15.26 ± 3.10	14.48 ± 1.97	0.072
Abdominal pain	10/75	5/75	0.174
Ileus	15/75	3/75	0.003
Abdominal abscess	9/75	1/75	0.009
Leakage	5/75	2/75	0.246
Bleeding	6/75	3/75	0.302
Neutrophil count as $10^9/L$	10.36 ± 3.32	10.03 ± 3.56	0.552
Lymphocyte cell as 10 ⁹ /L	1.02 ± 0.63	1.00 ± 0.60	0.817
NLR	13.48 ± 8.55	11.87 ± 5.22	0.169
Platelet as 10 ⁹ /L	171.00 ± 59.98	179.73 ± 60.38	0.381

EIPL: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio.

Table 3 Univariate analysis of overall survival				
Variable	β	HR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value	
Sex	0.514	1.671 (0.983-2.841)	0.058	
Age	0.024	1.025 (0.994-1.056)	0.114	
EIPL/Non-EIPL	-0.991	0.371 (0.218,0.631)	0.000	
Tumor size	0.192	1.211 (1.088-1.348)	0.000	
Type of surgery	0.185	1.203 (0.653-2.214)	0.553	
Tumor location	0.075	0.928 (0.689-1.250)	0.622	
Borrmann classification	-1.474	0.229 (0.072-0.731)	0.013	
Differentiated grade	0.491	0.612 (0.351-1.067)	0.083	
T stage	1.250	3.489 (1.094-11.130)	0.035	
N stage	0.535	1.707 (1.339-2.176)	0.000	
Vascular invasion	-0.954	0.385 (0.235-0.632)	0.000	

EIPL: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage; HR: Hazard ratio.

L of saline, which may make it difficult to remove free peritoneal cancer cells. The technique of EIPL can remove free cancer cells and blood in the abdominal cavity with plenty of washing (10 L or more of saline), which can prevent free cancer cells from attaching to the peritoneum[15].

In recent years, several reports[15-17] have shown that inflammation was linked to poor survival. Inflammation can stimulate the proliferation of malignant tumors cells, promote metastasis and destroy the adaptive immune response[16]. In this study, we found that the preoperative inflammatory index of NLR in the non-EIPL group was lower than in the EIPL group. However, the level of postoperative NLR in the non-EIPL group was higher than in the EIPL group. As for patients with high levels of NLR, the anti-tumor immune response of T cells and natural killer cells in the system may be surrounded by several neutrophils, which may decrease the opportunity to contact tumor cells[17,18]. Therefore, the free peritoneal cancer cells may survive in this course.

Song ED et al. EIPL plus surgery

Table 4 Multivariate analysis of overall survival					
Variable	β	HR (95%CI)	P value		
EIPL/Non-EIPL	-0.861	0.423 (0.246-0.727)	0.002		
Tumor size	0.139	1.149 (1.025-1.289)	0.017		
Borrmann classification	-0.268	0.765 (0.211-2.775)	0.684		
T stage	1.395	4.034 (1.255-12.971)	0.019		
N stage	0.313	1.368 (1.034-1.811)	0.029		
Vascular invasion	-0.608	0.545 (0.317-0.935)	0.027		

EIPL: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage; HR: Hazard ratio.



Figure 1 Kaplan-Meier curve of overall survival and recurrence-free survival in the non-extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage and extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage groups. A: Overall survival; B: Recurrence-free survival. EIPL: Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage.

This study concluded that the symptoms of ileus appeared more in the non-EIPL group than in the EIPL group. In addition, EIPL can reduce the possibility of abdominal abscess, but the complications of bleeding and leakage have no significant difference. Indeed, EIPL is similar to the so-called limiting dilution method[19]. This technique can clean up the peritoneal effusion and reduce the risk of infection. The ten washes of regular warm saline can promote intestinal motility and functional recovery, and this may be helpful for surgeons to find the bleeding location.

All patients received laparotomy, which reduced the influence of different surgical methods. The patients also had good preoperative nutritional statuses, which made no obvious difference. As for the factors of type of surgery, when the proximal resection margin ranged from 3 to 5 cm, there was no significant difference between distal gastrectomy and total gastrectomy for the 5-year OS of GC patients [20]. We concluded that EIPL can reduce the possibility of perioperative complications including ileus and abdominal abscess, and the technique of EIPL may be beneficial for perioperative complications to make patients more comfortable after the operation. This conclusion was consistent with a previous study[8].

Although EIPL could not reduce the recurrence rate of lymph nodes, nodes and other organs, the overall recurrence rate and peritoneum recurrence rate in the EIPL group were lower than in the non-EIPL group. The OS curve and RFS curve were better in the EIPL group. Currently, only three RCTs are ongoing to explore the long-term efficacy of EIPL in advanced GC. Kuramoto *et al*[9] concluded that the peritoneal recurrence rate of the EIPL group was significantly lower than that of the non-EIPL (6.7% *vs* 45.8%, P = 0.013). There was no difference in recurrence rate for liver transfer, lymph node and other organ transfer cases between the two groups, which was similar to our study. Among 88 patients who had positive cytology, EIPL-intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) greatly improved the 5-year survival of patients (44%) compared with 0% in patients with surgery alone. The prognosis of patients is poorer than in our study because the recruited patients of their study had positive cytology.



Another advantage is that IPC was not used in our study. It may remove side effects associated with chemotherapy and confound the effect of EIPL. Misawa et al[21] conducted an RCT indicating that peritoneal RFS was not significantly different between the EIPL group and the non-EIPL group. The 3year OS rate and RFS rate were better than our study, and the reason is that the proportion of T4 (49.5%) and N3 (28.1%) was smaller than our study population (T4: 96.0%, N3: 34.7%). The value of EIPL may be related to the stage of T status and N status. The patients of our study (more cases of T4 and N3) had a higher risk of recurrence, and the reduction of recurrence rate was significant in the EIPL group. One RCT based in Singapore is still ongoing [22]. Eligible patients having cT3 or cT4 with M0 disease are also in their criteria, but our study collected more clinical information and explored the safety and efficacy of the EIPL group. Our study showed that the technique of EIPL can reduce the perioperative complications of patients.

Our study had several limitations. First, we analyzed only advanced GC patients, which is not representative of all patients. Second, the sample size was relatively small, and more cases are needed to verify our results.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, EIPL can reduce the possibility of perioperative complications including ileus and abdominal abscess. The OS curve and RFS curve were better in the EIPL group. This technique is easy and inexpensive. Therefore, EIPL can benefit advanced GC patients and would be a promising therapeutic strategy in the future.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

After resection, one of the major problems is the peritoneal dissemination and recurrence of gastric cancer (GC). It is necessary to remove residual tumor cells. Recently, a study found that extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage (EIPL) plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy can improve the prognosis of patients and eradicate peritoneal free cancer for GC patients.

Research motivation

The efficacy and outcome of advanced GC patients treated with EIPL has not been determined.

Research objectives

Evaluating the efficacy and long-term outcome of advanced GC patients treated with EIPL.

Research methods

A total of 150 patients with advanced GC were enrolled in this study according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria and randomly allocated to 2 groups. For the non-EIPL group, peritoneal lavage was performed using no more than 3 L of warm saline. In the EIPL group, patients received 10 L or more of saline (1 L at a time) before the closure of the abdomen. The surviving rate analysis was compared by the Kaplan-Meier method. Using the Cox appropriate hazard pattern was used to screen the prognostic factors.

Research results

The basic information in the EIPL group and the non-EIPL group had no significant differences. The symptoms of ileus and abdominal abscess appeared more frequently in the non-EIPL group. The multivariate analysis revealed that EIPL, tumor size, vascular invasion, N stage and T stage were independent prognostic factors for the overall survival of patients. The prognosis of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group, and the 3-year survival rate of the EIPL group was higher than the non-EIPL group. For the recurrence-free survival (RFS) of patients, the risk factor included EIPL, N stage, vascular invasion, type of surgery, tumor location, Borrmann classification and tumor size. EIPL and tumor size were independent risk factors. The RFS curve of the EIPL group was better than the non-EIPL group (P = 0.004), and the recurrence rate of the EIPL group was lower than the non-EIPL group. The overall recurrence rate and peritoneum recurrence rate in the EIPL group was lower than the non-EIPL group.

Research conclusions

The overall survival curve and RFS curve were better in the EIPL group. The possibility of perioperative complications, including ileus and abdominal abscess, could be reduced by EIPL.

Research perspectives

EIPL could benefit advanced GC patients because it is inexpensive and easy and would be a promising therapeutic strategy in the future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Song ED, Xia HB, Zhang LX, Ma J, Luo QP, Yang LZ and Xiang BH wrote the manuscript and revised the main work, and they contributed equally to this work and share the first authorship; Sheng Hui, Fang Y, Han WX, Wei ZJ and Xu AM designed this study, and they are all the correspondence and contributed equally to this work; Zhou BC and Chen L were responsible for the production of pictures; All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the institutional review board of The First Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, No. 2108085QH337.

Clinical trial registration statement: This study was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov, identification number: NCT02745509.

Informed consent statement: All study participants provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors state that they have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Data sharing statement: The data can be obtained from the correspondence.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT 2010 statement, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CONSORT 2010 statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: A-Man Xu 0000-0003-1210-7430.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- Global Burden of Disease Cancer Collaboration, Fitzmaurice C, Dicker D, Pain A, Hamavid H, Moradi-Lakeh M, 1 MacIntyre MF, Allen C, Hansen G, Woodbrook R, Wolfe C, Hamadeh RR, Moore A, Werdecker A, Gessner BD, Te Ao B, McMahon B, Karimkhani C, Yu C, Cooke GS, Schwebel DC, Carpenter DO, Pereira DM, Nash D, Kazi DS, De Leo D, Plass D, Ukwaja KN, Thurston GD, Yun Jin K, Simard EP, Mills E, Park EK, Catalá-López F, deVeber G, Gotay C, Khan G, Hosgood HD 3rd, Santos IS, Leasher JL, Singh J, Leigh J, Jonas JB, Sanabria J, Beardsley J, Jacobsen KH, Takahashi K, Franklin RC, Ronfani L, Montico M, Naldi L, Tonelli M, Geleijnse J, Petzold M, Shrime MG, Younis M, Yonemoto N, Breitborde N, Yip P, Pourmalek F, Lotufo PA, Esteghamati A, Hankey GJ, Ali R, Lunevicius R, Malekzadeh R, Dellavalle R, Weintraub R, Lucas R, Hay R, Rojas-Rueda D, Westerman R, Sepanlou SG, Nolte S, Patten S, Weichenthal S, Abera SF, Fereshtehnejad SM, Shiue I, Driscoll T, Vasankari T, Alsharif U, Rahimi-Movaghar V, Vlassov VV, Marcenes WS, Mekonnen W, Melaku YA, Yano Y, Artaman A, Campos I, MacLachlan J, Mueller U, Kim D, Trillini M, Eshrati B, Williams HC, Shibuya K, Dandona R, Murthy K, Cowie B, Amare AT, Antonio CA, Castañeda-Orjuela C, van Gool CH, Violante F, Oh IH, Deribe K, Soreide K, Knibbs L, Kereselidze M, Green M, Cardenas R, Roy N, Tillmann T, Li Y, Krueger H, Monasta L, Dey S, Sheikhbahaei S, Hafezi-Nejad N, Kumar GA, Sreeramareddy CT, Dandona L, Wang H, Vollset SE, Mokdad A, Salomon JA, Lozano R, Vos T, Forouzanfar M, Lopez A, Murray C, Naghavi M. The Global Burden of Cancer 2013. JAMA Oncol 2015; 1: 505-527 [PMID: 26181261 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.0735]
- 2 Liu Y, Zhang Q, Ren C, Ding Y, Jin G, Hu Z, Xu Y, Shen H. A germline variant N375S in MET and gastric cancer susceptibility in a Chinese population. J Biomed Res 2012; 26: 315-318 [PMID: 23554766 DOI: 10.7555/JBR.26.20110087]
- Wang W, Li YF, Sun XW, Chen YB, Li W, Xu DZ, Guan XX, Huang CY, Zhan YQ, Zhou ZW. Prognosis of 980 patients 3 with gastric cancer after surgical resection. Chin J Cancer 2010; 29: 923-930 [PMID: 20979691 DOI: 10.5732/cjc.010.10290]
- 4 Zhang LX, Chen L, Xu AM. A Simple Model Established by Blood Markers Predicting Overall Survival After Radical



Resection of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 583 [PMID: 32426277 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00583]

- Spratt JS, Adcock RA, Muskovin M, Sherrill W, McKeown J. Clinical delivery system for intraperitoneal hyperthermic 5 chemotherapy. Cancer Res 1980; 40: 256-260 [PMID: 6766084]
- Yamamoto K, Shimada S, Hirota M, Yagi Y, Matsuda M, Baba H. EIPL (extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage) therapy significantly reduces peritoneal recurrence after pancreatectomy in patients with pancreatic cancer. Int J Oncol 2005; 27: 1321-1328 [PMID: 16211228]
- 7 Shimada S, Tanaka E, Marutsuka T, Honmyo U, Tokunaga H, Yagi Y, Aoki N, Ogawa M. Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage and chemotherapy for gastric cancer patients with peritoneal free cancer cells. Gastric Cancer 2002; 5: 168-172 [PMID: 12378344 DOI: 10.1007/s101200200029]
- Guo J, Xu A, Sun X, Zhao X, Xia Y, Rao H, Zhang Y, Zhang R, Chen L, Zhang T, Li G, Xu H, Xu D. Combined Surgery and Extensive Intraoperative Peritoneal Lavage vs Surgery Alone for Treatment of Locally Advanced Gastric Cancer: The SEIPLUS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg 2019; 154: 610-616 [PMID: 30916742 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2019.0153
- Kuramoto M, Shimada S, Ikeshima S, Matsuo A, Yagi Y, Matsuda M, Yonemura Y, Baba H. Extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage as a standard prophylactic strategy for peritoneal recurrence in patients with gastric carcinoma. Ann Surg 2009; 250: 242-246 [PMID: 19638909 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b0c80e]
- 10 Misawa K, Mochizuki Y, Sakai M, Teramoto H, Morimoto D, Nakayama H, Tanaka N, Matsui T, Ito Y, Ito S, Tanaka K, Uemura K, Morita S, Kodera Y; Chubu Clinical Oncology Group. Randomized clinical trial of extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage versus standard treatment for resectable advanced gastric cancer (CCOG 1102 trial). Br J Surg 2019; 106: 1602-1610 [PMID: 31573086 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11303]
- 11 Japanese Gastric Cancer Association. Japanese gastric cancer treatment guidelines 2010 (ver. 3). Gastric Cancer 2011; 14: 113-123 [PMID: 21573742 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-011-0042-4]
- Youden WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 1950; 3: 32-35 [PMID: 15405679 DOI: 12 10.1002/1097-0142(1950)3:1<32::aid-cncr2820030106>3.0.co;2-3
- Ribeiro U Jr, Safatle-Ribeiro AV, Zilberstein B, Mucerino D, Yagi OK, Bresciani CC, Jacob CE, Iryia K, Gama-13 Rodrigues J. Does the intraoperative peritoneal lavage cytology add prognostic information in patients with potentially curative gastric resection? J Gastrointest Surg 2006; 10: 170-176, discussion 176 [PMID: 16455447 DOI: 10.1016/j.gassur.2005.11.001
- 14 Nakagawa S, Nashimoto A, Yabusaki H. Role of staging laparoscopy with peritoneal lavage cytology in the treatment of locally advanced gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer 2007; 10: 29-34 [PMID: 17334715 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-006-0406-3]
- Arita T, Ichikawa D, Konishi H, Komatsu S, Shiozaki A, Hiramoto H, Hamada J, Shoda K, Kawaguchi T, Hirajima S, 15 Nagata H, Fujiwara H, Okamoto K, Otsuji E. Increase in peritoneal recurrence induced by intraoperative hemorrhage in gastrectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 2015; 22: 758-764 [PMID: 25201501 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-014-4060-4]
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature 2008; 454: 436-444 [PMID: 18650914 DOI: 10.1038/nature07205]
- 17 Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell 2010; 140: 883-899 [PMID: 20303878 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025]
- 18 Smyth MJ, Dunn GP, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting: the roles of immunity in suppressing tumor development and shaping tumor immunogenicity. Adv Immunol 2006; 90: 1-50 [PMID: 16730260 DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2776(06)90001-7
- 19 Ruiz-Tovar J, Llavero C, Muñoz JL, Zubiaga L, Diez M. Effect of Peritoneal Lavage with Clindamycin-Gentamicin Solution on Post-Operative Pain and Analytic Acute-Phase Reactants after Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2016; 17: 357-362 [PMID: 26910781 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2015.196]
- 20 Jiang Y, Yang F, Ma J, Zhang N, Zhang C, Li G, Li Z. Surgical and oncological outcomes of distal gastreetomy compared to total gastrectomy for middle-third gastric cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncol Lett 2022; 24: 291 [PMID: 35949603 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2022.13411]
- 21 Misawa K, Mochizuki Y, Ohashi N, Matsui T, Nakayama H, Tsuboi K, Sakai M, Ito S, Morita S, Kodera Y. A randomized phase III trial exploring the prognostic value of extensive intraoperative peritoneal lavage in addition to standard treatment for resectable advanced gastric cancer: CCOG 1102 study. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2014; 44: 101-103 [PMID: 24287077 DOI: 10.1093/jjco/hyt157]
- 22 Kim G, Chen E, Tay AY, Lee JS, Phua JN, Shabbir A, So JB, Tai BC. Extensive peritoneal lavage after curative gastrectomy for gastric cancer (EXPEL): study protocol of an international multicentre randomised controlled trial. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2017; 47: 179-184 [PMID: 28173154 DOI: 10.1093/jjco/hyw153]



S WÛ

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 440-449

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.440

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Controlled Trial

Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation versus endoscopic submucosal dissection for small rectal neuroendocrine tumors

Jia-Lan Huang, Ri-Yun Gan, Ze-Han Chen, Ruo-Yu Gao, De-Feng Li, Li-Sheng Wang, Jun Yao

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Matsui S, Japan; Osawa S, Japan

Received: December 6, 2022 Peer-review started: December 6, 2022 First decision: December 27, 2022 Revised: January 9, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023

Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Jia-Lan Huang, Ri-Yun Gan, Ze-Han Chen, Department of Gastroenterology, The Second Clinical Medical College, Jinan University, Shenzhen 518020, Guangdong Province, China

Ruo-Yu Gao, Department of Gastroenterology, Shenzhen Luohu People's Hospital, Shenzhen 518020, Guangdong Province, China

De-Feng Li, Li-Sheng Wang, Jun Yao, Department of Gastroenterology, Shenzhen People's Hospital (The Second Clinical Medical College, Jinan University; The First Affiliated Hospital, Southern University of Science and Technology), Shenzhen 518020, Guangdong Province, China

Corresponding author: Jun Yao, MD, PhD, Associate Chief Physician, Associate Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Shenzhen People's Hospital (The Second Clinical Medical College, Jinan University; The First Affiliated Hospital, Southern University of Science and Technology), 1017 East Gate Road, Shenzhen 518020, Guangdong Province, China. yao.jun@szhospital.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Endoscopic resection remains an effective method for the treatment of small rectal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) (≤ 10 mm). Moreover, endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) with double band ligation (EMR-dB), a simplified modification of EMR with band ligation, is an alternative strategy to remove small rectal NETs.

AIM

To evaluate the feasibility and safety of EMR-dB for the treatment of small rectal NETs (≤ 10 mm).

METHODS

A total of 50 patients with small rectal NETs, without regional lymph node enlargement or distant metastasis confirmed by endoscopic ultrasound, computerized tomography scan, or magnetic resonance imaging, were enrolled in the study from March 2021 to June 2022. These patients were randomly assigned into the EMR-dB (n = 25) group or endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) group (n = 25). The characteristics of the patients and tumors, procedure time, devices cost, complete resection rate, complications, and recurrence outcomes were



analyzed.

RESULTS

There were 25 patients (13 males, 12 females; age range 28-68 years old) in the EMR-dB group, and the ESD group contained 25 patients (15 males, 10 females; age range 25-70 years old). Both groups had similar lesion sizes (EMR-dB 4.53 ± 1.02 mm, ESD 5.140 ± 1.74 mm; P = 0.141) and resected lesion sizes $(1.32 \pm 0.52 \text{ cm } vs \ 1.58 \pm 0.84 \text{ cm}; P = 0.269)$. Furthermore, the histological complete resection and en bloc resection rates were achieved in all patients (100% for each). In addition, there was no significant difference in the complication rate between the two groups. However, the procedure time was significantly shorter and the devices cost was significantly lower in the EMRdB group. Besides, there was no recurrence in both groups during the follow-up period.

CONCLUSION

The procedure time of EMR-dB was shorter compared with ESD, and both approaches showed a similar curative effect. Taken together, EMR-dB was a feasible and safe option for the treatment of small rectal NETs.

Key Words: Small rectal neuroendocrine tumor; Endoscopic submucosal dissection; Endoscopic mucosal resection; Ligation; complete resection rate; Complication

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR) with double band ligation (EMR-dB), a simplified modification of EMR with band ligation, is an alternative strategy to remove small rectal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs). Our study first evaluates the feasibility and safety of EMR-dB and endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) for the treatment of small rectal NETs (≤ 10 mm). We discovered that the EMR-dB technique took less time than ESD, and displayed a similar curative effect to ESD. If no lymph nodes and distant metastases are revealed by either endoscopic ultrasound or computerized tomography, EMR-dB is a feasible and safe option for the treatment of small rectal NETs.

Citation: Huang JL, Gan RY, Chen ZH, Gao RY, Li DF, Wang LS, Yao J. Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation versus endoscopic submucosal dissection for small rectal neuroendocrine tumors. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 440-449

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/440.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.440

INTRODUCTION

With the wide application of screening colonoscopy, the incidence of neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) has increased in the past few decades. The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is the most frequent site for NETs [1]. Rectal NETs represent 34% of all diagnosed GI NETs and are the most common NETs behind small bowel NETs^[2]. Most GI NETs do not cause clinical symptoms. Therefore, they are only found by colonoscopy accidentally[3]. Rectal tumors of 10-19 mm in diameter have a metastatic rate of 4%-30% [4, 5], whereas over 80% of tumors measuring more than 20 mm in diameter are associated with lymph nodes or liver metastases. Well-differentiated NETs ≤ 10.0 mm in diameter and limited to the submucosal layer are reported to be associated with a low frequency of lymph nodes and distant metastases. These NETs are good candidates for endoscopic resection (ER)[6,7], because ER can achieve high resection(R0) resection rates like many minimally invasive techniques[8], and it has reduced costs, morbidity, and mortality[9] compared with conventional surgery. However, the consensus about the optimal endoscopic treatment modality for rectal NETs has not been established yet.

ER, including conventional endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR), modified EMR (m-EMR), and endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD), is a safe and effective modality for the treatment of small and localized early rectal NETs[2]. However, although conventional EMR can remove small rectal NETs in a minimally invasive manner, it is difficult to achieve deep resection margins because most rectal NETs invade the submucosal layer[10]. Therefore, various modified methods of EMR have been developed. m-EMR includes EMR with cap[11], EMR with band ligation (EMR-B)[12], (EMR-L)[13], EMR with circumferential incision[14], and so on. These strategies have all been proven to be safe and effective for removing rectal NETs. However, according to previous reports, EMR-B and EMR-L show a histological complete R0 rate that varies from 82.8% to 95.5% in treating rectal NETs[12,13,15]. The positive basal margins may be attributed to the insufficient distance from lesion to the resection margin. To overcome



the shortcomings of the EMR-B and EMR-L, we presented a new EMR technique. EMR with double band ligation (EMR-dB), a simplified modification of EMR-B, could achieve a deeper vertical resection margin compared with EMR-B. However, the safety and efficacy of such m-EMR technique in treating small rectal NETs has not been determined. Therefore, in the present study, we compared the safety and efficacy of EMR-dB and ESD in the treatment of rectal NETs. Moreover, we aimed to evaluate the feasibility of EMR-dB for the treatment of small rectal NETs (≤ 10 mm) in comparison to ESD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and participants

EMR-dB and ESD were performed in 50 patients with rectal NETs in the Gastroenterology Unit of Shenzhen People's Hospital from March 2021 to June 2022. These patients were randomly assigned into the EMR-dB (n = 25) group or ESD group (n = 25). The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Rectal NETs confirmed by histological diagnosis; (2) Tumors were ≤ 10 mm in diameter by endoscopic ultrasound (EUS); and (3) EUS and computerized tomography(CT) of the thorax/abdomen/pelvis were negative for lymph node and distant metastases. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the hospital, and all patients gave their informed consent before the procedures (Clinical trial registration number: ChiCTR2200063871).

Randomization strategy

A researcher who was unaffiliated with this trial created a randomization list. Specific software (www.randomizer.org) was used, and the participants were randomly allocated at a 1:1 ratio to the EMR-dB group or the ESD group. Outcomes assessor was blinded after assignment to interventions.

Endoscopic devices and procedures

A wide (14.9 mm in diameter), soft, straight, transparent cap with an inside rim (D-201-11802, Olympus) was fitted onto the tip of a standard single-channel endoscope (GIF-260, Olympus).

A ligating device with a 110-cm maximum Multiple Band Ligator (M00542251, Boston Scientific) was inserted into the accessory channel of the endoscope.

Other devices included a dual knife, injection needles, snares, hot biopsy forceps from Olympus, and a high-frequency generator (ICC-200, ERBE).

EMR-dB procedure (Figure 1): (1) Endoscopy showing a rectal carcinoid (Figure 1A); (2) Marking dots were on the lesion with an electric snare tip(KD-650Q, Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) (Figure 1B); (3) When the lesion was suctioned into the ligating device, the first band was deployed to ligate the lesion and increase luminal protuberance (Figure 1C); Then the second band was deployed below the first one after endoscopic suctioning of the tumor into the cap (Figure 1D); (4) The lesion resection was performed via electrocautery below the second band (Figure 1E); (5) Wound after resection (Figure 1F); and (6) The wound was closed with clips (Figure 1G); Subsequently, the resection specimen was entirely flattened (Figure 1H).

ESD procedure: ESD was performed using a single-channel endoscope with a short transparent cap attached to the tip of the endoscope. (1) Submucosal solution was injected as described above, and the circumferential mucosa of the lesion was incised using a dual knife. The mucosal incisions were placed at least 2-3 mm from the lesion periphery to create a sufficient tumor-free lateral resection margin; (2) Circumferential incision and submucosal dissection were carried out as previously described[16]; and (3) The wound was treated as described above.

Two experienced endoscopists (Yao J and Wang LS) conducted all procedures. All patients were subjected to food deprivation for 1 d after the operation.

Outcomes and definition

The efficacy was evaluated by assessing the rates of histological complete R0, en bloc resection, and operation success, and the safety was evaluated by assessing the complications.

The primary outcome was the histological complete R0 rate. Histological complete resection was defined as a complete single-piece (en bloc) resection of the lesion with a tumor-free margin in both the lateral and vertical margins.

Secondary outcomes included: En bloc resection rate: En bloc resection was defined as a complete single resection of the targeted lesion, regardless of whether the basal and lateral tumor margins were infiltrated or undetermined. Complications: The primary complications included bleeding and perforation. Immediate bleeding was defined as an evident hemorrhage during the procedure that could not be controlled by endoscopic hemostasis. Delayed bleeding was defined as bleeding that caused hemoglobin to drop $\geq 2 \text{ g/dL}$ or hematochezia, which required endoscopic and/or radiologic hemostasis or transfusions within 14 d after the procedure. Perforation was defined as the wall defect





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.440 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Utilizing Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation to remove the rectal neuroendocrine tumors. A: Endoscopy showing a rectal neuroendocrine tumors; B: Marking dots were made approximately 2-3 mm on the lesion with an electric snare tip; C: When the lesion was sucked into the ligating device, the first band was deployed to ligate the lesion; D: The second band was deployed below the first one after endoscopic suctioning of the tumor into the cap; E: The resection of the lesion was performed *via* electrocautery below the second band; F: Wound after resection; G: The wound was closed with clips; H: Endoscopic resection of the intact tumor and the fully flattened specimen.

identified by endoscopy or free air in the abdominal cavity detected by radiological examinations (such as plain abdominal X-ray and/or abdominal CT) after the procedure. Procedure time was counted from the time of submucosal injection to the end of complete resection of the targeted lesion. Devices cost was defined as the cost of the required use of clips and the ligation devices in EMR-dB or dual knife using in ESD procedures, except the cost of other endoscopic procedures. Histopathologic grade included NET grade(G) 1, NET G2, NET G3, and neuroendocrine carcinomas according to the 2019 World Health Organization classification[17].

Follow-up

All patients were followed up by colonoscopy at 3 mo after endoscopic treatment to detect the recovery of the surgical wound and local recurrence. The patients with vertical and/or lateral margin involvement were recommended to undergo additional treatment.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Product and Service Solutions statistics version 26. Continuous data were described as mean ± standard deviation, or median and range. Categorical data were expressed as numbers (*n*) and percentages (%). Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests were performed for comparative analysis of categorical variables. Continuous variables were analyzed using Student's t-test. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Characteristics of patients and tumors

There were 25 patients (13 males, 12 females; age range 28-68 years old) in the EMR-dB group, and the ESD group contained 25 patients (15 males, 10 females; age range 25-70 years old). The average age of the EMR-dB and ESD groups was comparable between the two groups ($47.04 \pm 10.58 vs 42.92 \pm 10.93$, P = 0.182). There was no statistical difference in the location (average distance from anus) between the EMR-dB group and the ESD group (7.96 \pm 3.52 cm vs 7.36 \pm 2.83 cm; P = 0.509). Sex and age distribution were similar between the two groups. Moreover, both groups had identical mean lesion sizes (4.53 \pm $1.02 \text{ mm } vs 5.140 \pm 1.74 \text{ mm}; P = 0.141)$ and resected lesion diameters $(1.32 \pm 0.52 \text{ cm } vs 1.58 \pm 0.84 \text{ cm}; P)$ = 0.001). Table 1 shows the characteristics and tumor sizes of the patients in the two groups.

Intervention outcomes

The histological complete resection and en bloc resection rates were the same in the two groups (100% for each). No significant difference in the complication rate between the two groups [delayed bleeding occurred in 0 patients in the EMR-dB group and two patients in the ESD group (8.0%) (P = 0.47), and no perforation was observed in either group]. However, the procedure time was significantly shorter in the EMR-dB group (6.28 \pm 0.75 min) compared with the ESD group (14.30 \pm 1.51 min) (P < 0.001) and the devices cost was significantly lower in the EMR-dB group than in the ESD group (\$ 494.04 ± \$ 85.47 vs \$ $808.98 \pm 143.67 , P < 0.05). The pathological results were similar between the two groups (P > 0.99). All tumors were classified as NET G1 grade according to the staging system for NETs of the American Joint Committee on Cancer, absence of lymphovascular invasion, negative horizontal margin (pHM0) and negative vertical margin (pVM0) (Figure 2). Table 2 shows the therapeutic outcomes of ER in the two groups. In the two cases with delayed bleeding, bloody stool appeared on the 1st day and the 7th day after the ESD procedure, respectively. A colonoscopy revealed that the postoperative wound was bleeding, hemostasis was well managed using endoscopy, and no blood transfusion or surgical intervention was necessary. All patients were followed up after 3 mo of the treatment. Again, a colonoscopy was performed, and a postoperative scar was seen.

Follow-up outcomes

No local remnant lesions or recurrences were observed during the follow-up period in both groups.

DISCUSSION

NETs of the rectum are a heterogeneous group of tumors. The pathological types mainly include NET, neuroendocrine carcinoma, mixed gland neuroendocrine carcinoma, and site-specific and functional NETs[18,19]. Less than 2% and 0.7% of rectal NETs < 10 mm in diameter are related to lymph nodes and distant metastases, respectively[10]. According to the current European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society guidelines, ER is considered curative for tumors smaller than 10 mm and well differentiated^[20]. EMR has the advantages of simple and rapid operation and low complication rate[21-23], while its high recurrence rate of residual lesions is a limiting factor for its application[10]. On the other hand, ESD is an effective method with a higher complete resection rate, while its technical requirements and the rate of complications are relatively high[12,24,25]. The consensus about the optimal endoscopic treatment modality for rectal NETs has not yet been established.

Previous studies have proved that EMR using a band-ligation device (EMR-B) (EMR-L) is sufficient for tumors ≤ 10 mm in diameter [12,13,15]. However, the histopathological examination shows a positive margin for some lesions that have invaded the submucosa or deeper layers of the rectal wall. Therefore, we presented the EMR-dB technique, a new approach derived from EMR-B, containing an extra band below the first one. With EMR-dB, the second band could lengthen the distance from the lesion to the vertical resection margin, especially for some flat lesions and tumors that invaded the submucosa or deeper layers of the rectal wall. Therefore, this approach might better improve the complete resection rate and reduce the risk of residual tumors. However, there have been no more research reports about the EMR-dB technique.

The present study was the first randomized controlled trial to compare the safety and efficacy of EMR-dB with ESD for treating small rectal NETs. To remove the tumor completely, we carried out a series of optimization and improvement on operation steps. Firstly, we marked the head-end of the tumor to avoid deflecting the tumor during the ligation, making it easier to be suctioned it into the ligating device completely. Secondly, a submucosal injection was given to completely lift the submucosal layer of the tumor and set the basal layer of the tumor apart from the muscularis propria. This procedure could achieve a better complete resection and prevent the muscularis propria from being suctioned into the cap leading to perforation. Thirdly, given intestinal inflation when the NETs and part of the muscularis propria layer were ligated by band ligation, the muscularis propria layer will fall out of the band ligation over time due to the ductility of muscularis propria layer, leaving only the mucosal layer and submucosa, which may reduce the risk of perforation during resection.

Table 1 Characteristics and tumor sizes of the patients in the two groups					
	EMR-dB (<i>n</i> = 25)	ESD (<i>n</i> = 25)	<i>P</i> value		
Age	47.04 ± 10.58	42.92 ± 10.93	0.182		
Sex (Male/Female)	13/12	15/10	0.569		
Tumor size (mm)	4.53 ± 1.02	5.140 ± 1.74	0.141		
Location (distance from anus) (cm)	7.96 ± 3.52	7.36 ± 2.83	0.509		
Resected lesion size (cm)	1.32 ± 0.52	1.58 ± 0.84	0.269		

Values are n or mean ± standard deviation. EMR-dB: Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation; ESD: Endoscopic submucosal dissection.

Table 2 Therapeutic outcomes of endoscopic resection in the two groups					
	EMR-dB (<i>n</i> = 25)	ESD (<i>n</i> = 25)	<i>P</i> value		
Histological complete resection, <i>n</i> (%)	25 (100)	25 (100)	> 0.99		
En bloc resection, n (%)	25 (100)	25 (100)	> 0.99		
Resection time (min)	6.28 ± 0.75	14.30 ± 1.51	< 0.001		
Delayed bleeding perforation	0	2	0.470		
Perforation	0	0	> 0.99		
Devices cost	\$ 494.04 ± \$ 85.47	\$ 808.98 ± \$ 143.67	< 0.001		
Histopathological classification			> 0.99		
NET G1, n (%)	25 (100)	25 (100)			
NET G2	0	0			
NET G3	0	0			
NEC	0	0			
Recurrence follow-up	0	0	> 0.99		

Values are *n* (%) or mean ± standard deviation. EMR-dB: Endoscopic mucosal resection with double band ligation; ESD: Endoscopic submucosal dissection; NET: Neuroendocrine tumor; NEC: Neuroendocrine carcinomas; G: Grade.

EMR-dB showed an *en* bloc resection of all lesions with a tumor-free margin in both the lateral and vertical margins. Moreover, no complications occurred, and there were free of local remnant lesions or recurrence during the follow-up period, indicating similar efficacy with ESD. However, the procedure time of the EMR-dB group was significantly shorter compared with the ESD group (6.28 ± 0.75 min *vs* 14.30 ± 1.51 min) and the devices cost was significantly lower in the EMR-dB group than in the ESD group ($\$494.04 \pm \85.47 *vs* $\$808.98 \pm \143.67). When compared with EMR-B, the use of the Multiple Band Ligators for continuous ligations at one time in EMR-dB procedure may resulted in a little increase in technical difficulty, cost, and procedure time, and the size of the resection specimen might enlarge. However, it could better reduce residual tumor infiltration within vertical and lateral margins and potentially reduce recurrence rates. Recently, a case of rectal NET removal using the EMR-dB technique has been reported[26], and the pathological examination reveals a G1 NET with a negative margin and without complications, indicating that EMR-dB could work more significantly, which is consistent with our result.

In addition, the EMR-dB technique has several other advantages. Firstly, the tightening of the elastic band in EMR-dB could shrink the wound size. Therefore, the required use of clips is less. Secondly, as demonstrated in our study, the cost of the devices in the EMR-dB group was much lower compared with the ESD group. It is mainly attributed to the fact that the cost of the ligation device of EMR-dB is lower than that of ESD group using a dual knife. Moreover, EMR-dB requires fewer clips, which leads to the reduction of the operation and hospitalization cost. Moreover, there was no complication in the EMR-dB group. In contrast, two cases in the ESD group had delayed bleeding and needed further treatment, which also increased the hospitalization cost and days, bringing more physical and mental pain to patients.

Huang JL et al. A new therapy for rectal NETs

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.440 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Pathological examination reveals a grade 1 neuroendocrine tumors with negative vertical and lateral margins.

The present study has some limitations. First, this study was a single-center study with limited sample size. In addition, considering that rectal NET is a slow-growing tumor, further prospective studies with a long-term follow-up period are needed to verify our findings.

In conclusion, our study demonstrated that the EMR-dB technique took less time than ESD, and it displayed a similar curative effect to ESD. If no lymph nodes and distant metastases are revealed by either EUS or CT, EMR-dB is a feasible and safe option for the treatment of small rectal NETs.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study demonstrated that the EMR-dB technique took less time than ESD, and it displayed a similar curative effect to ESD. If no lymph nodes and distant metastases are revealed by either EUS or CT, EMR-dB is a feasible and safe option for the treatment of small rectal NETs.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Endoscopic resection remains an effective method for the treatment of small rectal neuroendocrine tumors (NETs) (\leq 10 mm). However, the consensus about the optimal endoscopic treatment modality for rectal NETs has not been established yet.

Research motivation

To overcome the shortcomings of endoscopic mucosal resection(EMR) with band ligation (EMR-B)(EMR-L), we presented a new EMR technique. EMR with double band ligation (EMR-dB), a simplified modification of EMR-B, could achieve a deeper vertical resection margin compared with EMR-B. However, the safety and efficacy of EMR-dB technique in treating small rectal NETs has not been determined.

Research objectives

In the present study, we compared the safety and efficacy of EMR-dB and endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) in the treatment of rectal NETs. We aimed to evaluate the feasibility of EMR-dB for the treatment of small rectal NETs (≤ 10 mm) in comparison to ESD.

Research methods

A randomized controlled trial comparing EMR-dB and ESD was conducted. The primary outcome was the histological complete resection rate; secondary outcomes included en bloc resection rate, procedure time, complications and so on. Follow-up was also performed.

Research results

A total of 50 patients were analyzed and were 25 patients in each group. The demographic and baseline characteristics of the participants were similar between the two groups, including age, gender, lesion

location (average distance from anus), lesion sizes, and resected lesion sizes. histological complete resection and en bloc resection were achieved in all 50 patients. No significant difference in the complication rate between the two groups [delayed bleeding occurred in 0 patients in the EMR-dB group and two patients in the ESD group (8.0%) (P = 0.47)], indicating that EMR-dB is non-inferior to ESD with a similar complete resection rate and complication rate. However, the procedure time was significantly shorter in the EMR-dB group (6.28 ± 0.75 min) compared with the ESD group (14.30 ± 1.51 min) (P < 0.001) and the devices cost was significantly lower in the EMR-dB group than in the ESD group ($$494.04 \pm $85.47 vs $808.98 \pm $143.67, P < 0.05$), which demonstrated that EMR-dB had shorter procedure duration time and lower operation costs. No local remnant lesions or recurrences were observed during the follow-up period in both groups, further prospective studies with a long-term follow-up period are needed to verify our findings.

Research conclusions

EMR-dB, a new EMR technique presented in our study, took less time than ESD, and displayed a similar curative effect to ESD. If no lymph nodes and distant metastases are revealed by either endoscopic ultrasound or computerized tomography, EMR-dB is a feasible and safe option for the treatment of small rectal NETs.

Research perspectives

First, this study was a single-center study with limited sample size. In addition, considering that rectal NET is a slow-growing tumor, further prospective studies with a long-term follow-up period are needed to verify our findings. Moreover, statistical analysis between EMR-B and EMR-dB can be further investigate.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yao J was responsible for design of the study and reviewed the manuscript; Huang JL drafted the manuscript; Huang JL, Gan RY, Chen ZH and Gao RY contributed to data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation; Yao J, Li DF and Wang LS were responsible for revising manuscript; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Technical Research and Development Project of Shenzhen, No. JCYJ20210324113215040.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of Shenzhen People's Hospital (Approval No. LL-KY-2022152-01).

Clinical trial registration statement: This study is registered at Chinese Clinical Trial Registry. The registration identification number is ChiCTR2200063871.

Informed consent statement: All study participants provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at yao.jun@szhospital.com. Participants gave informed consent for data sharing.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT 2010 statement, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CONSORT 2010 statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jia-Lan Huang 0000-0001-5590-7118; Ri-Yun Gan 0000-0003-0441-8810; Ze-han Chen 0000-0003-3754-5795; Ruo-Yu Gao 0000-0002-7721-2314; De-Feng Li 0000-0003-3118-6840; Li-Sheng Wang 0000-0002-7418-6114; Jun Yao 0000-0002-3472-1602.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li L



REFERENCES

- 1 Modlin IM, Sandor A. An analysis of 8305 cases of carcinoid tumors. Cancer 1997; 79: 813-829 [PMID: 9024720 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19970215)79:4<813::aid-cncr19>3.0.co;2-2
- 2 Basuroy R, Haji A, Ramage JK, Quaglia A, Srirajaskanthan R. Review article: the investigation and management of rectal neuroendocrine tumours. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2016; 44: 332-345 [PMID: 27302838 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13697]
- Koura AN, Giacco GG, Curley SA, Skibber JM, Feig BW, Ellis LM. Carcinoid tumors of the rectum: effect of size, 3 histopathology, and surgical treatment on metastasis free survival. Cancer 1997; 79: 1294-1298 [PMID: 9083149 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19970401)79:7<1294::aid-cncr4>3.0.co;2-h]
- Schindl M, Niederle B, Häfner M, Teleky B, Längle F, Kaserer K, Schöfl R. Stage-dependent therapy of rectal carcinoid 4 tumors. World J Surg 1998; 22: 628-33; discussion 634 [PMID: 9597939 DOI: 10.1007/s002689900445]
- 5 Soga J. Carcinoids of the rectum: an evaluation of 1271 reported cases. Surg Today 1997; 27: 112-119 [PMID: 9017986 DOI: 10.1007/BF02385898]
- Zhou PH, Yao LQ, Qin XY, Xu MD, Zhong YS, Chen WF, Ma LL, Zhang YQ, Qin WZ, Cai MY, Ji Y. Advantages of 6 endoscopic submucosal dissection with needle-knife over endoscopic mucosal resection for small rectal carcinoid tumors: a retrospective study. Surg Endosc 2010; 24: 2607-2612 [PMID: 20361212 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-010-1016-z]
- 7 Delle Fave G, O'Toole D, Sundin A, Taal B, Ferolla P, Ramage JK, Ferone D, Ito T, Weber W, Zheng-Pei Z, De Herder WW, Pascher A, Ruszniewski P; Vienna Consensus Conference participants. ENETS Consensus Guidelines Update for Gastroduodenal Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology 2016; 103: 119-124 [PMID: 26784901 DOI: 10.1159/000443168
- Maione F, Chini A, Milone M, Gennarelli N, Manigrasso M, Maione R, Cassese G, Pagano G, Tropeano FP, Luglio G, De Palma GD. Diagnosis and Management of Rectal Neuroendocrine Tumors (NETs). Diagnostics (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 33923121 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics11050771]
- Gotoda T, Kaltenbach T, Soetikno R. Is en bloc resection essential for endoscopic resection of GI neoplasia? Gastrointest Endosc 2008; 67: 805-807 [PMID: 18440374 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.02.008]
- de Mestier L, Brixi H, Gincul R, Ponchon T, Cadiot G. Updating the management of patients with rectal neuroendocrine 10 tumors. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 1039-1046 [PMID: 24163193 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344794]
- 11 Yang DH, Park Y, Park SH, Kim KJ, Ye BD, Byeon JS, Myung SJ, Yang SK. Cap-assisted EMR for rectal neuroendocrine tumors: comparisons with conventional EMR and endoscopic submucosal dissection (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2016; 83: 1015-22; quiz 1023 [PMID: 26460225 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.09.046]
- 12 Choi CW, Kang DH, Kim HW, Park SB, Jo WS, Song GA, Cho M. Comparison of endoscopic resection therapies for rectal carcinoid tumor: endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic mucosal resection using band ligation. J Clin Gastroenterol 2013; 47: 432-436 [PMID: 23188074 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e31826faf2b]
- Lim HK, Lee SJ, Baek DH, Park DY, Lee BE, Park EY, Park JW, Kim GH, Song GA. Resectability of Rectal 13 Neuroendocrine Tumors Using Endoscopic Mucosal Resection with a Ligation Band Device and Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2019; 2019: 8425157 [PMID: 31687016 DOI: 10.1155/2019/8425157]
- 14 Huang J, Lu ZS, Yang YS, Yuan J, Wang XD, Meng JY, Du H, Wang HB. Endoscopic mucosal resection with circumferential incision for treatment of rectal carcinoid tumours. World J Surg Oncol 2014; 12: 23 [PMID: 24472342 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-12-231
- Lee J, Park YE, Choi JH, Heo NY, Park J, Park SH, Moon YS, Nam KH, Kim TO. Comparison between cap-assisted and 15 ligation-assisted endoscopic mucosal resection for rectal neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Gastroenterol 2020; 33: 385-390 [PMID: 32624659 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2020.0485]
- Zhang D, Lin Q, Shi R, Wang L, Yao J, Tian Y. Ligation-assisted endoscopic submucosal resection with apical mucosal 16 incision to treat gastric subepithelial tumors originating from the muscularis propria. Endoscopy 2018; 50: 1180-1185 [PMID: 29913532 DOI: 10.1055/a-0625-6326]
- Nagtegaal ID, Odze RD, Klimstra D, Paradis V, Rugge M, Schirmacher P, Washington KM, Carneiro F, Cree IA; WHO 17 Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. The 2019 WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. Histopathology 2020; 76: 182-188 [PMID: 31433515 DOI: 10.1111/his.13975]
- Lim JY, Pommier RF. Clinical Features, Management, and Molecular Characteristics of Familial Small Bowel Neuroendocrine Tumors. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2021; 12: 622693 [PMID: 33732215 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2021.622693
- Tran CG, Sherman SK, Howe JR. Small Bowel Neuroendocrine Tumors. Curr Probl Surg 2020; 57: 100823 [PMID: 33234227 DOI: 10.1016/j.cpsurg.2020.100823]
- 20 Ramage JK, De Herder WW, Delle Fave G, Ferolla P, Ferone D, Ito T, Ruszniewski P, Sundin A, Weber W, Zheng-Pei Z, Taal B, Pascher A; Vienna Consensus Conference participants. ENETS Consensus Guidelines Update for Colorectal Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Neuroendocrinology 2016; 103: 139-143 [PMID: 26730835 DOI: 10.1159/000443166]
- 21 Kim GU, Kim KJ, Hong SM, Yu ES, Yang DH, Jung KW, Ye BD, Byeon JS, Myung SJ, Yang SK, Kim JH. Clinical outcomes of rectal neuroendocrine tumors ≤ 10 mm following endoscopic resection. *Endoscopy* 2013; **45**: 1018-1023 [PMID: 24288222 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344860]
- Puli SR, Kakugawa Y, Gotoda T, Antillon D, Saito Y, Antillon MR. Meta-analysis and systematic review of colorectal 22 endoscopic mucosal resection. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 4273-4277 [PMID: 19750569 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.4273]
- 23 Zheng JC, Zheng K, Zhao S, Wang ZN, Xu HM, Jiang CG. Efficacy and safety of modified endoscopic mucosal resection for rectal neuroendocrine tumors: a meta-analysis. Z Gastroenterol 2020; 58: 137-145 [PMID: 32050284 DOI: 10.1055/a-1062-8897]
- 24 Yong JN, Lim XC, Nistala KRY, Lim LKE, Lim GEH, Quek J, Tham HY, Wong NW, Tan KK, Chong CS. Endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic mucosal resection for rectal carcinoid tumor. A meta-analysis and metaregression with single-arm analysis. J Dig Dis 2021; 22: 562-571 [PMID: 34472210 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.13048]
- 25 Wang XY, Chai NL, Linghu EQ, Qiu ST, Li LS, Zou JL, Xiang JY, Li XX. The outcomes of modified endoscopic mucosal resection and endoscopic submucosal dissection for the treatment of rectal neuroendocrine tumors and the value of



endoscopic morphology classification in endoscopic resection. BMC Gastroenterol 2020; 20: 200 [PMID: 32586282 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01340-w]

26 He L, Wen W, Ye L, Liao K, Hu B. Endoscopic Mucosal Resection With Double Band Ligation for Small Rectal Neuroendocrine Tumors. Am J Gastroenterol 2021; 116: 1827-1828 [PMID: 34028368 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.000000000001302]



NU



Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 450-470

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.450

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy: A systematic review

James Paul Grantham, Amanda Hii, Jonathan Shenfine

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Coleman HG, United Kingdom; Shiryajev YN, Russia

Received: November 21, 2022 Peer-review started: November 21, 2022

First decision: December 26, 2022 Revised: January 9, 2023 Accepted: February 22, 2023 Article in press: February 22, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



James Paul Grantham, Department of General Surgery, Modbury Hospital, Adelaide 5092, South Australia, Australia

Amanda Hii, Department of General Surgery, Modbury Hospital, Modbury 5092, South Australia, Australia

Jonathan Shenfine, General Surgical Unit, Jersey General Hospital, Saint Helier JE1 3QS, Jersey, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: James Paul Grantham, MBBS, MSc, Doctor, Department of General Surgery, Modbury Hospital, Smart Road, Adelaide 5092, South Australia, Australia. jamespgrantham91@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Oesophageal cancer is a frequently observed and lethal malignancy worldwide. Surgical resection remains a realistic option for curative intent in the early stages of the disease. However, the decision to undertake oesophagectomy is significant as it exposes the patient to a substantial risk of morbidity and mortality. Therefore, appropriate patient selection, counselling and resource allocation is important. Many tools have been developed to aid surgeons in appropriate decision-making.

AIM

To examine all multivariate risk models that use preoperative and intraoperative information and establish which have the most clinical utility.

METHODS

A systematic review of the MEDLINE, EMBASE and Cochrane databases was conducted from 2000-2020. The search terms applied were ((Oesophagectomy) AND (Risk OR predict OR model OR score) AND (Outcomes OR complications OR morbidity OR mortality OR length of stay OR anastomotic leak)). The applied inclusion criteria were articles assessing multivariate based tools using exclusively preoperatively available data to predict perioperative patient outcomes following oesophagectomy. The exclusion criteria were publications that described models requiring intra-operative or post-operative data and articles appraising only univariate predictors such as American Society of Anesthesiologists score, cardiopulmonary fitness or pre-operative sarcopenia. Articles that exclusively assessed distant outcomes such as long-term survival were excluded as were



publications using cohorts mixed with other surgical procedures. The articles generated from each search were collated, processed and then reported in accordance with PRISMA guidelines. All risk models were appraised for clinical credibility, methodological quality, performance, validation, and clinical effectiveness.

RESULTS

The initial search of composite databases yielded 8715 articles which reduced to 5827 following the deduplication process. After title and abstract screening, 197 potentially relevant texts were retrieved for detailed review. Twenty-seven published studies were ultimately included which examined twenty-one multivariate risk models utilising exclusively preoperative data. Most models examined were clinically credible and were constructed with sound methodological quality, but model performance was often insufficient to prognosticate patient outcomes. Three risk models were identified as being promising in predicting perioperative mortality, including the National Quality Improvement Project surgical risk calculator, revised STS score and the Takeuchi model. Two studies predicted perioperative major morbidity, including the predicting postoperative complications score and prognostic nutritional index-multivariate models. Many of these models require external validation and demonstration of clinical effectiveness.

CONCLUSION

Whilst there are several promising models in predicting perioperative oesophagectomy outcomes, more research is needed to confirm their validity and demonstrate improved clinical outcomes with the adoption of these models.

Key Words: Oesophagectomy; Risk model; Oesophageal cancer; Preoperative; Morbidity; Mortality

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The undertaking of an oesophagectomy incurs a high morbidity rate and can lead to mortality. It is therefore incumbent upon the surgeon to appropriately select and counsel prospective patients on anticipated risks. Multivariate clinical decision-making tools can be a powerful adjunct in improving this process when utilised preoperatively. In a world of countless proposed surgical risk models, choosing which model to use can prove challenging. This systematic review represents the largest and most comprehensive effort to determine which model is most relevant, valid and accurate in forecasting perioperative outcomes following oesophagectomy.

Citation: Grantham JP, Hii A, Shenfine J. Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy: A systematic review. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 450-470 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/450.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.450

INTRODUCTION

Oesophageal cancer is the eighth most commonly diagnosed cancer worldwide and remains the sixth leading cause of cancer-related deaths globally[1]. The mainstay of curative treatment is surgical resection, an oesophagectomy, often in combination with neoadjuvant chemotherapy or chemoradio-therapy[2]. There are various surgical approaches when performing an oesophagectomy, these are broadly classified as open, hybrid and minimally invasive techniques[3]. Irrespective of the approach an oesophageal resection is a major surgical undertaking; often taking hours to perform, with a significant period of single lung ventilation[4,5]. Post-operative complications are common, occurring in approximately half of all patients[6]. These are most frequently respiratory in nature, which occur in 20%-40% of all patients[7,8]. Anastomotic leak, which can occur in 10%-20% of cases, is perhaps the most feared due to the associated high mortality[9]. The reported rates of mortality in high-volume centres is recognised to lie between 2% and 8%[10]. However, even non-life threatening complications can lead to significant morbidity which can exact a devastating toll on patient outcomes[7].

The substantial associated morbidity and mortality emphasises the critical role of the preoperative assessment in selecting suitable patients for oesophagectomy. Patients require a preoperative assessment to assess if they are fit enough to withstand the physiological strain of the surgery but also enables an opportunity to counsel patients about the risks of surgical treatment. It also permits the identification of higher-risk patients for whom more intense resource allocation may be warranted in

the post-operative setting. In recent decades, surgeons have begun to turn to cognitive aids such as surgical risk prediction tools to help guide the decision-making process[11]. Several studies have demonstrated that the utilisation of predictive modelling to augment decision making is superior to isolated subjective clinical judgement[12,13]. By selecting more appropriate surgical candidates, informing patients more accurately and deploying the resources in a more tailored fashion, these tools are designed to improve patient outcomes.

There are many available tools, some of which are generic surgical risk predictors whilst others have been specifically developed and validated for patients undergoing oesophagectomy. Some are based on preoperatively available data and others rely on intraoperative data. Naturally, only tools based exclusively on preoperative data can aid selection of appropriate surgical candidates or be used to better inform patients of their risk status. The clear advantages of utilising these multivariate risk prediction models framed against the proliferating multitude of these models has created a significant conundrum for surgeons attempting to determine which one to adopt. There have been two systematic reviews undertaken to aid surgeon choice of the best tool to utilise. The first, by Findlay et al[14], also assessed the quality of scientific rigor in the development studies from which the models were constructed. Their review concluded that none of the preoperative models evaluated accurately predicted morbidity or mortality. Warnell et al[15] also concluded that none of the existing models could be confidently applied to clinical practice. Despite the disheartening results, many new multivariate risk prediction models have since been developed.

The aim of this research is to conduct an up to date, systematic review assessing which of the preoperative multivariate data risk models most accurately predict outcomes following oesophagectomy. The primary outcome will be their ability to predict perioperative mortality. The secondary outcomes of the review will focus on their predictive capacity for major morbidity, overall morbidity and index complications such as anastomotic leak and adverse cardiorespiratory events. The working hypothesis is that this systematic review will aid surgeons to use the most accurate preoperative prediction model to select appropriate patients for oesophagectomy, and to aid informed consent for patients in relation to their individual surgical risks and thus allocate resources more appropriately to high-risk patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Search strategy and article selection

A systematic review of the existing literature was undertaken, incorporating the MEDLINE, EMBASE and Cochrane review databases. The search terms applied were ((Oesophagectomy) AND (Risk OR predict OR model OR score) AND (Outcomes OR complications OR morbidity OR mortality OR length of stay OR anastomotic leak)). The articles generated from each search were collated and processed with reporting in accordance with the PRISMA model[16]. Duplicates were excluded, then preliminary screening of titles and abstracts for potentially relevant publications was conducted by the first author. Potentially relevant texts were then assessed in full for eligibility with reference to the inclusion and exclusion criteria by two authors. No pre-existing protocol for a systematic review on this topic was found.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria applied were articles which assessed multivariate based tools using exclusively pre-operatively available data to predict perioperative patient outcomes following oesophagectomy. The perioperative period was defined as any duration whilst an inpatient from the index oesophagectomy admission and no more than 90 d post-operative if the patient had been discharged. Given the significant reduction in morbidity and mortality in recent decades, only articles published in English from 2000 onward were included. The exclusion criteria were publications that described models requiring intra-operative or post-operative data and articles appraising only univariate predictors such as American Society of Anesthesiologists score, cardiopulmonary fitness or preoperative sarcopenia. Articles that exclusively assessed distant outcomes such as long-term survival or disease-free survival were excluded as were publications using cohorts mixed with other surgical procedures. Studies which presented insufficient data for meaningful analysis, such as calibration measures in the form or P-values or area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) and/ or discrimination statistics, were also excluded. Abstracts that were superseded by full articles were excluded. Abstracts from conference proceedings not subsequently published in full were considered eligible for inclusion, provided it included sufficient data for meaningful analysis as outlined above.

Data extraction and synthesis

The essential study characteristics extracted included the study period, geographical location, data source including the number of centres involved, sample size and case mix descriptors such as type of operation. Patient characteristics including the proportion of neoadjuvant therapy use and histological subtype were also extracted. For each article, we recorded the model or models which were tested within and essential performance metrics such as discrimination and calibration. Outcome measures



such as definitions of perioperative mortality and morbidity were also extracted. Heterogeneity of surgical method was considered by identifying and classifying surgical technique into either transthoracic, transhiatal, hybrid or totally minimally invasive oesophagectomy for each article. Hetero-geneity in outcome definitions was minimised by considering the broad outcomes of mortality, major morbidity as defined as grade three or four by the Clavien-Dindo classification, overall morbidity and respiratory complications[17]. Index outcomes such as anastomotic leak, readmission, return to theatre and length of stay were also considered when specifically reported. All risk prediction models were analysed in the following five domains: Clinical credibility, methodological quality, external validation, model performance and clinical effectiveness.

Clinical credibility

Clinical credibility is whether the characteristics of the prognostic model encourage clinicians to utilise the system[18-20]. This was first outlined in the systematic review of clinical prediction models in 2011 and applied to the appraisal of oesophageal resection risk models in 2014[14,21]. There are seven components addressed in the assessment of clinical credibility and each is scored in the affirmative, partially or negative. These include whether the model uses oesophageal specific factors and avoids using thresholds for data categorisation. It also considers whether the data is available prior to the time of clinical decision-making, if the data is objective and how easily the data required to generate the outcome can be obtained. The last two factors consider whether the model can be rendered in a way understandable to the clinician and if it effectively stratifies the risk of a particular outcome in a clinically useful fashion. A full description of the methods applied to assessing clinical credibility has been supplied in the Supplementary materials.

Methodological quality

We adopted the quality assessment framework of Minne *et al*[21] to ensure a high standard of methodological quality of the examined studies and to minimise the risk of bias[22-24]. This utilises a framework of twenty points with eight points allotted to study participation characteristics, four points to prognostic factor and outcome measurement characteristics and the remaining eight points to the methodological integrity of the study analysis[24]. Models which satisfied a particular component were awarded one point, partial satisfaction conveyed half a point and no points were awarded if the relevant component was not satisfied. A detailed outline of this assessment criteria can be found within the Supplementary materials.

External validation

We assessed whether the included studies reported a new model or externally validated an existing model. We subsequently analysed if a given model had been externally validated within a separate population.

Model performance

The performance of each model was compared based on discrimination and calibration metrics. Discrimination is the ability of the model to discern between those that will and will not develop an outcome, in this case post-operative complications^[25]. The accuracy with which a predictive model discriminated between outcomes was measured in terms of area under the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve or c-statistic. In the instance of the model having no discriminative ability, the cstatistic will be 0.5, whereas a c-statistic of 1 suggests perfect discrimination[26]. The threshold for acceptable discriminative capacity has been previously defined as a c-statistic exceeding 0.7[27]. Calibration pertains to the fidelity between the actual and the predicted frequency of an outcome^[25]. This is represented in terms of Hosmer and Lemeshow goodness of fit P-values and observed to expected outcome (O:E) ratios. A P-value of greater than 0.05 indicates adequate calibration on goodness of fit when applied to linear regression models and an O:E ratio of 1 indicates perfect calibration[28]. An O:E ratio of < 1 indicates that the model overestimates the predicted outcome, whereas a ratio of > 1 indicates it underestimates the frequency of the predicted outcome measure[28]. Where adequate data reporting allowed, weighted AUC discrimination metrics were generated for each model by calculating the mean across individual studies with weighted reference to the study cohort size.

Clinical effectiveness

We also assessed all studies for evidence that the application of any of the individual models has been clinically proven to improve patient outcomes.

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

RESULTS

Search results

The initial search of composite databases yielded 8715 articles which reduced to 5827 following the deduplication process. After title and abstract screening, 197 potentially relevant texts were retrieved for detailed review. Of these, a total of 27 articles satisfied the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The rationale for exclusion of the 170 articles omitted is illustrated (See Figure 1). In total, thirteen articles were developing new predictive risk models for oesophagectomy[29-41] (Table 1). Two of these studies, by Filip *et al*[36] and Wan *et al*[41] respectively, also served to externally validate other existing models. The remaining 14 articles exclusively externally validated existing models on new data sets[42-55] (Table 2). Many studies sought to test the performance of multiple models within the same dataset. These 27 articles appraised the use of a total of 21 different preoperative multivariate risk prediction models in oesophagectomy. As stated above, thirteen of the twenty-one models had their development study within the list of retrieved articles. The remaining eight models were developed for predicting outcomes in patients not initially undergoing oesophagectomy but were subsequently validated in an oesophagectomy cohort[56-63]. A reference key for the various abbreviations used in relation to the models is provided in Figure 2.

Study characteristics

The included studies were published over a fourteen year period and originated from four different continents. Ten studies arose from North America, nine from Europe, six from Asia and two, both involved Europe with the second databases arising from North America and Australia respectively. All multivariate models utilised logistical regression of retrospective patient cohort data. The thirteen articles developing a new predictive model had a median study population size of 1172 (range 90-10826). The fourteen articles exclusively validating existing models had a median study population size of 246 (range 43-1039).

There was significant heterogeneity in operative approach and technique within the studies. Twentytwo of the articles incorporated open oesophagectomy, all included an open transthoracic procedure (Ivor-Lewis, left thoracolumbar or McKeown), fifteen of which utilised a transhiatal approach, and eight included minimally invasive oesophagectomy with three incorporating patients undergoing a hybrid oesophagectomy approach. Only two studies exclusively dealt with patients undergoing minimallyinvasive oesophagectomy. Three studies of large national multicentre databases failed to detail the operative strategy.

In total, 24 of the 27 studies reported the overall rate of neoadjuvant therapy, including two studies for which this was an exclusion criteria. The rates observed varied significantly between studies, ranging from 3.6% to 87.0%. The total combined samples had 33.6% receiving neoadjuvant therapy. The histological subtype of oesophageal cancer was reported in 16 of the 27 studies, including three studies originating from Asia and thirteen from Western nations. Overall, where reported, 56.3% of patients had adenocarcinoma compared to 37.9% with squamous cell carcinoma. Across the studies 5.8% had another histological tumour type. These characteristics are reported across Tables 1 and 2.

Clinical credibility

The median clinical credibility score, out of 7, was 5.5 (range 4.5-6) (Table 3). Six models scored highest at 6 out of 7: The Rotterdam, Philadelphia, Amsterdam, prognostic nutritional index (PNI), and the original and revised STS models[30-33,37,56]. Twelve of these twenty-one preoperative models were oesophageal-specific and all models provided timely data for clinical decision making. Three of these models used subjectively reported patient health questionnaire data. Seventeen of the twenty-one preoperative models were considered easy to generate with the other four reliant on pre-operative spirometry, which may not be routinely performed. Three of the 21 preoperative models were considered challenging to understand. Sixteen of the twenty-one preoperative models were found to generate a useful scoring range to prognosticate patient outcomes.

Methodological quality - study participation

Only 20 of the models were able to be appraised for methodological quality, with the prognostic nutritional index original development study being unavailable in English[56]. Overall, the median score was 7.5 out of 8 (range 6-8). Of the model development studies, all but the Geriatric Nutrition Risk Index model sufficiently outlined the setting and period in which the study was conducted[59]. Five of the model development studies failed to outline their exclusion criteria appropriately. All studies detailed their patient mix and number of patients. Just one of the development studies had fewer than 100 patients and one model failed to report the mortality rate of patients. Sixteen models reported the characteristics of their cohort sufficiently and one scored partial marks in this area. Seven development studies did not utilise a sample patient group representative of the population to which the model would be applied. These omissions often related to a single gender within the sample, neoadjuvant treatment being an exclusion criteria or patients being selected based on age requirements.

Raisbidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Development studies of preoperative multivariate models									
Ref.	Period + number	Sample region	Operation	Characteristics	Source of data	Models tested	Outcomes tested		
Schröder <i>et al</i> [29], 2006	1997-2002 (126)	Germany	TT	N: 46/126; H: 68 AC/54 SCC	Single centre	Cologne score	Morbidity		
Steyerberg <i>et al</i> [30], 2006	1980-2002 (3592)	Unites States/Netherlands	TT/TH	N: 878/3592; H: 2118 AC/1307 SCC	SEER database + two centres	Rotterdam score	Mortality		
Ra <i>et al</i> [<mark>32</mark>], 2008	1997-2003 (1172)	United States	TT/TH	N: N/A; H: N/A	SEER database	Philadelphia score	Mortality		
Lagarde <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2008	1993-2005 (663)	Netherlands	TT/TH	N: 114/663; H: 476 AC/187 SCC	Single centre	Amsterdam score	Morbidity		
Wright <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2009	2002-2007 (2315)	United States	TT/TH/MIE	N: 1016/2315; H: N/A	STSGTS database (164 centres)	Original STS model	Major morbidity + mortality		
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [34], 2011	1980-2009 (516)	United States	TT/TH/hybrid/MIE	N: 167/516; H: 261 AC/137 SCC	Single centre	Ferguson score	Respiratory complications		
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [35], 2014	2011-2011 (5354)	Japan	Not stated	N: 1268/5354; H: N/A	National database	Tackeuchi model	Mortality		
Filip <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2015	2008-2012 (167)	Italy	TT/TH/MIE	N: 131/167; H: 105 AC/62 SCC	Single centre	PNI-multivariate: PNI; CCI; ACCI; POSSUM; Amsterdam score	Morbidity + major morbidity (PNI-multivariate only)		
Raymond <i>et al</i> [37], 2016	2011-2014 (4321)	United States	TT/TH/MIE	N: 2930/4321; H: N/A	STSGTS database (164 centres)	Revised STS model	Major morbidity + mortality		
Reeh <i>et al</i> [38], 2016	1994-2007 (498)	Germany	TT/TH	N: 0/498; H: 253 SCC/245 AC	Single centre	PER score	Morbidity + mortality		
Saito <i>et al</i> [39], 2019	2007-2015 (90)	Japan	MIE	N: 29/90; H: 87 SCC/3 AC	Single centre	PPCS model	Major morbidity		
Ohkura <i>et al</i> [<mark>40</mark>], 2020	2011-2012 (10826)	Japan	Not stated	N: 2717/10826;H: N/A	National database (4105 centres)	JNCD model	Anastomotic leak		
Wan <i>et al</i> [<mark>41</mark>], 2022	2006-2017 (10602)	United States	Not reported	N: N/A; H: N/A	National (NSQIP)	RAI-revised (CC): RAI-A; RAI-revised; 5 Factor MFI	Morbidity + mortality		

TT: Transthoracic; TH: Transhiatal; MIE: Minimally invasive esophagectomy; N: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy; H: Histopathology subtype; SCC: Squamous cell carcinoma; AC: Adenocarcinoma; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; POSSUM: Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the Enumeration of Mortality and Morbidity; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; MFI: Modified frailty index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score.

Methodological quality - prognostic factor and outcome measurement

The majority of the development studies available for analysis performed well in defining their prognostic factors and outcome measurements. The median score was 4 out of 4 (range 3-4). The lowest performing models achieved three out of a possible four points and this occurred in four models. All development studies defined their prognostic factors and model type, as well as their outcomes. Four of the models failed to outline their handling of missing data and a further two only did so in part.

Methodological quality - analysis

The median score for methodological quality of analysis was 5.75 out of 8 (range 4-8). All studies which developed preoperative models had adequate reporting on their evaluation measures, model building strategy and testing method. Seven failed to test or report the model's discriminatory capacity and fourteen also failed in reporting calibration. Only six studies also tested model performance on a testing set. Five studies had insufficient data to appraise the quality of their analysis fully and there were two instances of selective reporting found. One quarter of the preoperative models were compared to existing predictive tools within their development study.



Grantham JP et al. Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy

Table 2 Validation studies of preoperative models

Ref.	Period + number	Sample region	Operation	Characteristics	Source of data	Models tested	Outcomes tested
Zingg <i>et al</i> [42], 2009	1990-2007 (346)	Switzerland/Australia	TT	N: 140/346; H: 259 AC/71 SCC	Two centres	Rotterdam score; Philadelphia score	Mortality
Grotenhuis <i>et</i> al[<mark>43</mark>], 2010	1991-2008 (777)	Netherlands	TT/TH	N: 221/777; H: N/A	Single centre	Amsterdam score	Morbidity
Bosch <i>et al</i> [44], 2011	1991-2007 (278)	Netherlands	TT	N: 10/278; H: 235 AC/43 SCC	Single centre	ACCI; CCI; O- POSSUM; P- POSSUM	Mortality
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [45], 2011	1980-2009 (514)	United States	TT/TH/hybrid/MIE	N: 167/514; H: 261 AC/137 SCC	Single centre	Amsterdam score	Morbidity + major morbidity
Filip <i>et al</i> [46] , 2014	2004-2013 (43)	Romania	TT/TH	N: 22/43; H: 33 SCC/9 AC	Single centre	ACCI; CCI; POSSUM; O- POSSUM; P- POSSUM	Mortality
Yamana <i>et al</i> [<mark>47]</mark> , 2015	2005-2013 (251)	Japan	TT/MIE	N: 150/251; H: N/A	Single centre	GNRI; PNI; E- PASS; POSSUM	Respiratory complications
Lindner <i>et al</i> [48], 2016	2005-2009 (94)	Germany	TT	N: 54/94; H: 94 AC/0 SCC	Single centre	Cologne score	Morbidity
Reinersman et al[49], 2016	2009-2012 (136)	United States	TT/TH/hybrid/MIE	N: 110/136; H: 118 AC/18 SCC	Single centre	Ferguson score	Respiratory complications
Xing <i>et al</i> [50], 2016	2008-2010 (217)	China	TT/TH	N: 0/217; H: 162 SCC/50 AC	Single centre	Ferguson score	Respiratory complications
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [51], 2018	2000-2016 (438)	Japan	TT	N: 208/438; H: 398 SCC/27 AC	Single centre	Takeuchi model	Mortality
D'Journo et al [<mark>52]</mark> , 2017	2004-2013 (1039)	France	TT/TH	N: 420/1039; H: N/A	National database	Rotterdam score	Mortality
Gray et al <mark>[53]</mark> , 2020	2016-2018 (240)	United States	TT/TH/MIE	N: N/A; H: N/A	Single centre	NSQIP SRC	Morbidity
Peng <i>et al</i> [<mark>54</mark>], 2020	2012-2019 (218)	United States	MIE	N: 189/218; H: N/A	Single centre	NSQIP SRC	Morbidity + mortality
Ravindran <i>et</i> al[<mark>55</mark>], 2020	2013-2017 (100)	United States	TT	N: 87/100; H: 75 AC/21 SCC	Single centre	NSQIP SRC	Morbidity + mortality

TT: Transthoracic; TH: Transhiatal; MIE: Minimally invasive esophagectomy; N: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy; H: Histopathology subtype; SCC: Squamous cell carcinoma; AC: Adenocarcinoma; N/A: Not available; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; CCI: Charlson comorbidty index; POSSUM: Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the Enumeration of Mortality and Morbidity; O-POSSUM: Operative - Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the Enumeration of Mortality and Morbidity; P-POSSUM: Portsmouth - Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the Enumeration of Mortality and Morbidity; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; E-PASS: Estimation of physiologic and surgical stress.

Methodological quality - overall performance

Overall, the average score of methodological quality for the 20 studies appraised was 16.7 out 20. The median and mode score achieved was 16.5. The lowest scoring models were the Charlson comorbidity index, Cologne score and geriatric nutritional risk index, all of which scored fourteen[29,57,59]. The best scoring risk prediction models in this group for methodological quality were the PNI-multivariate score and the RAI-revised score, each scoring nineteen out of 20[36,63]. The overall methodological quality of the preoperative models is outlined in Table 4.

External validation

Eight of the twenty-one preoperative prediction models had been previously developed and were externally validated within this group of articles. Of the thirteen preoperative risk models that were development studies within the collated articles, six were subsequently externally validated. In total 14 out of 21 preoperative models have been externally validated. These findings are outlined in Figure 3.

Model performance - perioperative mortality

Fourteen of the twenty-seven included studies had an outcome measure related to perioperative



Table 3 Clinical credibility of preoperative models									
Ref.	Model	Oesophageal specific	No thresholds	Timely data	Reliable data	Easy to generate	Understandable	Useful range	Total
Onodera <i>et al</i> [<mark>56</mark>], 1984	PNI	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Charlson <i>et al</i> [<mark>57</mark>], 1987	CCI	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5
Charlson <i>et al</i> [<mark>58]</mark> , 1994	ACCI	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5
Bouillanne <i>et al</i> [<mark>59</mark>], 2005	GNRI	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	5.5
Schröder <i>et al</i> [<mark>29</mark>], 2006	Cologne	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	No	4.5
Steyerberg <i>et al</i> [<mark>30]</mark> , 2006	Rotterdam	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Ra et al <mark>[32]</mark> , 2008	Philadelphia	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Lagarde <i>et al</i> [<mark>31]</mark> , 2008	Amsterdam	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	6
Wright <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2009	Original STS	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [<mark>34</mark>], 2011	Ferguson	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	5.5
Bilimoria <i>et al</i> [<mark>60]</mark> , 2013	NSQIP SRC	No	Partly	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5.5
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [<mark>35]</mark> , 2014	Takeuchi	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	5.5
Filip <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2015	PNI multivariate	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	5.5
Raymond <i>et al</i> [<mark>37</mark>], 2016	Revised STS	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Reeh <i>et al</i> [<mark>38</mark>], 2016	PER	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	No	4.5
Hall et al <mark>[61</mark>], 2017	RAI-A	No	No	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	Yes	4.5
Subramaniam et al[62], 2018	5 Factor MFI	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	5.5
Saito <i>et al</i> [<mark>39]</mark> , 2019	PPCS	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	5.5
Ohkura <i>et al</i> [40], 2020	JNCD	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partly	Yes	5.5
Arya <i>et al</i> [<mark>63</mark>], 2020	RAI-revised	No	No	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	Yes	4.5
Wan <i>et al</i> [41], 2022	RAI-revised (CC)	No	No	Yes	Partly	Yes	Yes	Yes	4.5

CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; MFI: Modified frailty index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score.

> mortality, but the mortality endpoints varied across studies, with some considering inpatient mortality and others selecting a post-operative time frame, typically 30 or 90 d. Multiple papers appraised two or more performance models, leading to a total of twenty instances of a preoperative risk model being tested for predicting mortality. Overall, thirteen of the twenty-one preoperative prediction models were tested against mortality. Eleven of the models utilised discrimination, represented through area under the ROC curve. Three models had a weighted average exceeding 0.70, thereby indicating clinical utility. These included the Takeuchi score, the revised STS model and the National Quality Improvement



Baishidena® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Grantham JP et al. Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy

Table 4 Methodological quality (overall performance) for preoperative models								
Model	Study participation (out of 8)	Measurements (out of 4)	Analysis (out of 8)	Total (out of 20)				
PNI	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
CCI	6	4	5	14				
ACCI	6	4	4.5	14.5				
GNRI	6.5	3	4.5	14				
Cologne	7	3	4	14				
Rotterdam	7.5	4	6	17.5				
Philadelphia	7.5	4	5	16.5				
Amsterdam	8	3.5	7	18.5				
Original STS	8	4	5.5	17.5				
Ferguson	7.5	4	5	16.5				
NSQIP SRC	7.5	3.5	6	16.5				
Takeuchi	8	3	7	18				
PNI multivariate	8	4	7	19				
Revised STS	8	4	4.5	16.5				
PER	7	4	4	15				
RAI-A	7	4	6.5	17.5				
5 Factor MFI	6.5	3	6.5	16				
PPCS	7	4	5.5	16.5				
JNCD	8	4	6.5	18.5				
RAI-revised	7	4	8	19				
RAI-revised (CC)	8	4	6.5	18.5				

CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; MFI: Modified frailty index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score.

> Project (NSQIP) surgical risk calculator[35,37,60]. Calibration was represented more heterogeneously, the majority used Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit or O:E ratios but of the fourteen studies which tested models against mortality on twenty occasions, calibration was reported in just eight instances. The calibration was adequate in all instances. The best performing preoperative calibration model in terms of calibration was the Rotterdam score[30]. This was adequately calibrated to mortality in each of the three instances it was tested [30,42,52]. The Philadelphia score was also adequately calibrated in both studies it was tested [31,42]. The overall performance of these models in relation to predicting mortality outcomes is illustrated in Table 5.

Model performance - perioperative major morbidity

Five of the twenty-seven studies had an outcome measure related to perioperative major morbidity all based on a grade three Clavien-Dindo complication or higher. All five preoperative multivariate models reported discrimination statistics in the form of area under the ROC curve. Two preoperative models had a weighted mean exceeding 0.7: The predicting postoperative complications score (PPCS) model and the PNI multivariate[36,39]. Neither model has been externally validated in a second cohort as reaching the utility threshold. Only on one occasion was calibration reported in predicting major morbidity, namely the PNI-multivariate model, which was found to be sufficiently calibrated[36]. Model performance in relation to major morbidity outcomes is summarised in Table 6.

Model performance - overall perioperative morbidity

Eleven out of the twenty-seven studies measured outcomes in relation to overall perioperative morbidity, not specified to respiratory complications. There were seventeen instances of a preoperative models being tested in predicting overall morbidity found. Eleven different models were tested for these complications, with nine having discriminatory performance represented through area under the



Table 5 Summary of the performance for all preoperative models in predicting perioperative mortality								
Ref.	Predictive model	Discrimination	Calibration	Outcome				
Bosch <i>et al</i> [44], 2011	CCI (2)	AUC = 0.567	HL <i>P</i> value (0.659)	Mortality				
Filip <i>et al</i> [46], 2014		AUC = 0.736	Not reported	Mortality				
Bosch <i>et al</i> [44], 2011	ACCI (2)	AUC = 0.684	HL <i>P</i> value (0.270)	Mortality				
Filip <i>et al</i> [46], 2014		AUC = 0.744	Not reported	Mortality				
Steyerberg et al[30], 2006	Rotterdam score (3)	AUC = 0.70	"Excellent"	Mortality				
Zingg et al[42], 2009		<i>P</i> value = 0.003	HL <i>P</i> value (0.266)	Mortality				
D'Journo et al[52], 2017		AUC = 0.64	Fair (overpredicts)	Mortality				
Ra et al[32], 2008	Philadelphia score (2)	"Effective"	"Good"	Mortality				
Zingg et al[42], 2009		<i>P</i> value = 0.001	HL <i>P</i> value (0.735)	Mortality				
Wright <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2009	Original STS model	AUC = 0.621	Not reported	Major morbidity or mortality				
Peng et al[54], 2020	NSQIP SRC (2)	AUC = 0.627	O:E = 1.13	Mortality				
Ravindran <i>et al</i> [55], 2020		AUC = 0.880	Not reported	Mortality				
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [35], 2014	Takeuchi model (2)	AUC = 0.766	Not reported	Mortality				
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [51], 2018		AUC = 0.697	Not reported	Mortality				
Raymond <i>et al</i> [37], 2016	Revised STS model	AUC = 0.71	Not reported	Mortality				
Reeh et al[38], 2016	PER score	P = 0.001	Not reported	Mortality				
Wan <i>et al</i> [41], 2022	RAI-A	AUC = 0.58	Not reported	Mortality				
	5 Factor MFI	AUC = 0.58	Not reported	Mortality				
	RAI-revised	AUC = 0.62	Not reported	Mortality				
	RAI-revised (CC)	AUC = 0.60	Not reported	Mortality				

AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; HL: Hosmer-Lemeshow; O:E: Observed:expected ratio; CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score.

Table 6 Summary of the performance for all preoperative models in predicting perioperative major morbidity								
Ref. Predictive model		Discrimination Calibration		Outcome				
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [45], 2011	Amsterdam score	AUC = 0.653	Not stated	Major morbidity				
Wright <i>et al</i> [33], 2009	Original STS model	AUC = 0.621	Not reported	Major morbidity or mortality				
Filip <i>et al</i> [36], 2015	PNI multivariate	AUC = 0.80	HL <i>P</i> value (0.67)	Major morbidity				
Raymond <i>et al</i> [37], 2016	Revised STS model	AUC = 0.63	Not reported	Major morbidity				
Saito <i>et al</i> [39], 2019	PPCS model	AUC = 0.798	Not reported	Major morbidity				

AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; HL: Hosmer-Lemeshow; O:E: Observed:expected ratio; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index.

> ROC curve. No model possessed a weighted mean that reached the threshold for clinical utility. The best performance was the Amsterdam model with a weighted AUC of 0.64[32]. Only eight of the seventeen instances in which the models were tested for predicting overall complications reported calibration with it being sufficient calibration on five occasions. The Amsterdam model was well calibrated in all three studies in which it was reported[32,36,43]. The NSQIP was appropriately calibrated in one out of two studies and the Prognostic Nutritional Index was sufficiently calibrated in the sole study it was reported[36,53,54]. A summary of model performance in predicting perioperative morbidity outcomes is presented in Table 7.

Table 7 Summary of the performance for all preoperative models in predicting perioperative morbidity							
Ref.	Predictive model	Discrimination	Calibration	Outcome			
Filip <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2015	PNI	AUC = 0.65	HL <i>P</i> value (0.85)	Morbidity			
Filip <i>et al</i> [36], 2015	CCI	AUC = 0.59	Pearson <i>P</i> value (0.48)	Morbidity			
Filip <i>et al</i> [36], 2015	ACCI	AUC = 0.61	Pearson <i>P</i> value (0.17)	Morbidity			
Schröder <i>et al</i> [29], 2006	Cologne score (2)	P value ≤ 0.001	Not reported	Morbidity			
Lindner <i>et al</i> [48], 2016		<i>P</i> value = 0.010	Not reported	Morbidity			
Lagarde <i>et al</i> [31], 2008	Amsterdam score (4)	AUC = 0.65	HL <i>P</i> value (0.366)	Morbidity			
Grotenhuis et al[43], 2010		AUC = 0.64	HL <i>P</i> value (0.84)	Morbidity			
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [45], 2011		AUC = 0.639	Not stated	Morbidity			
Filip <i>et al</i> [36], 2015		AUC = 0.60	HL <i>P</i> value (0.55)	Morbidity			
Gray et al[53], 2020	NSQIP SRC (3)	AUC = 0.553	"Insufficient"	Morbidity			
Peng et al[54], 2020		AUC = 0.600	O:E = 1.89	Morbidity			
Ravindran <i>et al</i> [55], 2020		AUC = 0.628	Not reported	Morbidity			
Reeh et al[38], 2016	PER score	$P \leq 0.001$	Not reported	Morbidity			
Wan et al[41], 2022	RAI-A	AUC = 0.54	Not reported	Morbidity			
Wan et al[41], 2022	5 Factor MFI	AUC = 0.57	Not reported	Morbidity			
Wan et al[41], 2022	RAI-revised	AUC = 0.54	Not reported	Morbidity			
Wan <i>et al</i> [<mark>41</mark>], 2022	RAI-revised (CC)	AUC = 0.51	Not reported	Morbidity			

AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; HL: Hosmer-Lemeshow; O:E: Observed:expected ratio; CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ACCI: Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score.

Model performance - perioperative respiratory complications/anastomotic leak/readmission/return to theatre

Four articles appraised five instances of three different model's performance in predicting respiratory complications. These included the Ferguson score, the geriatric nutritional risk index and the prognostic nutritional index, however, none of these reached a weighted mean c-statistic of clinical utility [34,56, 59]. The Ferguson score was the best performing in terms of discrimination, reaching significance in two out of the three studies in which it was tested but only had a weighted-average c-statistic of 0.669[34,49, 50]. The Ferguson model was appropriately calibrated in both studies for which this was reported [34, 49]. None of the other models had reporting of calibration. A single study by Ohkura *et al*[40] assessed model performance in predicting anastomotic leak rate but this failed to reach sufficient discrimination and did not report calibration. Only the NSQIP surgical risk calculator was tested specifically for the prediction of readmission and return to theatre rates [53-55]. For return to theatre, this model was poorly calibrated and was unable to discriminate outcomes in all studies[53-55]. The surgical risk calculator demonstrated utility and good calibration for predicting readmission in a single study but overall performed poorly in this area too[55]. A summary of model performance for these secondary outcome measures is illustrated in Table 8.

Model performance - overall comments

The summary of all the models and their performance for each outcome against which they were tested has been outlined for preoperative models (Tables 5-8). The weighted average area under the ROC curve is presented in each of the major four outcomes for every model in which these were reported (Figure 4). Meaningful subgroup analysis of model performance based on surgical approach was not feasible as many articles incorporated multiple surgical approaches and did not delineate model performance for each technique. Similar limitations also prevented subgroup analyses of model performance on the basis of histological subtype and the administration of neoadjuvant chemotherapy.

Clinical effectiveness

None of the models were tested prospectively in terms of whether adoption of the model in clinical decision making would lead to improved clinical outcomes.

Table 8 Summary of the performance for all preoperative models in predicting respiratory complications, return to theatre, readmission and anastomotic leak

Ref.	Predictive model	Discrimination	Calibration	Outcome
Yamana et al[<mark>47</mark>], 2015	PNI	AUC = 0.609	Not reported	Respiratory complications
Yamana et al[<mark>47</mark>], 2015	GNRI	AUC = 0.651	Not reported	Respiratory complications
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [34], 2011	Ferguson score (3)	AUC = 0.708	HL <i>P</i> value (0.16)	Respiratory complications
Reinersman et al[49], 2016		AUC = 0.726	HL <i>P</i> value (0.2394)	Respiratory complications
Xing et al[50], 2016		AUC = 0.539	Not reported	Respiratory complications
Gray <i>et al</i> [53], 2020	NSQIP SRC (3)	AUC = 0.533	Insufficient	Return to theatre
		AUC = 0.625	Insufficient	Readmission
Peng et al[54], 2020		AUC = 0.558	O:E = 0.48	Return to theatre
		AUC = 0.558	O:E = 1.11	Readmission
Ravindran <i>et al</i> [55], 2020		AUC = 0.584	Not reported	Return to theatre
		AUC = 0.767	Not reported	Readmission
Ohkura <i>et al</i> [4 0] , 2020	JNCD model	AUC = 0.531	Not reported	Anastomotic leak

AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; HL: Hosmer-Lemeshow; O:E: Observed:expected ratio; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database.

Overall performance

The overall performance of each model within the five domains is outlined in Table 9.

DISCUSSION

This systematic review included twenty-seven articles utilising twenty-one different preoperative risk prediction models deemed to forecast outcomes after oesophagectomy. Twelve of these were specifically devised for oesophageal resection and fourteen models have been externally validated. The clinical credibility of the development studies of these models was generally strong. The methodological quality of the majority of the studies was also sound, with more recent studies trending better in this assessment. Only one model's development study was not available for analysis. However, with respect to model performance, the findings were underwhelming and there were only a few instances in which models demonstrated clinical utility.

Across the breadth of the articles, just three preoperative risk models possessed a weighted mean of discriminatory capacity sufficient to be of clinical utility in predicting perioperative mortality. These three models were the NSQIP surgical risk calculator, the Takeuchi score and the revised STS model[35, 37,60]. It must be noted that of the two occasions that the NSQIP surgical risk calculator and Takeuchi score were tested, both reached clinical utility on only one of the two occasions[35,51,54,55]. Furthermore, the revised STS model is yet to be externally validated. Calibration was not reported for the Takeuchi score or revised STS model but the NSQIP surgical risk calculator reported calibration once, and performed well[54]. A handful of other models displayed clinically useful discrimination in one of the two studies in which they were tested but failed to meet this threshold in the weighted mean. These included the Charlson comorbidity index, the age-adjusted Charlson comorbidity index and Rotterdam scores[30,46]. All three of these models performed well with respect to calibrating expected mortality in the studies in which this was reported [30,42,44,52].

In terms of the preoperative prediction of non-fatal complications, the performance of the models was also underwhelming. Only two models demonstrated clinical utility forecasting perioperative major morbidity: The PPCS model and the PNI-multivariate[36,39]. The PNI-multivariate model had good calibration in its only study whereas the PPCS model calibration remains unreported in the literature [36]. The clinical credibility of both were strong and the methodological quality of the PNI-multivariate was sound[36]. However, neither of these models have been externally validated. No preoperative risk model demonstrated adequate performance in discriminating overall morbidity. The best performer in this area was the Amsterdam score which calibrated well but was unable to sufficiently discriminating outcomes[32]. Similarly, no model consistently displayed clinical utility in predicting respiratory complications. The most promising model was the Ferguson pulmonary score, developed specifically



Table 9 Summary of the preoperative models across the five categories

Ref.	Model	Clinical credibility (out of 7)	Methodological quality (out of 20)	Model performance (overall utility)	External validation	Clinical effectiveness
Onodera <i>et al</i> [<mark>56</mark>], 1984	PNI	6	N/A	No	Yes	No
Charlson <i>et al</i> [<mark>57</mark>], 1987	CCI	5	14	No	Yes	No
Charlson <i>et al</i> [58], 1994	ACCI	5	14.5	No	Yes	No
Bouillanne <i>et al</i> [59], 2005	GNRI	5.5	14	No	Yes	No
Schröder <i>et al</i> [29], 2006	Cologne	4.5	14	No	Yes	No
Steyerberg <i>et al</i> [30], 2006	Rotterdam	6	17.5	No	Yes	No
Ra et al[<mark>32]</mark> , 2008	Philadelphia	6	16.5	No	Yes	No
Lagarde <i>et al</i> [31], 2008	Amsterdam	6	18.5	No	Yes	No
Wright <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2009	Original STS	6	17.5	No	No	No
Ferguson <i>et al</i> [<mark>34</mark>], 2011	Ferguson	5.5	16.5	No	Yes	No
Bilimoria <i>et al</i> [60], 2013	NSQIP SRC	5.5	16.5	Mortality	Yes	No
Takeuchi <i>et al</i> [35], 2014	Takeuchi	5.5	18	Mortality	Yes	No
Filip et al[<mark>36</mark>], 2015	PNI multivariate	5.5	19	Major morbidity	No	No
Raymond <i>et al</i> [37], 2016	Revised STS	6	16.5	Mortality	No	No
Reeh et al[<mark>38</mark>], 2016	PER	4.5	15	No	No	No
Hall et al[61], 2017	RAI-A	4.5	17.5	No	Yes	No
Subramaniam <i>et al</i> [62], 2018	5 Factor MFI	5.5	16	No	Yes	No
Saito <i>et al</i> [<mark>39</mark>], 2019	PPCS	5.5	16.5	Major morbidity	No	No
Ohkura <i>et al</i> [40], 2020	JNCD	5.5	18.5	No	No	No
Arya <i>et al</i> [<mark>63</mark>], 2020	RAI-revised	4.5	19	No	Yes	No
Wan et al[41], 2022	RAI-revised (CC)	4.5	18.5	No	Yes	No

PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database; RAI: Risk analysis index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; MFI: Modified frailty index; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; PER: Perioperative esophagectomy risk score; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagetomy Composite Score.

> for predicting respiratory outcomes[34]. In two of three studies, it performed well in discrimination and calibration, but the weighted mean was adversely affected by a poor performance in the third study [34, 49,50]. Discouragingly, no preoperative risk model could predict anastomotic leak, readmission or return to theatre.

> The results of this systematic review are consistent with the major findings of previous systematic reviews in this area. Findlay et al[14] concluded that no preoperative model predicted post-operative morbidity or mortality with sufficient accuracy and Warnell *et al*[15] concluded that no models could be applied to clinical practice with any confidence. The models identified in our review as having clinical promise in predicting mortality and major complications were developed subsequent to these reviews. The reasons for vast majority of these models failing to sufficiently predict outcomes are multifactorial. Most clinical prediction tools are generated from outcome data from the same cohort on which the

Identification of studies via databases and registers



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.450 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 PRISMA 2020 flow diagram.

PNI = Prognostic nutritional index CCI = Charlson comorbidity index ACCI = Age-adjusted charlson comorbidity index GNRI = Geriatric nutritional risk index Cologne = Cologne Score Rotterdam = Rotterdam Score Philadelphia = Philadelphia Score Amsterdam = Amsterdam Score Original STS = Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score Ferguson = Ferguson Pulmonary Risk Score NSQIP SRC = National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator Takeuchi = Takeuchi Risk Model PNI Multivariate = Prognostic nutritional index multivariate score Revised STS = Revised Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score PER = Preoperative esophagectomy risk score RAI-A = Administrative risk analysis index 5 Factor MFI = 5 Factor modified frailty index PPCS = Predicting postoperative complications score JNCD = Japanese National Clinical Database Model RAI-revised = Revised risk analysis index RAI-revised (CC) = Revised risk analysis index (cancer corrected) DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.450 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Reference key for list of abbreviated model names.

model is subsequently tested^[23]. This predisposes the models to bias through overfitting to the development data set and thus subsequently poor performance when applied to an external population dataset[23]. In addition, several models were developed from a single centre with a relatively small dataset that further confounded their ability to predict uncommon clinical outcomes especially considering the relative rarity of mortality or major morbidity post-oesophagectomy. Larger



Grantham JP et al. Preoperative risk modelling for oesophagectomy

Preoperative models with external validation

PNI CCI ACCI GNRI Cologne Score Rotterdam Score Philadelphia Score Amsterdam Score Ferguson Score NSQIP SRC Takeuchi model RAI-A
5 Factor MFI RAI-revised Preoperative models without external validation
Original STS model PNI-multivariate Revised STS model PER Score PPCS Model JNCD Model RAI-revised (CC)

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.450 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 External validation status of pre-operative models. CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ACCI: Age-adjusted comorbidity index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk index; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; MFI: Modified frailty index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score; JNCD: Japanese National Clinical Database.

development models are therefore required to reliably predict these events.

Aside from the studied multivariate risk models, there are a plethora of single factor prognostic indicators researched over this period. There have been three studies of the discriminatory capacity of cardiopulmonary fitness testing (CPEX), often represented through anaerobic threshold and VO_2 maximum[64]. In each study CPEX fell short of reaching clinical utility thresholds in predicting major complications following oesophagectomy[65,66]. Preoperative sarcopenia, represented through grip strength or volumetric psoas muscle analysis, has also been highlighted as a prognostic marker for perioperative and long-term outcomes following oesophagectomy. But again, the performance of sarcopenia in predicting outcomes following oesophagectomy has been highly variable[67]. A systematic review conducted in 2020 by Papaconstantinou et al[67] found a statistically significant relationship between preoperative sarcopenia and overall perioperative morbidity, respiratory complications and anastomotic leaks. However, the same study failed to demonstrate correlative significance for sarcopenia and perioperative mortality or major complications (Clavien-Dindo grade III or higher)[67].

There are a number of strengths to this review. The review was conducted thoroughly and reported in accordance with the PRISMA method, outlining the study search and selection strategy. There was no iterative manipulation of the search terms or strategy to allow for selective inclusion or exclusion or specific articles. To the knowledge of the authors, this is the third systematic review to appraise multivariate risk models in the prediction of perioperative outcomes following oesophagectomy. It just the second to incorporate qualitative analysis of the risk models involve. This review is the first to consider the issue since 2015 and over the intervening period, there has been a substantial proliferation of multivariate risk models in the literature. Therefore, this systematic review is the largest of its kind. Although somewhat peripheral to the scope of this review, the temporal gap between this review and the preceding systematic review means this review can uniquely consider the performance of these multivariate risk models against the burgeoning list of other recently developed clinical predictors as outlined above. In contrast to a previous related effort, this review has not excluded low-volume centres in the analysis. Perhaps the greatest strength of this submission is that it is the first to isolate models which exclusively use preoperative variables. This is important because by their very nature, only preoperative risk prediction models can assist surgeons in selecting appropriate surgical candidates and appropriately counselling these patients of their risks prior to an operation.

Despite this, a number of common challenges were encountered. The quality of the results generated was limited by the completeness of reporting in the original publications added to which is a risk of positive finding publication bias. We limited our search to articles published in English and from the year 2000 onward, which whilst pragmatic, could have led to the exclusion of valuable publications. This review also did not consider long-term survival or patient reported quality of life outcomes, both of





Figure 4 Weighted mean of c-statistics for each major outcome. CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ROC: Receiver operating characteristic; ACCI: Ageadjusted comorbidity index; GNRI: Geriatric nutritional risk; NSQIP SRC: National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Surgical Risk Calculator; RAI-A: Administrative risk analysis index; MFI: Modified frailty index; STS: Society of Thoracic Surgeons Oesophagectomy Composite Score; PNI: Prognostic nutritional index; PPCS: Predicting postoperative complications score.

which may influence the decision whether to undertake surgical intervention. Qualitative analysis of the risk prediction models, whilst deemed a source of strength, can sometimes be subjective. There were also several challenges unique to this topic, many of which were also encountered during the preceding systematic reviews. Across the studies, there was significant heterogeneity in clinical practice and methodology in outcome measurements. Much of this related to the regional and temporal variance observed in the treatment of oesophageal cancer within the studies.

These limitations also highlight areas in which further research could be focused. A few preoperative prediction models do show promise but have not yet been externally validated. If these models were tested in a different population group, it would certainly strengthen the case for their application. Owing to the low risk of mortality following oesophagectomy, any attempt to demonstrate clinical improvement would require a large multicentre, long-term prospective clinical trial, this likely contributes to why none of the studies have been used to show prospective improvement in clinical outcomes. If a model was demonstrated to lead to better outcomes, it would encourage surgeons to utilise such model in everyday practice. Finally, with an increasing emphasis on individualised medicine, future research should also seek to develop and define models that also focus on long-term survival and patient reported quality of life outcomes.

CONCLUSION

A large number of clinical multivariate risk models have been developed or adapted to use in predicting perioperative outcomes including morbidity, major morbidity and mortality following oeso-phagectomy. By being based on preoperative variables, they are designed to aid in patient selection for surgical resection and to guide informed preoperative counselling of patients. This study has demonstrated that most models are clinically credible and were constructed with sound methodological quality, but their performance was often insufficient to prognosticate patient outcomes. In total, three models were identified as being capable in discriminating patients for mortality: The NSQIP surgical risk calculator, the revised STS score and the Takeuchi model. Two models predicted postoperative major morbidity: The PPCS model and PNI-multivariate model. However, most of these models are not externally validated and none have shown clinical effectiveness in improving outcomes. Further research is needed before prediction models can be confidently applied to clinical practice in selecting appropriate surgical candidates, counselling patients on surgical risk and guiding postoperative resource allocation.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Oesophageal cancer is the eighth most common type of cancer and sixth leading cause of cancer-related death worldwide. If it is detected in the early stages, an oesophagectomy can be undertaken with realistic curative intent. Unfortunately, this surgery comes with a significant morbidity burden and can result in fatal outcomes, making appropriate selection of surgical candidates imperative. Numerous multivariate risk prediction models have been devised to augment this decision-making with ongoing conjecture as to which risk prediction tool is most reliable. This publication is the first systematic review in seven years to attempt to resolve which model most accurately predicts perioperative outcomes following oesophagectomy.

Research motivation

The identification of the best preoperative risk prediction model would allow surgeons apply this to clinical practice. Such a tool may assist in augmenting clinical decision making to better identify and counsel appropriate surgical candidates for oesophagectomy. It is expected that improved patient selection would lead to overall improved perioperative outcomes for patients suffering from oesophageal cancer.

Research objectives

The objective of this research is to conduct a contemporary systematic review assessing which preoperative multivariate risk model best predicts perioperative oesophagectomy outcomes. The primary objective relates to appraising predictive performance for mortality outcomes. The secondary objectives are to assess the ability of the multivariate models in forecasting major morbidity, overall morbidity and specific key complications such as respiratory complications and anastomotic leak.

Research methods

A systematic review incorporating the MEDLINE, Embase and Cochrane databases was conducted from 2000-2020. Applied search terms were ((Oesophagectomy) AND (Risk OR predict OR model OR score) AND (Outcomes OR complications OR morbidity OR mortality OR length of stay OR anastomotic leak)). Only multivariate based tools which utilised exclusively data available preoperatively to predict perioperative outcomes following oesophagecotmy were included with articles generated, collated and then reported in accordance with PRISMA guidelines. All risk models were appraised across the five domains of clinical credibility, methodological quality, model performance, external validation and clinical effectiveness.

Research results

The initial search yielded 8715 articles which was reduced to 197 potentially relevant texts after deduplication, title and abstract screening. Following detailed assessment of these articles, 27 published studies were ultimately included with these examining 21 multivariate preoperative risk prediction models. The majority of models were clinically credible with sound methodological quality but many models still require external validation and none had yet proven clinical effectiveness with their adoption. Three models adequately predicted perioperative mortality (National Surgical Quality Improvement Program surgical risk calculator, revised Society of Thoracic Surgeons oesophagectomy composite score and Takeuchi model) whilst two (predicting postoperative complications score and prognostic nutritional index-multivariate model) predicted major morbidity sufficiently.

Research conclusions

There are a few well-constructed and credible multivariate risk prediction models that demonstrate promise in forecasting perioperative mortality and major morbidity outcomes. However, more research is required in the sphere of external validation and to demonstrate improved clinical outcomes with the adoption of these models in preoperative surgical patient selection.

Research perspectives

There is a research gap in externally validating some of these models which have yet to be assessed outside of their development cohort. Ultimately, the direction of future research should involve the development of a prospective randomised controlled trial in which one group would utilise clinical discretion with the other applying one of the promising preoperative risk prediction models in determining appropriate surgical candidates. In such a trial, clinical effectiveness with the adoption of a risk prediction model could be demonstrated if improved patient outcomes were observed. This would provide compelling evidence for the broader application of such a risk prediction model in patient selection for oesophagectomy.

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the assistance of Nikki May, SA Health librarian in the construction and execution of the search strategy. This work was initially undertaken as part of the University of Edinburgh, Masters of Surgical Science.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Grantham JP and Shenfine J designed the research; Grantham JP and Hii A performed the research and analysed the data; Grantham JP, Hii A and Shenfine J all contributed to writing and reviewing the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Australia

ORCID number: James Paul Grantham 0000-0002-5267-5646; Amanda Hii 0000-0003-3056-0087; Jonathan Shenfine 0000-0002-1862-4693.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- 1 Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015; 136: E359-E386 [PMID: 25220842 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210]
- Napier KJ, Scheerer M, Misra S. Esophageal cancer: A Review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, staging workup and 2 treatment modalities. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2014; 6: 112-120 [PMID: 24834141 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v6.i5.112]
- Flanagan JC, Batz R, Saboo SS, Nordeck SM, Abbara S, Kernstine K, Vasan V. Esophagectomy and Gastric Pull-through 3 Procedures: Surgical Techniques, Imaging Features, and Potential Complications. Radiographics 2016; 36: 107-121 [PMID: 26761533 DOI: 10.1148/rg.2016150126]
- Minnella EM, Drummond K, Carli F. The impact of prehabilitation on surgical outcomes. Ann Esophagus 2021; 4: 10 [DOI: 10.21037/aoe-2020-15]
- Veelo DP, Geerts BF. Anaesthesia during oesophagectomy. J Thorac Dis 2017; 9: S705-S712 [PMID: 28815066 DOI: 10.21037/jtd.2017.03.153]
- Sharma S. Management of complications of radical esophagectomy. Indian J Surg Oncol 2013; 4: 105-111 [PMID: 24426709 DOI: 10.1007/s13193-013-0215-1]
- 7 D'Annoville T, D'Journo XB, Trousse D, Brioude G, Dahan L, Seitz JF, Doddoli C, Thomas PA. Respiratory complications after oesophagectomy for cancer do not affect disease-free survival. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2012; 41: e66e73 [DOI: 10.1093/eicts/ezs080]
- 8 Molena D, Mungo B, Stem M, Lidor AO. Incidence and risk factors for respiratory complications in patients undergoing esophagectomy for malignancy: a NSQIP analysis. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 26: 287-294 [PMID: 25837540 DOI: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2014.12.002]
- 9 Fabbi M, Hagens ERC, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Gisbertz SS. Anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: definitions, diagnostics, and treatment. Dis Esophagus 2021; 34 [PMID: 32476017 DOI: 10.1093/dote/doaa039
- 10 Rouvelas I, Lagergren J. The impact of volume on outcomes after oesophageal cancer surgery. ANZ J Surg 2010; 80: 634-641 [PMID: 20840408 DOI: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2010.05406.x]
- Collins GS, de Groot JA, Dutton S, Omar O, Shanyinde M, Tajar A, Voysey M, Wharton R, Yu LM, Moons KG, Altman 11 DG. External validation of multivariable prediction models: a systematic review of methodological conduct and reporting. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014; 14: 40 [PMID: 24645774 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-40]
- 12 Ross PL, Gerigk C, Gonen M, Yossepowitch O, Cagiannos I, Sogani PC, Scardino PT, Kattan MW. Comparisons of nomograms and urologists' predictions in prostate cancer. Semin Urol Oncol 2002; 20: 82-88 [PMID: 12012293 DOI: 10.1053/suro.2002.32490]



- 13 Kattan MW, Yu C, Stephenson AJ, Sartor O, Tombal B. Clinicians versus nomogram: predicting future technetium-99m bone scan positivity in patients with rising prostate-specific antigen after radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer. Urology 2013; 81: 956-961 [PMID: 23375915 DOI: 10.1016/j.urology.2012.12.010]
- 14 Findlay JM, Gillies RS, Sgromo B, Marshall RE, Middleton MR, Maynard ND. Individual risk modelling for esophagectomy: a systematic review. J Gastrointest Surg 2014; 18: 1532-1542 [PMID: 24760219 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-014-2524-2
- 15 Warnell I, Chincholkar M, Eccles M. Predicting perioperative mortality after oesophagectomy: a systematic review of performance and methods of multivariate models. Br J Anaesth 2015; 114: 32-43 [PMID: 25231768 DOI: 10.1093/bja/aeu294]
- 16 Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021; 372: n71 [PMID: 33782057 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]
- Clavien PA, Barkun J, de Oliveira ML, Vauthey JN, Dindo D, Schulick RD, de Santibañes E, Pekolj J, Slankamenac K, 17 Bassi C, Graf R, Vonlanthen R, Padbury R, Cameron JL, Makuuchi M. The Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. Ann Surg 2009; 250: 187-196 [PMID: 19638912 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b13ca2]
- 18 Wyatt JC, Altman DG. Commentary: Prognostic models: clinically useful or quickly forgotten? BMJ 1995; 311: 1539-1541 [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.311.7019.1539]
- 19 Moons KG, Royston P, Vergouwe Y, Grobbee DE, Altman DG. Prognosis and prognostic research: what, why, and how? BMJ 2009; 338: b375 [PMID: 19237405 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b375]
- 20 Altman DG, Royston P. What do we mean by validating a prognostic model? Stat Med 2000; 19: 453-473 [PMID: 10694730 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(20000229)19:4<453::aid-sim350>3.0.co;2-5]
- 21 Minne L, Ludikhuize J, de Jonge E, de Rooij S, Abu-Hanna A. Prognostic models for predicting mortality in elderly ICU patients: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med 2011; 37: 1258-1268 [PMID: 21647716 DOI: 10.1007/s00134-011-2265-6]
- 22 Ma LL, Wang YY, Yang ZH, Huang D, Weng H, Zeng XT. Methodological quality (risk of bias) assessment tools for primary and secondary medical studies: what are they and which is better? Mil Med Res 2020; 7: 7 [PMID: 32111253 DOI: 10.1186/s40779-020-00238-8
- Hayden JA, Côté P, Bombardier C. Evaluation of the quality of prognosis studies in systematic reviews. Ann Intern Med 23 2006; 144: 427-437 [PMID: 16549855 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-6-200603210-00010]
- Minne L, Abu-Hanna A, de Jonge E. Evaluation of SOFA-based models for predicting mortality in the ICU: A systematic 24 review. Crit Care 2008; 12: R161 [PMID: 19091120 DOI: 10.1186/cc7160]
- Alba AC, Agoritsas T, Walsh M, Hanna S, Iorio A, Devereaux PJ, McGinn T, Guyatt G. Discrimination and Calibration of 25 Clinical Prediction Models: Users' Guides to the Medical Literature. JAMA 2017; 318: 1377-1384 [PMID: 29049590 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2017.12126]
- Mandrekar JN. Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. J Thorac Oncol 2010; 5: 1315-1316 [PMID: 20736804 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181ec173d]
- Taylor AP, Webb RI, Barry JC, Hosmer H, Gould RJ, Wood BJ. Adhesion of microbes using 3-aminopropyl triethoxy 27 silane and specimen stabilisation techniques for analytical transmission electron microscopy. J Microsc 2000; 199: 56-67 [PMID: 10886529 DOI: 10.1002/0471722146]
- 28 Crowson CS, Atkinson EJ, Therneau TM. Assessing calibration of prognostic risk scores. Stat Methods Med Res 2016; 25: 1692-1706 [PMID: 23907781 DOI: 10.1177/0962280213497434]
- 29 Schröder W, Bollschweiler E, Kossow C, Hölscher AH. Preoperative risk analysis--a reliable predictor of postoperative outcome after transthoracic esophagectomy? Langenbecks Arch Surg 2006; 391: 455-460 [PMID: 16896830 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-006-0067-z
- Steyerberg EW, Neville BA, Koppert LB, Lemmens VE, Tilanus HW, Coebergh JW, Weeks JC, Earle CC. Surgical 30 mortality in patients with esophageal cancer: development and validation of a simple risk score. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 4277-4284 [PMID: 16963730 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2005.05.0658]
- Lagarde SM, Reitsma JB, Maris AK, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Busch OR, Obertop H, Zwinderman AH, van Lanschot 31 JJ. Preoperative prediction of the occurrence and severity of complications after esophagectomy for cancer with use of a nomogram. Ann Thorac Surg 2008; 85: 1938-1945 [PMID: 18498798 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.03.014]
- Ra J, Paulson EC, Kucharczuk J, Armstrong K, Wirtalla C, Rapaport-Kelz R, Kaiser LR, Spitz FR. Postoperative mortality 32 after esophagectomy for cancer: development of a preoperative risk prediction model. Ann Surg Oncol 2008; 15: 1577-1584 [PMID: 18379852 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-9867-4]
- Wright CD, Kucharczuk JC, O'Brien SM, Grab JD, Allen MS; Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Surgery 33 Database. Predictors of major morbidity and mortality after esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: a Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Surgery Database risk adjustment model. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; 137: 587-95; discussion 596 [PMID: 19258071 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.11.042]
- Ferguson MK, Celauro AD, Prachand V. Prediction of major pulmonary complications after esophagectomy. Ann Thorac 34 Surg 2011; 91: 1494-1500; discussion 1500 [PMID: 21524462 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2010.12.036]
- Takeuchi H, Miyata H, Gotoh M, Kitagawa Y, Baba H, Kimura W, Tomita N, Nakagoe T, Shimada M, Sugihara K, Mori M. A risk model for esophagectomy using data of 5354 patients included in a Japanese nationwide web-based database. Ann Surg 2014; 260: 259-266 [PMID: 24743609 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000644]
- 36 Filip B, Scarpa M, Cavallin F, Cagol M, Alfieri R, Saadeh L, Ancona E, Castoro C. Postoperative outcome after oesophagectomy for cancer: Nutritional status is the missing ring in the current prognostic scores. Eur J Surg Oncol 2015; 41: 787-794 [PMID: 25890494 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2015.02.014]
- Raymond DP, Seder CW, Wright CD, Magee MJ, Kosinski AS, Cassivi SD, Grogan EL, Blackmon SH, Allen MS, Park 37 BJ, Burfeind WR, Chang AC, DeCamp MM, Wormuth DW, Fernandez FG, Kozower BD. Predictors of Major Morbidity



or Mortality After Resection for Esophageal Cancer: A Society of Thoracic Surgeons General Thoracic Surgery Database Risk Adjustment Model. Ann Thorac Surg 2016; 102: 207-214 [PMID: 27240449 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2016.04.055]

- 38 Reeh M, Metze J, Uzunoglu FG, Nentwich M, Ghadban T, Wellner U, Bockhorn M, Kluge S, Izbicki JR, Vashist YK. The PER (Preoperative Esophagectomy Risk) Score: A Simple Risk Score to Predict Short-Term and Long-Term Outcome in Patients with Surgically Treated Esophageal Cancer. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e2724 [PMID: 26886613 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000002724
- 39 Saito T, Tanaka K, Ebihara Y, Kurashima Y, Murakami S, Shichinohe T, Hirano S. Novel prognostic score of postoperative complications after transthoracic minimally invasive esophagectomy for esophageal cancer: a retrospective cohort study of 90 consecutive patients. Esophagus 2019; 16: 155-161 [PMID: 30178429 DOI: 10.1007/s10388-018-0645-5
- Ohkura Y, Miyata H, Konno H, Udagawa H, Ueno M, Shindoh J, Kumamaru H, Wakabayashi G, Gotoh M, Mori M. 40 Development of a model predicting the risk of eight major postoperative complications after esophagectomy based on 10 826 cases in the Japan National Clinical Database. J Surg Oncol 2020; 121: 313-321 [DOI: 10.1002/jso.25800]
- Wan MA, Clark JM, Nuño M, Cooke DT, Brown LM. Can the Risk Analysis Index for Frailty Predict Morbidity and 41 Mortality in Patients Undergoing High-risk Surgery? Ann Surg 2022; 276: e721-e727 [PMID: 33214473 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000004626
- Zingg U, Langton C, Addison B, Wijnhoven BP, Forberger J, Thompson SK, Esterman AJ, Watson DI. Risk prediction scores for postoperative mortality after esophagectomy: validation of different models. J Gastrointest Surg 2009; 13: 611-618 [PMID: 19050980 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-008-0761-y]
- Grotenhuis BA, van Hagen P, Reitsma JB, Lagarde SM, Wijnhoven BP, van Berge Henegouwen MI, Tilanus HW, van 43 Lanschot JJ. Validation of a nomogram predicting complications after esophagectomy for cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2010; 90: 920-925 [PMID: 20732518 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2010.06.024]
- 44 Bosch DJ, Pultrum BB, de Bock GH, Oosterhuis JK, Rodgers MG, Plukker JT. Comparison of different risk-adjustment models in assessing short-term surgical outcome after transthoracic esophagectomy in patients with esophageal cancer. Am J Surg 2011; 202: 303-309 [PMID: 21871985 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2011.04.003]
- 45 Ferguson MK, Celauro AD, Prachand V. Assessment of a scoring system for predicting complications after esophagectomy. Dis Esophagus 2011; 24: 510-515 [PMID: 21418123 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2011.01185.x]
- Filip B, Hutanu I, Radu I, Anitei MG, Scripcariu V. Assessment of different prognostic scores for early postoperative 46 outcomes after esophagectomy. Chirurgia (Bucur) 2014; 109: 480-485 [PMID: 25149610]
- 47 Yamana I, Takeno S, Shibata R, Shiwaku H, Maki K, Hashimoto T, Shiraishi T, Iwasaki A, Yamashita Y. Is the Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index a Significant Predictor of Postoperative Complications in Patients with Esophageal Cancer Undergoing Esophagectomy? Eur Surg Res 2015; 55: 35-42 [PMID: 25790838 DOI: 10.1159/000376610]
- 48 Lindner K, Palmes D, Grübener A, Senninger N, Haier J, Hummel R. Esophageal Cancer Specific Risk Score Is Associated with Postoperative Complications Following Open Ivor-Lewis Esophagectomy for Adenocarcinoma. Dig Surg 2016; 33: 58-65 [PMID: 26600155 DOI: 10.1159/000439442]
- Reinersman JM, Allen MS, Deschamps C, Ferguson MK, Nichols FC, Shen KR, Wigle DA, Cassivi SD. External validation of the Ferguson pulmonary risk score for predicting major pulmonary complications after oesophagectomy[†]. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016; 49: 333-338 [PMID: 25724906 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezv021]
- 50 Xing XZ, Gao Y, Wang HJ, Qu SN, Huang CL, Zhang H, Wang H, Yang QH. Assessment of a predictive score for pulmonary complications in cancer patients after esophagectomy. World J Emerg Med 2016; 7: 44-49 [PMID: 27006738 DOI: 10.5847/wjem.j.1920-8642.2016.01.008]
- Takeuchi M, Takeuchi H, Kawakubo H, Booka E, Mayanagi S, Fukuda K, Nakamura R, Suda K, Wada N, Kitagawa Y. 51 Perioperative Risk Calculator Predicts Long-Term Oncologic Outcome for Patients with Esophageal Carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol 2018; 25: 837-843 [PMID: 29282603 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-017-6311-7]
- D'Journo XB, Berbis J, Jougon J, Brichon PY, Mouroux J, Tiffet O, Bernard A, de Dominicis F, Massard G, Falcoz PE, 52 Thomas P, Dahan M. External validation of a risk score in the prediction of the mortality after esophagectomy for cancer. Dis Esophagus 2017; 30: 1-8 [PMID: 26730436 DOI: 10.1111/dote.12447]
- 53 Gray KD, Nobel TB, Hsu M, Tan KS, Chudgar N, Yan S, Rusch VW, Jones DR, Rocco G, Molena D, Isbell JM. Improved Preoperative Risk-Assessment Tools Are Needed to Guide Informed Decision-Making Before Esophagectomy. Ann Surg 2020 [PMID: 33351463 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000004715]
- Peng JS, Kukar M, Hochwald SN. ASO Author Reflections: Overcoming the Learning Curve for Minimally Invasive 54 Esophagectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 2020; 27: 3039-3040 [PMID: 32424587 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-020-08372-2]
- 55 Ravindran K, Escobar D, Gautam S, Puri R, Awad Z. Assessment of the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Calculator in Predicting Outcomes and Length of Stay After Ivor Lewis Esophagectomy: A Single-Center Experience. J Surg Res 2020; 255: 355-360 [PMID: 32599455 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2020.05.080]
- 56 Onodera T, Goseki N, Kosaki G. [Prognostic nutritional index in gastrointestinal surgery of malnourished cancer patients]. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi 1984; 85: 1001-1005 [PMID: 6438478]
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal 57 studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987; 40: 373-383 [PMID: 3558716 DOI: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8
- Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, Gold J. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. J Clin Epidemiol 1994; 47: 58 1245-1251 [PMID: 7722560 DOI: 10.1016/0895-4356(94)90129-5]
- 59 Bouillanne O, Morineau G, Dupont C, Coulombel I, Vincent JP, Nicolis I, Benazeth S, Cynober L, Aussel C. Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index: a new index for evaluating at-risk elderly medical patients. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82: 777-783 [PMID: 16210706 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/82.4.777]
- Bilimoria KY, Liu Y, Paruch JL, Zhou L, Kmiecik TE, Ko CY, Cohen ME. Development and evaluation of the universal 60 ACS NSQIP surgical risk calculator: a decision aid and informed consent tool for patients and surgeons. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 833-42.e1 [PMID: 24055383 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.07.385]
- Hall DE, Arya S, Schmid KK, Blaser C, Carlson MA, Bailey TL, Purviance G, Bockman T, Lynch TG, Johanning J.



Development and Initial Validation of the Risk Analysis Index for Measuring Frailty in Surgical Populations. JAMA Surg 2017; 152: 175-182 [PMID: 27893030 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.4202]

- 62 Subramaniam S, Aalberg JJ, Soriano RP, Divino CM. New 5-Factor Modified Frailty Index Using American College of Surgeons NSQIP Data. J Am Coll Surg 2018; 226: 173-181.e8 [PMID: 29155268 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2017.11.005]
- 63 Arya S, Varley P, Youk A, Borrebach JD, Perez S, Massarweh NN, Johanning JM, Hall DE. Recalibration and External Validation of the Risk Analysis Index: A Surgical Frailty Assessment Tool. Ann Surg 2020; 272: 996-1005 [PMID: 30907757 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000003276]
- Sivakumar J, Sivakumar H, Read M, Sinclair RCF, Snowden CP, Hii MW. The Role of Cardiopulmonary Exercise 64 Testing as a Risk Assessment Tool in Patients Undergoing Oesophagectomy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 2020; 27: 3783-3796 [PMID: 32488516 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-020-08638-9]
- 65 Patel N, Powell AG, Wheat JR, Brown C, Appadurai IR, Davies RG, Bailey DM, Lewis WG. Cardiopulmonary fitness predicts postoperative major morbidity after esophagectomy for patients with cancer. Physiol Rep 2019; 7: e14174 [PMID: 31342676 DOI: 10.14814/phy2.14174]
- Forshaw MJ, Strauss DC, Davies AR, Wilson D, Lams B, Pearce A, Botha AJ, Mason RC. Is cardiopulmonary exercise 66 testing a useful test before esophagectomy? Ann Thorac Surg 2008; 85: 294-299 [PMID: 18154826 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.05.062]
- Papaconstantinou D, Vretakakou K, Paspala A, Misiakos EP, Charalampopoulos A, Nastos C, Patapis P, Pikoulis E. The 67 impact of preoperative sarcopenia on postoperative complications following esophagectomy for esophageal neoplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dis Esophagus 2020; doaa002 [PMID: 32193528 DOI: 10.1093/dote/doaa002]



S W U

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 471-479

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.471

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Effect of music therapy on chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in gastrointestinal cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis

Fang-Ping Zhong, Jun Zhong, Ming-Yan Zhong

Fang-Ping Zhong, Ming-Yan Zhong, Department of Oncology, Pingxiang Second People's Specialty type: Gastroenterology Hospital, Pingxiang 337000, Jiangxi Province, China and hepatology Jun Zhong, School of Biomedical Engineering, Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou Provenance and peer review: 511436, Guangdong Province, China Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Garcia-Anaya MJ, Spain; Muro K, Japan; Shin CM, South Korea

Received: January 11, 2023 Peer-review started: January 11, 2023 First decision: January 30, 2023 Revised: February 6, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Corresponding author: Fang-Ping Zhong, CCST, MS, RN, Associate Chief Nurse, Department of Oncology, Pingxiang Second People's Hospital, No. 18-301 Athenian Century Garden, Anyuan Town, Anyuan District, Pingxiang 337000, Jiangxi Province, China. zz23181113441123@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Chemotherapy is the primary treatment for patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer, but it has many adverse reactions, particularly nausea and vomiting. Music therapy can reduce anxiety symptoms, avoid the response to the human body under various stress conditions through psychological adjustment, and improve the adverse reactions of chemotherapy.

AIM

To investigate the impact of music therapy on relieving gastrointestinal adverse reactions in chemotherapy for patients with digestive tract cancer by metaanalysis.

METHODS

EMBASE, PubMed, OVID, WoS, CNKI, CBM, and VIP database were all used for searching relevant literature, and the efficacy after treatment was combined for analysis and evaluation.

RESULTS

This study included seven articles. The results of meta-analysis indicated that music therapy could reduce the nausea symptom score of patients after chemotherapy [mean difference (MD) = -3.15, 95% confidence interval (CI): -4.62 to -1.68, Z = -4.20, P < 0.0001]. Music therapy could reduce the vomiting symptom score of patients after chemotherapy (MD = -2.28, 95%CI: -2.46 to -2.11, Z = -25.15, P < 0.0001). Furthermore, music therapy could minimize the incidence of grade I and above nausea or vomiting in patients after chemotherapy (odds ratio = 0.38,



95%CI: 0.26-0.56, Z = -4.88, P < 0.0001). Meta-regression analysis found that publication year was not a specific factor affecting the combined results. There was no significant publication bias (P > 0.05).

CONCLUSION

Music therapy can significantly improve the scores of nausea and vomiting symptoms in patients with digestive system cancer during chemotherapy and reduce the incidence of grade I and above nausea and vomiting after chemotherapy, making it an effective psychological intervention method worthy of clinical promotion.

Key Words: Music therapy; Gastrointestinal cancer; Nausea and vomiting; Gastrointestinal reactions

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Music therapy bases on the theories and methods of psychotherapy. It helps human body to react positively under various stress conditions through psychological adjustment, interest improving, and anxiety symptoms reduction. Music therapy plays a role in improving the negative emotions of cancer patients. However, whether it could reduce nausea and vomiting caused by chemotherapy still remains unknown. In this meta-analysis, we searched the public databases for relevant articles and pooled the results of the symptom scores and incidence of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting to further discussion.

Citation: Zhong FP, Zhong J, Zhong MY. Effect of music therapy on chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in gastrointestinal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2023; 15(3): 471-479 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/471.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.471

INTRODUCTION

The basic types of gastrointestinal malignant tumors include esophageal cancer, liver cancer, and pancreatic cancer. Surgery is the first option for the treatment of the disease. However, most patients are in the late stage of the tumor at the time of treatment and lose the chance of surgical treatment. Chemotherapy has become the standard treatment, but many adverse reactions, such as bone marrow suppression, gastrointestinal reactions, neurotoxicity, etc, directly affect the digestion and absorption function of patients, resulting in malnutrition. Chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting gastrointestinal reactions are among the most common adverse reactions during chemotherapy in cancer patients[1,2]. Various clinical data confirmed that even if the latest antiemetics are used during chemotherapy, 60% of chemotherapy patients experience nausea and vomiting. Severe nausea and vomiting reduce the quality of life of cancer patients and affect the progress of chemotherapy courses [3]. Therefore, timely and effective prevention and relief of nausea and vomiting caused by chemotherapy are of great significance to improving the quality of life of cancer patients and ensuring the smooth progress of chemotherapy. Music therapy can reduce anxiety symptoms, avoid the response to the human body under various stress conditions through psychological adjustment, and has a positive effect on improving the adverse reactions of chemotherapy [4,5]. Music therapy has been used in treating primary cancers such as lung cancer and breast cancer and plays a huge role in relieving anxiety before surgery and reducing the dosage of anesthetics[6,7]. However, the research on nausea and vomiting caused by chemotherapy for gastrointestinal cancer remains controversial. Thus, we implemented this meta-analysis study as it is an effective method to resolve the above controversy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Databases and keywords

The relevant articles on this topic were obtained in October 2022 by searching EMBASE, PubMed, OVID, WoS, CNKI, CBM, and VIP database and selecting the publication deadline of October 2022. The keywords used in the search strategy were "music therapy", or "music intervention", or "audio program", or "chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting", or "CINV".

The following literature was included based on the PICOS principle: (1) Study types: Randomised controlled trials were preferred, but a retrospective cohort study was also performed; (2) Study subjects: Gastrointestinal cancer was the primary disease of all study subjects, which could be any of esophageal cancer, colorectal cancer, and pancreatic cancer, where patients were treated with chemotherapy; (3) Intervention group: Music therapy, which was adopted could be performed before chemotherapy, or throughout the chemotherapy process, and the selected repertoire, duration, and treatment methods were different according to different studies, and other relaxation methods could be superimposed, such as massage, aroma therapy, and other relaxation methods; (4) Control group: Routine intervention was adopted; (5) Outcome indicators: The scores of nausea and vomiting symptoms assessed using the scale as well as the number and proportion of nausea and vomiting grade I and above after chemotherapy[8].

Literature exclusion criteria

Patients with non-primary gastrointestinal cancer, such as lung cancer, breast cancer, uterine cancer, etc, non-chemotherapy patients; literatures in which music therapy is not used in the intervention measures, or music therapy is only used as an adjuvant will be excluded; study types of investigation, case analysis, and review were excluded.

Literature quality evaluation and bias risk assessment

The risk of bias in the literature was evaluated using the Cochrane risk of bias V2.0[9] provided by Cochrane Collaboration, which included six levels, with each level assigned "low", "some concern of risk" and "high" for risk evaluation.

Data extraction

Two authors independently extracted data, which included title, author name, publication year, number of participants, gender, grouping, and outcome indicators. Gastrointestinal reactions were graded in some studies as follows: (1) Grade 0: No nausea or vomiting; (2) Grade I: Mild nausea and vomiting, no effect on eating, vomiting frequency not more than once a day; (3) Grade II: Significant nausea and vomiting, affecting eating, vomiting frequency 2-5 times a day; (4) Grade III: Severe nausea and vomiting, persistent attacks, unable to eat, vomiting frequency > 5 times a day; and (5) Grade IV: Nausea and vomiting could not be controlled. The number of cases of nausea and vomiting in grade I and above shall predominate in the statistical results.

Synthetic analysis

Odds ratio (OR) was used for dichotomous variables, and SMD was used for continuous variables as the analysis statistic. Descriptive statistics were compared using forest plots. For heterogeneity, the Q test was used. For P < 0.05, heterogeneity among studies was considered. The l^2 test was used for quantitative analysis of inconsistency among different studies. If I² < 50%, a fixed effect model was used, else the random effect model was used. Subgroup analysis method is adopted to investigate the heterogeneity, and if there is no heterogeneity, a descriptive method is used to investigate the heterogeneity between articles. Investigating factors meaningful for effect size by using meta-regression. The articles were eliminated one by one, and the combined effect size of the remaining articles was calculated to determine the greatest impact on the results. Egger's test was used to detect the publication bias, and a funnel plot was used for the presentation.

RESULTS

Literature retrieval results

Finally, seven articles were screened by search. Figure 1 depicts the retrieval results, whereas Table 1 presents the baseline information of these articles.

Quality evaluation

The article was grouped by order of admission and did not strictly follow the random sequence process [15], and there may be a large bias. All other articles described the generation method of random sequence. The allocation concealment method and blinding method were not described in those articles [11-14,16], and there was a potential bias of "deviation from established intervention". Except for one article^[10], no dropout cases were recorded as there may be data assessment bias shown in Figure 2.

Meta-analysis results

Effect of music therapy on reducing nausea symptom scores: Among the reports, nausea symptom score after the intervention was reported in two articles[10,16], with statistical heterogeneity between them ($I^2 = 98\%$, P < 0.01). Meta-analysis indicated that music therapy could reduce nausea symptom scores after chemotherapy [mean difference (MD) = -3.15, 95% confidence interval (CI): -4.62 to -1.68, Z



Table 1 Baseline information of literature

Ref.	Number of cases	Number (E/C)	Age (yr)	Primary cancer type	Intervention measures	Control intervention	Outcome indicators
Dadkhah <i>et</i> al[<mark>10]</mark> , 2019	60	30/30	56 ± 8.84	Gastrointestinal neoplasm	Relaxing music 45 min before chemotherapy	Conventional treatment	Scale score
Xue <i>et al</i> [<mark>11</mark>], 2017	94	47/47	54.1 ± 10.7	Gastric cancer	Music therapy was performed 2 h before each chemotherapy, twice a day, 30 min/time, with muscle relaxation training according to the patient's characteristics	Conventional treatment	Number of nausea and vomiting
Jiao <i>et al</i> [<mark>12], 2</mark> 018	156	78/78	54.8 ± 17.20	Gastrointestinal neoplasm	Light music and instrumental music are the main ones, supplemented by patient's self-selection	Conventional treatment	Number of nausea and vomiting
Wang and Liu[<mark>13</mark>], 2016	220	110/110	58.02 ± 6.18	Colorectal cancer	Choose natural light music during chemotherapy and combine it with aromatherapy	Conventional treatment	Number of nausea and vomiting
Chen[<mark>14</mark>], 2013	68	35/33	55.9	Esophageal cancer	Light and soft music played continuously for four weeks before chemotherapy	Conventional treatment	Number of nausea and vomiting
Huang[<mark>15</mark>], 2012	68	34/34	40-78	Colorectal cancer	Gentle music played before chemotherapy	Conventional treatment	Number of nausea and vomiting
Li <mark>[16]</mark> , 2022	60	30/30	65.51 ± 1.99	Gastric cancer	Group music therapy mode with aerobic exercise	Conventional treatment	Scale score

E/C: Experiment/control.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.471 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Literature selection flow chart. RCT: Randomized control trial.

= -4.20, *P* < 0.0001] by random effect model, as shown in Figure 3A.

Effect of music therapy on reducing vomiting symptom scores: Among the reports, vomiting symptom score after the intervention was found in two articles [10,16], without statistical heterogeneity ($l^2 = 15\%$, P = 0.28). Meta-analysis indicated that music therapy could reduce vomiting symptom scores after chemotherapy in patients (MD = -2.28, 95% CI: -2.46 to -2.11, Z = -25.15, P < 0.0001) by fixed effect mode,





Figure 2 Bias analysis based on ROB 2.0.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.471 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Effect of music therapy on nausea symptom score, vomiting symptom scores, and the number of cases of nausea and vomiting after chemotherapy. A: Nausea symptom score; B: Vomiting symptom scores; C: The number of cases of nausea and vomiting. CI: Confidence interval.

as shown in Figure 3B.

Effect of music therapy on reducing the incidence of nausea and vomiting (grade I and above): Five articles reported the incidence rate of grade I nausea or vomiting or above after intervention, without statistical heterogeneity between articles (P = 0%, P = 0.46)[11-15]. Meta-analysis indicated that music therapy could reduce the incidence rate of grade I nausea or vomiting or above after chemotherapy (OR = 0.38, 95% CI: 0.26-0.56, Z = -4.88, P < 0.0001) by fixed effect mode, as shown in Figure 3C.

Investigation of heterogeneity: Subgroup analysis could not be performed due to the small number of articles. The two included articles showed heterogeneity in the statistics of nausea symptom scores, which could be attributed to the different scales adopted by the two articles for nausea and vomiting symptoms.

Meta-regression analysis: In analyzing the incidence of nausea and vomiting indicators, we used the "publication year of the literature" to regress pooled effect size. We found that this factor had no statistically significant effect on the results (P = 0.68), implying that the results of this indicator were not related to the publication year and month of the literature, as shown in Figure 4.





Figure 4 Meta-regression analysis of incidence indicators for nausea and vomiting: Publication year factor (P = 0.68).

Sensitivity analyses: No significant deviations were found after removing each study during the analysis of incidence indicators of nausea and vomiting, indicating that the final pool results were stable.

Publication bias analysis: Egger' *t* test was used to detect the publication bias during the analysis of nausea and vomiting incidence indicators, t = -1.20, P = 0.30. There was no asymmetry in the funnel plot, as shown in Figure 5.

DISCUSSION

Music therapy is not yet a well-defined science that uses music to promote physical and mental health based on its practical functions[17,18]. Chemotherapy is one of the important means to treat malignant tumors. Chemotherapy kills tumor cells while also bringing many adverse physical and psychological reactions to patients, such as bone marrow suppression, nausea, vomiting, anxiety, and depression, reducing the quality of life of patients[19]. Psychosocial intervention helps to alleviate the adverse reactions of chemotherapy and improve the quality of life of patients. Music therapy is a psychological intervention method that can improve the physical and mental health of cancer patients without causing adverse reactions[20-22].

Seven articles were included in this study to explore the effect of music therapy on adverse reactions during chemotherapy for primary cancer of the digestive system. The results indicated that music therapy could significantly improve nausea and vomiting symptom scores during chemotherapy of patients with digestive system cancer and reduce the incidence of nausea and vomiting after chemotherapy (grade I and above), which was a good psychological intervention method.

The frequency, rhythm, and regular acoustic vibration of music are physical energies that can produce harmonious resonance phenomena in human tissue cells, resulting in excitation or inhibition of the corresponding organs. Simultaneously, music can improve the excitability of God meridian cells and secrete some beneficial and healthy hormones, enzymes, acetylcholine, and other substances via neurohumoral regulation, all of which contribute to improved blood circulation and strengthening metabolism. Furthermore, music stimulation can inhibit adjacent pain centers while stimulating the auditory center and reducing pain because the auditory center on the cerebral cortex is adjacent to the pain center. Music can also stimulate the body to release endorphins, increase the content of endorphins in the blood, and achieve the effect of relaxing the body and mind and relieving pain[23,24]. Subcortical centers like the hypothalamus control emotions such as joy, anger, mourning, and music, as a special language, can act directly on subcortical centers such as the hypothalamus through the auditory system plays a role in regulating emotions [25,26]. Music stimulation of the limbic system of the brain can also cause people to remember or consider related events, resonate in music therapy, and release adverse emotions and catharsis. Therefore, the psychological effects of music therapy on people mainly achieve a good psychological state of patients by regulating emotions^[27]. Relaxation training with light music can counteract the negative effects of psychological and physical stress, restore balance and coordination of people's physical and psychological spirits, which help individuals deal with life challenges more healthily, make involuntary reactions of the human body, such as heartbeat, respiration, and blood pressure, and epinephrine secretion in spontaneous control, and reduce the severity of adverse reactions caused by chemotherapy[28].

Zaishideng® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Funnel plot for nausea and vomiting incidence indicators.

The music can be chosen by the healer or by the patient himself. Some studies suggest that music therapy should be patient-centered, and music selection should be individualized to meet everyone's preference for music. The included article adopted the method used in this study where the investigators selected music primarily, whereas the patients self-selected music as a supplement and achieved good results[11]. Music therapy can also be combined with other intervention methods, such as progressive music and muscle relaxation training[11]. Aromatherapy is applied in music therapy in another study[13], and the group music therapy model is also adopted[16], combined with moderate aerobic exercise.

Although the results of the combined analysis indicated that music therapy had a significant effect on adverse reactions to chemotherapy, it must be recognized that music therapy is only a psychological intervention rather than a treatment for adverse reactions such as nausea and vomiting and patients receiving chemotherapy for moderately and highly emetogenic cancer, drugs such as 5-HT3 receptor antagonists should be given before chemotherapy to prevent serious gastrointestinal reactions.

Furthermore, this study has limitations due to insufficient evidence. First, too few included studies were related to the current low number of reports on this topic. Second, there were inconsistencies in the reported indicators. Some articles used the incidence of gastrointestinal reactions as an indicator, others used the symptom score as an indicator, and some others used the quality of life as an evaluation indicator. Although the articles, Dadkhah *et al*[10] and Li[16] reported the symptom scores of nausea and vomiting in patients after the intervention, the scoring tables adopted were different, which made the results heterogeneous. Only one of the seven included articles had a low risk of bias, indicating that the rest are of poor quality and have a high risk of bias. Therefore, further research on this topic is required. Music therapy could significantly improve nausea and vomiting symptom scores in patients with digestive system cancer during chemotherapy and reduce the incidence of grade I and nausea and vomiting after chemotherapy, making it an effective psychological intervention method.

CONCLUSION

This meta-analysis included a total of 726 patients in 7 articles. The result is that music therapy can significantly improve the score of nausea and vomiting symptoms in patients with digestive system cancer during chemotherapy, reduce the incidence of nausea and vomiting at grade I and above after chemotherapy, and is a good psychological intervention method. However, due to the small number of articles included in this study, the evidence is not good enough. This subject still needs to be further explored by larger number of randomized controlled studies.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Music therapy can reduce anxiety symptoms, avoid the response to the human body under various stress conditions through psychological adjustment, and has a positive effect on improving the adverse reactions of chemotherapy. Music therapy has been used in treating primary cancers such as lung cancer and breast cancer and plays a huge role in relieving anxiety before surgery and reducing the dosage of anesthetics.

Research motivation

Music therapy plays a role in improving the negative emotions of cancer patients. However, whether it could reduce nausea and vomiting caused by chemotherapy still remains to be explored.

Research objectives

To explore whether music therapy has a positive impact on the improvement of nausea and vomiting symptoms in patients with gastrointestinal cancer during chemotherapy.

Research methods

A few relevant articles of this subject have been searched from the public databases. The data of the outcome indicators have been extracted from the articles. A meta-analysis has been performed for the pooling results.

Research results

Music therapy could reduce the nausea and vomiting symptom score of patients after chemotherapy, also it could reduce the incidence of grade I and above nausea or vomiting in patients after chemotherapy.

Research conclusions

Music therapy is a good adjuvant therapy for improving the adverse reactions of chemotherapy.

Research perspectives

Indicators for chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting have been determined and a meta-analysis has been performed for the pooling results of the indicators. The evidence was withdrawn from the process.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhong FP and Zhong J contributed equally to this work; Zhong MY designed the study; Zhong FP contributed to the analysis of the manuscript; Zhong J involved in the data and writing of this article; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: I read the PRISMA 2009 list, and the manuscript was prepared and revised based on the PRISMA 2009 list.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Fang-Ping Zhong 0000-0003-0099-5020; Jun Zhong 0000-0002-9873-0460; Ming-Yan Zhong 0000-0002-4785-851X.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- 1 Gupta K, Walton R, Kataria SP. Chemotherapy-Induced Nausea and Vomiting: Pathogenesis, Recommendations, and New Trends. Cancer Treat Res Commun 2021; 26: 100278 [PMID: 33360668 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctarc.2020.100278]
- 2 Toniolo J, Delaide V, Beloni P. Effectiveness of Inhaled Aromatherapy on Chemotherapy-Induced Nausea and Vomiting: A Systematic Review. J Altern Complement Med 2021; 27: 1058-1069 [PMID: 34283916 DOI: 10.1089/acm.2021.0067]
- 3 Patel P, Robinson PD, Devine KA, Positano K, Cohen M, Gibson P, Holdsworth M, Phillips R, Spinelli D, Thackray J, van de Wetering M, Woods D, Cabral S, Sung L, Dupuis LL. Prevention and treatment of anticipatory chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in pediatric cancer patients and hematopoietic stem cell recipients: Clinical practice guideline update. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021; 68: e28947 [PMID: 33686754 DOI: 10.1002/pbc.28947]



- 4 Zorba P, Ozdemir L. The Preliminary Effects of Massage and Inhalation Aromatherapy on Chemotherapy-Induced Acute Nausea and Vomiting: A Quasi-Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial. Cancer Nurs 2018; 41: 359-366 [PMID: 28426542 DOI: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000496]
- 5 Valero-Cantero I, Martínez-Valero FJ, Espinar-Toledo M, Casals C, Barón-López FJ, Vázquez-Sánchez MÁ. Complementary music therapy for cancer patients in at-home palliative care and their caregivers: protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMC Palliat Care 2020; 19: 61 [PMID: 32359361 DOI: 10.1186/s12904-020-00570-9]
- 6 Li Y, Xing X, Shi X, Yan P, Chen Y, Li M, Zhang W, Li X, Yang K. The effectiveness of music therapy for patients with cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adv Nurs 2020; 76: 1111-1123 [PMID: 32017183 DOI: 10.1111/jan.14313]
- 7 Chirico A, Maiorano P, Indovina P, Milanese C, Giordano GG, Alivernini F, Iodice G, Gallo L, De Pietro G, Lucidi F, Botti G, De Laurentiis M, Giordano A. Virtual reality and music therapy as distraction interventions to alleviate anxiety and improve mood states in breast cancer patients during chemotherapy. J Cell Physiol 2020; 235: 5353-5362 [PMID: 31957873 DOI: 10.1002/jcp.294221
- Naito Y, Kai Y, Ishikawa T, Fujita T, Uehara K, Doihara H, Tokunaga S, Shimokawa M, Ito Y, Saeki T. Chemotherapyinduced nausea and vomiting in patients with breast cancer: a prospective cohort study. Breast Cancer 2020; 27: 122-128 [PMID: 31407150 DOI: 10.1007/s12282-019-01001-1]
- Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, Cates CJ, Cheng HY, Corbett MS, Eldridge SM, Emberson JR, Hernán MA, Hopewell S, Hróbjartsson A, Junqueira DR, Jüni P, Kirkham JJ, Lasserson T, Li T, McAleenan A, Reeves BC, Shepperd S, Shrier I, Stewart LA, Tilling K, White IR, Whiting PF, Higgins JPT. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019; 366: 14898 [PMID: 31462531 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.14898]
- Dadkhah B, Anisi E, Mozaffari N, Amani F, Pourghasemian M. Effect of Music Therapy with Periorbital Massage on Chemotherapy-Induced Nausea and Vomiting In Gastrointestinal Cancer: A Randomized Controlled Trail. J Caring Sci 2019; 8: 165-171 [PMID: 31598509 DOI: 10.15171/jcs.2019.024]
- 11 Xue J, Zhang LY, Yang Q. [Study on music therapy to alleviate nausea and vomiting in cancer patients after chemotherapy and improve their quality of life]. J Nursing 2017; 24: 70-72 [DOI: 10.16460/j.issn1008-9969.2017.01.070]
- 12 Jiao YJ. [Study on the effect of music therapy on patients with gastrointestinal malignant tumor undergoing chemotherapy]. China Health Standards Manage 2018; 9: 180-182
- 13 Wang L, Liu YY. [Analysis of the efficacy of music combined with aromatherapy in colorectal cancer patients undergoing postoperative chemotherapy]. Chin J Modern Med 2016; 26: 4
- Chen BH. [Evaluation of the effect of music therapy on relieving chemotherapy vomiting of esophageal cancer]. China 14 Health Nutr (Mid term) 2013; 423-424
- 15 Huang YT. [Observation on the effect of music therapy on relieving nausea and vomiting during chemotherapy of colon cancer]. Massage Rehabilitation Med (Mid term) 2012; 3: 65-66
- Li J. [Observation on the effect of aerobic exercise combined with music therapy on patients with chemotherapy-induced 16 sleep disorder of gastric cancer]. Chin Pract Med 2022; 17: 180-182 [DOI: 10.14163/j.cnki.11-5547/r.2022.16.055]
- Palmer JB, Lane D, Mayo D, Schluchter M, Leeming R. Effects of Music Therapy on Anesthesia Requirements and 17 Anxiety in Women Undergoing Ambulatory Breast Surgery for Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 3162-3168 [PMID: 26282640 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.6049]
- 18 Deng C, Xie Y, Liu Y, Li Y, Xiao Y. Aromatherapy Plus Music Therapy Improve Pain Intensity and Anxiety Scores in Patients With Breast Cancer During Perioperative Periods: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Breast Cancer 2022; 22: 115-120 [PMID: 34134947 DOI: 10.1016/j.clbc.2021.05.006]
- Patel P, Robinson PD, Thackray J, Flank J, Holdsworth MT, Gibson P, Orsey A, Portwine C, Freedman J, Madden JR, 19 Phillips R, Sung L, Dupuis LL. Guideline for the prevention of acute chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in pediatric cancer patients: A focused update. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017; 64 [PMID: 28453189 DOI: 10.1002/pbc.26542]
- 20 Gramaglia C, Gambaro E, Vecchi C, Licandro D, Raina G, Pisani C, Burgio V, Farruggio S, Rolla R, Deantonio L, Grossini E, Krengli M, Zeppegno P. Outcomes of music therapy interventions in cancer patients-A review of the literature. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2019; 138: 241-254 [PMID: 31121392 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019.04.004]
- Wong KC, Tan BWZ, Tong JWK, Chan MY. The Role of Music Therapy for Children Undergoing Cancer Treatment in 21 Singapore. Healthcare (Basel) 2021; 9 [PMID: 34946487 DOI: 10.3390/healthcare9121761]
- Bradt J, Dileo C, Magill L, Teague A. Music interventions for improving psychological and physical outcomes in cancer 22 patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; CD006911 [PMID: 27524661 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006911.pub3]
- 23 Tola YO, Chow KM, Liang W. Effects of non-pharmacological interventions on preoperative anxiety and postoperative pain in patients undergoing breast cancer surgery: A systematic review. J Clin Nurs 2021; 30: 3369-3384 [PMID: 33942405 DOI: 10.1111/jocn.158271
- 24 Stanczyk MM. Music therapy in supportive cancer care. Rep Pract Oncol Radiother 2011; 16: 170-172 [PMID: 24376975 DOI: 10.1016/j.rpor.2011.04.005]
- 25 Liu H, Gao X, Hou Y. Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction combined with music therapy on pain, anxiety, and sleep quality in patients with osteosarcoma. Braz J Psychiatry 2019; 41: 540-545 [PMID: 31116262 DOI: 10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0346
- 26 Rodríguez-Rodríguez RC, Noreña-Peña A, Chafer-Bixquert T, Lorenzo Vásquez A, González de Dios J, Solano Ruiz C. The relevance of music therapy in paediatric and adolescent cancer patients: a scoping review. Glob Health Action 2022; 15: 2116774 [PMID: 36174131 DOI: 10.1080/16549716.2022.2116774]
- Rennie C, Irvine DS, Huang E, Huang J. Music Therapy as a Form of Nonpharmacologic Pain Modulation in Patients with 27 Cancer: A Systematic Review of the Current Literature. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 36139576 DOI: 10.3390/cancers14184416]
- 28 Tang H, Chen L, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Yang N. The efficacy of music therapy to relieve pain, anxiety, and promote sleep quality, in patients with small cell lung cancer receiving platinum-based chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer 2021; 29: 7299-7306 [PMID: 34041615 DOI: 10.1007/s00520-021-06152-6]



S $W \hat{U}$

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 480-487

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.480

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

CASE REPORT

Immunotherapy in combination with chemotherapy for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome with advanced cervical cancer: A case report

Xiang-Cheng Hu, Chen-Xiao Gan, Hui-Min Zheng, Xue-Ping Wu, Wen-Sheng Pan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Oon C, Malaysia; Song O. China

Received: November 22, 2022 Peer-review started: November 22, 2022 First decision: January 11, 2023 Revised: January 31, 2023 Accepted: March 3, 2023 Article in press: March 3, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



Xiang-Cheng Hu, Hui-Min Zheng, Department of Gastroenterology, Bengbu Medical College, Bengbu 233000, Anhui Province, China

Chen-Xiao Gan, Xue-Ping Wu, Wen-Sheng Pan, Department of Gastroenterology, Zhejiang Provincial People's hospital, Hangzhou 310014, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Wen-Sheng Pan, MD, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Zhejiang Provincial People's Hospital, No. 158 Shangtang Road, Gongshu District, Hangzhou 310014, Zhejiang Province, China. wspan223@163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is a rare autosomal dominant disorder, and female patients may develop gynecologic tumours. The prognosis for such patients is poor and the specific pathogenesis remains uncertain. Therefore, there are currently no uniform treatment options.

CASE SUMMARY

Herein, we introduce the case of a 45-year-old female who was diagnosed with PJS for 45 years and cervical cancer for 3 years. Postoperative pathological examination showed metastases in the right external iliac lymph nodes. The patient was initially treated with a combination of doxorubicin and carboplatin chemotherapy and pelvic magnetic resonance showed that the metastases had grown. Subsequently, we performed whole exome sequencing in this patient and identified the relevant causative gene. In addition to the chemotherapy regimen, sindilizumab was administered and the patient was followed up. After 4 cycles of treatment, the metastases were substantially reduced and were not enlarged after six months of follow-up. This case report suggests that patients with PJS combined with cervical cancer may have a sustained response to immunecombination chemotherapy regimens.

CONCLUSION

Clinicians should be aware of the importance of immunotherapy in patients with PJS combined with advanced cervical cancer.

Key Words: Peutz-Jeghers syndrome; Cervical cancer; Programmed cell death protein 1; Chemotherapy; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is a rare genetic disease with cancerous potential. In this case, the patient was diagnosed with PJS combined with progressive cervical cancer and she initially received doxorubicin and carboplatin; however, the right parietal iliac vessel metastases did not shrink. This case suggests that the use of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) inhibitors was helpful in this patient and that PD-1 inhibitors combined with chemotherapy may be a good choice for treating this disease.

Citation: Hu XC, Gan CX, Zheng HM, Wu XP, Pan WS. Immunotherapy in combination with chemotherapy for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome with advanced cervical cancer: A case report. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 480-487

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/480.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.480

INTRODUCTION

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is a rare autosomal dominant-inherited disorder. The incidence of this syndrome ranges from 1 in 25000 to 1 in 28000 people per year[1]. Current research indicates that this disease is caused by a mutation of the STK11 gene on chromosome 19p13.3(1). Patients with PJS are characterized by dark spots on the skin mucosa and hamartomatous polyps in the digestive tract^[2]. At the same time, studies have indicated a higher incidence of malignancy in patients with PJS than in the general population. The cumulative incidence of gastrointestinal cancers is 55%, with colorectal cancer at 39%, pancreatic cancer at 36%-40%, and small bowel cancer at 13% [3,4]. The risk of cancers of the nongastrointestinal tract is also increased, with a cumulative incidence of 32%-54% for breast cancer, 21% for ovarian cancer, and 7% for lung cancer at age 60[5-8]. Cisplatin has been the standard chemotherapy for cervical cancer with distant metastases, and recent evidence supports the use of platinum-based dual therapy rather than cisplatin alone[9-11]. However, in patients with PJS combined with uterine malignancy, the pathogenesis may be more complex and unclear, and there is no standard treatment protocol. We report a patient with PJS combined with progressive cervical cancer. A regimen using a programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) inhibitor in combination with chemotherapy may be a good option for treating this disease.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A 45-year-old Chinese female was admitted to the hospital with mucous membrane black spots on the lips, intermittent abdominal pain for more than forty years and recurrent cervical cancer for three years.

History of present illness

Forty years prior, the patient visited several hospitals for lip pigmentation and abdominal pain and was finally diagnosed with PJS by gastroscopy (Figure 1A and B). The patient later underwent three "partial small bowel resections" and two "intestinal polypectomies" for intestinal obstruction. Three years ago, the patient was diagnosed with cervical cancer and underwent "extensive hysterectomy and bilateral adnexal resection". Postoperative pathology suggested an endogenous cervical (size 5.4 cm × 3.5 cm) highly differentiated adenoma with metastasis to the right external iliac vessels (Figure 1C). The patient was treated with six cycles of chemotherapy with a carboplatin-doxorubicin (CD) (doxorubicin 30 mg/m^2 and carboplatin area under the curve = 5) regimen before admission.

History of past illness

The patient reported no remarkable history of past illness.

Personal and family history

The patient's mother, brother, sister and daughter all had PJS. Her mother died of colon cancer at the age of forty. Genetic mapping was recorded (Figure 2).

Physical examination

A surgical scar of approximately 5 cm was visible below the umbilicus. Other physical examinations showed no important abnormalities.





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.480 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Transoral single-balloon enterosocpy results and cervical cancer histopathological results. A: The images show a polypoid tissue measuring 2 cm × 3 cm was identified 1.5 m below the flexural ligament and was biopsied; B: The pathology of the polyp showed a dendritic extension of the mucosal muscle layer into the central part of the polyp, with the glands forming a villi-like structure. The surface of the polyp was covered with normal epithelium and the interstitium showed no obvious inflammatory lesions; C: Pathological findings of cervical cancer revealed a highly differentiated adenocarcinoma of the cervix, partly with microscopic adenocarcinomatous changes, infiltrating into the deep mesenchymal layer near the outer membrane, with visible vascular tumour plugs and metastases or infiltrations in the right external iliac lymph nodes.



Figure 2 Pedigree of the family with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Black symbols denote individuals with mucocutaneous pigmentations. Circles and squares indicate females and males, respectively, while the arrow indicates the reported patient and one with the triangle is nonfamily members.

Laboratory examinations

The leukocytes, bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, lactate dehydrogenase, infectious disease screening and serum tumour markers were within normal limits, but the carbohydrate antigen-199 (CA199) level was elevated (71.2).

Imaging examinations

After admission, 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (PET)/computed tomography (CT) indicated multiple small metastases next to the right iliac vessels [the largest was approximately 0.5 cm × 0.5 cm; the regular scan maximum standardized uptake value (SUVmax) = 1.4; delayed scan SUVmax = 3.2].

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

Based on the patient's transoral single-balloon enteroscopy findings and the patient's surgical report, we diagnosed her with PJS combined with advanced cervical cancer.

TREATMENT

The patient was hospitalized to complete PET-CT and transoral single-balloon enteroscopy and did not continue chemotherapy due to financial reasons. In September 2021, pelvic magnetic resonance (MR) suggested a substantially larger right iliac metastasis than before, with CA199 = 146.8 U/mL. The patient then underwent a four-cycle CD chemotherapy protocol. In January 2022, pelvic MR suggested




DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.480 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Whole exome-sequencing findings of blood. JAK2, CDKN1A, MAPKAP1, and LAMA5 genes are slightly associated with Peutz–Jeghers syndrome and cervical cancer.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.480 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Pelvic magnetic resonance imaging scans before and after the use of sindilizumab and timeline of treatment. Before the use of sindilizumab. A: The red arrows in the positron emission tomography-computed tomography images revealed multiple small nodular foci in the right pelvic wall and anterior sacral space with mildly increased fluorodeoxyglucose metabolism, which was considered to be due to tumor metastasis; B: The red arrow revealed an abnormal signal of about 22 mm × 24 mm mass is shown next to the right iliac vessels; C: After using 4 cycles of doxorubicin and carboplatin, the red arrow revealed the abnormal signal foci beside the right iliac vessels were slightly larger than before, with a size of 25 mm × 38 mm, which was considered to be caused by tumor recurrence. After the use of sindilizumab in combination with doxorubicin and cisplatin; D: The red arrow revealed the abnormal signal foci next to the right iliac vessels were significantly smaller than before, with a size of 17 mm × 12 mm; E: The red arrow revealed a small mass of abnormal signal foci, 17 mm × 12 mm in size, was observed next to the right iliac vessels, similar to the previous one. The timeline showed the whole process of diagnosis and treatment of this patient.

that the metastases continued to increase in size and CA199 was 160.8 U/mL. The patient's platelet count was $42 \times 10^{\circ}$ /L, suggesting a risk of bleeding, so the patient was not directly punctured to test the expression of PD-L1 on the surface of the tumour cells. In addition, considering that the patient had both PJS and cervical cancer, whole exome sequencing (WES) was performed on the patient's blood and showed a mild correlation between Janus kinase-2 (JAK2) and the development of the disease (Figure 3). The patient was then treated for the first time with a PD-1 inhibitor (sindilizumab 200 mg, 21 d per cycle) in combination with the CD chemotherapy regimen[12]. In April 2022, pelvic MR suggested that the lesion had decreased greatly and CA199 was 29.8 U/mL, so the treatment was continued with the above regimen. In September 2022, pelvic MR showed no progression of metastases and CA199 was 27.1 U/mL. The whole treatment process was documented (Figure 4), and the overall health parameters during treatments were recorded (Table 1).

Raisbidene® WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Overall health parameters during treatments records																	
Time	April, 2020		September, 2021	January, 2021	November, 2021	December, 2021	January, 2022	February, 2022	March, 2022	April, 2022	May, 2022	June, 2022	July, 2022	August, 2022	September, 2022		
Treatment	Admission Suspend 4 cycles of doxorubicin and carboplatin							9 cycles of sindilizumb in combination with doxorubicin and carboplatin									
Temp/°C	37.1	NA	36.2	37	36.5	36.8	36.5	36.3	37.1	36.8	NA	36.8	36.9	37.2	36.9		
HR/min	86	NA	76	84	75	79	82	78	82	81	NA	79	75	79	77		
RR/min	19	NA	19	18	19	19	19	18	19	17	NA	18	19	18	19		
BP/kPa	16.1/7.5	NA	15.4/8.5	18.7/9.7	18.4/11.1	16.9/11.9	16.5/9.3	16.5/9.7	16.0/9.5	14.0/8.4	NA	12.0/8.0	12.5/8.7	13.2/9.6	13.1/8.0		
Weight/kg	56	NA	49	51	51.5	52	53.8	52	51.3	50.9	NA	50.5	51	52.3	53		
WBC/10 ⁹ /L	5.11	NA	5.4	5.91	5.03	3.6	3.34	2.91	3.23	4.02	NA	4.42	4.51	4.43	4.52		
Hb/g/L	133	NA	124	114	105	96	102	102	106	109	NA	111	112	112	113		
Alb/g/L	39.9	NA	38.5	42	40.3	36.9	45.6	NA	44.2	43.4	NA	43.1	40.7	37.6	35.3		
ALT/U/L	34	NA	20	17	17	16	20	21	22	23	NA	24	36	47	54		
AST/U/L	29	NA	25	24	17	8.3	26	NA	27	28	NA	28	37	43	47		
CEA/µg/L	1	NA	0.8	1.2	1.1	0.9	1	0.8	0.9	0.8	NA	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.8		
CA125/U/mL	11.1	NA	14.4	19.3	14.6	8.9	10.2	10.3	9.7	9.1	NA	9	9.3	9.7	10.7		
CA199/U/mL	71.2	NA	146.8	151.5	153.6	154.3	160.8	37.8	32.6	29.8	NA	22.3	24.3	25.6	27.1		
CA153/U/mL	4.9	NA	5.6	11.1	9.4	7.3	8.4	9	6.1	5.2	NA	4.6	4.6	4.5	4.5		
CA724/U/mL	2.3	NA	2.7	5.7	8.5	14.3	1.5	5.6	3.4	3.8	NA	2.4	2.3	2.2	2.1		

HR: Heart rate; RR: Respiratory rate; BP: Blood pressure; WBC: White blood cell; Hb: Haemoglobin; Alb: Albumin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; CEA: Carcinoma embryonic; CA: Carbohydrate antigen; NA: Not available.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

Studies have found that sindilizumab-treated patients often suffer from adverse effects such as fever (38%), anaemia (74.1%) and elevated aspartate aminotransferase (41%) and alanine aminotransferase (40.6%)[13,14]. At the same time, carcinoma embryonic antigen (CEA), CA199 and cancer antigen-125 (CA125) are useful markers for detecting cervical cancer and monitoring the clinical course. In particular, CA199 and CA125 have been shown to be particularly useful in patients with adenocarcinoma[15]. In our case, after two months of follow-up, the patient's temperature, heart rate, respiratory rate, blood pressure, white blood cell, haemoglobin concentration, liver function and tumour markers (including CA199, CA125 and CEA) were within the normal ranges (Table 2).

Table 2 Laboratory examinations of the patient after two months of follow-up															
Time	Temp/°C	HR/min	RR/min	BP/kPa	Weight/kg	WBC/109/L	Hb/g/L	Alb/g/L	ALT/U/L	AST/U/L	CEA/µg/L	CA125/U/mL	CA199/U/mL	CA153/U/mL	CA724/U/mL
January, 2022	36.5	92	17	14.2/9.6	44.7	5.99	118	43.1	19	17	2.8	32	23	13.6	18.3
November, 2022	37	87	19	14.7/10.4	45.2	6.45	115	35.8	18	23	2.3	31.7	24.6	15.6	19.3

HR: Heart rate; RR: Respiratory rate; BP: Blood pressure; WBC: White blood cell; Hb: Haemoglobin; Alb: Albumin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; CEA: Carcinoma embryonic; CA: Carbohydrate antigen.

DISCUSSION

We introduced a case of PJS combined with advanced cervical cancer. After the use of a PD-1 inhibitor combined with a CD chemotherapy regimen, the patient's right iliac metastases were markedly reduced in volume to a stable state, and a more satisfactory result was achieved.

PIS is a rare autosomal dominant disorder characterized by gastrointestinal malformations and skin pigmentation. Mutations in the STK11 gene can be detected in 50% to 80% of patients. Other related causative genes include the possible gene in the 19q13.4 region, the Brg1 gene and the IFTTM1 gene[16]. Patients with PJS are more prone to various malignancies, among which gastrointestinal and reproductive tract and endocrine tumours are the most common. Cervical adenocarcinoma is a common malignancy among patients with PJS (46.8%)[17]. Patients with PJS combined with cervical cancer often present with symptoms such as menstrual irregularities, endocrine disorders and abnormal vaginal bleeding, but there is no uniform treatment protocol. In 2008, Li et al [18] first reported a case of PJS complicated by cervical adenocarcinoma and small bowel malignancy in which the patient underwent total hysterectomy after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (paclitaxel 120 mg/dL and carboplatin 350 mg/dL 1 d per week for 6 wk, and the tumour markers returned to normal after three months. However, the patient was not followed up. In 2008, Kilic-Okman et al[19] reported a case of PJS combined with stage IIIB cervical cancer in which the patient received six cycles of combination chemotherapy (5fluorouracil, adriamycin, and cyclophosphamide) and radiotherapy. That patient died of cervical adenocarcinoma progression within one month after the completion of radiotherapy. In 2019, Kim et al [20] reported a case of PJS combined with gastric-type mucinous cervical adenocarcinoma. As the mass was confined to the cervix and no peripheral lymph node metastasis was present in this patient, the patient achieved recovery after radical cervical surgery followed by adjuvant radiotherapy. In 2021, Vu Dinh et al[21] reported a case of PJS combined with stage IIIC gastric cervical mucinous adenocarcinoma. After adjuvant radiotherapy, the disease was stable with no recurrence at one year of follow-up.

PD-1 (also known as CD279) is a coreceptor expressed on the surface of antigen-stimulated T cells. PD-1 and its ligand (PD-L1) belong to the immune checkpoint pathway. Cervical cancer patients can exhibit PD-L1 expression. In 2018, Feng *et al*[22] reported that 59.1% of cervical cancer patients exhibited PD-L1 expression. Additionally, increased incidents of abortion and childbearing can also enhance PD-L1 expression in tumour cells. The study confirmed that PD-1 in tumour-invasive lymphocytes (TILs) and PD-L1 and TILs in cancer cells together constitute the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway, and the imbalance of this pathway is one of the mechanisms of tumour development and cellular immune escape. In

addition, Meng et al[23] revealed that 60.82% of patients had PD-L1 expression, and PD-L1 overexpression was associated with vascular invasion and lymph node metastasis in cervical cancer.

JAK2 is a nonreceptor tyrosine kinase that plays key roles as the intracellular signalling effector of the cytokine receptor [24]. JAK2 was also found to regulate the expression of PD-L1. In 2016, Ikeda et al [25] found that the PD-L1 protein is upregulated by the simultaneous amplification of the PD-L1 and JAK2 genes through JAK-STAT signalling in non-small cell lung cancer. In 2017, Garcia-Diaz et al[12] discovered that interferon-y could induce PD-L1 expression via the interferon-y-JAK1/JAK2-STAT1/ STAT2/STAT3-IRF1 axis in tumour cells, leading to immune escape and cancer induction.

Based on the above studies and the WES in this case, JAK2 was mildly associated with the development of the disease, and we used sindilizumab in combination with carboplatin and doxorubicin for the treatment of PJS combined with advanced cervical carcinoma[12,22-25]. A more satisfactory result was achieved based on the comparison of the right parietal iliac metastases on pelvic MR before and after drug administration, which showed a substantial reduction.

The unique feature of this case is that PJS is a rare disease about which there are only a few international reports, and there is no uniform treatment protocol. We performed WES, identified the relevant causative genes, and treated the patient with sindilizumab in combination with chemotherapy for the first time. The metastases were substantially reduced and the CA199 was greatly decreased after the treatment, which may suggest that immune-combination chemotherapy may be one of the future treatment directions for PJS combined with progressive cervical cancer.

CONCLUSION

We reported a case of PJS combined with advanced cervical cancer. Protein 1 inhibitor combined with a CD chemotherapy regimen substantially decreased the size of the patient's metastases showing that the aforementioned protocol could be a good choice for such patients.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Hu XC and Gan CX assembled, analysed, and interpreted the patient's data and case presentation; Zheng HM and Wu XP prepared the original manuscript; Pan WS edited and critically revised the manuscript; All authors contributed to writing the manuscript; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrolment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Xue-Ping Wu 0000-0002-9614-1638; Wen-Sheng Pan 0000-0002-2347-1695.

S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang H

REFERENCES

- 1 Sandru F, Petca A, Dumitrascu MC, Petca RC, Carsote M. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: Skin manifestations and endocrine anomalies (Review). Exp Ther Med 2021; 22: 1387 [PMID: 34650635 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2021.10823]
- Tacheci I, Kopacova M, Bures J. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2021; 37: 245-254 [PMID: 33591027 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.000000000000718]
- 3 Hearle N, Schumacher V, Menko FH, Olschwang S, Boardman LA, Gille JJ, Keller JJ, Westerman AM, Scott RJ, Lim W, Trimbath JD, Giardiello FM, Gruber SB, Offerhaus GJ, de Rooij FW, Wilson JH, Hansmann A, Möslein G, Royer-Pokora



B, Vogel T, Phillips RK, Spigelman AD, Houlston RS. Frequency and spectrum of cancers in the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Clin Cancer Res 2006; 12: 3209-3215 [PMID: 16707622 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-06-0083]

- Signoretti M, Bruno MJ, Zerboni G, Poley JW, Delle Fave G, Capurso G. Results of surveillance in individuals at highrisk of pancreatic cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. United European Gastroenterol J 2018; 6: 489-499 [PMID: 29881603 DOI: 10.1177/2050640617752182]
- 5 Turpin A, Cattan S, Leclerc J, Wacrenier A, Manouvrier-Hanu S, Buisine MP, Lejeune-Dumoulin S. [Hereditary predisposition to cancers of the digestive tract, breast, gynecological and gonadal: focus on the Peutz-Jeghers]. Bull Cancer 2014; 101: 813-822 [PMID: 25036236 DOI: 10.1684/bdc.2014.1942]
- Klimkowski S, Ibrahim M, Ibarra Rovira JJ, Elshikh M, Javadi S, Klekers AR, Abusaif AA, Moawad AW, Ali K, Elsayes 6 KM. Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome and the Role of Imaging: Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, and Associated Cancers. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 34680270 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13205121]
- 7 Giardiello FM, Brensinger JD, Tersmette AC, Goodman SN, Petersen GM, Booker SV, Cruz-Correa M, Offerhaus JA. Very high risk of cancer in familial Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Gastroenterology 2000; 119: 1447-1453 [PMID: 11113065 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2000.20228]
- 8 Lim W, Olschwang S, Keller JJ, Westerman AM, Menko FH, Boardman LA, Scott RJ, Trimbath J, Giardiello FM, Gruber SB, Gille JJ, Offerhaus GJ, de Rooij FW, Wilson JH, Spigelman AD, Phillips RK, Houlston RS. Relative frequency and morphology of cancers in STK11 mutation carriers. Gastroenterology 2004; 126: 1788-1794 [PMID: 15188174 DOI: 10.1053]
- Moore DH, Blessing JA, McQuellon RP, Thaler HT, Cella D, Benda J, Miller DS, Olt G, King S, Boggess JF, Rocereto 9 TF. Phase III study of cisplatin with or without paclitaxel in stage IVB, recurrent, or persistent squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22: 3113-3119 [PMID: 15284262 DOI: 10.1200/jco.2004.04.170]
- 10 Monk BJ, Sill MW, McMeekin DS, Cohn DE, Ramondetta LM, Boardman CH, Benda J, Cella D. Phase III trial of four cisplatin-containing doublet combinations in stage IVB, recurrent, or persistent cervical carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 4649-4655 [PMID: 19720909 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.21.8909]
- Bhatla N, Aoki D, Sharma DN, Sankaranarayanan R. Cancer of the cervix uteri: 2021 update. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2021; 155 Suppl 1: 28-44 [PMID: 34669203 DOI: 10.1002/ijgo.13865]
- 12 Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Moreno BH, Saco J, Escuin-Ordinas H, Rodriguez GA, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Hugo W, Wang X, Parisi G, Saus CP, Torrejon DY, Graeber TG, Comin-Anduix B, Hu-Lieskovan S, Damoiseaux R, Lo RS, Ribas A. Interferon Receptor Signaling Pathways Regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2 Expression. Cell Rep 2017; 19: 1189-1201 [PMID: 28494868 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.04.031]
- Shi Y, Su H, Song Y, Jiang W, Sun X, Qian W, Zhang W, Gao Y, Jin Z, Zhou J, Jin C, Zou L, Qiu L, Li W, Yang J, Hou 13 M, Zeng S, Zhang Q, Hu J, Zhou H, Xiong Y, Liu P. Safety and activity of sintilimab in patients with relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma (ORIENT-1): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Haematol 2019; 6: e12-e19 [PMID: 30612710 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(18)30192-3]
- Yang Y, Wang Z, Fang J, Yu Q, Han B, Cang S, Chen G, Mei X, Yang Z, Ma R, Bi M, Ren X, Zhou J, Li B, Song Y, Feng 14 J, Li J, He Z, Zhou R, Li W, Lu Y, Wang Y, Wang L, Yang N, Zhang Y, Yu Z, Zhao Y, Xie C, Cheng Y, Zhou H, Wang S, Zhu D, Zhang W, Zhang L. Efficacy and Safety of Sintilimab Plus Pemetrexed and Platinum as First-Line Treatment for Locally Advanced or Metastatic Nonsquamous NSCLC: a Randomized, Double-Blind, Phase 3 Study (Oncology pRogram by InnovENT anti-PD-1-11). J Thorac Oncol 2020; 15: 1636-1646 [PMID: 32781263 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.07.014]
- 15 Borras G, Molina R, Xercavins J, Ballesta A, Iglesias J. Tumor antigens CA 19.9, CA 125, and CEA in carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Gynecol Oncol 1995; 57: 205-211 [PMID: 7729735 DOI: 10.1006/gyno.1995.1126]
- Kopacova M, Tacheci I, Rejchrt S, Bures J. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: diagnostic and therapeutic approach. World J 16 Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 5397-5408 [PMID: 19916169 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.5397]
- 17 Ishida H, Tajima Y, Gonda T, Kumamoto K, Ishibashi K, Iwama T. Update on our investigation of malignant tumors associated with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome in Japan. Surg Today 2016; 46: 1231-1242 [PMID: 26746637 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-015-1296-y
- 18 Li LJ, Wang ZQ, Wu BP. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome with small intestinal malignancy and cervical carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14: 7397-7399 [PMID: 19109876 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.14.7397]
- Kilic-Okman T, Yardim T, Gücer F, Altaner S, Yuce MA. Breast cancer, ovarian gonadoblastoma and cervical cancer in a 19 patient with Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2008; 278: 75-77 [PMID: 18193442 DOI: 10.1007/s00404-007-0535-x
- 20 Kim Y, Kim EY, Kim TJ, Lim KT, Lee KH, Chun Y, So KA. A rare case of gastric-type mucinous adenocarcinoma in a woman with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Obstet Gynecol Sci 2019; 62: 474-477 [PMID: 31777745 DOI: 10.5468/ogs.2019.62.6.474]
- Vu Dinh G, Doan Thi Hong N, Vo Ngoc T, Nguyen Thanh L, Hoang Thi H, Phung Thi H. Peuzt Jeghers syndrome with 21 gastric type mucinous endocervical adenocarcinoma in a young woman: A case report. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021; 69: 102700 [PMID: 34429956 DOI: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102700]
- 22 Feng YC, Ji WL, Yue N, Huang YC, Ma XM. The relationship between the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway and DNA mismatch repair in cervical cancer and its clinical significance. Cancer Manag Res 2018; 10: 105-113 [PMID: 29403308 DOI: 10.2147/CMAR.S152232]
- Meng Y, Liang H, Hu J, Liu S, Hao X, Wong MSK, Li X, Hu L. PD-L1 Expression Correlates With Tumor Infiltrating 23 Lymphocytes And Response To Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy In Cervical Cancer. J Cancer 2018; 9: 2938-2945 [PMID: 30123362 DOI: 10.7150/jca.22532]
- Sopjani M, Morina R, Uka V, Xuan NT, Dërmaku-Sopjani M. JAK2-mediated Intracellular Signaling. Curr Mol Med 24 2021; 21: 417-425 [PMID: 33059575 DOI: 10.2174/1566524020666201015144702]
- Ikeda S, Okamoto T, Okano S, Umemoto Y, Tagawa T, Morodomi Y, Kohno M, Shimamatsu S, Kitahara H, Suzuki Y, 25 Fujishita T, Maehara Y. PD-L1 Is Upregulated by Simultaneous Amplification of the PD-L1 and JAK2 Genes in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2016; 11: 62-71 [PMID: 26762740 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2015.09.010]



S WŰ

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Surg 2023 March 27; 15(3): 488-494

DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488

ISSN 1948-9366 (online)

CASE REPORT

Xanthogranulomatous inflammation requiring small bowel anastomosis revision: A case report

William Wang, Maria Korah, Kovi E Bessoff, Jeanne Shen, Joseph D Forrester

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Dayan D, Israel; Zhao K. China

Received: November 26, 2022 Peer-review started: November 26, 2022

First decision: January 3, 2023 Revised: January 15, 2023 Accepted: February 16, 2023 Article in press: February 16, 2023 Published online: March 27, 2023



William Wang, Department of Biology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States

William Wang, Department of Bioengineering, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States

Maria Korah, Kovi E Bessoff, Joseph D Forrester, Division of General Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States

Jeanne Shen, Center for Artificial Intelligence in Medicine and Imaging, Stanford University, Palo Alto, CA 94304, United States

Jeanne Shen, Department of Pathology, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA 94305, United States

Corresponding author: Joseph D Forrester, FACS, MD, MSc, Assistant Professor, Attending Doctor, Director, Surgeon, Division of General Surgery, Department of Surgery, Stanford University, 300 Pasteur Drive, H3591, Stanford, CA 94305, United States. jdf1@stanford.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Xanthogranulomatous inflammation (XGI) is an uncommon process involving an accumulation of inflammatory cells, commonly lipid-laden macrophages. XGI has been described to occur throughout the body but only rarely in the lower gastrointestinal tract. We describe a case of XGI contributing to chronic obstructive symptoms in the terminal ileum, in which the patient had an initial diagnostic laparoscopy, continued to have symptoms, then proceeded to have the definitive treatment. To our knowledge, this is the first report of XGI associated with a prior small bowel anastomosis.

CASE SUMMARY

We report the case of a 42-year-old female who presented with intermittent epigastric pain and subjective fevers. She had undergone a laparoscopic small bowel resection for Meckel's diverticulum five years prior. Her workup was notable for computed tomography scan demonstrating mild inflammation and surrounding stranding at the level of the prior anastomosis. She underwent a laparotomy, resection of the prior anastomosis and re-anastomosis, with final histopathological examination findings consistent with mural XGI.

CONCLUSION



WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com

XGI can occur at the site of a prior bowel anastomosis and cause chronic obstructive symptoms.

Key Words: Xanthogranulomatous inflammation; Chronic obstructive symptoms; Terminal ileum; Bowel anastomosis; Bowel resection; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Xanthogranulomatous inflammation (XGI) is an uncommon inflammatory condition characterized by foamy histiocytes and other inflammatory cells. We report a rare case of XGI that occurred in the terminal ileum. Moreover, this is the first reported case of XGI associated with a prior bowel anastomosis. This case enhances our understanding of XGI and provides more insight into the pathophysiology of the condition.

Citation: Wang W, Korah M, Bessoff KE, Shen J, Forrester JD. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation requiring small bowel anastomosis revision: A case report. World J Gastrointest Surg 2023; 15(3): 488-494 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9366/full/v15/i3/488.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488

INTRODUCTION

Xanthogranulomatous inflammation (XGI) is a rare benign condition involving an inflammatory response that can occur in multiple areas throughout the body[1,2]. Clinical presentations and imaging are generally nonspecific since XGI symptoms can vary depending on the organ system; as such, histopathological examination is necessary for a definitive diagnosis[3,4].

Though XGI is a benign process, it is important to consider this diagnosis in the differential for atypical masses because XGI can be challenging to distinguish from cancer, which may lead to avoidable radical treatments[1,3,5]. Therefore, a better understanding of the characteristics of XGI is urgently needed.

Herein, we present a case of a 42-year-old female with XGI at a prior small bowel anastomosis. While XGI has been reported in many organs[1,6], only a few cases of XGI in the lower gastrointestinal (GI) tract have been reported [1,7]. In addition, there have been no cases reported for XGI associated with a bowel anastomosis.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

Intermittent mid-epigastric abdominal pain.

History of present illness

A 42-year-old female started having intermittent recurrent mid-epigastric abdominal pain episodes that resulted in multiple emergency department (ED) visits. Six months prior, she had presented to the ED with two days of intermittent epigastric pain and subjective fevers. At that time, she had no nausea or vomiting, her last bowel movement was the day prior to presentation, and she was passing flatus. On exam, she was hemodynamically stable with a benign physical exam. Her abdomen was soft, slightly distended, with moderate tenderness to palpation in the epigastric region, with no evidence of peritonitis. Her white blood cell count was 8.0 K/µL. She had a computed tomography (CT) scan of her abdomen and pelvis (AP) without contrast demonstrating her prior bowel anastomosis was focally dilated, with abnormal surrounding inflammatory stranding, along with mesenteric swirling around the anastomosis which raised suspicion for possible obstruction due to internal hernia. She underwent a diagnostic laparoscopy where an adhesive band of omentum to the prior small bowel anastomosis was lysed. All bowel was viable.

Following that surgery, her epigastric pain recurred, along with some nausea and vomiting. She had Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) serum and stool antigen and antibody tests that were negative, and an abdominal radiograph demonstrated non-obstructive bowel gas pattern. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) demonstrated a few localized non-bleeding erosions in the gastric antrum, with no stigmata of recent bleeding. A CT AP with intravenous contrast given after premedication demonstrated no acute pathologies that could explain her ongoing abdominal pain. She was discharged after she started tolerating oral intake and her pain improved. At a postoperative clinic visit a week later, her pain had



completely resolved, and she was tolerating a regular diet without issues.

Unfortunately, her symptoms returned months later and led to multiple ED visits. During these episodes, she had no nausea or vomiting and no particular precipitating factors. She had been having dark stools, which had resolved after stopping ibuprofen, and otherwise had normal stools and flatus. Her recurrent symptoms prompted a thorough outpatient work-up.

History of past illness

Her past history was notable for depression, anxiety, iron deficiency anemia, cystitis, infectious mononucleosis, H. pylori infection, an unprovoked pulmonary embolism for which she had previously been on warfarin for a year, and prior Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection. Five years prior, she had a laparoscopic small bowel resection with a stapled side-to-side anastomosis for Meckel's diverticulum. She also had a history of left ovarian cyst removal and bilateral inguinal hernia repairs. Three years prior, she had a colonoscopy and EGD performed for bright red blood per rectum, heartburn, epigastric and lower abdominal pain, nausea, and bilious emesis. These studies demonstrated very small internal hemorrhoids and erosive gastropathy but were otherwise normal.

Personal and family history

The patient had never smoked, had used methamphetamine previously but quit 13 years prior, and drank one glass of wine a week. Her family history was notable for diabetes and stroke in her parents. She was allergic to penicillins, iodinated contrast media, and fish-containing products.

Physical examination

Her vital signs during her ED visits were within normal limits. Her abdominal exam was unremarkable at office visits when she was not experiencing an abdominal pain episode, but during her symptomatic episodes, she had mid-epigastric tenderness to palpation with no rebound or guarding.

Laboratory examinations

During each ED visit, she was noted to have mild leukocytosis (11.8-15.9 K/µL), with otherwise overall unremarkable laboratory findings.

Imaging examinations

During one ED visit, a CT AP demonstrated mild inflammation and surrounding stranding at the level of the prior anastomosis (Figure 1A and B), along with small bowel fecalization (Figure 1C) concerning for possible infectious or inflammatory enteritis with nonspecific prominent mesenteric nodes.

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

The patient underwent a lower double-balloon enteroscopy, where neither a double nor single enteroscope could be advanced beyond the terminal ileum (TI), though the examined colon and visualized approximately 3 cm of TI appeared normal (Figure 2).

TREATMENT

Given that she failed nonoperative attempts to access her possible stricture, she underwent a laparotomy, resection of her prior small bowel anastomosis, and had a handsewn re-anastomosis.

Histopathologic examination of the resected small bowel segment demonstrated a 7.5 cm × 5.3 cm × 4 cm portion of small bowel, with smooth, tan-brown serosa and tan-green mucosa with normal appearing folds (Figure 3). The prior anastomosis site was tan-pink with puckered area of mucosa. There was a cystic cavity abutting the prior anastomosis, which was tan-yellow with copious yellowtan, viscous purulent cystic material, suggesting significant chronic inflammation underlying the anastomosis site. Microscopic analysis revealed significant infiltration by foamy macrophages, lymphocytes, and plasma cells with no neoplastic cells concerning for carcinoma (Figures 4 and 5). Overall, the histopathological examination findings were consistent with mural XGI.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

Postoperatively, she developed ileus that self-resolved and was discharged eight days after surgery. At her postoperative clinic visit three weeks later, she was tolerating oral intake, having normal bowel movements, and only having some incisional pain with no obstructive symptoms. Eight months after that follow-up, she developed an incisional hernia that was repaired with mesh. At an outpatient





DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Computed tomography scan of her abdomen and pelvis without contrast. A: Prior anastomotic suture line is visualized (arrows) and appeared intact; B: Mild surrounding inflammatory stranding (arrow) seen near the prior anastomosis; C: Fecalization (arrow) noted in small bowel adjacent to anastomosis.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Double balloon enteroscopy. A: The entire examined colon appeared normal, including the cecum; B: The ileocecal valve. The terminal ileum (TI) was only marginally intubated and could not be advanced further. The visualized portion of the TI (approximately 3 cm) appeared normal.

follow-up clinic visit two weeks after the hernia repair surgery, she had some incisional pain but continued to have no obstructive symptoms.

DISCUSSION

XGI is a rare inflammatory process that requires histopathological examination for definitive diagnosis. Specifically, XGI usually presents, as it did in our patient, with yellow lesions on gross pathologic examination and is histologically defined by foamy histiocytes and various inflammatory cells, including activated plasma cells, lymphocytes, and sometimes multinucleated giant cells[6,8].

Although XGI has been reported in many organs, the majority of reported cases of XGI have been in the gallbladder, followed by occasional cases in the kidney and less commonly in the GI tract or other organs, such as the female genital tract or the head and neck[1,6]. Only a few cases of XGI in the lower GI tract have been reported[1,7]. In one, a patient presented with chronic abdominal pain mimicking appendiceal cancer on abdominal CT[1]. In that case, laparoscopic hemicolectomy revealed several golden-yellow and brown lesions, and histology confirmed XGI in the TI[1]. Interestingly, pathogenesis was attributed to chronic inflammation caused by microscopic perforations from a possible fish bone [1]. In another report, a patient presented with abdominal pain with ultrasound findings concerning for acute appendicitis. Diagnostic laparoscopy and midline laparotomy revealed an ileocecal mass concerning for invasive cancer. The mass was resected *via* hemicolectomy followed by a primary side-to-side anastomosis and was revealed to be XGI upon histologic examination. In that case presentation, no clear pathogenesis was established[7].

Wang W et al. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation requiring bowel anastomosis revision



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Gross specimen. Gross examination revealed a 7 cm long region of cystically dilated small intestine immediately adjacent to the anastomosis, which was filled with abundant intraluminal pus.



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Low-magnification section of the specimen. Microscopic (0.5 × objective magnification) cross section of the cystically dilated small intestine with mucosal ulceration (diffusely involving the luminal surface) and chronic inflammation (arrow), fibrosis, and xanthogranulomatous inflammation (black diamond) of the underlying wall.

The exact pathophysiology of XGI is currently unknown, and various theories have been proposed, including abscess, hemorrhage, and necrosis, which may instigate the XGI response[2]. Chronic infection, abnormal lipid transport, and immunological disorders may also play a role[9]. Furthermore, recurrent inflammation due to a foreign body and obstruction has also been hypothesized and may have played a role in our patient[1,9].

Our patient's XGI lesion was in the TI, and it is especially unique because the lesion was associated with a prior anastomosis. Though the exact mechanism by which this patient's XGI developed is unclear, she had multiple risk factors that may have acted as triggers that elicited this response. For example, as described earlier, foreign body has been hypothesized to play a role in the development of XGI by causing microperforations leading to chronic inflammation and tissue damage[1]. In this patient's case, the anastomosis itself may have triggered a foreign body response that led to XGI.

To our knowledge, there are no other cases where a stapled anastomosis was associated with XGI. However, it is possible the patient's immune system reacted to the staples in such a way as to trigger XGI. This unusual reaction to the foreign body may be related to the patient's prior EBV infection, which can impact the immune system, lead to inflammation, and trigger several autoimmune diseases [10,11]. It is unknown if performing a hand-sewn anastomosis initially could have prevented this. In fact, meta-analyses comparing both anastomosis techniques in emergency laparotomy and colorectal surgery have generally demonstrated little significant difference in outcomes[12,13]. However, further studies are needed to understand specific variations in foreign body responses that may be triggered by the two different techniques[12,13].

WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v15.i3.488 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 High-magnification section of the specimen. Higher magnification (5 × objective magnification) image showing mucosal ulceration (white arrow) with abundant infiltration of the underlying small intestinal wall by collections of foamy, lipid-laden histiocytes (xanthogranulomatous inflammation), along with lymphocytes and plasma cells (example highlighted by black arrow).

Another potential explanation for our patient's XGI is that an obstructive process triggered it, perhaps from stricture at the anastomosis independent of the XGI lesion. Obstruction is recognized as a cause of xanthogranulomatous appendicitis, pyelonephritis, and cholecystitis[9]. On the other hand, the large inflammatory XGI mass may have formed as a response to another process, and the lesion then may have then led to this patient's obstructive symptoms rather than the XGI lesion being a consequence of obstruction.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, XGI is an uncommon inflammatory condition characterized by foamy histiocytes and other inflammatory cells. XGI occurs very rarely in the lower GI tract, and we describe such a case in the TI. To our knowledge, this is the first case report describing XGI associated with a prior anastomosis. This case is also an example where repeated pain and obstructive symptoms may necessitate anastomosis revision for definitive diagnosis and clinical resolution.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wang W and Korah M contributed to manuscript writing and editing; Forrester JD was in charge of conceptualization, manuscript preparation and the patient case; Shen J contributed the gross and histopathologic images and descriptions; Wang W, Korah M, Bessoff KE, Shen J, and Forrester JD contributed to analysis; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: William Wang 0000-0002-0878-1257; Maria Korah 0000-0001-9328-3908; Kovi E Bessoff 0000-0002-5626-4027; Jeanne Shen 0000-0002-1519-0308; Joseph D Forrester 0000-0002-8558-6180.

WJGS https://www.wjgnet.com

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li L

REFERENCES

- Yoon JS, Jeon YC, Kim TY, Han DS, Sohn JH, Nam KW, Nam YS, Pyo JY. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation in 1 terminal ileum presenting as an appendiceal mass: case report and review of the literature. Clin Endosc 2013; 46: 193-196 [PMID: 23614133 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2013.46.2.193]
- 2 Cozzutto C, Carbone A. The xanthogranulomatous process. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation. Pathol Res Pract 1988; 183: 395-402 [PMID: 3054826 DOI: 10.1016/S0344-0338(88)80085-2]
- 3 Rammohan A, Cherukuri SD, Sathyanesan J, Palaniappan R, Govindan M. Xanthogranulomatous cholecystitis masquerading as gallbladder cancer: can it be diagnosed preoperatively? Gastroenterol Res Pract 2014; 2014: 253645 [PMID: 25404941 DOI: 10.1155/2014/253645]
- Chen TP, Yi WL, Liu CS, Lin YH. Neck xanthogranuloma mimicking malignancy in a patient with diabetes mellitus: A 4 case report and literature review. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e12615 [PMID: 30290633 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000012615]
- 5 Bourm KS, Menias CO, Ali K, Alhalabi K, Elsayes KM. Spectrum of Xanthogranulomatous Processes in the Abdomen and Pelvis: A Pictorial Review of Infectious, Inflammatory, and Proliferative Responses. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2017; 208: 475-484 [PMID: 28095017 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.16.17075]
- Krishna M, Dayal S. Xanthogranulomatus inflammatory lesion mimicker of malignancy: A clinicopathological study from rural India. North Clin Istanb 2021; 8: 485-492 [PMID: 34909587 DOI: 10.14744/nci.2021.04317]
- 7 Wong KC, Tsui WM, Chang SJ. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation of terminal ileum: report of a case with small bowel involvement. Hong Kong Med J 2015; 21: 69-72 [PMID: 25686705 DOI: 10.12809/hkmj134103]
- Zhang XS, Dong HY, Zhang LL, Desouki MM, Zhao C. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation of the female genital tract: 8 report of three cases. J Cancer 2012; 3: 100-106 [PMID: 22393333 DOI: 10.7150/jca.3929]
- Dhawan S, Jain D, Kalhan SK. Xanthogranulomatous inflammation of ascending colon with mucosal involvement: report of a first case. J Crohns Colitis 2011; 5: 245-248 [PMID: 21575889 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2010.12.009]
- Chen MR. Epstein-barr virus, the immune system, and associated diseases. Front Microbiol 2011; 2: 5 [PMID: 21687403 10 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00005]
- 11 Houen G, Trier NH. Epstein-Barr Virus and Systemic Autoimmune Diseases. Front Immunol 2020; 11: 587380 [PMID: 33488588 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.587380]
- Naumann DN, Bhangu A, Kelly M, Bowley DM. Stapled versus handsewn intestinal anastomosis in emergency 12 laparotomy: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Surgery 2015; 157: 609-618 [PMID: 25731781 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.09.030]
- Neutzling CB, Lustosa SA, Proenca IM, da Silva EM, Matos D. Stapled versus handsewn methods for colorectal 13 anastomosis surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012; CD003144 [PMID: 22336786 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003144.pub2]



WJGS | https://www.wjgnet.com



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

